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Introduction
Problem Statement
Florida Virtual School (FLVS), often cited as a national model for the delivery of high quality online curriculum to students, 
was plagued in recent years with recurring leadership crises that threatened to destabilize what was otherwise a school with 
high quality educators, curriculum and innovative online course delivery.  

There were accusations, investigations or findings for numerous areas of concern:

 A data breach in 2018;
 Leadership instability;
 Questionable hiring practices;
 Perceptions of “self-dealing” behaviors;
 Inappropriate work climate;
 Improper purchasing and contracting;
 Employees conducting work on FLVS’ time unrelated to FLVS; and
 Billing FLVS for travel unrelated to FLVS.

Ultimately, FLVS’ 7-member board could barely maintain four (4) seats filled due to the trustees’ publicly stated desire to 
disassociate themselves with the ongoing struggles of FLVS’ administration.

Legislative action and a change in leadership was paramount and ultimately occurred in 2019, in order to immediately assess 
what was working, what was broken and course correct FLVS, a school that is critical to the educational pathways for more 
than 200,000 Florida students.
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Introduction
Florida Virtual School (FLVS)
FLVS was established in 1997 to implement a virtual learning model in Florida.  FLVS was the country’s first statewide 
Internet-based public high school. Today, FLVS is a fully accredited, statewide public school offering more than 180 courses 
to Kindergarten-grade 12 students. Students log into the classes online, access the lesson, and work independently on 
assignments and projects. They set their own pace but must maintain active involvement to continue in the course. FLVS, and 
online/virtual education in general, is very popular with students who need educational opportunities that are perhaps not 
available in nearby schools, such as:

 Victims of bullying;
 Homeschooled students;
 Children of military and overseas families;
 Students with unique levels of extracurricular commitments (athletics, music, theatre, etc.);
 Students needing specialized or advanced courses their school does not offer;
 Students with severe health problems;
 Students who need to learn at their own pace; and
 Students with behavioral problems for whom virtual education offers a safer space to learn.

During the 2018-2019 school year, FLVS served more than 200,000 students in Florida through full- and part-time instruction 
throughout the school year, including 5,540 full-time students and 209,965 part-time students, who completed a total of 
518,045 courses.  The cost for Florida students is paid for by the Florida Education Finance Program (FEFP), per course, at a 
total cost of $5,230 for full-time students.  Additionally, FLVS Global served 3,316 students achieving 6,832 semester 
completions in 50 states and over 100 countries and territories.  Students served through FLVS Global pay the cost of tuition
and applicable fees.  Revenues generated from FLVS Global are reinvested in FLVS’ core mission to develop courses for and 
to serve Florida’s students.
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Introduction
SB 2502, Chapter No. 2019-116
In 2019, the Legislature passed and the Governor approved 
Senate Bill 2502 (Chapter No. 2019-116), implementing the 
2019-2020 General Appropriations Act.

Section 12 of SB 2502 required:

 The State Board of Education (SBOE) to serve as the
board of trustees for the Florida Virtual School (FLVS)
through June 30, 2020.

 The SBOE shall appoint an executive director, which was
done on July 1, 2019.

 The executive director (CEO), Dr. Louis Algaze, shall
report directly to the Commissioner of Education.

 The executive director shall facilitate an independent
third party financial, operational and performance audit
of FLVS.

 The independent auditor submitted recommendations to the
Commissioner of Education on October 1, 2019.

 Herein, the Florida Department of Education (FDOE) is
submitting recommendations to the Governor, President of
the Senate and Speaker of the House on November 1, 2019.

Full text of the audit requirements from SB 2502:

 The executive director shall, within existing
resources, competitively award a contract for
an independent third-party consulting firm to
conduct financial, operational, and performance
audits, as defined by s. 11.45, Florida Statutes,
of the Florida Virtual School in accordance with
generally-accepted government auditing
standards. The Office of the Inspector General
of the Department of Education shall oversee
the audit. The consulting firm shall submit the
results of the audit along with
recommendations in accordance with s.
1002.37, Florida Statutes, to the Commissioner
of Education by October 1, 2019. The
Department of Education shall provide
recommendations regarding the governance,
operation and organization of the Florida
Virtual School to the Governor, the President of
the Senate and the Speaker of the House of
Representatives by November 1, 2019.”
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Executive Summary
Ernst & Young’s (EY) Evaluation
In June 2019, FDOE with collaborative support from FLVS, issued a request for quotes (RFQ) for auditing services for FLVS, 
pursuant to the terms of SB 2502. FDOE issued the RFQ in order to have this process underway and timely, prior to the SBOE 
officially becoming the board of trustees for FLVS in July 2019. During FLVS’ July 1 board of trustees meeting, the SBOE 
authorized the new CEO, Dr. Louis Algaze, to finish the RFQ process and select a firm to conduct the performance audit. FLVS 
selected EY, who had also been separately selected to conduct a nearly concurrently-timed cybersecurity review of FLVS. The 
cybersecurity audit stemmed from a school year 2017-2018 data breach of FLVS’ systems that exposed the personal 
information of students and teachers. While the recommendations here focus on the performance evaluation, and the 
cybersecurity audit is confidential due to the security-driven nature of the information, the parallel timing of the two audits 
was very informative for EY, FLVS and FDOE.

According to EY’s performance evaluation (Appendix, pages 15-16), FLVS delivers a high value to the state of Florida, students, 
families and taxpayers. EY’s evaluation identified five key points of value:

1. FLVS (and all virtual providers in Florida) are 100% performance-base funded, where a student must successfully
complete a course for the provider to be funded.  Florida is one of just a few states to fund virtual education by
completions.

2. FLVS saves the state of Florida more than $78 million per year, based on a savings of $151.74 per course taken.
3. FLVS offsets the financial impacts of Florida’s constitutionally-mandated class size requirements, offsetting some of

the need to fund new classrooms.
4. FLVS offers school districts the ability to offer new courses and scale participation in those courses without having to

deal with traditional obstacles of scheduling, cost of course creation, curriculum, etc.
5. FLVS integrates with Florida’s choice programs to allow students to both access those programs and ensure that they

have access to courses that meet unique needs.

See the Appendix for EY’s complete performance assessment of FLVS, as provided to the Commissioner of Education on 
October 1, 2019.
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Executive Summary
Ernst & Young’s (EY) Evaluation (cont.)
Based on their analysis, EY developed seven (7) general types of recommendations for FLVS. Some recommendations can be 
accomplished without legislation or rule change, while most would either require or benefit from codification in Florida Statutes, 
state board rule or at least FLVS’ official policies and procedures.

1. FLVS and FDOE should collaboratively develop additional operational and performance measures (Appendix, page 19).
2. FLVS’ leadership should continue to restructure governance, such that FLVS executive team are empowered to manage

day-to-day operations, allowing the board to focus more on strategy and vision-setting (Appendix, page 20).
3. FLVS should develop and formalize an enterprise risk management program across all departments (Appendix, page 21).
4. FLVS should greatly enhance and formalize its internal audit functions.
5. FLVS’s new leadership team should continue to consolidate and revise policies, bylaws and standard operating

procedures, with state board approval where necessary, to create efficiencies and implement critical policy changes
from other documented reviews of FLVS’ procurement and cybersecurity policies (Appendix, pages 23 and 25-26).

6. FLVS should reset the mission, vision and goals of the FLVS Foundation, its board membership and bylaws to ensure
operational alignment and transparency in operations (Appendix, page 24).

7. FLVS should formalize an information technology vendor risk management program (Appendix, page 27).

See the Appendix for EY’s complete performance assessment of FLVS, as provided to the Commissioner of Education on October 1,
2019.
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Executive Summary
Florida DOE’s Recommendations
Following receipt of EY’s report, Commissioner of Education Richard Corcoran, FLVS’ CEO Dr. Louis Algaze and leadership of both 
FDOE and FLVS collaborated to develop recommendations with three (3) essential goals in mind.

1. Ensuring stakeholders’ confidence – FLVS needs to operate ethically, with efficacy and transparently.
2. Setting the bar for excellence – FLVS should be the model for accessible and high-quality virtual education.
3. Giving students the best possible conditions for success – virtual education in Florida should be a competitive marketplace that

is held accountable by ensuring that parents and students have consumable information to make great choices.

The recommendations herein to achieve these goals are divided into nine (9) strategic initiatives.

Applicable to FLVS only, except where noted
1. Governance – Create operational efficiencies by refining the role of the board and executive director (CEO).
2. Ethics – Improve ethical safeguards, formalize the role of an inspector general, auditor, and bring FLVS’ policies up to that of all

state agencies.
3. Cybersecurity – Protect student information and ensure the efficacy of information technology investments.
4. Finance – Right-size FLVS’ costs and revenues to best serve families and the entire Florida education family.
5. Accessibility – Create a free resource library for teacher professional development and students, beyond those FLVS serves.
6. Student Demand – Evaluate course offerings annually and explore opportunities for FLVS to fill gaps in workforce education;

alternative, juvenile justice and corrections education; and education for adults seeking high school diplomas.
7. FLVS Global – Expand out-of-state services that increase FLVS revenues to support course development and enhancement for

Florida students.

Applicable to All Virtual Education Providers in Florida
8. Accountability – Provide parents and students with better and more relevant data on all virtual providers.
9. Competition – Allow for greater competition in Florida’s virtual education arena, creating greater critical mass for quality.
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Completed
September to October, 2019
Upon becoming FLVS’ new CEO, Dr. Algaze was able to quickly identify more than $660,000 in annual savings through 
reductions in leadership salaries, consolidation of duties and meeting the needs of contracted government relations 
functions through less expensive in-house staff.

 Dr. Algaze quickly identified changes were needed to the leadership and working structure of FLVS.  The size and
salaries of the leadership team were bloated and did not align with the scope of work.

 Early analysis also showed that the deputies in some divisions were more than capable of overseeing the day-to-day
functions and the leaders of those divisions were not actually doing the heavy lift.

 FDOE helped FLVS identify experienced highlevel senior staffers who had the capacity to absorb the duties of
multiple outgoing staffers and could immediately bring diverse skills sets to the table to ensure that Dr. Algaze has
complementary senior leaders by his side. The individual and collective salaries of these new hires were also set to
ensure savings for a leaner and more efficient FLVS.

 Additionally, $180,000 in annual savings was immediately achieved by Dr. Algaze, with approval of the SBOE,
through the elimination of two contracts for lobbying services. Most state agencies, colleges and universities are
prohibited by law from using state funds for contract lobbying services and in the spirit of FLVS’ role as a state-run
entity, Dr. Algaze recommended that FLVS live under the rules as all other state agencies.
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Completed
September to October, 2019 (cont.)
Dr. Algaze was further able to immediately identify $4 million in savings and efficiencies. With SBOE approval, those dollars 
were subsequently redirected to provide a teacher pay increase to FLVS’ approximately 1,800 teachers, 4% for highly 
effective teachers and 2% for effective teachers for the 2019-2020 school year.

 Dr. Algaze identified $1.5 million in vacant positions;
 $1.5 million in new revenue; and
 $1.0 million in changes to accounting practices for reserves to reduce inefficient and wasteful bloating.

In the Florida Department of Education’s proposed 2020-2021 Legislative Budget Request (LBR), the SBOE further approved 
a four-year phase out of FLVS’ portion of the State Funded Discretionary Contribution, allowing nearly $20.2 million to be 
redirected to the Base Student Allocation (BSA) for all school districts.  

 For the 2019-2020 school year, FLVS’ portion of the State Funded Discretionary Contribution is funded at nearly
$20.2 million.

 The State Funded Discretionary Contribution provides funds to the developmental research schools and FLVS in lieu
of the discretionary local tax revenue generated by traditional school districts, without restriction on the purpose of
the revenue.

Dr. Algaze achieved financial efficiencies with the support of the SBOE through a comprehensive review of FLVS’ reserve 
balance.  

 The FLVS’ practice in the past had been to have any unspent revenue returned into the Reserves line item.
 With a number of vacant positions and higher than expected revenues over the last two school years, FLVS’s fund

balance stood at roughly 30% of revenues.
 By closing unfilled positions and adjusting budgeting practices, Dr. Algaze was able to cut in half, to 15%, the

reserve fund balance, so that FLVS only maintains what is necessary for circumstances like the unpredictability in
enrollment that choice programs have and the fact that FLVS cannot, unlike school districts, incur debt.
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Completed
September to October, 2019 (cont.)
Following receipt of EY’s evaluation, FLVS identified its franchise model as another means by which its value-add could be 
increased for Florida’s school districts. The leadership team plans to present a proposal at the January 2020 SBOE meeting to 
reduce the costs of its franchise model to charge only what is necessary for cost recovery. In other words, FLVS would only 
charge school districts a franchise fee that is adequate to recover the costs for providing the course (Strategy 4).

 This will save school districts $2,190,861 million annually.
 A recent analysis shows that FLVS generates approximately $6 in franchise fees from school districts for every $5

spent to provide the courses.
 FLVS’ franchise model allows school districts to leverage content by licensing curriculum, virtual instruction and

digital labs from FLVS.
 185,716 courses were completed by traditional public school students in the 2018-2019 school year through FLVS

licensed district franchises.
 65 school districts run their district’s virtual schools through a franchise arrangement with FLVS.
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Strategy 1
Governance
STRATEGY: THE ROLE OF THE FLVS BOARD OF TRUSTEES AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (CEO).

The FLVS board’s primary goal should be to set the vision, approve the strategic plan, represent FLVS in networking and 
development opportunities and appoint a CEO to execute the mission, vision and goals.  However, the trustees are currently 
mired in the line-by-line details of procurement and employment decisions for which the trustees could not possibly be fully 
knowledgeable of.   Addressing these issues will help FLVS successfully return to its own board of trustees, rather than 
oversight by the SBOE, and position that new board of trustees and the school to continue delivering successful outcomes for 
Florida’s students.

 Keep all board appointments at the sole discretion of the Governor. [current law]
 Reduce the size of the board of trustees from 7 to 5. [legislation]
 Create 8-year term limits; comprised of two 4-year terms. [legislation]
 Maintain the requirement from SB 2502 that the CEO is a direct report to the Commissioner of Education for day-to-day

operations. [legislation]
 Give the CEO greater authority to run the day-to-day operations. [board policy]
 Allow the trustees to delegate their authority to the CEO much like s. 1001.02(2), F.S. allows the SBOE to delegate its

authority to the Commissioner of Education. [legislation]
 Decrease the trustees’ role in personnel decisions. [legislation]
 Decrease the trustees’ role in procurement. [board policy]
 Decrease the trustees’ role in standard operating procedures. [board policy]
 Formalize the role of the executive director (CEO), who shall serve by the appointment and at the pleasure of the

trustees, in statute. [legislation]
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Strategy 2
Ethics
STRATEGY: IMPROVE ETHICAL SAFEGUARDS, FORMALIZE THE ROLE OF AN INSPECTOR GENERAL, AUDITOR, AND BRING FLVS’ 
POLICIES UP TO THAT OF ALL STATE AGENCIES.

While FLVS and its board of trustees operate like a school district, the school is ultimately still a hybrid of a state agency and a 
school district and would benefit greatly from closer alignment to policies that state agencies must follow.

 Prohibit trustees having any business relationship with FLVS, during the term of the appointment and for six years after
the appointment’s end; and prohibit the FLVS foundation’s trustees having any business relationship with FLVS. [board
policy as a first step and legislation to build the policy to full scale]

 Subject FLVS trustees and employees to Chapter 112, F.S., just like other state employees. [legislation]
 Draft law to bring FLVS’ foundation up to the organizational, operational and audit requirements of most state

agency direct support organizations. [legislation]
 Require that once every three years the Auditor General shall conduct an operational audit. [legislation]

 Establish, just as in any state agency, an Office of the Inspector General (IG) to provide a central point for coordination
of and responsibility for activities that promote accountability, integrity and efficiency in state government. [board
policy as a first step and legislation to build the policy to full scale]
 Create within the IG’s office two distinct functions: audits and investigations. [board policy as a first step and

legislation to build the policy to full scale]
 Require both the IG and auditing functions to adhere to the most current professional standards and practices,

including the establishment of an annual audit plan that must be approved by the CEO. [board policy as a first step
and legislation to build the policy to full scale]

 Require that the IG serve as a direct report to the FDOE’s IG, and FLVS must hire in consultation with FDOE’s IG
and the Governor’s IG. [legislation]
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Strategy 3
Cybersecurity
STRATEGY: PROTECT STUDENT INFORMATION AND ENSURE THE EFFICACY OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY INVESTMENTS.

FLVS has implemented much-needed improvements in security since the cyber breach in February 2018. While these 
improvements are moving FLVS in the right direction, the cybersecurity program needs to be strengthened through better 
documentation, framework design and a new reporting structure to continue defending itself against threats and reduce 
cybersecurity risks to the organization and its information assets.

 Require FLVS, along with all school districts and state colleges, to align with state cybersecurity requirements to
enhance protection of student data, leveraging federal National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) best
practices. [board policy as a first step and legislation to build the policy to full scale]

 Establish a formal information technology risk management program and institute a formalized process for security
governance over enterprise information technology. [CEO decision]

 Hire a new Chief Information Security Officer, who will report to the CEO and COO. [CEO decision]
 Implement with urgency EY’s cybersecurity recommendations. [CEO decision]
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Strategy 4
Finance
STRATEGY: RIGHT-SIZE FLVS’ COSTS AND REVENUES TO BEST SERVE FAMILIES AND THE ENTIRE FLORIDA EDUCATION FAMILY.

Only Florida and a couple other states fully fund virtual education based on course completions – 100% performance funding
– and these recommendations prioritize maintaining this law to ensure that ultimately virtual education remains student-
centered. Otherwise, immediate and long-term changes are necessary to better align FLVS with serving as a great partner to
the entire Florida education family, including statutory and business practice changes to improve FLVS’ course offerings to
match students’ needs and partner better with Florida’s school districts.

 Maintain national best practice model of funding based on students’ successful course completions – for all virtual
education providers in Florida. [current law]

 Reduce school district franchise fees to a cost recovery model, saving school districts nearly $2.2 million annually.
[board policy]

 Phase out FLVS’ portion of the State Funded Discretionary Contribution in FDOE’s budget, allowing nearly $20.2
million to be redirected to the Base Student Allocation (BSA) for all school districts. [legislation]

 Implement new financial efficiencies to achieve a low reserve balance. [completed and funding was used to support
pay raises for teachers]

 Reduce unnecessary contracts, senior leadership positions, bloated salaries and consolidate duties. [completed]
 Redirect excess funds to increase teacher salaries. [completed]
 Eliminate the virtual education contribution in the FEFP, beginning in the 2021-2022 school year, through significant

development and expanded offering of advanced curriculum and industry certification courses. [CEO decision or
legislation]

 Reference Strategy 7: Expand FLVS Global’s services outside Florida to increase the return on investment – Global’s
revenues that are reinvested – that benefits curriculum and course development for Florida students. [CEO decision]
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Strategy 5
Accessibility
STRATEGY: CREATE A FREE RESOURCE LIBRARY FOR TEACHER PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND STUDENTS, BEYOND 
THOSE FLVS SERVES. 

FLVS has the opportunity to make FLVS the most accessible high quality education in Florida, even beyond the students who 
FLVS serves. Unlike traditional schools and districts that have physical limitations, FLVS can position itself to be a 
philanthropic leader amongst the entire Florida education family, implementing “give back” components into every aspect of 
the school.

 Create a teacher professional development best practices digital library that is accessible to all teachers statewide.
[CEO decision]

 Help build the brand of great teachers in Florida – both FLVS’ teachers and teachers from traditional school districts
– through the digital library and other online marketing, to help elevate the profession and give Floridians visible
and celebrated examples of Florida’s world class teachers. [CEO decision]

 Create a student resource digital library that is accessible to all students statewide, helping with skill building,
homework help, test preparation and review, tutoring and more. [CEO decision]

 Focus professional development and resources to provide targeted supports for the following: [CEO decision]
 Subgroups of students who are falling behind their peers.
 Students who are in danger of not reading on grade level by grade three.
 Students who are in danger of not achieving proficiency in math by grade eight.
 Students who intend to matriculate to postsecondary education who will likely need remediation or even fall

short of college entrance requirements.
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Strategy 6
Student Demand
STRATEGY: EVALUATE COURSE OFFERINGS ANNUALLY AND EXPLORE OPPORTUNITIES FOR FLVS TO FILL GAPS IN 
WORKFORCE EDUCATION; ALTERNATIVE, JUVENILE JUSTICE AND CORRECTIONS EDUCATION; AND EDUCATION FOR ADULTS 
SEEKING HIGH SCHOOL DIPLOMAS. 

FLVS’ mission as outlined in s. 1002.37 is outdated and not reflective of both the full array of students the school currently 
serves and the expanding opportunity to fill unique educational needs in traditional K-12 and beyond.

 Update FLVS’ mission in s. 1002.37, F.S., to embrace both the student constituencies already served by FLVS and
service to all students in Florida, including career and technical education, alternative and juvenile justice education,
graduation assistance, English Language Learners, gifted education and students with other unique learning needs and
challenges. [legislation]

In January 2019, Governor DeSantis released Executive Order 19-31 that charts a course for Florida to become #1 in the 
nation for workforce education by 2030, as well as ensuring that Florida students are prepared to fill the high-demand, high-
wage jobs of today and the future. FLVS can support these goals by helping students pursue viable career pathways.

 Tailor grades 6-12 career and technical education (CTE) offerings to programs (and associated courses) that align with
the Governor’s Executive Order 19-31 and assist to identify programs, i.e., information technology, that align well with
online instructional delivery. [CEO decision]

 Provide technical assistance on the various pathways for teacher certification. [CEO decision]
 Partner with industry providers and major job creators to achieve these goals. [CEO decision]
 Explore other means by which FLVS can cover the gaps in CTE for apprenticeships, blended learning, dual enrollment,

etc., and partner with FDOE, the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO), CareerSource Florida and school
districts to identify these opportunities. [CEO decision]
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Strategy 6
Student Demand (cont.)
STRATEGY: EVALUATE COURSE OFFERINGS ANNUALLY AND EXPLORE OPPORTUNITIES FOR FLVS TO FILL GAPS IN WORKFORCE 
EDUCATION; ALTERNATIVE, JUVENILE JUSTICE AND CORRECTIONS EDUCATION; AND EDUCATION FOR ADULTS SEEKING HIGH 
SCHOOL DIPLOMAS. 

Approximately 12% of Florida’s working age population, aged 25 to 64, does not have a high school diploma or equivalent. For 
these adults, the first step to providing access to sustainable employment and postsecondary education opportunities is the 
attainment of a high school diploma. FLVS can increase access to virtual education courses for adults who need a high school 
diploma.

 Develop a framework for FLVS’ value-add through research of adult diploma and GED programs offered already.
[CEO decision]

 Create a pilot project for FLVS to recruit and enroll 30 students in an adult high school diploma program. [CEO
decision]

 Recruit students who have recently exited K-12, without a diploma and do not currently have access to an adult high
school program in their local community. [CEO decision]

 Seek out a partnership with an experienced provider of adult diploma services to collaborate with and build out a
comprehensive service delivery model. [CEO decision]

 Work with FDOE to identify federal funding sources to pay for adult diploma services. [CEO decision]

Similarly, FLVS can serve as an enhancement to educational services for students in alternative schools, juvenile and 
correctional programs. For some of FLVS’ current students, an online education already serves as an alternative and calming 
setting for students with behavioral issues. FLVS offers a means to bring unique courses, including CTE, to students who may 
otherwise be limited in juvenile and correctional education programs.

 Develop a framework for FLVS’ value-add through research and outreach to school districts, alternative schools,
FDOE, the Florida Department of Juvenile Justice and the Florida Department of Corrections. [CEO decision]
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Strategy 7
FLVS Global
STRATEGY: EXPAND OUT-OF-STATE SERVICES THAT INCREASE FLVS REVENUES TO SUPPORT COURSE DEVELOPMENT AND 
ENHANCEMENT FOR FLORIDA STUDENTS.

Every Florida student has access to multiple virtual education opportunities, including FLVS. However, there are students in 
other states and U.S. territories who do not, due to either an insufficient or non-existent statewide virtual school. Giving 
them access to FLVS is both a benefit to those students as well as returning resources to Florida to serve Florida’s virtual 
education students.

 Initiate a comprehensive analysis of all U.S. states and territories, in collaboration with FDOE, to determine
opportunities to expand FLVS’ reach to students outside Florida. [CEO decision]

 Offer FLVS’ curriculum that would be aligned through a crosswalk with other states’ standards; or
 Use the FLVS model, including curriculum and FLVS instructors who would then become certified in their state.

[CEO decision]
 Increase FLVS Global’s return on investment to Florida’s students by returning greater revenues to Florida and

reinvesting those dollars into curriculum and course development for Florida’s students. [CEO decision]
 Allow FLVS to continue to operate at a cost that is less than 70% of traditional public schools, continuing a savings

to Florida taxpayers. [CEO decision]
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Strategy 8
Accountability
STRATEGY: PROVIDE PARENTS AND STUDENTS WITH BETTER AND MORE RELEVANT DATA ON ALL VIRTUAL PROVIDERS.

FLVS Performance Assessment by Ernst & Young, LLP, recommended that FLVS should continue to develop additional 
program and operational performance measures, consider comparing itself to other virtual schools as a way to identify 
potential organizational efficiencies, and supplement key performance indicator (KPI) measures that will track performance. 
The challenge is to develop meaningful measures that track performance among virtual education students receiving part-
time instruction who do not attend a virtual provider full-time nor do they necessarily attend a virtual provider for the 
entire year.

 Create a virtual education accountability and transparency calculation based on the following nine (9) measures for
students enrolled in part-time and full-time instruction, the first eight (8) of which mirror school grading and the
federal Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), and number nine (9) which is related to the acceleration component used
in the school grades calculation. [Commissioner decision]

1. English Language Arts Achievement
2. Mathematics Achievement
3. Science Achievement
4. Social Studies Achievement
5. Learning gains in English Language Arts
6. Learning gains in Mathematics
7. Learning gains of the lowest 25% of students in English Language Arts
8. Learning gains of the lowest 25% of students in Mathematics
9. Advanced Placement (AP) Achievement

 Determine whether this calculation is purely for informational, transparency and reporting purposes or if the intent
is to use for formal accountability purposes for virtual education providers. [if the latter, legislation then SBOE rule]

 Undertake rule-making by FDOE and the SBOE to collect data that would allow for additional data collection for
virtual students who do not take courses captured by the measures above. [SBOE rule]
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Strategy 9
Competition
STRATEGY: ALLOW FOR GREATER COMPETITION IN FLORIDA’S VIRTUAL EDUCATION SPACE, CREATING GREATER CRITICAL 
MASS FOR QUALITY.

The current delivery of and statutory framework for virtual education in Florida does not fully leverage the pressure to 
deliver high quality services that free market forces provide to other modes of education. In part, FLVS has a huge footprint
on virtual education in Florida.  Approximately 90% of Florida’s virtual education students are served either directly by FLVS 
or indirectly by FLVS through a school district’s franchise of FLVS. The remainder of virtual education students are served 
through district-created or contracted virtual instruction programs (VIPs), virtual charter schools or district-created or 
contracted online courses.  

Additionally, there are competitive barriers to meeting virtual students where they tend to need services.  Approximately 
90% of Florida’s virtual education students are only part-time virtual students.  However, virtual charters cannot provide 
part-time virtual education under current law.  Moreover, the statutory framework to gain approval for VIPs to contract with 
school districts is not tailored to virtual providers whose track record of success is entirely based on their work in other 
states.

 Remove application and approval barriers to new VIPs and online course providers who can demonstrate high
quality work in other states. [legislation]

 Allow virtual charter schools to offer part-time instruction after they have already been approved for and providing
full-time instruction for at least one school year. [legislation]

 Allow conditional approval of VIPs for two (2) years, rather than one (1) under current law, based on the provider’s
track record of success in other states. [legislation]

 Remove the outdated requirement that some districts must offer at least three options for part- and full-time
virtual instruction. [legislation]

 Remove the requirement that FLVS market its services in Florida, as this is an anti-competitive requirement that
the state market its own services in direct competition with the private sector. [board policy as a first step and
legislation to build the policy to full scale]
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Conclusion

FLVS is well on its way to reasserting its reputation and focus on great outcomes for students and Florida’s families.  FLVS 
now also has the opportunity to position itself as a great return on investment for the entire Florida education family.  

 Herein FDOE, in collaboration with FLVS, has taken EY’s seven (7) general types of recommendations, put them into
nine (9) actionable strategic initiatives with 69 different activities.

 50 of those 69 activities (72%) are not reliant on legislation, and are at the discretion of FLVS’ CEO, the
Commissioner of Education, the SBOE or the SBOE acting in its current role as FLVS’ board of trustees.

 Immediate action is critical on several of these initiatives, including cybersecurity, ethics and governance.
 Several of the additional recommendations embrace a vision of virtual education in Florida that seeks to serve a

greater number of students’ unique learning needs.
 The recommendations also seek to preserve the low cost and high return on investment model for virtual

education that is working in Florida.
 Lastly, these recommendations seek to introduce greater free market principles to drive quality.
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To the Chief Executive of Florida Virtual School, Inspector General of the Florida Department of Education and the Florida
Board of Education:

Ernst & Young LLP (EY) assisted Florida Virtual School (FLVS) with the current state evaluation of its programs and
operations using agreed criteria based on the statement of work dated July 24, 2019. EY has provided FLVS with weekly
progress updates throughout this project and met periodically with FLVS leaders to review our results. EY prepared and
delivered initial observations on September 5, 2019, and this final report of our assessment to FLVS and the Inspector
General was delivered on October 1, 2019.

Our services are advisory in nature. EY performed an assessment under the consulting standards issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). EY does not render an opinion, conclusion, or attestation in conformity
with standards applicable to financial audits or performance audits under Government Auditing Standards (GAS). None of
the services or any reports constitute any legal opinion or advice. We did not conduct a review to detect fraud or illegal
acts and did not form conclusions as to FLVS’ compliance with laws and regulations, including Florida legislative statutes.
Our work has been limited in scope and time and we stress that more detailed procedures may reveal issues that this
engagement has not.

This report is confidential and is intended solely for the information of, and use by, FLVS (i.e., the key persons assigned to
the task order as specified in the statement of work) and is not intended to and should not be used by anyone other than
these specified individuals. EY therefore assumes no responsibility to any user of the report other than these key persons.
Any other persons who choose to rely on our report do so entirely at their own risk. This report should not be released to
any third party without prior written consent from Ernst & Young LLP.

We have valued the opportunity to work with FLVS and sincerely appreciate the cooperation and assistance provided to us
during this engagement.

Ernst & Young LLP
210 East College Avenue
Tallahassee, FL  32301

Tel: +1 850 404 5000
ey.com
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Executive summary

Florida Virtual School (FLVS) was founded in 1997 as the first statewide internet-based public high school in the United States. In 2000,
FLVS was established as an independent educational entity by the Florida Legislature. Recognized as its own district within the state,
FLVS provides online instruction to Florida students from kindergarten to 12th grade. FLVS is part of the Florida public education
system and serves students in all 67 Florida districts. FLVS also serves students, schools and districts around the globe through tuition-
based instruction, curriculum provision and training. As a public school, its funding is tied directly to student performance.

When founded in 1997, FLVS consisted of six teachers, four support staff, 77 enrollments and six courses, and the use of online
education tools was still new for high schoolers. Today, FLVS employs more than 2,200 support staff and Florida certified instructors,
serves more than 200,000 students and offers more than 180 courses through three distinct instructional programs: FLVS Flex (part
time), FLVS Full Time and FLVS Global School (out-of-state programs). In 2017–18, FLVS recorded more than 492,000 semester
completions with more than 4.1 million semester completions since inception. FLVS students have outperformed state averages on end-
of-course (EOC) exams and on Advanced Placement exams, and FLVS now represents approximately 5% of the high school semesters
completed in the state of Florida.

During FY 2017–18, a data breach of certain FLVS systems was discovered, which exposed the personal information of approximately
368,000 students and 1,500 teachers. Additionally, multiple employee complaints surfaced relating to the conduct of FLVS’s former
General Counsel. As a result, FLVS had independent audits conducted into the IT/cybersecurity and procurement processes and ordered
an investigation into the conduct of the former General Counsel.

In June 2019, Senate Bill 2502 passed, which required the dissolution of the current FLVS Board of Trustees and appointed the State
Board of Education (BOE) to act in this capacity for a period of one year pursuant to Statute 1002.37. The BOE appointed an executive
director to competitively award a contract for an independent third-party consulting firm to perform a performance assessment. The
oversight of the assessment falls under the Office of the Inspector General (OIG). In August 2019, the BOE engaged Ernst & Young LLP
(EY) to conduct said assessment.

The newly appointed FLVS executive leadership recognizes opportunities exist to create a more robust organizational governance
structure, change and enterprise risk management (ERM) program, and internal control framework to mitigate risks that have the
potential to be detrimental to FLVS’ mission and goals. This report details our findings and recommendations related to our review of
FLVS’ programs and operations, organizational governance, risk assessment and internal control processes, compliance with
appropriate rules and regulations, and corrective actions taken by FLVS in response to other audits and external investigations.

Source: “FLVS Legislative Report” by FLVS, 2017–18
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Executive summary (cont.)

Source: Florida Virtual School
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Online education overview

Online learning in many forms is growing rapidly across the United States. Some students take a single online course while attending a physical
school. Other students attend schools that split time between online and face-to-face content and instruction throughout the school day. They
may rotate between learning labs with laptops and classrooms that look and feel much like a traditional school. Still other students attend
schools that blend online and face-to-face instruction in all classes throughout the day. Although these students attend a physical school, it
looks nothing like a traditional school building. Some students attend schools that don’t have a physical building at all. These full-time online
schools still have highly qualified teachers and curriculum, and still foster interaction between students and teachers, but students typically
access courses from home.

The stories of individual students demonstrate why online schools are the best option for some students who require a different learning
environment, schedule flexibility or some other element different from what is provided by traditional schools. For example:

• Student A, is a teen who had dropped out of a traditional school to get a job in order to help with her family’s financial struggles. She
enrolled in an online school that she could attend to more easily balance school and work responsibilities, and she is now on track to
graduate.

• Student B was not performing well because he was not challenged in school, even though he had been in gifted classes. In the personalized
learning environment of his online school, his teachers have been able to differentiate instruction for him and challenge him to do well. He
has responded and is now proficient in math and reading.

• Student C has recently developed serious health problems, and his parents worry about sending him to a traditional school until he learns
to better manage these health issues. Until that happens, he is attending an online school so that he can maintain his education without
attending his traditional school.

• Student D needs a few credits to graduate, and the brick-and-mortar school she attends does not offer a class option that fits in her
already busy senior schedule and extracurricular activities. She enrolled for an online class to take in addition with her traditional live
classroom courses and will be able to graduate with her peers.

Each of these examples of online or blended learning environments is an important component of the overall field of expanding learning
opportunities in the 21st century. One of the reasons that online learning is expanding so rapidly is that teachers can personalize learning,
using more engaging content and technology tools to better address the needs of each student in a way that is very difficult for a traditional
environment to match. In the same manner that different elements of an online course are best suited to different students, varied types of
online learning are best suited to individual students as well. All of the models of education — traditional, full-time online, full-time on-site or a
blend — are appropriate for some students.

Source: “Measuring Quality from Inputs to Outcomes” by The International Association for K–12 Online Learning (iNACOL), October 2012
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State virtual schools overview

State virtual schools are an important part of the online learning landscape, collectively serving more than 420,000 students and
approaching one million supplemental online course enrollments in 23 states during the 2016–17 fiscal year. They are among the
largest and most recognized providers of online courses, instruction, technology infrastructure, professional development and other
online learning-related services to schools and districts across the states in which they operate. State virtual schools are structured and
managed in a variety of ways:

• State virtual schools are entities created by legislation or by state-level agencies, usually funded partially or entirely by a state
appropriation, course fees and/or grants.

• Most state virtual schools are not “schools” as defined by the National Center for Education Statistics (with FLVS being an
exception), as they do not grant diplomas and are not responsible for many of the functions performed by schools (such as
administration of state assessments, state and federal reporting, counseling, etc.). Instead, they supply online courses and related
services to schools. Students are usually enrolled with district approval, with the exception of states with course access policies.
Even then, the school or district plays an integral role in counseling, mentoring and enrolling students in the state virtual school.

• State virtual schools may be administered by a state education agency, or may be separate nonprofit organizations, charter
schools, higher education institutions or regional service agencies contracted by the state education agency.

• State virtual school courses and services are generally funded totally or in part by legislative line items. Districts may be required to
pay all or part of the cost of the courses in which their students enroll. In some cases, courses are provided at no cost to schools
and districts, or for nominal fees to help cover costs. State virtual schools may receive federal or private foundation grants, but the
bulk of state virtual school funding comes from the state allocation and/or course fees based on course enrollments.

Although state virtual schools have different organizational and governance structures, most share similar characteristics. They provide
teacher-led online courses, have administrative staff, enroll students, hire and train teachers, and maintain technology infrastructure to
deliver and support online courses. They may create their own online course content, license content from vendors, use open
educational resources or combine content from various sources.

Source: “Snapshot 2019: A Review of K-12 Online, Blended, and Digital Learning” by the Digital Learning Collaborative, April 2019



Florida Virtual SchoolPage 8

Florida Virtual School (FLVS)

Some of the defining characteristics that set FLVS apart from other state virtual schools include the following:

• FLVS was a pioneer as Florida’s first internet-based public school, as well as the nation’s first statewide online high school to
develop its own online course content.

• FLVS was a first mover in the market and was highly differentiated in developing a unique virtual learning model.

• With two decades of experience, FLVS holds a unique position in Florida and nationally in online education.

• FLVS courses meet the Florida Standards, and all public institutions within Florida must provide Florida families the option to
choose FLVS for its courses. (Families and schools have other options and are not limited to the services that FLVS provides.)

• FLVS is recognized as a leader in content development for online high school courses in the state of Florida. To that end, FLVS has
developed some level of collaborative efforts with all the school districts in Florida. These efforts have typically extended beyond
course content and encompass the entire learning process in partnership with school guidance counselors, administrators,
students, parents and instructors.

FLVS currently serves kindergarten through the 12th grade for a variety of students, including those coming from public, private and
homeschool environments. Florida is one of the few states to provide specific programs for homeschool students. FLVS offers more
than 200 courses for part-time and full-time students. FLVS delivers online curriculum in all 67 Florida school districts and captures
approximately 5% of the high school courses provided in the state of Florida.

Source: “Strategic Plan 2019–2023” report by FLVS, November 2018.
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The competitive landscape for FLVS

In March of 2017, the previous executive leadership team conducted an in-depth competitive analysis which detailed the primary competitors
of FLVS. This included an analysis of key statistics, financial performance, core organizational competencies, customer/stakeholder
satisfaction reviews, and growth and innovation metrics to provide FLVS with a balanced scorecard approach to analyzing their competitors.
However, it should be noted that the newly appointed executive leadership team is in the process of reviewing and updating the Strategic Plan
which contains this analysis.

Competitors for core programs are defined as suppliers who provide an equivalent course to students in the K–12 grade range in the state of
Florida. A survey of 8,800 FLVS students in 2016 confirmed that the vast majority (more than 85%) of FLVS students had taken online courses
from FLVS alone. No single competitor of FLVS represented a majority of non-FLVS courses taken. However, one course, Driver’s Education
(also offered by FLVS), stood out as one of the most popular courses taken outside of the FLVS program.

Relevant and recent strategic moves by key competitors include the following:

• A South Florida School District, a key strategic partner of FLVS, partnered with a private company competitor and began co-generating
marketing videos with them. The competitor also entered into a contractual agreement with a Central Florida School District and created a
portal for them to host online courses, which replaced the FLVS franchise model for that district. In addition, the competitor began to
market “safety” as a key virtual education pillar in timely response to news of school shootings.

• Another private company online education provider began actively pursuing the credit-recovery market, which had previously been a
request from schools to FLVS, but one which FLVS decided not to pursue based on the funding model of how revenue is recognized.

• A third private company competitor has experienced a 257% overall growth over the past six years, as well as an 80% increase in students
(this competitor was previously a partner of FLVS to serve students in grades K–8).

In response, FLVS conducted “Voice of the Customer” activities that involved the process of gathering and understanding customer
expectations, preferences and aversions through focus groups, individual interviews, surveys and other methods. The purpose of analyzing
customer needs is to extract and organize the priorities of customers and integrate them back into how the organization allocates resources.

Outreach efforts were conducted with the top districts and provided key insights such as the following:

• FLVS is chosen primarily due to the need to satisfy the online requirement for students

• FLVS is preferred over competition because FLVS is viewed as an education partner

• FLVS is currently viewed as a competitor to the districts and the schools due to how funding is allocated

Source: “Strategic Plan 2019–2023” report by FLVS, November 2018.
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The FLVS value proposition and lines of business

The FLVS value proposition is primarily based on how it partners with the Florida Department of Education. FLVS is the only state organization
to offer online education to brick-and-mortar schools; competitors that are privately owned.

In the current 2019–2023 Strategic Plan created by previous FLVS leadership, FLVS described in the Plan that the school can further
strengthen its value proposition by tying course development and curriculum to state exam standards, which can help FLVS serve schools
better through improving their school rating. Further, as FLVS continues to improve internal operating efficiencies and how it delivers and
implements curriculum, the overall cost of delivering online courses should continue to decrease, and these savings could be passed on to
Florida schools. Although FLVS is a school district, the channels of delivering online education should be thought of as revenue-generating lines
of business. Accordingly, there are five lines of business (LOBs) (three in state and two out of state) in the FLVS portfolio:

1. Flex — Allows students to enroll on a per-course basis to supplement current studies. Credits are applied to the transcript
of a student’s local school.

2. Full-Time — Serves as a primary school of record, operating on a traditional 180-day school-year calendar. School districts
and virtual charter schools may also contract with FLVS to provide the FLVS FT program to district public school students.

3. Franchise — Provides content licensing for schools to use the curriculum, virtual instruction and digital labs of FLVS.

4. Global Services — Offers packaged FLVS courses for use out of state. Schools use their own LMS and instruction, and this is
a non-FLVS supported environment.

5. Global School — Offers a full suite of instruction outside the state of Florida.

FLVS operates each of these lines of business based on three primary organizational resources, which are considered key:

• Learning Management System (LMS) — An LMS is a software application that aids in the administration, documentation, tracking,
reporting and delivery of educational courses or training programs.

• Instruction — FLVS offers custom instruction from certified instructors for the courses that it offers. This is considered to be a
differentiator for FLVS as an organization.

• Curriculum — FLVS designs its own curriculum based on leading practices and key learning objectives for students. This is considered to be
a key differentiator for FLVS and is strategically important with respect to achieving objectives for the state.

In-state
LOBs

Out-of-
state
LOBs

Source: “Strategic Plan 2019–2023” report by FLVS, November 2018.
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The FLVS value proposition and lines of business (cont.)

FLVS lines of business (LOBs)

Source: “Strategic Plan 2019–2023” report by FLVS, November 2018.
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FLVS in-state programs and revenue generation

Source: Florida Virtual School
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FLVS program and operational performance measures

Source: “FLVS Legislative Report” by FLVS, 2017–18

► FLVS students have
achieved 4.1 million
semester
completions since
inception in 1997

► 492,507 semester
completions  in
2017-2018

► 207,367
students served
in 2017–2018

► 287 Digital
Learning
Labs in
2017–2018

► 168,807 FLVS
Florida District
Franchises semester
completions in
2017–2018

► 5,196 Global School
semester completions
in 2017–2018

FLVS Digital Learning Labs in
Florida
The FLVS digital and blended learning
models allow districts to introduce new
courses and address challenges such as
teacher shortages, class size reduction,
scheduling conflicts and grade forgiveness.

FLVS Florida District
Franchises
Through Florida District Franchises, districts
have access to FLVS elementary, middle and
high school courses and technology systems
and receive student support and teacher
training while still using their own teachers to
teach the courses. In 2017–2018, 65 Florida
districts powered their district virtual schools
with FLVS.

FLVS Global School
FLVS Global School serves middle and high
school students around the nation and world
through tuition-based instruction. Public,
private and homeschool students can choose
from more than 118 courses, including
electives, honors, Advanced Placement and
NCAA-approved core. FLVS Global School
has served students in all 50 states and in
more than 65 countries.
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FLVS program and operational performance measures
(cont.)

Source: “FLVS Legislative Report” by FLVS, 2017–18.

AP scores
Based on May 2018 AP exams, FLVS students outperformed state overall averages by 11% in comparing the 15 AP courses
offered by FLVS and scored above those state qualifying AP averages in 11 of the 15 courses. FLVS students performed above
the national overall average by 4% in comparing the 15 AP courses offered by FLVS.

11%
higher AP scores than the
state average

11%
higher AP scores than the
national average

20%
higher Full Time Biology EOC
scores than the state average

12%
higher Flex Biology EOC scores
than the state average

► Algebra 1*

FLVS Flex 77%

FLVS Full Time 70%

State 63%

► Biology 1*

FLVS Flex 77%

FLVS Full Time 85%

State 65%

► Civics *

FLVS Flex 78%

FLVS Full Time 81%

State 71%

► Geometry*

FLVS Flex 63%

FLVS Full Time 69%

State 57%

► U.S. History*

FLVS Flex 79%

FLVS Full Time 85%

State 68%

*Data represents first-time test takers. Percentage of students scoring Level 3 or above (Proficient)
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FLVS program and operational performance measures
(cont.)

Source: “FLVS Legislative Report” by FLVS, 2017–18.

Education through FLVS offers significant savings to the state of Florida when compared with brick-and mortar public schools.

FLVS funding per full-time equivalent (FTE) and efficiencies
FLVS Flex and FLVS Full Time schools are funded through the Florida Education Finance Program (FEFP), just like the other brick-
and-mortar public schools. However, unlike other public schools that are funded based on student enrollment, FLVS Flex and
FLVS Full Time schools are funded only for courses that are successfully completed (and not per enrollment or seat time).

$2,744.55
Savings for the state per virtual student
2017–2018

FLVS Full Time and Flex Schools 2017–2018
21,405.69 public FTE enrollment
$5,248.31 state cost per FTE*

$5,248.31 total state cost per FTE

Brick-and-mortar schools 2017–2018
2,559,007.85 public FTE enrollment
$6,962.43 state cost per FTE**
$1,030.43 K–12 capital dollars per FTE

$7,992.86 total state cost per FTE

*In 2013, the FEFP formula was modified such that while students may earn more than one FTE per scholastic year, the providers of the services (school districts, lab schools,
and FLVS) are limited to one FTE on a shared basis. FLVS saves the state an additional 12.4% for successful completions due to the effects of the 1.0 FTE sharing formula,
resulting in actual funding per 12 successful semester course completions of $4,599.13.

**Final calculation of FY 2017–18, FEFP.
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FLVS’s value to the state

Source: “FLVS Legislative Report” by FLVS, 2017–18.

Performance-based funding
FLVS is performance-based funded, receiving funding only when a student successfully completes a course, unlike traditional
schools that are funded upon seat time.

Operational and capital efficiencies
In the 2017–2018 school year, every semester course taken with FLVS saved the state of Florida $143.03, amounting to more than
$58 million in savings for the school year.

Solutions for class size challenges
Financial impact occurs when a new student enrolls in a school whose classes are already filled to the maximum. Hiring a new
teacher for that one student is costly to the district and can be disruptive.

Operational savings
Districts can utilize FLVS for courses with low student counts for a particular subject. For example, there may not be enough
students interested in taking Advanced Placement Computer Science to warrant hiring a teacher, but schools can offer that
opportunity to interested students through FLVS. The FLVS digital learning solutions allow districts to introduce new courses and
address challenges such as scheduling conflicts, grade forgiveness, class-size and more.

Saving students through state scholarship programs
FLVS has the unique ability to participate in choice programs across the state of Florida, allowing all students to have access to high-
quality digital learning. FLVS serves students enrolled through the Hope Scholarship, the McKay Scholarship Program, Gardiner
Scholarships and Florida Tax Credit Scholarships.
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Strategic plan and desired future state of FLVS

The 2019–2023 Strategic Plan outlines the goals that FLVS will pursue to enhance its current position in the online education market.
This plan was created by previous FLVS leaders in collaboration with FLVS leaders and subject-matter resources, leveraging data
analytics and scenario planning. This plan has been designed to guide the FLVS organization to achieve its strategic intent of becoming
the valued solutions partner for education in the state of Florida. The overarching vision for FLVS in implementing this plan is to
significantly impact the education ecosystem of the state of Florida. There are two main drivers for every school in the state. First, lower
the cost of education. Second, improve student performance on statewide assessments that determine overall school grades. The newly
appointed executive leadership team is in the process of reviewing the Strategic Plan.

The plan is configured in three phases to be implemented over a five-year period. Each phase builds on the prior phase. Phase 1 focuses
on improving FLVS’s internal efficiencies, increasing excess revenue and improving student learning outcomes in significant ways.
Phase 2 is designed to guide FLVS through opportunities to increase market share both in Florida and nationally in significant ways.
Phase 3 returns to the theme of further improving student learning outcomes through FLVS innovation in ways that impact students,
instructors and schools.

As a result of implementing this three-phase plan, FLVS hopes to significantly improve its position in the online market both in Florida
and nationally. The shift in position will come through two components: one is a reduced cost of delivering a course completion; the
other component will be the improved student outcomes that in turn improve school performance on standardized tests. These
improvements will strengthen FLVS’s position to help reduce the cost of education, particularly in Florida, and help schools improve
their ability to achieve higher grades on statewide assessments, which in turn improves the school’s ability to secure funds. Expanding
market capture in Phase 2 will help FLVS in several ways. First, Global Services can bring leading practices from other states back to
Florida to give FLVS further insights into ways to improve student learning outcomes. Second, the additional excess revenue will provide
FLVS with additional financial resources to continue to invest in Florida students. Phase 3 is designed to build on the results of the first
two phases. The objective is to improve student learning outcomes, improve instructor success and efficiency, and improve the success
of school administrators who partner with FLVS.

Source: “Strategic Plan 2019–2023” report by FLVS, November 2018
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Findings and
recommendations
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Current state Recommendations

Based on our review of the Legislative Report, Strategic Plan,
supporting documentation and other independent research (see
Appendix 1), as well as conducting multiple interviews and meetings
with FLVS senior management and staff, we noted that FLVS
currently assesses the effectiveness and efficiency of its programs
and operations by following current state statutes. This is
accomplished by creating goals, objectives and performance
measures such as course completions, students served, test scores,
cost savings and other metrics that are monitored throughout the
year and compared to brick-and-mortar school districts (refer to
measures on previous pages and in Appendices 6–13). These are
reported in the annual FLVS Legislative Reports (see Appendix 1)
and are provided to the Board of Trustees and the Department of
Education to demonstrate how FLVS is achieving its mission and
goals as outlined in the statutes.

In addition, newly appointed FLVS executive leadership is in the
process of reviewing, updating, and implementing the 2019–2023
Strategic Plan (see Appendix 1) that outlines additional metrics, KPIs
and other accountability measures. The goal of the plan is to
strengthen the design and adequacy of FLVS’s programs and
operations as well as provide cost-effective alternative methods of
providing and enhancing virtual education services and products.

FLVS should continue to develop additional program and operational
performance measures. FLVS should consider comparing itself to
other virtual schools as a way to identify potential organizational
efficiencies. There have been several attempts by industry groups to
collect, consolidate, organize and document virtual school data
related to operational and program performance, but these attempts
have been thwarted by missing or incomplete data as well as
insufficient monitoring rules established by the industry groups.
More research will need to be done as the online learning industry
continues to grow and evolve.

As online learning continues to grow, FLVS, with the support of the
Department of Education (DOE), should supplement KPI measures
that will track performance of FLVS.

Programs and operations
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Current state Recommendations

The Board of Education currently acts as the FLVS Board of
Trustees pursuant to the passage of Senate Bill 2502, which passed
in July 2019. This bill relieved the previous FLVS Board of Trustees
of its authority as a result of circumstances stemming from a data
breach and misconduct of the former General Counsel. In addition,
there has been turnover at the executive level of management,
which is still being vetted and restructured.

u Roles and responsibilities regarding overall governance of FLVS
are currently being formally defined and documented to best
suit the needs of FLVS and its Board and to achieve the vision
and mission of FLVS.

u During our interviews, the following areas were potential
concerns:
u Approval of policies and procedures and the need of the

Board’s involvement in day-to-day operations
u The volume of standard operating procedures (SOPs) is high

(more than 1,000) and excessive; in some cases, the SOPs
are outdated (refer to policies and SOPs observation on
page 24)

The newly appointed FLVS executive leadership should continue to
restructure and document an organizational governance framework.
Refer to Appendix 3 for leading practices that can be considered
when constructing the organizational structure.

FLVS should be empowered to manage the day-to-day operational
decisions that affect the organization as a whole (policies, non-
executive employment decisions, etc. vs. changes in programs,
funding, etc.).

The Board should be involved with the overall oversight and
governance of FLVS and less with the day to day operational
decisions. The Department of Education should review the current
language in Statute 1002.37 regarding the current responsibilities
of the Board of Trustees.

Overall organizational governance structure
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Current state Recommendations

A comprehensive ERM program and governance structure is not in
place to provide the foundations for designing, implementing,
monitoring, reviewing and continually improving risk management
throughout FLVS.

FLVS should develop and document an ERM program. This typically
involves the process of identifying particular events or circumstances
that may negatively affect the organization’s objectives, assessing
them in terms of likelihood and magnitude of impact, determining a
response strategy and monitoring progress.

Roles and responsibilities regarding overall governance of the ERM
program should be formally defined and documented in a policy or
procedure.

FLVS should utilize a recognized risk management framework, such
as the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) Standards for
Internal Control in the Federal Government (known as the Green
Book) as it builds out its enterprise risk program. FLVS should
document and communicate the risk assessment process across all
departments within the FLVS ERM policy. This will support the
sustainability and consistency of the program over time. Refer to
Appendix 5 for ERM program considerations and leading practices.

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)
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Current state Recommendations

An adequate internal audit (IA) function is not in place to provide the
foundations for designing, implementing, monitoring, reviewing and
continually improving risk management and internal controls
throughout FLVS. The internal audit function at FLVS currently
consists of one Internal Audit Manager who reports to the Executive
Director of Operations. The IA function does not communicate
findings and recommendations to an audit committee (or similar
authoritative body, i.e., the Board of Trustees). Refer to Appendix 4
for internal audit function framework and considerations.

FLVS should enhance its IA function. The mission and responsibilities
of the IA function need to be documented in a formal charter.

The IA function needs to report to the Board of Trustees to maintain
independence and objectivity.

The process of identifying and reporting on issues should be
formalized to confirm that a consistent process is followed when
reporting.

The IA function needs to track the recommendations and the
implementation of the recommendations by management.

Any findings and recommendations also need to be communicated to
the Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees.

Internal audit function
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Current state Recommendations

FLVS currently has more than 100 policies. Based on
recommendations from the investigations and audits performed
(refer to pages 26 and 27 for more details) and the review of the
Board polices and bylaws by outside counsel, certain policies were
updated. In addition, EY noted that there are more than 1,000 SOPs.
Some policies contain desktop procedures that should only be
included in SOPs. The newly appointed executive leadership team is
in the process of reviewing all policies and SOPs.

Once the newly appointed executive leadership team reviews the
policies and bylaws, the newly appointed executive leadership team
should present the policies to the Board of Trustees for approval.
The Board of Trustees should consider timely approval of these
policies as FLVS is still leveraging the old policies. Additionally,
training should be given for the new and approved policies. Refer to
page 21 for recommendation on responsibilities of the Board of
Trustees and FLVS.

The newly appointed FLVS executive leadership and management
should consider consolidating and/or reducing the number to include
relevant SOPs.  The SOPs should be reviewed by management at
least annually and/or when there is a process or system change.
Additionally, consideration should be given to having a single point of
contact to own the updates of the SOPs.

Policies and Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)
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Current state Recommendations

The future and structure of the FLVS Foundation is currently being
evaluated. The newly appointed FLVS executive leadership has
expressed concerns of potential conflict of interest in fact and/or
appearance with some Foundation Board directors and their
business relationships with FLVS.

As of June 30, 2019, there were 10 members of the Board of
Directors. Currently, there are 5 members — the other 5 members’
terms expired on June 30, 2019. 4 members with expired terms
were nominated by the Foundation Board of Directors for
reappointment to another two-year term. These new terms have
not been confirmed by the Board of Trustees. In addition, there is
currently no Executive Director to manage the day-to-day affairs of
the Foundation.

Through interviews and review of the Foundation Board bylaws,
there does not appear to be any indications of conflict of interest.
However, given the recent diminished public trust in FLVS,
consideration should be given to selecting individuals that do not
have business relationships or the appearance of a business
relationship with FLVS.

The Foundation should confirm its mission and goals, and, depending
on the overall direction, the Foundation should be adequately staffed
and include someone to manage the day-to-day activities of the
Foundation.

The FLVS Foundation bylaws state that the FLVS Board of Trustees
has the authority to appoint or remove the Foundation Board of
Directors. Florida Statute 1001.453, Section (3), states that the
Board of Directors shall be approved by the district school board,
which is the FLVS Board of Trustees. The current Foundation Board
of Directors should be evaluated and a decision made on whether to
remove or reappoint the current directors or appoint and approve
new directors. In appointing new directors, the Foundation Board of
Directors should include a member of the FLVS Board of Trustees, as
noted in the Foundation bylaws.

FLVS Foundation
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Current state Recommendations

The procurement audit, the statute audit and the General Counsel
(GC) investigations were performed in 2018. EY obtained and
reviewed the documentation of the procurement audit, General
Counsel investigation and the statute audit. We also discussed the
procurement audit with the Procurement Director, the General
Counsel investigation with the Executive Director of Operations
and the statute audit with the Internal Audit Manager and the
Executive Director of Operations. We discussed the
recommendations in the reports and noted that the remediations
based on the findings have been performed by FLVS with the
exception of the following:

Statute audit: FLVS was found to be in compliance with most
sections of Florida Statute 1002.37 with the exception of the
following:
u Section 1(c) — To ensure students are informed of the

opportunities offered by the Florida Virtual School, the
commissioner shall provide the board of trustees of the Florida
Virtual School access to the records of public school students in
a format prescribed by the board of trustees.

EY reviewed Florida Statute 1002.37, Section 1(c), as well as other
documentation to support the statute’s audit findings and
recommendations. When requested, the Education Commissioner
should provide access to the relevant public school students’ records
in a format prescribed by the FLVS Board of Trustees.

We also reviewed and inspected Florida Statute Section 2. For FLVS
to remain compliant with this statute, the Governor should appoint
seven Board of Trustee members. At the time of the statute audit,
there were five members of the Board of Trustees. Currently, the six
State Board of Education members serve as the FLVS Board of
Trustees.

Procurement audit, statute audit and general counsel
investigation
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Current state Recommendations

u Section 2 — The Florida Virtual School shall be governed by a
board of trustees comprised of seven members appointed by the
Governor to 4-year staggered terms. The board of trustees shall
be a public agency entitled to sovereign immunity pursuant to
s. 768.28, and board members shall be public officers who shall
bear fiduciary responsibility for the Florida Virtual School.

Procurement audit and the GC investigation: FLVS has
implemented the majority of the corrective actions noted in the
procurement audit and the GC investigation. We noted in the
procurement audit and the GC investigation that there is a need for
a revamp of the policies and SOPs at FLVS.

The findings and recommendations included in the procurement
audit report dated December 2018, the statute audit report dated
September 2018 and the GC investigation report dated September
2018, along with the underlying procedures, were performed and
reviewed by personnel other than EY and, as such, we do not
express an opinion or any form of assurance.

For the recommendation on policies and procedures, refer to the
“Polices and SOPs” section on page 24.

Procurement audit, statute audit and general counsel
investigation (cont.)
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Current state Recommendations

FLVS has a number of IT applications that are contracted out to SaaS
providers. Currently, performance is measured by the IT program
manager and is reported to the Director of Procurement when there
is an issue with performance or a breach of contract. There is not a
formal vendor management framework used to monitor such
vendors. In addition, security is not consistently integrated with the
vendor management function. For more information, refer to the
FLVS Cybersecurity Assessment report.

FLVS should create a formalized IT vendor risk management
program with a robust description of the SaaS vendor management
process to mitigate risk. The document should include how
performance is measured and communicated to various
stakeholders, including Procurement. Refer to Appendix 1 for an
example of a third-party vendor management lifecycle.

Vendor management
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Appendix 1: Report references

# Report Link

1 “Strategic Plan 2019–2023” report by FLVS, November 2018

2 “FLVS Legislative Report” by FLVS, 2017–18

3 “FLVS Flex Program Results” report by FLVS, Spring 2019

4 “FLVS Full-Time Program Results” report by FLVS, Spring 2019

5 “FLVS Flex Satisfaction Survey” report by FLVS, 2017–18

6 Sample Vendor Management Lifecycle

7 “Measuring Quality from Inputs to Outcomes” by iNACOL, October
2012

8 “Snapshot 2019 A Review of K-12 Online, Blended, and Digital
Learning” by the Digital Learning Collaborative, April 2019
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Executive Summary
This Strategic Plan outlines the goals that FLVS will pursue to enhance its current
position in the online education market. This plan was created in collaboration with
FLVS leaders and subject matter experts, leveraging data analytics and scenario
planning. This plan has been designed to guide the FLVS organization to achieve their
strategic intent of becoming the valued solutions partner for education in the state of
Florida.


The overarching vision for FLVS in implementing this plan is to significantly impact the
education ecosystem of the state of Florida.  There are two main drivers for every school
in the state.  First, lower the cost of education.  Second, improve student performance
on statewide assessments that determine overall school grades.


The plan is configured in three phases to be implemented over a five-year period.  Each
phase builds on the prior phase. Phase 1 focuses on improving FLVS’s internal
efficiencies, increasing excess revenue, and improving student learning outcomes in
significant ways. Phase 2 is designed to guide FLVS through opportunities to increase
market share both in Florida and nationally in significant ways.  Phase 3 returns to the
theme of further improving student learning outcomes through FLVS innovation in
ways that impact students, instructors, and schools.


The results from implementing these three phases should improve excess income by
over two hundred percent by improving student completions from eighty percent in
2018 to over ninety percent while making better use of instructor resources. Market
share should increase by twenty to thirty percent in Florida over 2018 levels. Student
learning should improve such that all courses with end-of-course exams, and those
associated with statewide assessments used to determine school grades, will show
statistically significant improvements.  These improvements should make FLVS the
online partner of choice when schools want to lower their cost of completions and
improve their school grades.


The overall result of implementing this three-phase strategic plan will be to shift FLVS’s
strategic position in the online education market from a position of being stuck-in-the-
middle to a position of value innovation. Value innovation is the intersection of cost-
leadership and differentiation.  This is accomplished by improving FLVS’s ability to
lower the cost of a student’s completion of a course and improve the performance of a
school when it comes to statewide assessments and student graduation rates.
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Overview
Florida Virtual School (FLVS) was created in 1997 through a legislative act by the State
of Florida. FLVS was a pioneer as Florida’s first internet-based public school, as well as
the nation’s first statewide online high school to develop online course content. FLVS
was a first mover in the market and was highly differentiated in developing a unique
virtual learning model. FLVS was a first-mover in the field of online learning and has
continued as a strong performer as other competitors have entered this market. As a
result of two-decades of experience, FLVS holds a unique position in Florida, and
nationally in online education.


FLVS, as a district and its schools, are accredited by AdvancED and the Southern
Association of Colleges and Schools Council on Accreditation and School Improvement
(SACS CASI). SACS CASI is an accrediting division of AdvancED. FLVS courses meet the
Florida Standards, and all public institutions within Florida must provide Florida
families the option to choose FLVS for its courses. FLVS families and schools have other
options to choose from and are not limited to the services that FLVS provides.


FLVS currently serves Kindergarten through the 12th grade for a variety of students,
including those coming from public, private, and homeschool environments. Florida is
one of the few states t0 provide specific programs for homeschool students. FLVS offers
more than 200 courses for part-time and full-time students. FLVS delivers online
curriculum in all 67 Florida school districts and captures approximately five percent of
the high school courses provided in the state of Florida.


FLVS is recognized as a leader in content development for online high school courses in
the State of Florida. To that end, FLVS has developed some level of collaborative efforts
with all the school districts in Florida. These efforts have typically extended beyond
course content and encompass the entire learning process in partnership with school
guidance counselors, administrators, students, parents, and instructors.


Value Proposition
The FLVS value proposition is primarily based on how it partners with the state and the
Department of Education. FLVS is a non-profit organization, and therefore, the price
points of FLVS keep private industry in check. Without FLVS, competitors in the private
industry would likely raise their prices, thus raising the cost of services for traditional
brick and mortar schools that need online education sources. FLVS is the only state
organization to offer online education to brick and mortar schools, competitors are
privately owned.


FLVS has an opportunity to further strengthen its value proposition by tying course
development and curriculum to state exam standards, which will help FLVS serve
schools better through improving their school rating. Further, as FLVS continues to
improve internal operating efficiencies and how it delivers and implements curriculum,
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the overall cost of delivering online courses will continue to decrease.  This savings can
be passed on to Florida schools.


FLVS Mission, Vision, and Core Values
The mission, vision, and core values of FLVS reflect the plan to position FLVS as the
valued solution partner in online education for grades K-12. The FLVS Vision, Mission
and Values shape the culture of the organization, guide leadership and align key
resources and messages for all stakeholders.


Mission


To deliver a high quality, technology-based education that provides the skills and
knowledge students need for success.


Vision


To transform education worldwide—one student at a time.


Commitment


The student is at the center of every decision we make.


Values


· Put People First
· Take the Lead
· Blaze the Trail
· Love What You Do


We have built our school on these beliefs:


· Every student is unique, so learning should be dynamic, flexible and engaging.
· Studies should be integrated rather than isolated.
· Students, parents, community members, and schools share responsibility for


learning.
· Students should have choices in how they learn and how they present what they


know.
· Students should be provided guidance with school and career planning.
· Assessments should provide insights not only of student progress but also of


instruction and curriculum.


Lines of Business
Although FLVS is a non-profit state agency, the channels of delivering online education
can be thought of as revenue generating lines of business.  Accordingly, there are five
lines of business in the FLVS portfolio:


1. Flex – Allows students to enroll on a per-course basis to supplement current
studies. Credits are applied to the transcript of a student's local school.
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2. Full-Time – Serves as a primary school of record, operating on a traditional 180-
day school-year calendar. School districts and virtual charter schools may also
contract with Florida Virtual School to provide the FLVS FT program to district
public school students.


3. Franchise – Provides content licensing for schools to use the curriculum, virtual
instruction, and digital labs of FLVS.


4. Global Services – Offers packaged FLVS courses for use out of state. Schools use
their own LMS and instruction, and this is a non-FLVS supported environment.


5. Global School – Offers full-suite of instruction outside of the state of Florida.


Key Organizational Resources
Fl0rida Virtual School operates each of these lines of business based on three primary
organizational resources, which are considered key:


· Learning Management System (LMS) – an LMS is a software application which
aids in the administration, documentation, tracking, reporting and delivery of
educational courses or training programs.


· Instruction – FLVS offers custom instruction from certified instructors for the
courses that it offers. This is considered to be a differentiator for FLVS as an
organization.


· Curriculum – FLVS designs its own curriculum based on best practices and key
learning objectives for students. This is considered to be a key differentiator for
FLVS and is strategically important with respect to achieving objectives for the
state.
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The FLVS Lines of Business utilize these key resources as follows:


Key Points from the Florida Statute
The Florida Department of Education provides specific statutory requirements relating
to virtual education. These requirements can be found on their website at
www.fldoe.org. Several key points relating to the objectives for how FLVS operates
(reference: 1002.33,.37,.45, 1003,.498,.4282) include the following:


· Mission: provide technology-based education in the state
· Priorities: home-education, inner-city, rural, accelerated, Armed Forces
· Requirements: state of the art technology, cost-effective, educationally sound,


marketable, self-sufficient
· Schools have several options to choose from, FLVS isn’t mandated
· FLVS controls the terms and conditions governing franchise
· The Board is instructed to aggressively seek avenues to generate revenue to fund


operations
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Historical Performance
The graphs below represent the past five years’ worth of completions for the in-state
lines of business:


Flex – Allows students to enroll on a per-course basis to supplement current studies.
Credits are applied to the transcript of a student's local school.



http://flvs.net/

mailto:info@flvs.net





FLVS.net | info@flvs.net | 800.374.1430 | 2145 Metrocenter Blvd,
Suite 100, Orlando, FL   32835


Copyright © by Florida Virtual School. All rights reserved. Florida Virtual School and FLVS are registered trademarks of Florida
Virtual School, a public school district of the State of Florida.   160419


12


Full-Time – Serves as a primary school of record, operating on a traditional 180-day
school-year calendar. School districts and virtual charter schools may also contract with
Florida Virtual School to provide the FLVS FT program to district public school
students.


Franchise – Provides content licensing for schools to use the curriculum, virtual
instruction, and digital labs of FLVS.
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The Prior Strategic Plan
The prior strategic plan had four major goals:


1. Collaborate in Leading Research to Advance Online Based Learning Outcomes
2. Invest in and Expand Core Program Student Enrollment
3. Invest in and Expand Global (out-of-state) Partnerships
4. Develop a Technology Enabled Learning Solution for stakeholders


As the team sought to pursue those goals, there were some successes, specifically with
respect to elementary, but there were also more challenges than anticipated. Some of
these challenges were related to external factors, but most of them were primarily
related to operational inefficiencies. Policies and approaches to govern operations were
not clear in all departments, and some departments were not empowered to manage
change. Contributing factors for inefficiencies had been present for several years and
corrective measurements on root causes have since been taken.


The Competitive Landscape
In March of 2017, Management Insights completed an in-depth competitive analysis
which detailed the primary competitors of FLVS. This included an analysis of key
statistics, financial performance, core organizational competencies, customer /
stakeholder satisfaction reviews, and growth and innovation metrics to provide FLVS
with a Balanced-Scorecard approach to analyzing their competitors.


Competitors for core programs are defined as suppliers who provide an equivalent
course to students in the K-12 grade range in the state of Florida. The survey of 8,800
FLVS students by Management Insights in 2016 confirmed that the vast majority (0ver
85%) of FLVS students had taken online courses from FLVS alone. No single competitor
to FLVS represented a majority of non-FLVS courses taken. However, one course,
Driver’s Education (also offered by FLVS) stood out as one of the most popular courses
taken outside of the FLVS program.


Relevant and recent strategic moves by key competitors include the following:


· K12 partnered with Miami-Dade, a key strategic partner of FLVS, and began co-
generating marketing videos with them. K12 also entered into a contractual
agreement with Polk County and created a portal for them to host online courses,
which replaced the FLVS franchise model for that district. In addition, K12 began
to market ‘safety’ as a key virtual education pillar in timely response to news of
school shootings.


· Edgenuity began actively pursuing the credit-recovery market, which had
previously been a request from schools to FLVS, but one which FLVS decided not
to pursue based on the funding model of how revenue is recognized.
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· Connections Academy by Pearson has experienced a 257% growth over the past
six years, as well as an 80% increase in students. 1


Research Conducted


Voice of the Customer
Voice of the Customer activities represent the process of gathering and understanding
customer expectations, preferences and aversions through focus groups, individual
interviews, surveys and other methods. The purpose of analyzing customer needs is to
extract and organize the priorities of customers and integrate them back into how the
organization allocates resources.


Outreach efforts were conducted with the top districts and provided key insights, such
as:


· FLVS is chosen primarily due to the need to satisfy the online requirement for
students


· FLVS is preferred over competition because FLVS is viewed as an education
partner


· FLVS is currently viewed as a competitor to the districts and the schools due to
how funding is allocated


The Florida Market
Data was obtained from the Florida Department of Education to gain insight into the
market that FLVS operates in. State of Florida student enrollment is growing at a rate of
about 1.3% per year.


1 Connections Academy previously was a partner of FLVS to serve students in grades K-5.



http://flvs.net/

mailto:info@flvs.net





FLVS.net | info@flvs.net | 800.374.1430 | 2145 Metrocenter Blvd,
Suite 100, Orlando, FL   32835


Copyright © by Florida Virtual School. All rights reserved. Florida Virtual School and FLVS are registered trademarks of Florida
Virtual School, a public school district of the State of Florida.   160419


15


Total Number of Students in Florida


Currently, the highest growth rate has been in middle school, which will result in
increases in high school enrollments over the next few years:


Year Over Year Growth Rate


Florida Department of Education Raw Data


For the forward-looking period covered by this plan, the state of Florida’s population is
projected to grow from 19.8 million to 21.4 million residents, or roughly eight percent2.


2 Florida Demographic Estimating Conference, February 2015
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The associated growth in K-12 aged residents is forecasted to grow at a slower rate of
somewhere between three to five percent3.


Although it is legislatively required for high school students to take one online course
during their 9-12 grade years, the overall market capture by FLVS is not much greater
than this requirement. Specifically, to meet the legislative requirement would result in
about four percent of all high school courses being taken online. Data on course
completions at FLVS suggests that their market capture is closer to ten percent, or
roughly twice the minimum.


3 ibid



http://flvs.net/

mailto:info@flvs.net





FLVS.net | info@flvs.net | 800.374.1430 | 2145 Metrocenter Blvd,
Suite 100, Orlando, FL   32835


Copyright © by Florida Virtual School. All rights reserved. Florida Virtual School and FLVS are registered trademarks of Florida
Virtual School, a public school district of the State of Florida.   160419


17


Strategic Goals


Three Phase Plan
A three-phase plan has been collaboratively created with FLVS staff which positions
FLVS to achieve stronger market results within five years. These phases include:


1. Phase 1 represents a focus on improving operational and financial efficiency, as
well as improving student learning outcomes. Phase 1 can be summarized as
enhancing current business operations through process improvement and
standardization that targets improvements in student and school performance.


2. Phase 2 represents a focus on improving market capture, which will result in
greater returns for FLVS, students, and schools due to taking advantage of the
efficiencies captured in Phase 1.


3. Phase 3 represents a focus on further improving student learning outcomes
through specific FLVS curriculum and infrastructure innovation.
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Phase 1 – Improve Operational Efficiency and Student Learning Success


Phase 1 consists of 11 goals.  Each goal has either an operational efficiency or a student
learning outcome focus. While Phase 1 consists of primarily tactical steps, they are
designed to move FLVS’s strategic position in the online education market from a
position of ‘stuck in the middle’ to a position of value innovation. Value innovation is the
intersection of cost-leadership and differentiation.  This is accomplished by improving
FLVS’s ability to lower the cost of a student’s completion of a course and improve the
performance of a school when it comes to statewide assessments and student graduation
rates.


Phase 1 Goal #1: Improve Student Success in Flex and Full-Time


Objective 1A: Improve Student Success as Measured by Yield for Flex and Full-
Time
Overview
The term ‘yield’ at FLVS represents the number of students who complete after their
classroom is initially assigned. Yield at FLVS is currently at 45%, due to several factors,
one of which is a lack of insight into the class content and format prior to registration.


Actions
1. Utilize clearer advertising up-front to ensure that students are fully aware of what


the course includes prior to registration.
a. Departments Involved: Instruction, Marketing
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Implement changes in requirements for the instructor welcome call, removing
the mandatory withdrawal if a student has not called initiated contact.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz/Robin Winder
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Adjust the introductory portions of the course, making it more user friendly, and
providing an appropriate ‘ramp-up’ for content that is more complex.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz/Robin Winder
c. Measured: Monthly


4. Marketing to work with Instruction Team to review course descriptions and
implement marketing improvements to ensure that students and parents are
clearly aware of the course objectives and key knowledge areas covered.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction, Marketing
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
a. Measured: Monthly
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5. Holding improvement sessions with instruction leadership team has been a best
practice of the instruction team, and these meetings should continue to be held as
needed.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction, Other functions as needed
b. Responsible: Instruction
c. Measured: N/A (as needed)


Metrics
1. Sample course content created, clicks/views.
2. Instructor performance criteria evaluated, change implemented, track


withdrawals
3. Reduced NACs and Withdrawals YOY for the first two weeks of class
4. Number of course descriptions reviewed / % updated / clicks and views of


content (track in parallel with withdrawal info over time).
5. As needed.
6. 100 Percent of Instructional Leaders will use the updated monthly walkthrough


form by November 2018
7. Reduction of percent of NACs in FLVS Flex YOY measured monthly
8. Reduction of percent of Withdrawals in FLVSFT YOY measured monthly


Note 1: as advertisement campaigns and course descriptions become clearer, it is
possible that initial ‘classroom assigned’ numbers may go down, as it is possible that a
greater number of students would choose an alternative based on what they have
learned. This should also result, however, in a greater % yield for the organization.


Note 2: District Relationship Managers may be able to provide significant and valuable
insights to the actions above.


Objective 1B: Improve Student Success as Measured by Completions for Flex and
Full-Time
Overview
The term ‘Completions’ at FLVS refers to the number of students who complete a course
after the withdrawal period has ended. Yield is currently at 45% and the completion rate
is currently at 80% at FLVS.


Actions
1. Ensure that instructors do not withdraw students who are passing and making


progress in a course based solely on lack of communication with the instructor.
As part of this action, incentives and measurements for instructor success may
need to be adjusted.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz/Robin Winder
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Create a list of clear and identified student ‘warning signs’ which can guide
instructors for the students who may require additional follow up and support.
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a. Departments Involved: Instruction  / AAA
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz/Robin Winder, Gina Tovine
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Focus on improving the design of curriculum for high-occupancy courses that
have a low completion rate to adjust content that more clearly supports
successful student engagement


a. Departments Involved: Instruction/ Digital Publishing
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz/Robin Winder/Marty Kelly
c. Measured: Quarterly


4. Ensure improvements are made by using data from the LMS and other tracking
systems to ensure that instructors are alerted to student warning signs (IT)


a. Departments Involved: IT / EPMO
b. Responsible: Don Davis / Kevin Locke
c. Measured: Quarterly


5. Deploy lead teachers strategically to support instructors for the entirety of the
semester, to ensure consistency in knowledge of student progress and associated
outreach.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Reduction of WPs and WFs in FLVS Flex YOY measured monthly.
2. Improve completions in FLVS Flex


a. 2018-19 goal:  Increase completions by 6,000-12,000 (+20%)
b. 2019-20 goal:  Increase completions over 18-19 by 14,400 to 28,800


(+60%, total increase by year end of 20,400-40,800)
c. 2020-21 goal:  Increase completions over 19-20 by 9,600 to 19,200(+40%,


total increase of 30,000 – 60,000)
3. Reduction of percent of Withdrawals in FLVSFT YOY measured monthly.
4. Reduction of percent of Fs issued in FLVSFT YOY measured at semester.
5. Improve completion rate in FLVSFT Middle School


a. 2018-19 goal:  Increase completion rate to  86%-86.7%
b. 2019-20 goal:  Increase completion rate to 87.5%-88.8%
c. 2020-21 goal:  Increase completion rate to 89%-91%


6. Improve completion rate in FLVSFT High School
a. 2018-19 goal:  Increase completion rate to  81%-81.7%
b. 2019-20 goal:  Increase completion rate to 82.5%-83.8%
c. 2020-21 goal:  Increase completion rate to 84%-86%
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Phase 1 Goal #2: Test and Refine Student Success Ideas in Flex and Full-
Time


Objective 2A: Curriculum Adjustments
Overview
The full-time program represents a body of students who are more fully aware of the
FLVS processes and product, as they use it on a higher volume basis on a weekly basis.
Curriculum changes which are focused on enhancing student completions can be tested
and measured in this student base, and feedback can be obtained.


Actions
1. Where applicable, pilot curriculum content changes in the Full-Time programs


first. In some instances, pilot programs may need to be conducted in a different
line of business based on the research objective.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction/ Digital Publishing
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz/Robin Winder/Marty Kelly
c. Measured: As needed


2. Survey instructors for feedback regarding changes implemented
a. Departments Involved: Instruction/ AAA
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz/Robin Winder/Gina Tovine
c. Measured: As needed


3. Select a group of students to give feedback on the modifications made in the ROI
initiatives.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction/ Digital Publishing
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz Robin Winder/Marty Kelly
c. Measured: As needed


4. Track results of pilot implementation
a. Departments Involved: Instruction/ Digital Publishing
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz Robin Winder/Marty Kelly
c. Measured: As needed


Metrics
1. Conduct a quality review of pilot programs created and report findings
2. Survey all instructors for feedback regarding changes implemented per course


within 60 days of course release
3. Instruction to provide feedback to curriculum on the effectiveness / results of


changes implemented per course within 30-45 days of content release


Objective 2B: Research how Curriculum Alignment to State Exams Can Impact
School Grade Performance
Overview
The full-time program represents a body of students who are more fully aware of the
FLVS processes and product, as they use it on a higher volume basis on a weekly basis.
Research associated with how curriculum adjustments impact state exam results (and
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therefore potentially resulting in enhanced school grades if translated into the flex
program) can be tested and measured in this student base, and feedback can be
obtained.


Actions
1. Number of comparative research studies done compared to the number of


courses with changes made.
a. Departments Involved: AAA
b. Responsible: Gina Tovine
c. Measured: Monthly after curriculum changes implemented


2. Comparative analysis to determine changes in completion rates.
a. Departments Involved: AAA
b. Responsible: Gina Tovine
c. Measured: Monthly after curriculum changes implemented


3. Track student data to follow their progress on state exams for a year-by-year
growth calculation.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction, AAA
b. Responsible: Robin Winder, Jason Schultz, Gina Tovine
c. Measured: Quarterly


4. Identify which school grade components FLVS over-performs in with respect to
our overall school grade performance. These areas of over-performance can be
matched to other districts/schools that underperformed in those same
components.


a. Departments Involved: AAA, Instruction, Marketing, Franchise
b. Responsible: Gina Tovine
c. Measured: Monthly


5. Use results from comparative study of school grade components to collaborate
internally and identify potential marketing opportunities.


a. Departments Involved: AAA, Marketing, Flex, Franchise
b. Responsible: Gina Tovine
c. Measured: Monthly after studies complete


Metrics
1. Students tracked, studies conducted, study results
2. Model complete, track estimates to actuals over time
3. FSA ELA and FSA Math Scale Scores and / or other performance measures
4. School Grade components identified where FLVS over-performs, comparison


analysis completed.


Objective 2C: Student Performance Analytics
Overview
The full-time program represents a body of students who are more fully aware of the
FLVS processes and product, as they use it on a higher volume basis on a weekly basis.
Organizational analytics on student performance associated with module completion,
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exam results, project performance, as well as correlations of progress to completion
likelihood can be tested and measured in this student base, and feedback can be
obtained.


Actions
1. Analyze student performance over time in focus ROI courses, baseline against


current curriculum and measure impacts of curriculum changes implemented.
a. Departments Involved: IT, Curriculum, Instruction, AAA
b. Responsible: Don Davis, Marty Kelly, Jason Schultz, Robin Winder
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Analytics project – student body withdrawal points in focus ROI courses by week
a. Departments Involved: IT, Curriculum, Instruction, AAA
b. Responsible: Don Davis, Marty Kelly, Jason Schultz, Robin Winder
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. % performance improvement
2. % withdrawal reduction


Objective 2D: Increased Instructor Intervention
Overview
The full-time program represents a body of students who are more fully aware of the
FLVS processes and product, as they use it on a higher volume basis on a weekly basis.
Efforts of instructors to intervene to prevent students from withdrawing can be tested
and measured in this student base, and feedback can be obtained.


Actions
1. Brainstorm instructor intervention approaches.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction
b. Responsible: Robin Winder
c. Measured: Quarterly


2. Implement and track instructor intervention approaches and study effectiveness
and results.


a. Departments Involved: Instruction
b. Responsible: Robin Winder
c. Measured: Quarterly


3. Transfer of best practices to other lines of business as appropriate
a. Departments Involved: Instruction
b. Responsible: Jason Schultz/Robin Winder/as needed
c. Measured: As Needed


Metrics
1. Brainstorming events held / # ideas generated
2. % reduction in withdrawal resulting from intervention
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3. Percent of reduction of withdrawals and F’s issued YOY measured monthly
resulting from each intervention


Phase 1 Goal #3: Curriculum Enhancement / Digital Publishing


Objective 3A: ROI Course Improvement Projects
Overview
One of the key strategic resources at FLVS is the curriculum, or the content, that is
created by the organization. The curriculum is used in all the FLVS lines of business and
is crucial to the success of the organization. There are several courses within the
organization which are currently operating at a negative ROI, meaning, that the
organization operates these courses at a cost.


Actions
2. Continue to monitor, publish and improve the ROI Analysis Report that was


previously conducted which identifies the root causes for each course that is
operated at a cost to the business.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing and Finance
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/John Pavelchak/Jason Schultz/Robin Winder
c. Measured: Quarterly


3. Create ‘return to green’ plans for courses to bring them to a positive ROI.
a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /Instruction
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Jason Schultz/Robin Winder
c. Measured: Quarterly


4. For courses that cannot be returned to green using current resources, create an
outline for executive review regarding why this is the case. Identify what
additional organizational resources or alternate approaches that would be
necessary to operate the course at a profit. (Digital Publishing)


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /Instruction
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Jason Schultz/Robin Winder
c. Measured: Quarterly


5. Executive leadership and/or Digital Publishing Steering Committee should work
together with Digital Publishing to approve / modify course ROI action items
along with resource allocation, and determine which actions can/will be taken,
and when.


a. Departments Involved: Executive Leadership Team
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Analysis updated quarterly for courses with negative ROI.
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2. List of courses which need a plan, % complete, use Service Now Portfolio
Summary


3. List of courses which this applies to, list of organizational resources needed based
on the DPSC ongoing prioritization


4. Executive review complete


Objective 3B: Adjust Course Content to Increase Student Performance on State
Exams
Overview
One of the key strategic resources at FLVS is the curriculum, or the content, that is
created by the organization. The curriculum is used in all the FLVS lines of business and
is crucial to the success of the organization. One of the key differentiators that FLVS has
as an organization is it is the only public service provider of online education in the state
– the other competitors in this market are private. The organization has an outstanding
opportunity to enhance its current business value to the state of Florida and leverage
this differentiator by working to enhance school grades through targeting specific
courses to state assessments. Higher student performance on state assessments
positively impacts the formula that the state uses to grade a school, which also impacts
funding which schools receive.4


Actions
1. Create and prioritize a list of courses which FLVS offers that are related to the


state assessments.
a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly
c. Measured: As needed


2. Obtain information on state assessments and analyze it for content and structure.
a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /AAA
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Don Davis
c. Measured: Annually


3. For each course on the list, determine how FLVS content can be adjusted to align
with state assessments. Present to executive leadership team.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /AAA
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Don Davis
c. Measured: Annually


4. Communicate with Global Services and Global School to determine what
potential adjustments can be made to align curriculum with other state
assessment requirements and rate the feasibility in consideration of the difficulty
and value to the business of this opportunity.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing, Global Services, Global School
Responsible: Marty Kelly


b. Measured: Monthly


4 http://www.fldoe.org/accountability/accountability-reporting/fl-school-recognition-program/
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Metrics
1. Analysis updated quarterly for courses with negative ROI.
2. List of courses which need a plan, % complete, use Service Now Portfolio


Summary
3. List of courses which this applies to, list of organizational resources needed based


on the DPSC ongoing prioritization
4. Executive review complete


Objective 3C: Conduct Research to Guide Student Learning Performance in FLVS
Courses
Overview
One of the key strategic resources at FLVS is the curriculum, or the content, that is
created by the organization. The curriculum is used in all the FLVS lines of business and
is crucial to the success of the organization. The Digital Publishing organization would
benefit greatly from enhanced involvement by the research team to determine the
feasibility and value of various opportunities that the function can pursue.


Actions
1. Create a model for how course performance can impact state exam performance.


Outline how this affects the school grade formula, most likely leveraging flex
student performance data for a large school district.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /AAA
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Don Davis
c. Measured: Annually


2. Conduct a study with a group of students to follow their performance in the FLVS
course with their performance on the state exam.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /AAA/ Instruction
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Don Davis/Jason Schultz/Robin Winder
c. Measured: Annually


3. Compare results of the study with model predictions. Our results will impact and
refine our model.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /AAA
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Don Davis
c. Measured: Annually


4. If actionable, work with marketing and communications to develop messaging
that can be rolled out via Flex and Franchise partners, and other functional
leaders if interested.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /Marketing
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/ Marketing Director
c.  Upon completion of study


5. Conduct an evaluation of test-prep service offerings, as well as the benefits and
drawbacks of implementation at FLVS, inclusive of price point recommendations,
projected usage, and revenue projections. Present to executive leadership team.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /AAA
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b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Don Davis
c. Measured: Annually


Metrics
1. Accurately calculate a school grade, determine factors that DP can influence that


impact a school grade, Model complete (manipulate parameters), model
reliability score


2. Pilot plan created, identify students, determine performance factors to be
measured (baseline data), status – initiated/in-progress/complete, % complete


3. A report differentiating the study results from the model (e.g. a Confusion
Matrix)


4. Messaging plan created, % complete
5. Analysis plan outlined, % complete, presentation to executive leadership team


Objective 3D: Continuous Improvement Efforts in Curriculum
Overview
One of the key strategic resources at FLVS is the curriculum, or the content, that is
created by the organization. The curriculum is used in all the FLVS lines of business and
is crucial to the success of the organization. The Digital Publishing organization would
benefit greatly from targeted enhancements that will continue to deliver value to the
organization, namely reviewing course update frequency and processes, as well as
integration of marketing messaging in key courses.


Actions
1. In consideration of course ROI and organizational funding models, re-evaluate


the course frequency and process for updates. The prioritization process must
focus on the strategic importance to the organization, relation to state exam, and
ROI performance as primary factors considered moving forward.
Recommendations should be presented to the executive leadership team prior to
implementation.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Work with the marketing organization to determine which (high volume) courses
would benefit from marketing messages integrated into the content. Create a
strategy for where in the curriculum, as well as what messages, would be most
effective to place marketing for other courses. Recommendations should be
presented to the executive leadership team prior to implementation.


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing, Marketing, AAA
b. Responsible: Marty Kelly
c. Measured: Monthly
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Metrics
1. Data points determine for all courses, analysis conducted, priority rank


determined, presentation to executive team complete, approval obtained, re-
examined quarterly


2. Messaging analysis initiated, recommendation complete, approval obtained, %
implemented


Phase 1 Goal #4: Ensure Success of Elementary Pilot


Objective 4A: Focus on Service
Overview
The Elementary service offering is not a new concept to FLVS, but it is one that the
organization decided to bring in-house vs. outsource to another provider as in past
years. This was a significant effort to develop 48 new courses, and the Elementary
product line has just been launched. As rollout and management efforts continue, the
Elementary team should ensure that they continue to refine their service model. It is
expected that the Elementary service offering will involve more parental involvement
than middle and high school.


Actions
1. Develop reporting mechanisms to track Welcome Center questions and requests


to be able to conduct weekly trend analysis and share with the leadership team.
Information from sources such as Parent Survey results, completion data,
InMoment data and teacher results can be used.


a. Departments Involved: Elementary Leadership, Analytics
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Conduct a monthly review of service requests and determine what business
processes may need to be created or adjusted.


a. Departments Involved: Elementary Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Conduct analysis of student needs and create customer profiles for Elementary:
those who prefer the Flex model, and those who prefer the Full-Time model.
Share this with the leadership team to help with future planning. DRMs may be
able to assist with insights.


a. Departments Involved: Elementary Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Reports generated tracking root causes for communication, communicated with


team
2. Monthly review conducted, business processes adjusted
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3. Customer profiles created, communicated with team


Objective 4B: Focus on Student Course Completions
Overview
The Elementary service offering is not a new concept to FLVS, but it is one that the
organization has recently decided to bring in-house vs. outsource to another provider.
This was a significant effort, and the Elementary product line has just been launched. As
rollout and management efforts continue, the Elementary team should ensure that they
continue to focus on ensuring completions for the Elementary students, realizing that
this is how the organization recognizes revenue and makes the Elementary product line
fundable.


Actions
1. Track and achieve completions weekly, monthly and annually as appropriate.


(Flex, Full-Time, Franchise, Elementary, Global)
a. Departments Involved: Elementary Leadership, Analytics, Flex, Full-Time,


Franchise, Global Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Identify monthly the key issues that hold students back from completing.
a. Departments Involved: Elementary Leadership, Digital Publishing,


Analytics
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Adjust curriculum and instruction as appropriate to support student completions
a. Departments Involved: Elementary Leadership, Digital Publishing
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Tracked completions
2. Analysis conducted monthly
3. Adjustments made along with rationale


Objective 4C: Focus on Learning and Curriculum Innovation
Overview
The Elementary service offering is not a new concept to FLVS, but it is one that the
organization has recently decided to bring in-house vs. outsource to another provider.
This was a significant effort, and the Elementary product line has just been launched. As
rollout and management efforts continue, the Elementary team should ensure that they
continue to focus on innovation and the right product / service mix for this unique
customer base.
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Actions
1. Continue to place focus on curriculum innovations such as Spanish and


Technology to track results, and determine what best practices exist.
a. Departments Involved: Elementary Leadership, Digital Publishing
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Incorporate insights and best practices into marketing messaging where
appropriate.


a. Departments Involved: Elementary Leadership, Marketing
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Track results of the modular learning approach (new curriculum being used in
Elementary), in consideration of pace and completions over time to determine
what best practices can be transferred to other lines of revenue


a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing, AAA
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


4. Determine correlations to performance at FLVS and performance on state exams
where applicable


a. Departments Involved: AAA
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Completions and student, parent feedback
2. Marketing messaging designed, peer reviewed, implemented.
3. Week by week performance, withdrawal and completion data
4. State exam performance, correlation analysis


Objective 4D: Focus on Preparation to Support Franchise and Global Sales Rollout
of Elementary Program
Overview
The Elementary program offering was launched as a pilot program with limited
distribution.  It is anticipated that the Pilot will conclude successfully, and the full 48-
course curriculum will be made available to Franchise and Global channels.


Actions
1. Determine what resources, information, or data is needed to support roll-out of


the Elementary program in Franchise.
a. Departments Involved: Franchise Leadership, Elementary Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Determine what resources, information, or data is needed to support roll-out of
the Elementary program in Global.
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a. Departments Involved: Franchise Leadership, Global Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Sarah Sprinkel
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Implementation plan for Franchise developed, including roll out schedule and


resources needed.  Involve Communications and Marketing organizations as
needed.


2. Implementation plan for Global developed, including roll out schedule and
resources needed. Involve Communications and Marketing organizations as
needed.


Phase 1 Goal #5: Information Technology and Architecture Rebuild


Objective 5A: Ensure LMS is a Competitive Resource
Overview
The Information Technology organization has recently undergone significant leadership
changes and is also recovering from a recent data breach. Analysis and process
adjustments are currently underway to ensure the IT organization is performing to
standard and is providing the service needed to support operation of the business. As
part of this, one of the most important and key resources to the FLVS organization as
the whole is the operation of a Learning Management System which supports execution
of student learning. The current LMS is not at competitive parity with respect to student
service capabilities and analytics tracking. An evaluation of alternative LMS provider(s)
is currently underway to determine the additional capabilities that providers can add to
augment the current FLVS operational model.


Actions
1. Assign and empower a Project Manager, along with a support resource team, to


provide oversight into the budget, schedule, and quality associated with LMS
implementation.


a. Departments Involved: IT, EPMO
b. POC Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Conduct a Procurement Analysis to ensure that the selected provider meets FLVS
technology, compliance and funding expectations.


a. Departments Involved: Finance and Accounting, IT, EPMO
b. POC Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Develop a timeline for LMS implementation, including allocated resources, to
ensure a successful transition.


a. Departments Involved: EPMO
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b. POC Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


4. Monitor LMS implementation estimates to actuals, and conduct root cause
analysis and corrective action for variances that occur.


a. Departments Involved: EPMO
b. POC Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


5. Conduct internal training events to ensure that FLVS personnel understand how
to navigate the new LMS.


a. Departments Involved: Executive Leadership, IT, Training, AAA
b. POC Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


6. Develop a communications plan for roll-out to the instruction team and customer
base, along with an outline of the key capabilities that the new LMS will offer.


a. Departments Involved: EPMO, IT, Communications, Marketing POC
Responsible: Don Davis


b. Measured: Monthly
7. Ensure that LMS operation is integrated with FLVS curriculum to provide


maximum insight into student progress. (EPMO, Digital Publishing, Instructional
Leadership)


a. Departments Involved: EPMO, IT, Communications, Marketing POC
Responsible: Don Davis


b. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Project manager and resources assigned
2. Procurement analysis conducted
3. Timeline created
4. Weekly monitoring complete, variances measured and communicated, corrective


actions implemented
5. Internal training scheduled and completed
6. Communications plan created, track to implementation
7. % integration of curriculum to LMS, by course


Objective 5B: Ensure IT Security and Infrastructure is Stable
Overview
The Information Technology organization has recently undergone significant leadership
changes and is also recovering from a recent data breach. Analysis and process
adjustments are currently underway to ensure the IT organization is performing to
standard and is providing the service needed to support operation of the business. As
part of this, the IT organization is conducting capabilities analysis and corrective action
implementation to ensure maximum data security.
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Actions
1. Continue to evaluate FLVS technology in consideration of needed business


outcomes. Document risks as needed and develop associated corrective action
plans.


a. Departments Involved: Information Technology
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Develop policy improvements to ensure that FLVS as an organization is
compliant to organizational standards and best practices associated with IT
security.


a. Departments Involved: Information Technology
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Implement a Security program to ensure proper monitoring of the IT
architecture, and to educate employees regarding proper security protocol.


a. Departments Involved: Information Technology
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Evaluation schedule created, % complete
2. # policies evaluated, % updated
3. Security program created, monitoring conducted, result reports generated


Objective 5C: Develop the FLVS Analytics Center of Excellence
Overview
The Information Technology organization has recently undergone significant leadership
changes and is also recovering from a recent data breach. Analysis and process
adjustments are currently underway to ensure the IT organization is performing to
standard and is providing the service needed to support operation of the business. As
part of this, the IT function has an opportunity to provide the organization with access
to data to facilitate enhanced data-driven decision making.


Actions
1. Conduct a review of the current data architecture, and design data infrastructure


to support business operations, coordination and insight through analytics.
a. Departments Involved: Information Technology, Data Architect
b. Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Implement improvements as identified.
a. Departments Involved: Information Technology
b. Responsible: Don Davis
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c. Measured: Monthly
3. Enhance current tools to ensure that business leaders have actionable insights


from business process analysis.
a. Departments Involved: Information Technology, Functional Leadership
b. Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


4. Ensure that business functions have access to analytics for their respective area.
Work with functional leaders to communicate what data, reports, assistance is
available / needed.


a. Departments Involved: Information Technology, Functional Leadership
b. Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


5. Improve user understanding of data through training, data dictionaries, business
data glossaries and other methods as needed to enhance employee
understanding, utilization and effectiveness. (Information Technology)


a. Departments Involved: Information Technology
b. Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


6. Acquire resources and talent, as needed, to support and collaborate with
organizational functions with analytics and actionable insights regarding the
performance of their function. Review this information with Finance and
Accounting to ensure alignment to budget.


a. Departments Involved: Information Technology, Functional Support,
Finance and Accounting, Executive Leadership


b. Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


7. Implement Data Governance and establish data stewards
a. Departments Involved: Information Technology
b. Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Data architecture review complete, improvement plan documented
2. % complete
3. % resources reviewed, outline of needed modifications
4. % of reports catalogued, process created
5. # training sessions held
6. Identification of needs by function, resources required to meet functional needs,


leadership approval, timeline to implementation
7. Plan created, % complete, stewards identified along with their areas of expertise
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Objective 5D: Technology Roadmap in Consideration of Student Outcomes
Overview
The Information Technology organization has recently undergone significant leadership
changes and is also recovering from a recent data breach. Analysis and process
adjustments are currently underway to ensure the IT organization is performing to
standard and is providing the service needed to support operation of the business. As
part of this, a Technology Roadmap should be created which outlines year by year
technical goals, and how these goals relate to student performance and organizational
outcomes.


Actions
1. Identify the organizational technological resources that are critical to the


organization. Of this set, identify which are priorities to meet the goals listed in
the Strategic Plan.


a. Departments Involved: Information Technology, Functional Leadership
Responsible: Don Davis


b. Measured: Monthly
2. For each technological priority resource, create a technology roadmap for


outlining strategic actions that need to take place over the next five years.
a. Departments Involved: Information Technology, Data Architecture
b. Responsible: Don Davis
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Review technology roadmaps with functional leadership and adjust as needed
based on feedback.


a. Departments Involved: Information Technology, Executive Leadership
Responsible: Don Davis


b. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Resources list created, prioritization complete
2. Technology roadmaps % complete
3. Review complete, adjustments incorporated


Phase 1 Goal #6: Human Resources


Objective 6A: Update and Implement Organizational Policies
Overview
The Human Resources function is in the process of updating organizational policies and
procedures because of recent structural changes that have taken place. These policies
and procedures serve to support and protect multiple stakeholders with respect to how
FLVS operates.
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Actions
1. Outline the policies and procedures which require an update leveraging feedback


from the 2018 employee survey.
a. Departments Involved: Human Resources, Functional Leadership
b. Responsible: Alfred Lopez
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Update policies leveraging organizational best practices and standard
organizational requirements. Review proposed changes with Functional Leaders,
and incorporate feedback


a. Departments Involved: Human Resources, Functional Leadership
b. Responsible: Alfred Lopez
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. Provide a forum for employees to offer suggestions on policy
changes for the 2019-20 school year. Incorporate employee
feedback into department leadership policy review.


ii. Department leadership review will occur in February. Departments
will be asked to review all policies and procedures, including
employee suggestions for change.  Departments will submit draft of
policy and procedure changes to HR by April.


3. Ensure the Board has adequate insight into the changes that are recommended,
and why. Incorporate recommended modifications and receive Board approval.


a. Departments Involved: Human Resources
b. Responsible: Alfred Lopez
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. HR will compile all changes and present draft policy and procedure
manual, highlighting all changes to the leadership team for final
review in May.


ii. Upon leadership approval, the final draft of policy and procedure
manual will be submitted to the board in June for approval, in
anticipation of a July 1 effective date.


4. Make organizational policies accessible by employees. (Human Resources)
a. Departments Involved: Human Resources
b. Responsible: Alfred Lopez
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. Upon board approval of the policy and procedure manual, HR will
work in collaboration with Professional Learning to develop an
employee policy training site. The training site will specifically
highlight all approved changes to policy and procedures.
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ii. A communication will be sent to all staff advising that employees
complete the training task, review the policy and procedure manual,
and complete a sign off in workday.


iii. HR will maintain the policy and procedure site on staff central.
iv. In the event a policy is updated outside of this cycle, after board


approval, HR will update the policy and procedure manual, and
work in collaboration with communications to send an
announcement to all staff.


Metrics
1. # policies identified which require update
2. % complete, review conducted, feedback incorporated
3. Board approval
4. Platforms identified (SharePoint, functional managers, etc.), % integration


complete


Objective 6B: Enhance Employee Engagement
Overview
The 2018 Employee Survey revealed that there were issues with respect to employee
engagement. The longer that an employee was tenured within the organization, the
more disengaged they became. Employee engagement is crucial to the formation of a
positive organizational culture at FLVS, and results in increased recruitment, retention,
and reputational value in the marketplace.


Actions
1. Create a monitoring plan to obtain employee feedback via employee surveys,


reviews, and online activity.
a. Departments Involved: Human Resources, Information Technology
b. Responsible: Alfred Lopez
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. HR recommends sending the In Moment survey to employees in
January/February. Normally the In Moment survey is distributed
in April /May, however this is historically the most stressful time of
year for all staff. With a focus on completions, the fear associated
with non-renewal season, it is possible that the survey results may
be impacted based on the timing of when the survey is released.


ii. Continue to send exit surveys out to staff upon resignation.
2. Analyze employee recommendations and implement corrective action for the


issues that are most pervasive across the organization.
a. Departments Involved: Human Resources, AAA
b. Responsible: Alfred Lopez
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:
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i. Create a cross departmental task force charged with reviewing exit
survey comments, in an effort to implement changes based on
trends within exiting employee’s comments.


ii. Analyze the number of direct reports.
iii. Conduct salary and market surveys more frequently to ensure that


we are staying abreast of changing market conditions, to remain
competitive with other school districts.


3. As the organization works to accomplish the strategic plan, reward employees
accordingly for taking on stretch assignments and conduct celebratory events
when key milestones are achieved. (Human Resources, Functional Leadership)


a. Departments Involved: Human Resources, Functional Leadership
b. Responsible: Alfred Lopez
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. Implement an Employee Referral Program. The purpose of the
Employee Referral Program is to reward current employees for
referring highly qualified candidates for positions at FLVS. A
successful employee referral program overtime will lower the cost
to advertise for hard to fill areas and is an effective recruiting tool
for both instructional and support positions. Additionally, our data
supports that internal referrals are our top method of recruiting
both applicants and new hires.


ii. Implement Years of Service Awards. HR recommends that we
introduce an Employee Engagement Initiative to recognize and
show appreciation to employees celebrating a major milestone
anniversary (for example, 1, 5, 10, 15 20 years of service). We
understand that we give out pins at In Service, however, we’re
proposing a more targeted, individualized approach of appreciation.
This was submitted to leadership in April 2018 but was denied to
funding.


iii. Implement a Retirement Recognition Program. Provide recognition
for those employees who are retiring with FLVS. FLVS used to send
a personalized letter from the CEO, along with a crystalized
“mouse” to retirees to recognize and thank them for their service.
Currently FLVS does not provide any such recognition to retirees.


iv. Implement a Manager Training Course. The purpose of the
management training course is to provide new hired or promoted
managers the necessary knowledge to be effective as managers at
FLVS. This not only includes system, and compliance training for
managers but also tools to effectively manage employees in a
remote environment, and discussions on building engagement
among your direct reports.
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v. Communication/Transparency. Work in collaboration with
Marketing to create a banner on FLVS Connect to announce 1. those
employees who have been promoted; 2. Separations, 3. New hires.
This will not only will foster open communication, but will remind
staff of all the promotional opportunities available within FLVS,
provide a forum to congratulate and recognize those that have been
promoted, and allow employees to be kept abreast of separations.


vi. Retirement Recognition: varies annually dependent on the number
of employees retiring.


Metrics
1. Monitoring plan created, % complete
2. Corrective actions identified, % complete
3. As needed per leadership judgment, financial cost


Phase 1 Goal #7: Ensure Marketing is an Integrated Partner on Functional
LOB Initiatives and Efforts


Objective 7A: In-House Service Focus
Overview
The marketing organization was previously not integrated with the other lines of
business at FLVS, and many of the marketing activities were outsourced. It is of
strategic importance that the marketing organization be an integrated partner with the
various functions of the organization moving forward. The talented group of in-house
marketing professionals should be utilized to the greatest extent possible.


Actions
1. A comprehensive review of the efforts of the marketing organization should be


conducted by the marketing team, to evaluate the projects and efforts that were
conducted in-house vs. externally. The performance of externally run campaigns
should be reviewed by the current marketing team and evaluated for
effectiveness. A summary report should be presented to the executive leadership,
recommending specific tasks to bring back in house, and reviewed by the
leadership team.


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Executive Leadership
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly


2. A recommended path forward should be presented to the executive leadership
team which outlines the changes that the marketing team would like to
implement going forward, including the use of externally provided services, and
what efforts the internal team will be responsible for.


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Executive Leadership
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
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c. Measured: Monthly
3. Obtain approval from executive leadership around hiring a Digital Campaign


Specialist and bringing the management of all paid advertising/SEM in house.
This means all functions in house and no longer need an agency / approval
obtained via email from Dr. Porter by 9/21)


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Executive leadership
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly


4. Get approval on estimate to keep SEM running through January with &Barr
during this transition / approval obtained by 9/19)


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Executive Leadership
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly


5. Post job/interviews/offer extended/ ideally, this role would be filled by December
at the latest to allow for training/&Barr transition during January


a. Departments Involved: HR
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly


6. Develop transition plan with agency / beginning late December
a. Departments Involved: Marketing, &Barr
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Review initiated, % complete.
2. Recommendation initiated, % complete, approval obtained.
3. Approval obtained for new hire and estimate
4. Job posted, interviews scheduled, offer extended
5. Transition plan developed by December 14
6. Results from SEM and other paid digital ads reviewed


Objective 7B: Develop and Implement Introductory Course for Trial / Marketing
Overview
The marketing organization was previously not integrated with the other lines of
business at FLVS, and many of the marketing activities were outsourced. It is of
strategic importance that the marketing organization be an integrated partner with the
various functions of the organization moving forward. The talented group of in-house
marketing professionals should be utilized to the greatest extent possible. One key area
in which the marketing department can influence and likely enhance completion and
enrollment rates is through the creation of a ‘sample course experience’ which
prospective customers can view prior to enrollment with FLVS. This experience, which
most likely would be communicated in a video, would help potential customers
understand the course structure, sample content, LMS and instruction model so that the
FLVS model is understood prior to enrollment. The organization currently does not
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offer this type of experience, so customers are enrolling in courses to review the system
and content as part of their research process. Note – it is expected that after a sample
course experience is in place, initial enrollments may slightly decline (a subset of
customers may choose a different provider), but overall completions should rise
(customers who enroll would have a greater understanding of what they are signing up
for).


Actions
1. Reorganize content on FLVS.net to be broken out by elementary, middle and


high, not by Flex and Full Time. This is the first step in clarifying and targeting
messaging to help set expectations (see goal 1, action 1), prior to sample
experience development. Part of the website reorganization strategy will be to
determine where sample experience(s) will live.


a. Departments Involved: Marketing
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. Meet with Instruction and Florida Services functional leaders
9/27/18


ii. Copywriting and reorganization of content 10/1-10/18 (Marketing)
iii. Content (photos) for website due to Marketing 10/8
iv. Mockups due to Functional leaders 10/15 (Marketing)
v. Approval/final edits from functional leaders 10/17 (Functional


leaders)
vi. Updates live 10/19 (Marketing)


vii. Phase II timeline developed
2. Interview functional leaders to determine primary content that they would like


included in a sample course experience.
a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Functional Leadership (Instruction,


Florida Services, Digital Publishing, IT)
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. Kickoff meeting: discuss/determine content to include based on
why kids drop, data to support pain points, which course(s) to
show, how many sample experiences needed, which is priority /
hold meeting by 10/4 pending availability of functional leaders;
future meetings will likely be needed


ii. Establish list of key stakeholders and project lead from marketing
/determine by 10/11 as long as kick off meeting happens 10/4


3. The development team should personally become familiar with a course to ensure
that they understand it from an experiential perspective prior to development.


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Functional Leadership
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b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. Determine which course with instruction/digital publishing/in
kickoff meeting


ii. Marketing to work with Digital publishing to get access to a course/
access granted by 10/29, will work with Digital Publishing to see if
feasible


iii. Click through, better understand experience/exploration by
marketing completed by 11/12 *note, this would just be clicking
through course to better understand experience, not actually
taking a course


4. A sample course experience should be created leveraging tools, technology and
resources that FLVS has in place (course tours, videos, etc.). Final buy-off and
approval should be provided by the executive leadership team. Scope of project to
be determined after initial stakeholder meetings


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Functional Leadership
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly


5. As part of the new course experience release, business leaders should determine
if there is going to be a marketing / sales pipeline where prospective customers
can ask questions or obtain additional information as part of their inquiry
process. The Elementary and / or DRM teams may have a service model to
recommend as a transferrable best practice.


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Functional Leadership
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Kick off meeting held by 11/30
2. Project lead (marketing) and key stakeholders identified by 10/25
3. Course plan created, progress to goals (to be further refined once scope


determined)
4. Analysis complete, implementation plan created, % complete
5. Once experience created, metrics to include page visits/video views
6. Improved yield (work with functional leaders to determine a specific goal)


Objective 7C: Develop Brand Strategy by Line of Business
Overview
The marketing organization was previously not integrated with the other lines of
business at FLVS, and many of the marketing activities were outsourced. It is of
strategic importance that the marketing organization be an integrated partner with the
various functions of the organization moving forward. The talented group of in-house
marketing professionals should be utilized to the greatest extent possible. As part of this,
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the organization would benefit from a brand strategy by function that is created in
collaboration with the marketing team and functional leaders. This effort will help
ensure that messaging for low cost products and highly differentiated products is not
diluted.


Actions
1. An in-house service process should be outlined which recommends how the


marketing organization will both A) initiate services to the functional lines of
business in support of the organizational strategy and B) respond to requests for
assistance and support from the functional lines of business. Ideal goal to have
new process/tool by January


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Functional Leadership,
Communications


b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. Develop list of key requirements needed for request process (ability
for two way communication, attachments allowed, reporting, no
license cost for users, etc.) / list developed by 10/8


ii. Research options (2-3 options narrowed down by 10/22) Bring
options to functional leaders/executive leadership for review, along
with recommendation on which to proceed with; get approval /
bring to 10/18 leadership meeting, pending room on agenda


iii. If needed, work with IT on implementing new tool / timeline TBD
iv. Develop communications plan to inform all departments of new


process / timeline TBD based on when new tool could be
implemented


2. The marketing organization and functional leaders should identify a specific
point of contact for each to reach out to for marketing inquiries.


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Functional Leadership
b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. Assign marketing specialists as point of contact for each
department/ final list developed by 10/19


ii. Communicate point of contact to each functional leader/shared out
10/22


iii. New requests that come in via new request tool (once implemented)
would be assigned to those points of contact; marketing lead would
follow up once request received


3. As part of annual planning, key messaging points should be created in
partnership with business functional leaders for each line of business that FLVS
operates. Customized messaging, branding, and metric reports should be
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adjusted as needed in consideration of the measurements, goals and
responsibilities of each unique FLVS line of revenue. (Marketing, Functional
Leadership)


a. Departments Involved: Marketing, Functional Leadership,
Communications


b. Responsible: Marketing Director
c. Measured: Monthly
d. Details:


i. Set up annual planning meetings in March with each functional
leader (or one meeting for all functional leaders/marketing) to
review key messaging points in IMC plan, areas of focus for each
line of business in next year


ii. Develop update IMC plan for following year with revised messaging
points and strategy


iii. Meeting with functional leaders to review IMC plan
iv. Share out monthly reports with leadership on campaign/social/web


metrics/media sentiment


Metrics
1. Process created/tool implemented by January
2. POCs identified and communicated out by 10/22
3. Annual planning conducted in March, IMC plan updated by June 2019, monthly


reports sent out 2nd week of each month


Phase 1 Goal #8: Government Affairs


Objective 8A: Communicate State Priorities and Initiatives to Functions and DRMs
Overview
FLVS Government Affairs is in a unique position to support and champion FLVS
services and priorities in consideration of the political landscape and changes in
legislation. The FLVS Executive Leadership team can benefit from communication
regarding these priorities in consideration of the strategic priorities of the organization.


Actions
1. Monthly, as part of the executive leadership team meetings, provide summary


reports on the political landscape, both in terms of how FLVS objectives align
with state initiatives, as well as how legislative actions can impact organizational
efforts.


a. Departments Involved: Government Affairs, Executive Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Holly Sagues
c. Measured: Monthly


2. As needed and at least quarterly, hold meetings with the District Relationship
Managers to empower them with knowledge regarding what actions are taking
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place at the state level which they should be communicating with franchise
partners.


a. Departments Involved: Government Affairs, Franchise Leadership, DRMs
b. POC Responsible: Holly Sagues
c. Measured: Quarterly


3. Create a timeline of key state-level events. Develop a list of FLVS Government
Affairs priorities and desired accomplishments associated with this timeline.
Share with the Executive Leadership Team for review and edits. Conduct
‘listening sessions’ as needed to ensure Government Affairs has a clear
understanding of key focus areas of each organizational Function.


a. Departments Involved: Government Affairs, Functional Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Holly Sagues
c. Measured: Quarterly


4. Determine potential legislative actions required to meet Phase 2 and Phase 3
goals, along with a timeline regarding when issues need to be addressed.


a. Departments Involved: Government Affairs, Functional Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Holly Sagues
c. Measured: Quarterly


Metrics
1. Percentage complete:


a. 85%+ of Action Plan Completed = Green
b. 75-84% Action Plan Completed = Yellow
c. Less than 75% Action Plan Completed = Red


Objective 8B: Direct and Leverage Lobbyists
Overview
FLVS Government Affairs directs and leverages lobbyists who are employed and
retained by FLVS to act in the interest of the organization. FLVS is responsible for
identifying strategic objectives, and lobbyists have a key role in ensuring that the
organization is able to accomplish what it sets out to achieve. Lobbyists are tasked with
advocating for business objectives at the state level and producing objective outcomes
that impact the organization positively. Educating and updating both new and existing
policy makers is crucial for maintaining a positive FLVS reputation at the state level.


Actions
1. Review a monthly report of activities by lobbyist team, regarding A) what efforts


they have engaged in as part of their FLVS retainer and; B) how these efforts
positively impacted FLVS.


a. Departments Involved: Government Affairs, Executive Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Holly Sagues
c. Measured: Monthly
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2. Each quarter, a representative from the Lobbyist team should offer to provide the
Executive Leadership Team with a detailed review of their efforts and seek
leadership comments and feedback.


a. Departments Involved: Government Affairs, Executive Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Holly Sagues
c. Measured: Quarterly


3. At least twice per year, the FLVS lobbyist team should develop a list of forward-
looking legislative priorities and potential scenarios based on issues that are
taking place.


a. Departments Involved: Government Affairs, Executive Leadership
b. POC Responsible: Holly Sagues
c. Measured: Bi-Annually


4. Develop a survey to be completed by the Governmental Affairs and Leadership
team to measure actions 1-3, evaluate results


a. Departments Involved: Government Affairs
b. POC Responsible: Stefanie Steele
c. Measured: Bi-Annually


Metrics
1. Percentage complete:


a. 80%+ satisfactory survey results (GA/Leadership Team) = Green
b. 75-79% satisfactory survey results = Yellow
c. Less than 75% satisfactory survey results = Red


Phase 1 Goal #9: Internal & External Communications


Objective 9A: Internal Communications
Overview
Internal communications at FLVS is crucial to the short and long-term success of the
Strategic Plan, improvement of employee engagement, and enhanced organizational
performance. FLVS can benefit from an agreed-upon structure and approach for
handling organizational communication.


Actions
1. Review existing internal communications standard operating procedure


document with all functional leaders and determine if the process still meets the
needs of the organization.


a. Departments Involved: Communications, Functional Leaders
b. Responsible: Tania Clow
c. Measured: Monthly
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2. As the communication tool used is determined by the message to be sent, ensure
Functional Leaders are aware of the options available for communicating to staff
(Communication Alerts, Weekly Announcements, FLVSConnect news or banner,
robo-call, video, town-hall meeting), and determine if any new forms of
communication can be utilized, i.e. texting, updating FLVSConnect.


a. Departments Involved: Communications, Functional Leaders
b. Responsible: Tania Clow
c. Measured: Monthly


3. The standard operating procedure should be updated and reviewed and approved
by the Executive Leadership team


a. Departments Involved: Communications, Executive Team
b. Responsible: Tania Clow
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Conduct meetings with functional leaders to discuss/brainstorm Actions 1 and 2


by Jan. 30, 2019. (Manager, Communications; Communications Specialist;
Functional Leaders)


2. Meet with IT to review any new ideas, possible update of FLVSConnect, which is
owned by IT by Feb. 28, 2019. (Manager, Communications; Communications
Specialist, IT)


3. Update internal communications standard operating procedure document that
will include all communication options available and complete interdepartmental
approvals by March 29, 2019. (Communications Specialist; Manager,
Communications; Executive Director, Marketing & Communications)


4. Internal communications process reviewed and approved by Executive
Leadership by April 4, 2019. (Communications, Executive Leadership team)


Objective 9B: External Communications
Overview
External communications at FLVS is crucial to the short and long-term reputation of
FLVS in the market, alignment of employee messaging to the public, issue mitigation
and timely resolution of inquiries. FLVS can benefit from an agreed-upon structure and
approach for handling external communication.


Actions
1. Identify key external organizational stakeholders/customer groups and


determine who is responsible for messaging to that customer group.  Note: If
Communications is responsible for owning and messaging out to all customer
groups, then the External Communications Specialist position needs to be
reinstated.


a. Departments Involved: Communications, Functional Leaders
b. Responsible: Tania Clow
c. Measured: Monthly
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2. Each customer group owner should develop communication plans on messaging
to their stakeholders. Communications can assist in drafting messaging and
during a crisis will be responsible for drafting all messaging. For example,
Communications has a Media Relations Strategy Plan for communicating to
media, their stakeholder, and Governmental Affairs has a plan for
communicating with Legislators, their stakeholder.


a. Departments Involved: Communications, Functional Leaders
b. Responsible: Tania Clow
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Each stakeholder plan should be reviewed and approved by the Executive
Leadership team.


a. Departments Involved: Communications, Functional Leaders, Executive
Leadership team


b. Responsible: Tania Clow
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Communications and Functional Leaders meet to determine


stakeholder/customer groups and owners of each group by Nov. 16, 2018.
(Manager, Communications; Senior Manager, Marketing; Functional Leaders
with Customer Groups)


2. Determine if External Communication Specialist position needs to be reinstated
by Nov. 27, 2018. (Manager, Communications; Senior Manager, Marketing;
Executive Leadership)


3. Stakeholder/Customer Group communications plans completed by Dec. 7, 2018.
(Functional Leaders with Customer Groups)


4. Stakeholder/Customer Group communications plans reviewed and approved by
Executive Leadership by Dec. 14, 2018. (Executive Leadership)


Phase 1 Goal #10: Finance and Accounting


Objective 10A: Monitor Completions and Yield
Overview
The Finance and Accounting organization is crucial to the success and achievement of
the Strategic Plan, as this function can monitor results from strategic initiatives, and
work with functional leaders to report outcomes on activities and actions that the
organization is implementing. The purpose of this action is to focus on monitoring
completions and yield, and communicating this information with functional leaders to
measure progress.


Actions
1. Meet with each Line of Business owner monthly to review completion and yield


status and projections for the year.
a. Departments Involved: Finance and Accounting, Executive Leadership
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b. POC Responsible: John Pavelchak
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Meet with Global Services monthly to review y-t-d sales and projected sales for
the year.


a. Departments Involved: Finance and Accounting, Executive Leadership
b. POC Responsible: John Pavelchak
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Meet with the lines of business owners at least quarterly to review their program
costs compared to their revenues.


a. Departments Involved: Finance and Accounting, Functional Leadership
b. POC Responsible: John Pavelchak
c. Measured: Quarterly


Metrics
Reports comparing the end of month projections with the beginning of year estimates.


Objective 10B: Internal Efficiencies and Budgeting
Overview
The Finance and Accounting organization is crucial to the success and achievement of
the Strategic Plan, as this function can monitor results from strategic initiatives, and
work with functional leaders to report outcomes on activities and actions that the
organization is implementing. The purpose of this action is to focus on identifying
internal efficiencies based on analysis of fixed and variable costs as changes are
implemented.


Actions
1. Review the line of business costs to determine if there appear to be potential


savings initiatives for each line of business.  Determine if the projected financial
results indicate that program or other modifications to improve the line of
business may be necessary.


a. Departments Involved: Finance and Accounting
b. POC Responsible: John Pavelchak
c. Measured: As needed


2. Anticipating that the improvements in the instructional delivery model will result
in improvements in yield and completion percentages, meet with the Line of
Business owners to determine a new method (other than completions) of
allocating staffing resources that will ensure that FLVS will realize an
improvement in net income per completion. Develop a new staffing allocation
methodology.


a. Departments Involved: Finance and Accounting, Executive Leadership
b. POC Responsible: John Pavelchak
c. Measured: Monthly until complete (estimation is end of Oct)
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Metrics
1. Prepare quarterly reports (1) estimating the effects of the change on the FLVS net


income per completion and (2) summarizing the review and recommendations
for each line of business.


Phase 1 Goal #11: Procurement


Objective 11A: Compliance, Oversight and Approvals
Overview
The Procurement function is of strategic importance to FLVS as an organization, as
most of the money that is typically spent by an organization originates in the
Procurement office. There have been recent organizational policy updates which should
result in enhanced Procurement compliance, oversight and approvals. These changes
will ensure enhanced outcomes for FLVS.


Actions
1. Each member of the Executive Leadership Team should undergo a minimum of


two-hours of training to equip leaders with knowledge regarding the current
Procurement function, structure, role, requirements and processes.  Develop a
comprehensive training program specifically for the executive leadership team by
January 31, 2019.  Provide training to all Executive Leadership Team members by
April 30, 2019.  This training should result in enhanced awareness and focus on
compliance and cooperation with Procurement policies and best practices.


a. Departments Involved: Procurement, Executive Leadership, Training (as
needed)


b. POC Responsible: Kay Syed
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Create a policy and tracking system for managing exceptions to Procurement
processes, policies, and protocol.  The policy shall be created and reviewed by
February 2019 and implemented by June 30, 2019. Exceptions should be kept to
a minimum. Requests to override Procurement Processes or Policies already in
place should be approved by the Procurement Executive Director, Senior
Executive Director of Finance, and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure equity
and propriety in business dealings.


a. Departments Involved: Executive Director Procurement, Executive
Leadership


b. POC Responsible: Kay Syed
c. Measured: Monthly
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3. If procurement processes are perceived to be prohibitive to business operation,
business leaders should get together to review the process and brainstorm
opportunities to increase efficiency while remaining in compliance with policies
and best practices.


a. Departments Involved: Executive Director Procurement, Functional
Leadership


b. POC Responsible: Kay Syed
c. Measured: As needed


Metrics
1. Training program developed.  Training complete, % executive leaders trained, %


training records updated in the system
2. Track requested and approved exceptions monthly, Exceptions Policy created,


approved and implemented
3. Track changes to policies and/or processes that increase efficiencies
4. As needed


Phase 1 Goal #12: Information Security Restructuring, Hardening and Growth


Objective 12A: Security Policy, Standards and Guidelines Framework
Overview
Many current information security related policies and procedures are out of date and
have not been reviewed in several years. This goal is to develop, approve and launch a
suite of information security policies, standards and guidelines based on the ISO/IEC
27001 code of best practices for information security.  These policies will formally
establish the FLVS IT Security Program and set forth employee responsibility for
information protection.


The new Policy, Standards and Guidelines framework will also take into consideration
any and all Federal and State regulations that govern the use of personal, financial,
student and patient data at FLVS.


Actions
1. Review, develop and implement policy improvements to ensure that FLVS as an


organization is compliant to organizational standards and best practices
associated with Information Security.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Ensure clear information security baselines for all departments and organizations
within Florida Virtual School.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly
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3. Implement an Information Security program to ensure consistent application of
security controls across the entire enterprise.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Number of policies evaluated, % complete/updated
2. Security program created


Objective 12B: Information Security Risk Management
Overview
The FLVS organization will highly benefit from a Risk Management Program.  The
Information Security Risk Management Program will enable FLVS to properly identify
and protect its business data, intellectual property, and physical assets.  This program
will also include a reporting mechanism to alert Senior Leadership, Directors,
Department Heads and identified Data Owners of the risks and vulnerabilities that the
data and systems for which they are responsible for are prone to.


The Information Security Risk Management Program will be the foundation by which all
future security and continuity initiatives with be prioritized.


Actions
1. Develop a “Risk Register” where discovered risks can be logged, tracked and


properly evaluated.
a. Departments Involved: Information Security
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Develop and implement a vulnerability management program to detect, track and
remediate any detected vulnerabilities.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Evaluation schedule created, % completed
2. Risk Register implemented
3. Vulnerability Management program implemented, and reports generated


Objective 12C: Operation Continuity and Disaster Recovery
Overview
With the transition of the FLVS Disaster Plan and coordination of the departmental
Continuity of Operation Plans (COOP) to Information Security this objective is to
develop, implement and test plans that will ensure that critical FLVS systems and
resources are available at all times.
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Actions
1. Review, update and maintain FLVS Disaster Plan for current and future school


years.
a. Departments Involved: Information Security
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Coordinate with FLVS departments to ensure timely reviews and updates to their
respective COOP are completed as necessary on an annual basis.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security, Functional Leadership
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Successful implementation of disaster recovery plan.


Objective 12D: Network and System Security Architecture
Overview
With the creation of the new Information Security organization and FLVS recovering
from a recent data breach, it is necessary to perform a review of the current Network
and System Security Architecture to set a baseline and look for areas for improvement.


Actions
1. Work with IT to perform a review of current security architecture.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security, Information Technology
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Work with IT to perform a review of current security tool settings and policies
(i.e. firewalls, intrusion detection/prevention, data loss prevention, anti-virus,
etc.).


a. Departments Involved: Information Security, Information Technology
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Work with IT to perform a review of current Active Directory environment.
a. Departments Involved: Information Security, Information Technology
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


4. Work with IT to perform a review of current users with elevated privileges.
a. Departments Involved: Information Security, Information Technology
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


5. Perform a full penetration test of all FLVS environments to test our current
security posture.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security, Information Technology
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
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c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Security architecture review complete and improvement plan documented.
2. Security tool settings/policies review complete and improvement plan


documented.
3. Active Directory review complete and improvement plan documented.
4. Privileged user review complete and improvement plan documented.
5. Results from penetration test.
6. Remediation of penetration test findings.


Objective 12E: Information Security Awareness Training
Overview
Florida Virtual School currently requires all employees to take a Security Awareness
Training course during their initial onboarding as well as on an annual basis.  While this
course does a good job of informing employees of their responsibilities for protecting
the information in their care, this objective is to expand on the awareness training and
further engage the user community more frequently.


Actions
1. Develop an Information Security SharePoint site where the latest security


information can be shared (policies, procedures, current warnings/alerts, etc.).
a. Departments Involved: Information Security
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


2. Develop and send out a “Security Tip of the Month” email with a user-friendly tip
to bring additional security awareness to employees.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


3. Make the Information Security organization more accessible and visible through
the use of SharePoint and month awareness emails.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
1. Successful implementation of Information Security SharePoint site.
2. Successful deployment of monthly “tip of the month” email program.
3. Successful completion of the annual security aware training by all employees, %


complete.
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Objective 12F: Growth of the Information Security Organization
Overview
Information Security is a newly created organization with FLVS and is in need of an
Information Security Analyst to assist in meeting the needs of the business.


Actions
1. Recruit for an Information Security Analyst.


a. Departments Involved: Information Security, HR
b. Responsible: Jason Williams
c. Measured: Monthly


Metrics
2. Successful onboarding of an Information Security Analyst


Phase 2 – Improve Market Capture in Florida and Nationally
Please note: Phase 2 items may be adjusted based on key learnings obtained during
Phase 1.


Phase 2 Goal #1: Prepare Florida Services for Increased Market Share and
Margin Improvement


Objective 1A: Enhanced Coordination and Empowerment of DRMs
Overview
Offer an increase in innovation and value that the organization delivers to Franchise
partners to strengthen standing in the competitive marketplace.


Actions
1. Empower DRMs with information from departments so that they can


communicate key information across the state (Curriculum, LMS, Instruction,
Government Affairs)


a. November 2018 - Revamp the monthly Curriculum call and follow up with
written update.


b. For other departments, include members of Florida Services on email
groups where leaders will receive updates as well as on calls.  Information
can be communicated to the DRM’s by their manager during their weekly
call.  FL Services Mgr.


2. Provide DRMs with enrollment goals to directly tie to enrollment projections
within the budget.


a. Departments Involved: Florida Services
b. Responsible: Larry Banks
a. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


3. Task DRMs to work with school counselors and / or students directly to ensure
proper placement.
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a. Departments Involved: Florida Services
b. Responsible: Larry Banks
b. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


4. DRMs will use research information and FLVS course performance to target D&F
schools to schedule priority appointments.


a. Departments Involved: Florida Services
b. Responsible: Larry Banks
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


Metrics
1. Enrollment goals targets vs. actuals
2. % increase of CRCs YOY


Objective 1B: Refinement of Value Proposition Messaging
Overview
Offer an increase in innovation and value that the organization delivers to Franchise
partners to strengthen standing in the competitive marketplace.  A study performed by
Management Insights should be expanded to gain a comprehensive understanding
internally (among leadership and DRMs) on the additional value that the Franchise
organization delivers now vs when it was initially rolled-out. It is recommended that
FLVS spend the fall of 2018 completing this research.  This will align with the next
renewal cycle of Franchises, the summer of 2019.


Actions
1. Collect information from FLVS District Relationship Managers regarding the


points of value that school districts currently receive from FLVS.
a. Departments Involved: Florida Services
b. Responsible: Larry Banks
d. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


2. Conduct a value proposition study comparing the services that FLVS initially
offered when the Franchise model was first rolled out vs what the school districts
receive from FLVS today.


a. Departments Involved: Florida Services
b. Responsible: Larry Banks
e. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


3. Summarize study results into key messaging points.
a. Departments Involved: Florida Services, Marketing
b. Responsible: Larry Banks, Marketing Director
f. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


Metrics
1. Percent DRMs who successfully participate, ideally 100%
2. Key messages completed
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Objective 1C: Communications Strategy to Prepare Franchise Partners for Tiered
Pricing
Overview
Offer an increase in innovation and value that the organization delivers to Franchise
partners to strengthen standing in the competitive marketplace. A tiered pricing
approach can be explored to provide additional services to those who are interested, or
additional value to those who need it.


A comprehensive communications strategy should be created which incorporates key
messaging points, a rollout timeline, and identified answers to anticipated questions.


Actions
1. Place franchise customers into customer ‘groups’ based on their size and financial


importance to the organization.
a. Departments Involved: Florida Services
b. Responsible: Larry Banks
c. Measured: Quarterly (in Phase 2)


2. Determine the ideal method to communicate the tiered pricing options to each of
the groups, where the largest and most important customers received the most
personalized approach. Incorporate the use of DRMs as needed.


a. Departments Involved: Florida Services, Communications
b. Responsible: Larry Banks, Marketing Director/Tania Clow
c. Measured: Quarterly (in Phase 2)


3. Create a communications timeline, starting with the roll-out schedule, and
working backward to determine who will be notified, and when.


a. Departments Involved: Florida Services, Communications
b. Responsible: Larry Banks, Marketing Director/Tania Clow
c. Measured: Quarterly (in Phase 2)


4. Create communications collateral for organizational leaders and DRMs to use to
answer questions and concerns, and to ensure consistency in messaging
regarding the roll-out.


a. Departments Involved: Florida Services, Communications
b. Responsible: Larry Banks, Marketing Director/Tania Clow
c. Measured: Quarterly (in Phase 2)


Metrics
1. Customer ranking, created quarterly
2. # methodologies used and rationale for each created
3. Timeline schedule
4. Collateral created (PPT, Memos, Pamphlet, FAQ on website, etc.)
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Objective 1D: Roll-Out Plan for Franchise Tiered Pricing
Overview
The FLVS Franchise price point has not increased for many years, despite an increase in
innovation and value that the organization delivers to Franchise partners. A roll-out
strategy should be created which incorporates the needs of applicable FLVS
departments to assist with the change and to ensure consistent messaging.


Actions
1. Coordinate the Franchise Tiered Pricing plan with Finance and Accounting


department to estimate financial results for the next fiscal year, and for
incorporation into the budget. A few Franchise customers are anticipated to
change providers.


a. Departments Involved: Florida Services
b. Responsible: Larry Banks
c. Measured: Annually (in Phase 2)


2. Coordinate the roll-out of the Franchise pricing with other departments as
needed to ensure resources are provided to support successful implementation.


a. Departments Involved: Florida Services
b. Responsible: Larry Banks
c. Measured: Monthly, then Annually (in Phase 2)


3. Proactively address feedback and concerns with open communication to the
greatest extent possible.


a. Departments Involved: Florida Services
b. Responsible: Larry Banks
c. Measured: As often as needed (in Phase 2)


Metrics
1. Incorporation into the budget complete
2. # of Franchises that message has been communicated to
3. # and type of concerns addressed, actions taken


Objective 2E: Comprehensive Plan to Market and Sell Elementary
Overview
There are certain key objectives which the Global function of FLVS needs to complete to
be prepared for Phase 2 of the Strategic Plan, Improve Market Capture. The Elementary
product is a unique and new offering of FLVS and requires a different marketing
approach than courses targeted towards middle and high school students.


Actions
1. Select key staff to meet with the Elementary team to gain insight into the


Elementary product offering
a. Departments Involved: Franchise Leadership, Elementary Leadership
b. Responsible: Franchise Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)
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2. Conduct a brainstorming event to determine how the sales strategy needs to be
adjusted to sell the Elementary product.


a. Departments Involved: Franchise Leadership, Elementary Leadership
Responsible: Franchise Leadership


b. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)
3. Engage the Marketing team as needed to assist with the branding and sales


strategy.
a. Departments Involved: Franchise Leadership, Marketing
b. Responsible: Franchise Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


4. Create a roll-out timeline and implementation plan.
a. Departments Involved: Franchise Leadership
b. Responsible: Franchise Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


Metrics
1. Information gathering complete
2. Brainstorming event(s) complete
3. Marketing engaged, branding strategy complete, sales strategy identified
4. Roll out timeline complete, implementation plan complete


Phase 2 Goal #2: Prepare Global Services for Increased Market Share


Objective 2A: Conduct a Brand Study for FLVS and Global
Overview
There are certain key objectives which the Global function of FLVS needs to complete to
be prepared for Phase 2 of the Strategic Plan, Improve Market Capture. As part of this,
one specific task which the organization needs to complete is to conduct a Brand Study.
The name “Florida” in the FLVS brand can be perceived negatively from a political
perspective in terms of selling Florida Services to other state entities and agencies,
namely schools. The Global function would therefore benefit from conducting a Brand
Study to more fully understand the implications of the FLVS name on the results that
the function is able to achieve.


Actions
1. Survey in-state and out-of-state stakeholders to gain insight into the positive and


negative perceptions of doing business with FLVS, namely, the fact that “Florida”
is in our business name.


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Communications
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
g. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


2. Outline the political implications or concerns that other states may have from
doing business with FLVS.


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Government Affairs
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b. Responsible: Global Leadership
h. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


3. Determine what actions can be taken to adjust the FLVS Brand for the Global
function to maximize sales outside of state


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Marketing
b. Responsible: Global Leadership, Marketing
i. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


4. The Global and Marketing teams should provide a recommendation to the
executive leadership team on the path forward.


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Marketing, Executive
Leadership


b. Responsible: Global Leadership
j. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


Metrics
1. Survey created / complete, # participants, # comments, pros vs. cons
2. # comments, pros vs. cons
3. Actions created, reviewed
4. Recommendation complete


Objective 2B: Finalize Global Services Infrastructure & Target Markets
Overview
There are certain key objectives which the Global function of FLVS needs to complete to
be prepared for Phase 2 of the Strategic Plan, Improve Market Capture. The
infrastructure of the Global Team needs to be further refined, to scale efforts across the
department, and to focus more narrowly on various tasks associated with the capture,
and subsequently the development, of global clients. Additionally, target markets should
be defined for the short and long term for the group to focus on.


Actions
2. Complete infrastructure adjustments to modify roles and responsibilities to


maximize the impact of the global sales and support team.
a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


3. Identify performance goals for each role / responsibility type to clarify the path
forward for the team. As part of this, a review of sales rep compensation plans
may be necessary to ensure that they are cost effective and aligned to
organizational goals.


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, HR
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


4. Identify target markets for the Global Function for the next few fiscal years as
well as aligned sales and performance goals.
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a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


Metrics
1. Measure and report sales in identified key markets.  Measure and report pipeline


growth in identified key markets.
2. Make correlations between outreach and converted sales through business


development team.
3. Measure effectiveness of marketing campaigns and lead generation.


Objective 2C: Outline In-State Value Proposition
Overview
There are certain key objectives which the Global function of FLVS needs to complete to
be prepared for Phase 2 of the Strategic Plan, Improve Market Capture. There are
services which the Global organization currently offers which can prove to be of value to
in-state clients. These should be clearly understood, outlined, prioritized, and
investigated for how and if the offering of these services would impact other in-state
functions at FLVS.


Actions
1. Inventory Global services and offerings which could be of use inside the state.


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


2. Review the list above with other functions to determine what conflicts may exist.
a. Departments Involved: Executive Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


3. Prioritize opportunities in terms of value to customers and to the business.
a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


4. Make recommendations regarding the path forward to the executive leadership
team, along with anticipated timeline to implement.


a. Departments Involved: Executive Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


Metrics
1. List in progress vs. complete
2. Review complete
3. Prioritization complete
4. Path forward complete
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Objective 2D: Evaluate Potential of Charter School Start-Up Kit
Overview
There are certain key objectives which the Global function of FLVS needs to complete to
be prepared for Phase 2 of the Strategic Plan, Improve Market Capture. Hosting an out
of state Charter School is something which FLVS is capable of but would require
substantial overhead to manage. Offering various products (including advisory services)
to out of state clients to start up their own charter school is something which FLVS can
manage more efficiently and effectively.


Actions
1. Research the key organizational resources needed to be able to effectively manage


a program such as this.
a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


2. Conduct a market study to determine the potential / expected utilization of this
service.


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Marketing
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


3. Price this offering in terms of fixed vs. variable and start-up vs. ongoing costs.
a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Finance and Accounting
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


4. Develop 1, 3, and 5 year strategic plan to address the virtual charter market.
a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Executive Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


5. Create market road map to identify first 3-5 markets for charter schools.
a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Executive Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


6. Identify risks associated with this opportunity as well as potential pros and cons
to the business in terms of resource utilization and expected ROI.


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Finance and Accounting,
Governmental Affairs, Florida Services, Marketing


b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


7. Review with executive leadership team before execution.
a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Executive Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)
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Metrics
1. Research in progress vs. complete
2. Market study outlined vs. % complete
3. ROI determined
4. Plan complete
5. Road map complete
6. # pros vs. cons, ROI to the business
7. Review complete


Objective 2E: Comprehensive Plan to Market and Sell Elementary to all Markets
Overview
There are certain key objectives which the Global function of FLVS needs to complete to
be prepared for Phase 2 of the Strategic Plan, Improve Market Capture. The Elementary
product is a unique and new offering of FLVS and requires a different marketing
approach than courses targeted towards middle and high school students.


Actions
5. Select key staff to meet with the Elementary team to gain insight into the


Elementary product offering
a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Elementary Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


6. Conduct a brainstorming event to determine how the sales strategy needs to be
adjusted to sell the Elementary product.


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


7. Engage the Marketing team as needed to assist with the branding and sales
strategy.


a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership, Marketing
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


8. Create a roll-out timeline and implementation plan.
a. Departments Involved: Global Leadership
b. Responsible: Global Leadership
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


Metrics
5. Information gathering complete
6. Brainstorming event(s) complete
7. Marketing engaged, branding strategy complete, sales strategy identified
8. Roll out timeline complete, implementation plan complete
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Phase 2 Goal #3: Information Technology – Student Information System
Update


Objective 3A: Plan for SIS Replacement/Conversion after the LMS Conversion is
Stable
Overview
After the LMS conversion is complete and stable, a coordinated effort should be taken to
capitalize on the opportunity to develop a Student Information System. A Student
Information System is essentially a way to capture data throughout the registration and
course completion lifecycle. This system has the capability to provide FLVS and its
constituents with meaningful data on student progress, performance indicators,
roadblocks and opportunities.


Actions
1. Create and implement a technical SIS review team.


a. Departments Involved: IT, Instruction
b. Responsible: IT
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


2. Review SIS software options that are compatible with the new LMS and make
recommendations/selection.


a. Departments Involved: IT, Procurement
b. Responsible: IT
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


3. Develop a plan for the SIS implementation – target six months to pilot, and 18
months for a full implementation.


a. Departments Involved: IT
b. Responsible: IT
c. Measured: Monthly (in Phase 2)


Metrics
1. Project manager and resources assigned
2. Procurement analysis conducted and completed
3. Timeline created
4. Weekly monitoring complete, variances measured and communicated, corrective


actions implemented
5. Internal training scheduled and completed
6. Communications plan created, track to implementation
7. % alignment to key curriculum tracking points, by course
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Phase 3 – Improve Student Learning Through Innovation
Please note: Phase 3 items may be adjusted based on key learnings obtained during
Phase 1 and Phase 2.


Phase 3 goals are presented as highly recommended points of focus for FLVS. The
details for these goals in terms of objectives and metrics will be refined as Phase 1 and
Phase 2 are completed.


Phase 3 Goal #1: Improve Student Learning Through Innovation


Innovation is the focus in Phase 3. As of the writing of this plan, the primary
opportunity that has surfaced remains partnering with other companies to develop pilot
programs for adaptive learning. These opportunities should be re-analyzed and re-
prioritized as Phase 3 becomes eminent.


With respect to the adaptive learning opportunity, Phase 1 contains several goals for
FLVS to study and improve both the curriculum, and instructor interactions with
students to improve their success rate.  A new LMS is also implemented in Phase 1.  The
new LMS will have better tools for monitoring student progress through key courses.
Using these three key resources, FLVS will develop a plan to create learning experiences
for students that involve the curriculum, teacher interaction, and LMS monitoring to
collectively implement basic adaptive learning programs. There will be three
components to this – the student component, the instructor component, and the system
component which is largely based on curriculum changes (the LMS will likely be
involved to some degree).  Given that the curriculum is the common component, only
the student and the instructor parts are identified as two separate goals.


The student component should focus on improving student learning outcomes.  A
natural by-product of this will be higher completions.


The instructor component should focus on guiding the instructors, so they can focus on
the most important learning moments and relationships with the students.  This will
help them identify


Objective 1: Use FLVS student learning data to develop targeted adaptive learning
curriculum to help students achieve their learning outcomes.


Objective 2: Use FLVS student learning data to develop targeted adaptive learning
curriculum to help instructors support students.


Improving the yield and completion rate for students is a key focus in Phase 1 of this
plan.  Significant improvements are likely to be achieved by making focused changes to
curriculum and strategic instructor involvement with students throughout the courses
in ways that FLVS does not currently.  Marketing will work with curriculum
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development to improve the frontend of the registration process to give students more
information about courses they are interested in to improve their selection.


However, more can be done to both engage students through the entire learning
process, and help school administrators with the course selection, enrollment, and
tracking process. Further, given the large number of instructors, students, and courses
taken through FLVS, scheduling is a challenge.  Developing optimal ways to allocate and
match students to instructors will improve FLVS efficiency, and likely the satisfaction of
students and school administration.


The next steps for FLVS will rely on the conversion to the new LMS system, and the
subsequent conversion to a new SIS system. These are two major projects that will be
completed in phase 1 and phase 2.


Objective 3 and 4 are focused on the outcomes that are recommended for FLVS to focus
on in Phase 3.


Objective 3: Use the new LMS and SIS to simplify student enrollment and course
guidance for school administrators.


Objective 4: Use FLVS data center to optimize the assignment of students to
instructors and balance operational loads.


Expected Results
As a result of implementing this three-phase plan, FLVS should significantly improve its
position in the online market both in Florida and nationally. The shift in position will
come through two components – one is a reduced cost of delivering a course
completion. The other component will be the improved student outcomes that in turn
improve school performance on standardized tests.


These improvements will strengthen FLVS’s position to help reduce the cost of
education particularly in Florida, and help schools improve their ability to achieve
higher grades on statewide assessments, which in turn improves the school’s ability to
secure funds.


Expanding market capture in phase two will help FLVS in several ways. First, Global
Services can bring best-practices from other states back to Florida to give FLVS further
insights into ways to improve student learning outcomes.  Second, the additional excess
income will provide FLVS with additional financial resources to continue to invest in
Florida students.


Phase three is designed to build on the results of the first two phases.  The objective is to
improve student learning outcomes, improve instructor success and efficiency, and
improve the success of school administrators who partner with FLVS.
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Phase 1 Expected Results:


Strategic Plan Implementation
This strategic plan provides FLVS with the roadmap that it needs to pursue an
actionable and financially attractive path forward. Having a plan in place is the first step
toward achieving the desired destination – it serves as a roadmap to help guide the
organization.


Organizational focus and dedication toward integrating strategic plan implementation
as part of the regular business rhythm is critical for the strategy to be realized. The
strategic plan addresses the “what” and the “why” of strategic activities, but the
implementation plan addresses the “who”, “where”, “when”, and “how”.


Here are some recommendations for FLVS to ensure that the Strategic Plan is executed
as expected:


1. Link strategy to budgeting – ensure that strategic objectives are prioritized and
allocated in the organizational budget, and opportunities that arise within the
business are assessed based on their relation to the overarching strategy.


2. Link employee incentives to strategy – reward employees for generating ideas
that ensure realization of organizational strategy, as well as those employees who
go above and beyond to ensure that strategic activities are achieved. Tie annual
objectives and performance evaluations of key leaders with goals outlined in the
strategic plan.


3. Allocate time to discuss strategy – make the topic of achieving FLVS strategic
goals one that is discussed and integrated regularly in executive and management
leadership meetings.


4. Communicate the strategy – ensure that the workforce understands the FLVS
strategy, as well as how their role is integrated in helping to accomplish it.


5. Take ownership – make specific people in the organization responsible for
accomplishing specific action items. Ensure that responsibilities are dispersed
throughout the organization rather than on only a few people, and that each
action or initiative has an owner.


6. Communicate – ensure that the plan is communicated to employees, so that they
know how they can contribute.
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7. Integrate the strategic plan into the management process – ensure that the
strategic plan is integrated and part of the management process, including
performance management and annual goal setting.


8. Create progress reports – track progress, attempt to put measurements in place
where possible, and communicate results to generate momentum.


9. Empower the organization – making employees accountable for actions may be a
strong motivator for improving performance, but employees must also have the
authority, responsibility, and tools necessary to impact and implement change to
ensure that they stay involved and take ownership in the plan.


The Strategic Plan has been created as a roadmap to help FLVS achieve a competitive
advantage. Implementation of the plan is critical toward realizing the results that have
been calculated.


Timeline
An Excel version of this plan (with due dates and action item owners) has been
developed by FLVS team members and reviewed by Management Insights, and will be
referred to internally as part of the organizational rhythm going forward.


The FLVS Executive Team has had a chance to review all of the goals in this plan and
provide their feedback, as well as incorporate changes. Additionally, members of the
executive team served as a cross-check to other team members and provided them with
feedback on their goals. The structure of some action items differs slightly from others.


Conclusion
FLVS has an opportunity to increase net income significantly by implementing several
incremental and feasible changes to business operations. This plan has outlined the
goals that FLVS will pursue to achieve this objective. Along the way, FLVS will continue
to innovate and improve. This plan was also created in collaboration with FLVS leaders
and subject matter experts, leveraging data where it was available, and by conducting
scenario planning and research.


The overarching vision for FLVS in implementing this plan is to significantly impact the
education ecosystem for the state of Florida.  There are two main drivers for every
school in the state.  First, lower the cost of education.  Second, improve student
performance on statewide assessments that determine overall school grades.


To summarize, the FLVS strategy will be configured in three phases that will be
implemented over a five-year period.  Each phase builds on the prior phase. Phase 1 was
primarily discussed in this document, as well as highlights from Phase 2 and 3, which
will be completed in depth in the future.


Phase 1 focuses on improving FLVS’s internal efficiencies, increasing excess revenue,
and improving student learning outcomes in significant ways. Phase 2 is designed to
guide FLVS through opportunities to increase market share both in Florida and
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nationally in significant ways.  Phase 3 returns to the theme of further improving
student learning outcomes through FLVS innovation in ways that impact students,
instructors, and schools.


The results from implementing these efforts should improve excess income by over two
hundred percent by improving student completions from eighty percent in 2018 to over
ninety percent and making better use of instructor resources. Market share should
increase by twenty to thirty percent in Florida over 2018 levels. Student learning should
improve such that all courses with end-of-course exams, and those associated with
statewide assessments used to determine school grades, will show statistically
significant improvements.  These improvements should make FLVS the online partner
of choice when schools want to lower their cost of completions and improve their school
grades.


One specific item to note is that FLVS has recently invested in creating the Elementary
product line. As a result of this, expenses will be amortized over time, and this will
reduce the positive impact of the strategic changes at first.


The overall result of implementing this three-phase strategic plan will be to shift FLVS’s
strategic position in the online education market from a position of being stuck-in-the-
middle to a position of value innovation. Value innovation is the intersection of cost-
leadership and differentiation.  This is accomplished by improving FLVS’s ability to
lower the cost of a student’s completion of a course and improve the performance of a
school when it comes to statewide assessments and student graduation rates.
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Appendix A: Student Survey Results
A survey of recently enrolled FLVS students (8,800 plus student respondents) was
conducted by Management Insights in collaboration with FLVS in 2016. The
respondents can be summarized as follows:


1. Seventy-eight percent were currently enrolled students
2. Seventy percent take their classes at home as a part-time FLVS student
3. Twelve percent take their classes at their school in a computer lab as a part-time


FLVS student
4. By grade: Eighth – 13%, Ninth - 24%, Tenth – 23%, and Twelfth – 9%


The key data points are:


1. Overall student satisfaction with their FLVS course experience is quite positive –
45% extremely satisfied; 35% somewhat satisfied – less than 5% are dissatisfied


2. Regular courses are the primary type of courses taken at 74% with Honors at 17%
and Advanced Placement at 3%


3. The top three reasons students take courses through FLVS are:
a. They are required to take one course online – 28%
b. They prefer the convenience of online courses – 19%
c. They prefer the pace of the online course relative to in-class courses –


faster at 15% and slower at 8%
d. The course they are taking online is not offered at their school – 10%


4. Students indicate that they intend to take one – 30%, two – 24%, or three or
more – 46% courses through the FLVS system


5. Students found out about FLVS from their guidance counsellor – 56%, from
fellow students – 29% the FLVS web site – 20%, or their teacher – 13%


6. On the whole students believe that access to course material through a tablet or
their smartphone is very important, with tablet access slightly more important


From the above data points, several key insights were derived to help guide the analysis
process regarding ways to attract more students to take online course with FLVS:


1. Early in their relationship with FLVS students express the desire to take three or
more classes, but the actual average is just over one class per student – this
represents the most significant opportunity.


2. Guidance counsellors and teachers are the strongest guides for students to enroll
in FLVS – this represents a significant opportunity to collaborate with the schools
– the results from the next survey with school districts confirms this


3. Students are very interested in online content delivery via mobile devices (tablets
and smartphones) – however, FLVS’s current LMS (Learning Management
System) is not mobile ready


4. The legislative requirement for students to take one course online during their 9-
12 grades is the single main motivator for students to take courses, but
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collectively, convenience and course pace are greater motivators – this
represented a potentially untapped opportunity.


5. Students are very satisfied with FLVS – therefore resources can be focused in
other areas to overcome issues noted above.


6. Most of the students take regular courses, but on average for every five regular
courses taken one honors course is taken
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		Phase 1 Goal #3: Curriculum Enhancement / Digital Publishing

		Objective 3A: ROI Course Improvement Projects

		Overview

		Actions

		2. Continue to monitor, publish and improve the ROI Analysis Report that was previously conducted which identifies the root causes for each course that is operated at a cost to the business.

		a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing and Finance

		b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/John Pavelchak/Jason Schultz/Robin Winder

		c. Measured: Quarterly

		3. Create ‘return to green’ plans for courses to bring them to a positive ROI.

		a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /Instruction

		b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Jason Schultz/Robin Winder

		c. Measured: Quarterly

		4. For courses that cannot be returned to green using current resources, create an outline for executive review regarding why this is the case. Identify what additional organizational resources or alternate approaches that would be necessary to operate the course at a profit. (Digital Publishing)

		a. Departments Involved: Digital Publishing /Instruction

		b. Responsible: Marty Kelly/Jason Schultz/Robin Winder

		c. Measured: Quarterly

		5. Executive leadership and/or Digital Publishing Steering Committee should work together with Digital Publishing to approve / modify course ROI action items along with resource allocation, and determine which actions can/will be taken, and when.

		a. Departments Involved: Executive Leadership Team

		b. Responsible: Marty Kelly

		c. Measured: Monthly

		Metrics



		Objective 3B: Adjust Course Content to Increase Student Performance on State Exams

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 3C: Conduct Research to Guide Student Learning Performance in FLVS Courses

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 3D: Continuous Improvement Efforts in Curriculum

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics





		Phase 1 Goal #4: Ensure Success of Elementary Pilot

		Objective 4A: Focus on Service

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 4B: Focus on Student Course Completions

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 4C: Focus on Learning and Curriculum Innovation

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 4D: Focus on Preparation to Support Franchise and Global Sales Rollout of Elementary Program

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics





		Phase 1 Goal #5: Information Technology and Architecture Rebuild

		Objective 5A: Ensure LMS is a Competitive Resource

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 5B: Ensure IT Security and Infrastructure is Stable

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 5C: Develop the FLVS Analytics Center of Excellence

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 5D: Technology Roadmap in Consideration of Student Outcomes

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics





		Phase 1 Goal #6: Human Resources

		Objective 6A: Update and Implement Organizational Policies

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 6B: Enhance Employee Engagement

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics





		Phase 1 Goal #7: Ensure Marketing is an Integrated Partner on Functional LOB Initiatives and Efforts

		Objective 7A: In-House Service Focus

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 7B: Develop and Implement Introductory Course for Trial / Marketing

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 7C: Develop Brand Strategy by Line of Business

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics





		Phase 1 Goal #8: Government Affairs

		Objective 8A: Communicate State Priorities and Initiatives to Functions and DRMs

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 8B: Direct and Leverage Lobbyists

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics





		Phase 1 Goal #9: Internal & External Communications

		Objective 9A: Internal Communications

		Overview

		Actions

		1. Review existing internal communications standard operating procedure document with all functional leaders and determine if the process still meets the needs of the organization.

		2. As the communication tool used is determined by the message to be sent, ensure Functional Leaders are aware of the options available for communicating to staff (Communication Alerts, Weekly Announcements, FLVSConnect news or banner, robo-call, video, town-hall meeting), and determine if any new forms of communication can be utilized, i.e. texting, updating FLVSConnect.

		3. The standard operating procedure should be updated and reviewed and approved by the Executive Leadership team

		Metrics



		Objective 9B: External Communications

		Overview

		Actions

		1. Identify key external organizational stakeholders/customer groups and determine who is responsible for messaging to that customer group.  Note: If Communications is responsible for owning and messaging out to all customer groups, then the External Communications Specialist position needs to be reinstated.

		2. Each customer group owner should develop communication plans on messaging to their stakeholders. Communications can assist in drafting messaging and during a crisis will be responsible for drafting all messaging. For example, Communications has a Media Relations Strategy Plan for communicating to media, their stakeholder, and Governmental Affairs has a plan for communicating with Legislators, their stakeholder.

		3. Each stakeholder plan should be reviewed and approved by the Executive Leadership team.

		Metrics





		Phase 1 Goal #10: Finance and Accounting

		Objective 10A: Monitor Completions and Yield

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 10B: Internal Efficiencies and Budgeting

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics





		Phase 1 Goal #11: Procurement

		Objective 11A: Compliance, Oversight and Approvals

		Overview

		Actions

		1. Each member of the Executive Leadership Team should undergo a minimum of two-hours of training to equip leaders with knowledge regarding the current Procurement function, structure, role, requirements and processes.  Develop a comprehensive training program specifically for the executive leadership team by January 31, 2019.  Provide training to all Executive Leadership Team members by April 30, 2019.  This training should result in enhanced awareness and focus on compliance and cooperation with Procurement policies and best practices.

		2. Create a policy and tracking system for managing exceptions to Procurement processes, policies, and protocol.  The policy shall be created and reviewed by February 2019 and implemented by June 30, 2019. Exceptions should be kept to a minimum. Requests to override Procurement Processes or Policies already in place should be approved by the Procurement Executive Director, Senior Executive Director of Finance, and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure equity and propriety in business dealings.

		3. If procurement processes are perceived to be prohibitive to business operation, business leaders should get together to review the process and brainstorm opportunities to increase efficiency while remaining in compliance with policies and best practices.

		Metrics





		Phase 1 Goal #12: Information Security Restructuring, Hardening and Growth

		Objective 12A: Security Policy, Standards and Guidelines Framework

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 12B: Information Security Risk Management

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 12C: Operation Continuity and Disaster Recovery

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 12D: Network and System Security Architecture

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 12E: Information Security Awareness Training

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 12F: Growth of the Information Security Organization

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics







		Phase 2 – Improve Market Capture in Florida and Nationally

		Phase 2 Goal #1: Prepare Florida Services for Increased Market Share and Margin Improvement

		Objective 1A: Enhanced Coordination and Empowerment of DRMs

		Overview

		Offer an increase in innovation and value that the organization delivers to Franchise partners to strengthen standing in the competitive marketplace.

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 1B: Refinement of Value Proposition Messaging

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 1C: Communications Strategy to Prepare Franchise Partners for Tiered Pricing

		Overview

		Actions

		3. Create a communications timeline, starting with the roll-out schedule, and working backward to determine who will be notified, and when.

		4. Create communications collateral for organizational leaders and DRMs to use to answer questions and concerns, and to ensure consistency in messaging regarding the roll-out.

		Metrics



		Objective 1D: Roll-Out Plan for Franchise Tiered Pricing

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 2E: Comprehensive Plan to Market and Sell Elementary

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics





		Phase 2 Goal #2: Prepare Global Services for Increased Market Share

		Objective 2A: Conduct a Brand Study for FLVS and Global

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 2B: Finalize Global Services Infrastructure & Target Markets

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 2C: Outline In-State Value Proposition

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 2D: Evaluate Potential of Charter School Start-Up Kit

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics



		Objective 2E: Comprehensive Plan to Market and Sell Elementary to all Markets

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics





		Phase 2 Goal #3: Information Technology – Student Information System Update

		Objective 3A: Plan for SIS Replacement/Conversion after the LMS Conversion is Stable

		Overview

		Actions

		Metrics







		Phase 3 – Improve Student Learning Through Innovation

		Phase 3 Goal #1: Improve Student Learning Through Innovation

		Objective 1: Use FLVS student learning data to develop targeted adaptive learning curriculum to help students achieve their learning outcomes.

		Objective 2: Use FLVS student learning data to develop targeted adaptive learning curriculum to help instructors support students.

		Objective 3: Use the new LMS and SIS to simplify student enrollment and course guidance for school administrators.

		Objective 4: Use FLVS data center to optimize the assignment of students to instructors and balance operational loads.





		Expected Results

		Strategic Plan Implementation

		Timeline



		Conclusion

		Appendix A: Student Survey Results
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The 2017-18 school year marked the 


20th anniversary of Florida Virtual School 


(FLVS).  The 20-year anniversary of FLVS 


is not only a historic occasion for the first 


statewide Internet-based school in the 


United States but is also a significant and 


positive milestone for virtual education. 


When founded in 1997, FLVS 


consisted of six teachers, four 


support staff, 77 enrollments, and 


six courses. The use of online 


education tools was still new for 


the high schoolers of 1997. 


That initial small group of faculty and 


staff served in multiple roles at the same 


time, often acting as teacher, community 


liaison, course developer, and even 


legislative advocate. Technology in the 


late 1990s consisted of noisy dial-up 


modems, slow internet browsing ability, 


and large box desktop computers. As 


cellphones and emails were not yet the 


primary forms of communication in 1997, 


most of the staff relied on beepers and 


pay phones to speak to others while out 


in the field.  


Today, FLVS employs more than 2,200 


support staff and Florida certified 


instructors who use a wide variety of 


resources and integrated systems and 


have access to professional development 


opportunities. FLVS students are digital 


natives and benefit from more than 180 


FLVS online courses. 


FLVS boasts more than 4.1 million 


semester completions since its inception 


in 1997, with more than 492,000 semester 


completions in 2017-18. Our students 


continue to outperform state averages on 


End-of-Course Exams and on Advanced 


Placement Exams. 


FLVS provided courses and services to 65 


school districts through 35 Florida District 


Franchises. In 2017-18, students attending 


FLVS District Virtual Schools successfully 


completed more than 168,800 semester 


completions. 


In addition to working directly with 


Florida students, FLVS has expanded due 


to demand beyond state lines, providing 


its courseware experience to online and 


blended learning programs in schools and 


districts across the nation. This expansion 


ultimately allows FLVS to stretch every 


dollar invested in Kindergarten–12 state 


education programs and helps our 


Florida schools achieve their academic 


performance goals.


All that FLVS has accomplished is the 


result of dedicated students, instructional 


and administrative staff as well as the 


amazing parents of our students. We are 


grateful for the continued support from 


the Governor, legislators, and our Board 


of Trustees. 


Thanks to everyone who shares 


our vision, FLVS has been able 


to show the value of online 


learning in providing flexible 


learning opportunities, improving 


educational outcomes, and 


preparing students for future 


success across Florida and around 


the world, both in the job market 


and transitioning to their next 


academic endeavor. 


The student is at the center 
of every decision we make.
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Originally founded in 1997, Florida 


Virtual School is a public school district 


comprised of six schools (FLVS Flex 


Elementary, 6-8, and 9-12; and FLVS Full 


Time Elementary, 6-8, 9-12) serving all 


Florida school districts. FLVS also offers 


a tuition-based option for students 


outside of Florida through FLVS Global 


School and provides content licensing, 


training, and expertise to a variety of 


online and blended learning programs 


across the nation. Through a variety of 


personalized instructional offering, FLVS 


students are able to build an educational 


plan that fits their unique needs. All 


teachers are state certified in the content 


areas they teach and have completed 


extensive professional development in 


online education. FLVS, the district and 


its schools are accredited by AdvancED 


and Southern Association of Colleges 


and Schools Council on Accreditation 


and School Improvement (SACS CASI). 


SACS CASI is an accrediting division of 


AdvancED. FLVS serves Florida students 


free of charge. 


Today, FLVS offers more than 180 courses, 


including Advanced Placement® (AP®), 


honors, NCAA-approved core, world 


languages, electives, college prep, and 


career and technical education courses.


FLVS students have achieved 


4.1 million
semester completions since 


inception in 1997.


Students interact with teachers and peers 


in live learning sessions and collaborative 


assignments, with the opportunities to 


participate in clubs, events, activities—


even virtual field trips! Our competency-


based learning model gives students the 


chance for continuous improvement. 


Performance-based funding means FLVS 


only receives funding when students 


successfully complete courses through 


FLVS Flex and FLVS Full time schools. 


FLVS FLEX SCHOOLS 
FLVS Flex scheduling is available to 


public, private, charter, and homeschool 


students in Kindergarten–12th grade, 


on a 365-day flexible calendar. Students 


can take FLVS courses when enrolled in 


addition to a brick-and-mortar school, or 


a full-time course load when enrolled as a 


homeschool student. With a full engaging 


curriculum, including elementary courses, 


Flex students utilize FLVS for a variety 


of reasons ranging from wanting to get 


ahead or graduate early to taking courses 


not offered by their district and having 


flexibility with extracurricular activities. 


 
FLVS FULL TIME SCHOOLS 
FLVS Full Time scheduling is available 


to students in grades Kindergarten–12. 


Students follow a 180-day traditional 


school calendar, take all courses through 


FLVS Full Time, and graduate with an 


FLVS diploma. Courses are available 24/7 


online, so students can study any time 


and any place. Our certified teachers offer 


one-on-one attention, and are available 


by phone, email, and text. Students stay 


connected with their peers through in-


person clubs and activities.


   About 
Florida Virtual School


Flex: 420,604


Full Time: 71,903


Flex: 200,886


Full Time: 6,481semester completions 
in 2017-18


students served  
in 2017-18


492,507 207,367 
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Digital learning labs
in 2017-18


Global School 
semester completions 


in 2017-18


287
FLVS Florida district 
franchises semester 


completions in 2017-18


168,807 5,196 


FLVS DIGITAL LEARNING LABS 
IN FLORIDA
The FLVS digital and blended learning 


models allow districts to introduce new 


courses and address challenges such as 


teacher shortages, class-size reduction, 


scheduling conflicts, grade forgiveness,  


and more.


FLVS FLORIDA DISTRICT 
FRANCHISES  
Through Florida District Franchises, 


districts have access to FLVS elementary, 


middle, and high school courses and 


technology systems, and receive student 


support and teacher training while still 


using their own teachers to teach the 


courses. In 2017-18, 65 Florida districts 


powered their district virtual schools with 


FLVS.


FLVS GLOBAL SCHOOL
FLVS Global School serves middle 


and high school students around the 


nation and world through tuition-


based instruction. Public, private, and 


homeschool students can choose 


from more than 118 courses, including 


electives, honors, Advanced Placement 


and NCAA-approved core. FLVS Global 


School has served students in all 50 states 


and in more than 65 countries.


Sierra Boodhoo, FLVS Flex 10th grade student, is passionate about the world, sharks and ocean life, and 


her studies. Taking FLVS courses for the past four years has helped her pursue her passions and she 


is an ambassador for One Ocean Global and Conservation Ocean, as well as a Model United Nations 


delegate. “FLVS allows me to take all the classes I need to be successful, and the flexibility for me to 


complete my schoolwork throughout my busy schedule. FLVS has made a huge impact on my life.”


  student spotlight:
Sierra Boodhoo
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EOC SCORES
Based on the Spring 2018 End-of-Course (EOC) assessments, FLVS students outperformed state averages on the Algebra 1, 


Biology 1, Civics, Geometry, and U.S. History EOC Assessments. 


 Providing the skills and knowledge
    students need for success


AP SCORES
Based on May 2018 AP Exams, FLVS students outperformed state overall averages by 11 percent in comparing the 15 AP courses 


offered by FLVS and scored above those state qualifying AP averages in 11 of the 15 courses. FLVS students performed above the 


national overall average by 4 percent in comparing the 15 AP courses offered by FLVS.


Geometry*
FLVS Flex 63%
FLVS Full Time 69%
State 57%


U.S. History*
FLVS Flex 79%
FLVS Full Time 85%
State 68%


Civics*
FLVS Flex 78%
FLVS Full Time 81%
State 71%


Biology 1*
FLVS Flex 77%
FLVS Full Time 85%
State 65%


Algebra 1*
FLVS Flex 77%
FLVS Full Time 70%
State 63%


higher AP 


scores than 


the state 


average


higher Full Time 


Biology EOC 


scores than the 


state average


higher AP 


scores than 


the national 


average


higher Flex 


Biology EOC 


scores than the 


state average


11%


20%


4%


12%


*Data represents first-time test takers. Percentage of Students Scoring Level 3 or Above (Proficient).
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Education through FLVS offers significant savings to the State of Florida when compared to 
the brick-and-mortar public schools. 
 


FLVS FUNDING PER FTE & EFFICIENCIES 
FLVS Flex and FLVS Full Time schools are funded through the FEFP (Florida Education Finance Program), just like the other brick-


and-mortar public schools. However, unlike the other public schools that are funded based on student enrollment, FLVS Flex and 


FLVS Full Time schools are only funded for courses that are successfully completed (and not per enrollment or seat time). 


Efficient operations& value  
    to the state of Florida


SAVINGS FOR THE STATE
PER VIRTUAL STUDENT  
2017-18 $2,744.55


FLVS FULL TIME & FLEX SCHOOLS 2017-18


21,405.69 Public FTE Enrollment


$5,248.31 State Cost Per FTE* 


 


$5,248.31 Total State Cost Per FTE


BRICK-AND-MORTAR SCHOOLS 2017-18


2,559,007.85 Public FTE Enrollment


$6,962.43 State Cost Per FTE** 


$1,030.43 K-12 Capital Dollars Per FTE


 


$7,992.86 Total State Cost Per FTE


*In 2013, the FEFP formula was modified such that while students may earn more than one FTE (Full-time Equivalent) per scholastic year, the providers of the services 


(school districts, lab schools, and FLVS) are limited to one FTE on a shared basis.  FLVS saves the state and additional 12.4% for successful completions due to the effects of 


the 1.0 FTE sharing formula, resulting in actual funding per 12 successful semester course completions of $4,599.13. 


**Final Calculation of FY 2017-18, Florida Education Finance Program
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    Stretching 
Florida tax dollars


PERFORMANCE-BASED FUNDING 
FLVS is performance-based funded, only receiving funding when a student successfully completes a course, 


unlike traditional schools that are funded upon seat time.  


OPERATIONAL AND CAPITAL EFFICIENCIES
In the 2017-18 school year, every semester course taken with FLVS saved the state of Florida $143.03, 


amounting to more than $58 million in savings for the school year.


SOLUTIONS FOR CLASS SIZE CHALLENGES
Financial impact occurs when a new student enrolls in a school whose classes are already filled to the 


maximum. Hiring a new teacher for that one student is costly to the district and can be a disruption.


OPERATIONAL SAVINGS
Districts can utilize FLVS for courses with low student counts for a particular subject. For example, there 


may not be enough students interested in taking Advanced Placement Computer Science to warrant hiring a 


teacher, but schools can offer that opportunity to interested students through FLVS. The FLVS digital learning 


solutions allow districts to introduce new courses and address challenges such as scheduling conflicts, grade 


forgiveness, class-size reduction, and more.


SERVING STUDENTS THROUGH STATE SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAMS
FLVS has the unique ability to participate in choice programs across the state of Florida, allowing all students 


to have access to high quality digital learning. FLVS serves students enrolled through the Hope Scholarship, 


the McKay Scholarship Program, Gardiner Scholarships, and Florida Tax Credit Scholarships.


FLVS Flex Elementary students Aiden Cardoza (Grade 2) and Sylar Borden (Grade 1), also known as 


“Captain A” and “Captain SySy,” are aspiring scientists and future filmmakers. Their love of learning 


leads them to explore and create YouTube videos that showcase their educational adventures.


  student spotlight:
Aiden & Sylar
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


FLVS is a successful 21-year-old organization that has established itself as a leader in online content development and delivery for 


public schools in the Florida education system. As a result of two decades of experience, FLVS holds a unique position in Florida and 


nationally in online education.


FLVS Flex Completion History


Total number of successful semester completions as of June 30, 2018: 3,685,834


FLVS Full Time Completion History


Total number of successful semester completions as of June 30, 2018: 423,074


2017-18											                    420,604


2016-17 											          396,130


2015-16											           394,069


2014-15											           394,712


2013-14										                  377,508


2012-13											                 410,962


2011-12									         314,593


2010-11							                259,928


2009-10						            213,926


2008-09					    154,125


2007-08				    116,035


2006-07			      84,038


2005-06		         56,130


2004-05		  36,679


2003-04	           24,160


2002-03	       12,761


2001-02	      10,050


2000-01     6,382


1999-00	   2,489


1998-99	   476


1997-98	   77


2017-18								                     71,903


2016-17 									            75,202


2015-16									                 77,507


2014-15							                   61,782


2013-14							           56,814


2012-13						               50,969


2011-12				        28,897
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


The school is recognized as the leader in content development and delivery for online courses in grades 6-12 in Florida. To that 


end, FLVS has developed collaborative efforts with all of the school districts in Florida. These efforts have typically extended beyond 


course content as they encompass the entire learning process in partnership with school counselors, administrators, students, 


parents, and instructors.


FLVS offers more than 150 courses and serves students in Kindergarten through 12th grade through three distinct instructional 


programs: FLVS Flex (part time), FLVS Full Time, and FLVS Global School (out of state programs). In the most recent school year, 


FLVS recorded more than 400,000 semester completions for more than 200,000 students and shows steady growth for the future. 


FLVS delivers online curriculum in all 67 Florida school districts and represents approximately five percent of the high school 


semesters completed in the state of Florida.


The strategic plan for 2017-2021 outlines the goals that FLVS will pursue to strengthen its current position as a leading online public 


school district and content provider in Florida. In addition, the plan outlines the next steps for FLVS to achieve its strategic goal of 


being the most innovative top performing online education leader in Florida. This will lead to FLVS becoming a preferred solutions 


partner in the Kindergarten–12 online education market with cutting edge content delivered on a personalized level for each 


student with a focus on results-driven learning outcomes.


The strategic plan is based on achieving four goals that collectively are designed to reposition FLVS as the preferred solutions 


partner in online education for grades Kindergarten–12 in Florida and on a national basis.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


GOAL 1 – COLLABORATE IN LEADING RESEARCH TO ADVANCE ONLINE BASED 
LEARNING OUTCOMES


Online learning as a mode of instruction has approached two decades of use, and it is a growing industry. Given its relatively 


short history, there is general agreement that more research is needed to optimally blend online learning with classroom learning. 


Therefore, the first goal for FLVS is to expand its role locally and nationally regarding research based improvements for student 


learning outcomes associated with online learning methods. In collaboration with leading research partners, FLVS will develop and 


implement a cohesive system, or stream of research, for improving online and blended learning solutions for Florida students that 


will likely impact national programs as well. 


FLVS is already a lead contributor to national standards in online education. Looking forward, it intends to contribute to national 


standards in blended learning education. Research partners will include universities and industry partners in technology, content 


development, and standards creation. The initial research areas are blended learning and adaptive learning. Blended learning brings 


in-classroom learning and online learning together for an optimal learning environment for students. Adaptive learning invokes the 


goal of supporting the instructor in adjusting the rate and type of content the student engages in during his/her course of learning. 


This research approach has been identified as a way to identify content and delivery improvements that lead to results-driven 


outcomes in student’s rate of learning, course completion rates, and increased involvement with teachers in the school districts.


GOAL 2 – STRENGTHEN CORE PROGRAMS


FLVS will focus on strengthening core programs by expanding the Flex offerings to include elementary course offerings, a Spanish 


elementary elective offering, and by increasing the market share of homeschool students. Working with these populations will 


provide a continuum of educational solutions for all Florida families and strengthen the relationships with district schools.


In the Full Time program, online content was previously developed and delivered via a third party agreement. FLVS will move 


forward with the development and delivery of this content for grades Kindergarten-5 on its own.


GOAL 3 – EXPAND GLOBAL (OUT-OF-STATE) PARTNERSHIPS


FLVS will focus Global programs to increase its national presence in select ways through the selective partnering with other state 


school districts that invite FLVS to join them in the development of their online content. FLVS will repurpose existing products that 


are a good fit with new opportunities.


Expanding Global partnerships will allow FLVS to generate additional funding to invest in content development and forward-


thinking technology initiatives like the technology to develop a platform for personalized learning solutions.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


GOAL 4 – DEVELOP A PLATFORM FOR LEARNING SOLUTIONS FOR STUDENTS, 
INSTRUCTORS, AND SCHOOL DISTRICTS


Whereas FLVS was a first-mover in online education, it has amassed significant experience and data related to student and 


instructor needs. Technology, in the way of learning management systems, is used to make use of this information. However, the 


technology options available in the industry are increasing in complexity and types and this presents a challenge for all parties 


involved in terms of integrating the disparate pieces together. Rather than use a piecemeal approach, FLVS will collaborate with 


technology partners to develop a learning solutions approach for students, instructors, and school districts.


To accomplish this, FLVS must harvest its unique and significant stores of student learning data, draw upon its long-term expertise 


in online curriculum development, and continue to strengthen its reputation of helping school districts. To this end, FLVS will target 


specific technology driven projects with universities and industry partners to develop and validate best-practices as they relate to 


identifying and implementing ways to significantly improve performance for students in the state of Florida, and thereby establish a 


national presence as a solutions provider. This is an enabling goal to support


goals 1, 2, and 3.


CONCLUSION


The combination and interaction of these four goals implemented over the next five years will position FLVS as a preferred solutions 


provider in online education for grades Kindergarten–12 in Florida and nationwide.


The development of this plan was guided by the FLVS Board of Trustees and facilitated by Management Insights in collaboration 


with FLVS leadership team and staff members. Florida Virtual School operations under the guidance of a Board of Trustees 


consisting of seven members appointed by the Governor. The FLVS Board Chair is Mr. Robert Gidel Sr. Additional Board members 


include: Ms. Iris Gonzalez, Ms. Linda Pellegrini, Mr. Robert Saltsman, and Dr. Dhyana Ziegler.


Extensive feedback from students, instructors, and school counselors was analyzed to determine the critical next steps for 


programs, content, and technology infrastructure investments that are found within the plan.
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ORGANIZATIONAL GOAL


FLVS will continue to be recognized as a leader in online education and across all of Kindergarten–12th grade education.


EDUCATIONAL COMMUNITY: GOAL 1


Seek opportunities to share best practices through all levels of the organization.


Florida Virtual School developed a cross-organizational marketing plan to communicate what we have learned, as well as best 


practices, to national, state, and regional stakeholders. The tactical communication initiatives that were executed in the 2017-18 


school year are outlined below.


MARKETING PLAN 2017-18


NATIONAL LEVEL


1.	 Teaching and Professional Development Best Practices
•• Virtual Leadership Training: Two-day workshop that 


addresses:
- Hiring and staffing
- Funding and budget
- Data and performance management
- Student recruiting and retention
- Marketing your program 


•• Professional Learning Course Catalog: Live webinar sessions 
and book talks for teachers/administrators everywhere


2.	 Emerging Technology Opportunities
•• Course tours
•• Mobile learning demonstrations


3.	 Thought Leadership: National Conference Presence
•• United States Distance Learning Association (USDLA)
•• EdTECH
•• Consortium of School Networking (COSN)
•• EdVoice Symposium
•• Southeast Regional Education Board (SREB)
•• Sloan Consortium
•• Learning Impact
•• Specialist Schools and Academic Trust (SSAT)
•• Program of Education Policy and Governance (PEPG)
•• Australasian Association of Distance Education Schools (AADES)
•• International Association for K-12 Online Learning (iNACOL) 


Symposium
•• National Association of Independent Schools (NAIS)
•• Excel in Education National Summit
•• ASU + GSV Summit
•• National School Board Association (NSBA)
•• D2L Fusion
•• Blackboard World
•• Canvas InstructureCon
•• International Society for Technology in Education (ISTE)
•• Future of Education Technology Conference (FETC)


4.	 Community Relations
•• �Press releases to share student and program success


STATE LEVEL


1.	 Thought Leadership: State and Regional 
Conference Presence
•• Florida Parent Educators Association (FPEA) 


Conference
•• Florida School Board Association (FSBA) 


Conferences
•• DCF Summit
•• The State University System Tour
•• Florida Charter School Conference
•• Florida Press Association Conference
•• Florida Distance Learning Association
•• All About Girls Summit (PACE Center for Girls)
•• NEFEC Summer Leadership Conference


2.	 Statewide Conferences
•• Florida Parent Educators Association (FPEA) 


Conference
•• Home Education Resources and Information (HERI) 


Conference
•• Florida District Virtual Instruction Program Network 


Symposium (FLDVIP)
•• The Child Protection Summit 


3.	 District Relations Manager Visits


4.	 School Counselor Presentations
•• Regional level
•• District and school level


5.	 Franchise Leadership and Teacher Training 
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MARKETING PLAN 2017-18


EDUCATIONAL COMMUNITY: GOAL 2


Partner with Florida districts and schools to provide virtual education solutions to students.


In the spirit of innovation, Florida Virtual School built online solutions, communication vehicles, and strategies for passing our 


knowledge on to our district and school stakeholders in the 2017-18 school year. With our customized solutions, education was 


enhanced for students through the following initiatives.


DISTRICTS


1.	 Yearly visits with all of the districts to assess needs 
and provide solutions


2.	 Regular communications to district contacts


3.	 Present at District Guidance meetings


SCHOOLS


1.	 Provide facilitator training for Digital Learning Labs 
and conduct follow up visits


2.	 District Relations Managers provide customized and 
frequent School Counselor customer service based 
on specific school needs


3.	 Summer Options


4.	 Virtual Events


5.	 Private school conferences held around the state to 
educate schools about FLVS


6.	 Provide an online Counselor Resource Center to 
assist School Counselors and Administrators
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LEARNER COMMUNITY: GOAL 1


Reach out to the learner community and inform them of virtual education.


In order to reach organizational goals, strategies were developed to reach our target markets, which were identified as learners of 


all ages, students, and the general public. The tactical communication initiatives that were executed in the 2017-18 school year are 


outlined below.


OF ALL AGES


1.	 Community Organization Outreach: District 
Relations Managers encourage the community to 
share virtual education success by keeping the public 
informed through presentations at:
•• Chamber of Commerce events 
•• Treatment Centers
•• Children’s Hospitals
•• Teen Mothers Organization
•• Targeted Sports Leagues
•• Boys & Girls Clubs
•• Homeschool Organizations


2.	 Community Event Outreach
•• Community festivals
•• Community back-to-school events
•• Library staff education visits


3.	 Marketing & Communications
•• Press releases to share student and district success
•• Print advertising in community programs and publications
•• Radio and television interviews
•• Social media channels


KINDERGARTEN–GRADE 12 STUDENTS


1.	 Student Activities
•• Spirit Week
•• Career Day
•• Field Trips
•• F2F Meetups
•• Student ambassador opportunities
•• Literacy Week celebrations
•• Student History Fair
•• Hispanic Heritage Festival
•• Shakespeare Festival
•• Virtual Open House
•• WorldFest
•• Student Literacy Magazine


2.	 Student Clubs
	 Kindergarten–Grade 5


•• American Sign Language
•• Book Club Friday
•• Cheerleading Club
•• Chess Club


	 Student Clubs (continued)
	 Kindergarten–Grade 5


•• Coding Club
•• Kids of Character Club
•• National Elementary Honor Society
•• Newspaper and Photography Club
•• Robotics Club
•• Spanish Club
•• STEAM Club
•• TV Production


	 Grades 6–12
•• Newspaper Club
•• Future Business Leaders of America
•• History Club
•• International Club
•• Latin Club
•• Science Club
•• National English Honors Society
•• Model UN Club
•• Beta Delta Sigma Math Club
•• Creative Writing Club
•• Fine Arts Club
•• FLVS Peer Tutors
•• FLVS Yearbook
•• Spanish Honor Society
•• Chess Club
•• French Honor Society
•• Speech and Debate
•• STEM/Science Club
•• Technology Club
•• Teen Driving
•• Video Production Club
•• Virtual Science Fair


3.	 Student Success Outreach 
•• Student-focused website initiatives
•• Tips geared towards student success
•• Homeschool Hub: information and resources
•• Student Resource Center
•• Student career webinars
•• New Student Orientation


4.	 Student Conferences
•• Key Club
•• Future Business Leaders of America


MARKETING PLAN 2017-18
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FLVS GLOBAL OVERVIEW


In the 2000 legislative session, the state of Florida created a separate division within Florida Virtual School called Florida Virtual 


Global Services, commonly referred to as FLVS Global. It was stipulated that revenues would be reinvested into research and 


development to maintain the highest quality courses available for students both inside and outside the state of Florida.


FLVS Global is a steadily growing provider of virtual educational solutions for 50 states and more than 65 countries. By bringing 


online education products to market that otherwise may not be readily available to students, FLVS Global provides more choice and 


opportunities for success to students around the world. Additionally, FLVS Global regularly exposes the FLVS brand, culture, and 


product line to schools, educators, students, and businesses that might not otherwise encounter online education options. 


The driving mission of FLVS Global is to provide the best virtual and blended education solutions and services with a focus on 


high customer satisfaction. Evidenced in course development, professional training, technology deployment, and student and 


parent outreach, the products and services of FLVS Global are one way that FLVS continues to be a thought leader worldwide. 


Over the last 18 years, FLVS Global has licensed content, provided training, and shared expertise that has led to the implementation 


of some of the most successful online and blended programs currently in operation at the school, district, and state levels. 


The products and services of FLVS Global were, and continue to be, developed using insights gleaned from the many inquiries 


received from those interested in implementing an online or blended program. The following products currently offered are a 


reflection of the worldwide thought leadership generated by FLVS:


•• Global School – FLVS Global School engages students throughout the United States and across the world. Clients gain access 


to our entire catalog with no minimum enrollment purchase required, have access to our trained teachers, and participate in 


student programs. This program is modeled after the FLVS Flex program.


•• Course Licensing – A variety of licensing options are available in multiple models. Additionally, course content may be 


delivered to the client’s Learning Management System (LMS) or the client may access content on the FLVS Global hosted 


platform.


•• Virtual Leadership Training – This two-day intensive training provides administrators and online leaders an opportunity to learn 


from a veteran and experienced team at FLVS. The training fosters international collaboration that assists clients in developing 


high quality, effective blended and online programs.


•• Professional Development – FLVS Global offers an assortment of professional development opportunities for teachers 


including basic “teaching online” facilitated courses, customized training programs, webinars, and individual course guides. We 


also provide custom training for administrators and staff.
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In 2017-2018, FLVS Global School served 3,483 students and offered 118 courses made up of AP titles, NCAA-approved core 


courses, credit recovery courses and electives for middle and high school students. Students from 50 states, the District of 


Columbia, and more than 65 countries and U.S. territories were active and are reflected in Global School’s 5,196 successful 


completions.


As an accredited public school, each Global School instructor possesses state certification(s) and teaches within the field he or she 


is certified.  Many states have specific certification requirements, which are under constant review by FLVS Global staff to ensure we 


meet the state’s requirements prior to accepting a client’s students for enrollment in Global School.


FLVS Global School Completion History


Total number of successful semester completions as of June 30, 2018: 38,743


2017-18 							                	       5,196


2016-17 							                   4,816


2015-16								          5,041


2014-15								            5,146


2013-14							                   4,804


2012-13							         4,292


2011-12						             3,800


2010-11				        2,218


2009-10			           1,741


2008-09			          1,689


GLOBAL SCHOOL
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FLVS Global serves both national and international clients, including public schools and districts, private schools, parochial schools, 


and state departments of education. We also work with national and international students and parents interested in taking courses 


through FLVS Global School. 


Potential clients are reached through multiple channels including national and regional conferences, targeted marketing campaigns, 


customer and partner referrals, and direct contact by FLVS Global’ s sales and business development teams. FLVS emphasizes 


customer service and strives for high customer satisfaction, which brings both repeat business and new clients to the door. 


FLVS Global’s major target market has shifted from the state-wide virtual program to the local school district. In order to better 


penetrate this local-level market, marketing highlights the specific benefits and positive effects school districts realize from using 


FLVS products and services. For example, school districts can: 


•• Use high-quality products in virtual and blended environments.


•• Offer high-quality curriculum offerings.


•• Maintain school budgets.


•• Solve for staffing issues.


•• Expand course offerings, including AP/Honors and electives. 


•• Run hospital-homebound programs.


•• Increase graduation rates, decrease drop-out rates, and provide acceleration opportunities.


•• Garner parent support by providing creative solutions to schedule conflicts.


FLVS Global is supported by one marketing team member designated to Global efforts, while also having access to assistance from 


the enterprise-wide marketing team for larger projects. The Global marketing team supports the sales and business development 


teams in growing the FLVS presence in the digital and blended learning marketplace across the globe and around the world. 


Marketing works to drive revenue and profit through a multi-dimensional effort that emphasizes the key differentiators that set FLVS 


apart from the competition.


The following strategic goals guide the marketing spend for conference and event marketing, client testimonial creation, B2B-


specific print collateral, targeted digital marketing, and strategic joint marketing campaigns with key learning platform partners.


•• Create a cohesive FLVS brand that capitalizes on existing brand equity and positions the organization for long-term B2B sales growth.


•• Create a unique market space based around initial credits and student-teacher engagement.


•• Promote student success by emphasizing the rigor of FLVS digital curriculum and robust assessments that are designed to provide 


college and career readiness in a way that encourages schools and districts to select FLVS courses over less thorough options.


There is a distinct value in FLVS Global’s connection to the FLVS brand and, over the past few years, we’ve learned more about 


the importance in recognizing the differences in the needs of the primary audiences for each sector. A few years ago, the FLVS 


web presence was assessed, re-platformed, and redesigned to encompass a ONE FLVS brand, but we’ve since recognized that the 


standalone Global website should still exist to provide a better user experience for schools and districts outside the state of Florida 


seeking digital curriculum and education technology solutions.


To support the sales team’s focus on recurring sales models, marketing created and maintains a set of standardized key messages 


that speak to the strength of FLVS curriculum and the breadth of options available. It also maintains a core sales presentation that 


enables the sales team to better explain the value proposition of FLVS and enhance engagement with prospects. All messaging 


reflects that FLVS is structured and operated primarily as a school and that the organization seeks to empower, not replace, 


teachers with technology. We will continue to focus on the messaging that FLVS places the “student at the center of every decision 


we make” and use student data from Florida operations to support our claims of offering a superior curriculum product. 


The marketing team continues to develop content that reinforces our LMS optimized strategy, which is designed to maximize 


client investment and generate productive partnerships with learning platform companies. The FLVS marketing team assesses 


opportunities to engage in strategic joint marketing campaigns with key LMS partners to provide mutually beneficial returns.


GLOBAL MARKETING PLAN
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EFFICIENT OPERATIONS: 
GLOBAL UNIT COST RECOMMENDATIONS


RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING THE UNIT COST OF PROVIDING SERVICES TO 
OUT-OF-STATE STUDENTS


In order to meet departmental profit goals, it is imperative to accurately identify the cost of the program. The identified cost 


of the program must be based on reliable data.


FLVS Global must balance its profit objectives with the costs inherent in providing a high quality, high touch product 


such as FLVS Global School while also taking into account competitor pricing and what the market will bear. FLVS Global 


continuously reviews its per unit pricing and costs to determine whether it is meeting profit objectives and returning that 


profit to FLVS.


As seen in the following table, FLVS Global was successful in its endeavor to provide a profit back to FLVS.


FLVS GLOBAL SCHOOL COST PER FTE ENROLLMENTS 2017-18


FLVS GLOBAL TUITION RATE COMPARISONS


TOTAL GLOBAL SCHOOL
PROFIT PER FTE  
2017-18 $973.65


6,788  Billable Enrollments (.5)   565.67	 FTE Enrollment  
	 (Billable Enrollments/12) 


      $401	Average Price per Enrollment


 $3,771.15	Cost Per FTE  
	 (Cost per .5 enrollment*12)


$4,774.80	Average Price Per FTE  
	 (Average. price per .5 enrollment*12)


*In 2013, the FEFP formula was modified such that while students may earn more than one FTE (Full-time Equivalent) per scholastic year, the providers of the services 


(school districts, lab schools, and FLVS) are limited to one FTE on a shared basis.  FLVS saves the state and additional 12.4% for successful completions due to the effects of 


the 1.0 FTE sharing formula, resulting in actual funding per 12 successful semester course completions of $4,599.13. 


**Final Calculation of FY 2017-18, Florida Education Finance Program


Average Revenue per FLVS Flex 
Completed Enrollment


Average Revenue per FLVS Flex 
Completed Enrollment


Average Revenue per FLVS Global 
School Billable Enrollment


Average Revenue per FLVS Global 
School Billable Enrollment


$386 $382
$401 $398


2017-18 2016-17
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SURVEY HIGHLIGHTS


FLVS GLOBAL CUSTOMER SATISFACTION SURVEY RESULTS 2017-18


FLVS Global sends out customer satisfaction surveys on a monthly basis to customers that recently purchased products or services. 


The survey gauges customer satisfaction around product delivery as well as the quality of the product as a whole. The survey 


requests additional information such as the type of support the customer used during the implementation of the product. It also 


elicits feedback about what FLVS Global can do di�erently to improve the entire process from purchase to delivery to on-going 


customer support.


Overall Satisfaction


57%
Very Satisfied


29%
Satisfied


14%
Not Very 
Satisfied
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
Chairman and Members of 
The Florida Virtual School 
Orlando, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of The Florida Virtual School 
(the “School”) as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial statements, as listed in the table of 
contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the School’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evalu-
ating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
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Chairman and Members of
The Florida Virtual School


INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Concluded)


Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to in the first paragraph present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the School as of June 30, 2018, and the 
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, for the fiscal year then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.


Emphasis-of-Matter – Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in the year ended June 30, 2018, the School adopted the 
provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement (“GASBS”) 75, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions. As a result of the implementation 
of GASBS 75, the School reported a restatement for the change in accounting principle as of July 1, 2017.
Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter.


Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information


Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, budgetary comparison for the General Fund, OPEB Schedule, and Pension Plan 
Schedules and Notes, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance.


Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 22, 2019,
on our consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance.


MOORE STEPHENS LOVELACE, P.A.
Certified Public Accountants


Orlando, Florida
January 22, 2019







THE FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 


For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 


The management of The Florida Virtual School (the “School”) has prepared the following discussion and 
analysis to (a) assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues; (b) provide an overview and 
analysis of the School’s financial activities; (c) identify changes in the School’s financial position; (d) 
identify material deviations from the approved budget; and (e) highlight significant issues in individual 
funds for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 


Because the information contained in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is intended to 
highlight significant transactions, events and conditions, it should be considered in conjunction with the 
School’s financial statements and notes to the financial statements. 


FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 


Key financial highlights for the 2017-2018 fiscal year are as follows: 


 In total, net position increased $2,145,079 during the 2017-18 fiscal year.


 The School’s total assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by
$10,111,745 at the end of the fiscal year.  Of this amount, $21,687,671 represents investments in
capital assets, and negative $14,968,440 represents unrestricted net position.


 Total revenues of $222,225,748 were comprised of revenues generated from governmental
activities in the amount of $197,762,939 and $24,462,809 generated from business-type
activities.


 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the School’s governmental funds reported an ending
fund balance of $55,735,379.  This is an increase of $5,318,494 in comparison with the prior year.


 The unassigned fund balance in the General Fund, representing the net current financial resources 
available for general appropriation by the Board, totals $49,011,555 at June 30, 2018, or 25
percent of total General Fund revenues.


OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


The School's basic financial statements are comprised of three components:   


 Government-wide financial statements.


 Fund financial statements.


 Notes to the financial statements.


In addition, this report also includes supplementary information intended to furnish additional details to 
support the basic financial statements. 
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Government-Wide Financial Statements 


The government-wide financial statements (or school-wide financial statements) provide both short-term 
and long-term information about the School’s overall financial condition in a manner similar to a private-
sector business.  The statements include a statement of net position and a statement of activities that are 
designed to provide consolidated financial information about the activities of the primary government 
presented on the accrual basis of accounting.  The statement of net position presents information about 
the School's financial position, its assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows of resources, using an 
economic resources measurement focus.  Assets plus deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources, equals net position, which is a measure of the School’s financial health.  The 
statement of activities presents information about the change in the School’s net position, the results of 
operations during the fiscal year.   


The government-wide statements present the School’s activities in two categories: 


 Governmental activities – This represents most of the School’s services including its educational 
programs.  Support functions such as curriculum, technology and administration are also included.  
The State’s education finance program provides most of the resources that support these 
activities. 


 Business-type activities – This consists of the School’s FLVS global division and the Florida 
franchises, which includes functions that are intended to recover all of their costs through user 
fees and charges for services. 


Fund Financial Statements  


Fund financial statements are one of the components of the basic financial statements.  A fund is a 
grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated 
for specific activities or objectives.  The School uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements and prudent fiscal management.  Fund financial 
statements provide more detailed information about the School’s financial activities, focusing on its most 
significant or “major” funds rather than fund types.  This is in contrast to the entity-wide perspective 
contained in the government-wide statements. 


All of the funds of the School can be divided into two categories:  


 Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, the 
governmental funds utilize a spendable financial resources measurement focus rather than the 
economic resources measurement focus found in the government-wide financial statements.  The 
financial resources measurement focus allows the governmental fund statements to provide 
information on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources as well as balances of 
spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.   


Because the focus of the governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide 
financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for the governmental 
funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide 
financial statements.  By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the 
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government’s near-term financing decisions.  Both the governmental funds balance sheet and the 
governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide 
a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental 
activities.   


The School adopts an annual appropriations budget for its governmental funds.  A budgetary 
comparison schedule has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with 
this budget. 


 Proprietary Funds – Proprietary funds may be established to account for activities in which a fee 
is charged for services.  Two types of proprietary funds are maintained. 


• Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions as business-type activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. The School uses the enterprise fund to account for its 
FLVS global and Florida franchises divisions. 


• Internal service funds are used to report activities that provide goods and services to support 
the School’s other programs and functions through user charges.  The School uses the internal 
service fund to account for its health insurance and course development activities. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 


Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position.  The following 
is a summary of the School’s net position as of June 30, 2017, and June 30, 2018:   


6-30-18 6-30-17 6-30-18 6-30-17 6-30-18 6-30-17


Current Assets 89,318,454$   82,475,449$   10,615,116$   10,407,054$   99,933,570$   92,882,503$   


Capital Assets 21,641,303      11,299,105      46,368             642,316           21,687,671      11,941,421      


Total Assets 110,959,757   93,774,554      10,661,484      11,049,370      121,621,241   104,823,924   


Deferred outflows of Resources 46,219,258      34,025,556      1,934,380        1,417,732        48,153,638      35,443,288      


Other Liabilities 13,806,874      16,330,320      3,282,709        922,509           17,089,583      17,252,829      


Long-Term Liabilities 126,567,771   105,684,107   6,489,502        5,727,771        133,057,273   111,411,878   


Total Liabilities 140,374,645   122,014,427   9,772,211        6,650,280        150,146,856   128,664,707   


Deferred inflows of Resources 9,135,627        3,490,404        380,651           145,435           9,516,278        3,635,839        


Net Position:


Invested in Capital Assets 21,641,303      11,299,105      46,368             642,316           21,687,671      11,941,421      


Restricted for State Categoricals 3,392,514        3,427,270        -                        -                        3,392,514        3,427,270        


Unrestricted (Deficit) (17,365,074)    (12,431,096)    2,396,634        5,029,071        (14,968,440)    (7,402,025)       


Total Net Position 7,668,743$      2,295,279$      2,443,002$      5,671,387$      10,111,745$   7,966,666$      


Net Position, End of Year


Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total


 


In the case of the School’s total governmental and business-type activities, assets and deferred outflows 
exceed liabilities and deferred inflows by $10,111,745 at the end of the fiscal year. 


The deficit unrestricted net position of ($14,968,440) is a direct result of the long-term pension liability in 
the amount of $103,145,348. The pension liability represents the School’s proportionate share of the net 
pension liability of the Florida Retirement System (FRS) plan and the Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy 
(HIS) plan. Though this long-term liability is now required to be reported on the School’s financial 
statements due to the new GASB requirement, it is important to note that the School pays the full amount 
of its State required retirement contribution each year, which includes an assessment to fund the State’s 
actuarially unfunded liability. 
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The following is a summary of the School’s changes in net position for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 
and June 30, 2018, as follows: 


6-30-18 6-30-17 6-30-18 6-30-17 6-30-18 6-30-17


Program Revenues


   Charges for Services -$                        -$                      24,459,366$       22,543,832$       24,459,366$   22,543,832$   


General Revenues:


   Grants and Contributions Not Restricted


       to Specific Programs 183,932,692      173,213,450   -                            -                            183,932,692   173,213,450   


   Virtual Learning Labs 8,409,578          9,014,763        -                            -                            8,409,578        9,014,763        


   Miscellaenous Local 4,683,588          5,374,192        -                            -                            4,683,588        5,374,192        


   Unrestricted Investment Earnings 737,081              420,692           3,443                   3,173                   740,524           423,865           


   Total Revenues 197,762,939      188,023,097   24,462,809         22,547,005         222,225,748   210,570,102   


Functions/Program Expenses:


   Instruction 143,018,383      134,951,192   -                            -                            143,018,383   134,951,192   


   Pupil Personnel Services 6,668,809          6,362,199        -                            -                            6,668,809        6,362,199        


   Instruction & Curriculum Dev Svcs 423,904              489,658           -                            -                            423,904           489,658           


   Instructional Staff Training Services 2,767,804          2,902,879        -                            -                            2,767,804        2,902,879        


   Instructional Related Technology 9,033,546          8,139,775        -                            -                            9,033,546        8,139,775        


   Board 1,943,348          1,376,682        -                            -                            1,943,348        1,376,682        


   General Administration 1,467,346          1,789,648        -                            -                            1,467,346        1,789,648        


   School Administration 8,242,881          6,741,883        -                            -                            8,242,881        6,741,883        


   Fiscal Services 2,519,318          2,191,077        -                            -                            2,519,318        2,191,077        


   Central Services 11,230,868        10,684,002     -                            -                            11,230,868     10,684,002     


   Operation of Plant 2,243,813          2,045,789        -                            -                            2,243,813        2,045,789        


   Administrative Technology Services 8,759,733          9,917,576        -                            -                            8,759,733        9,917,576        


   Community Services 155,203              160,078           -                            -                            155,203           160,078           


   FLVS Global/Franchises Expenses -                           -                        16,928,953         17,013,156         16,928,953     17,013,156     


   Total Expenses 198,474,956      187,752,438   16,928,953         17,013,156         215,403,909   204,765,594   


Excess (deficiency) of revenue over


   (under) expenses (712,017)            270,659           7,533,856            5,533,849            6,821,839        5,804,508        


Other financial sources (uses)


   Transfers In 10,575,172        6,709,666        -                            -                            10,575,172     6,709,666        


   Transfers Out -                           -                        (10,575,172)        (6,709,666)          (10,575,172)    (6,709,666)      


   Total other financial sources (uses) 10,575,172        6,709,666        (10,575,172)        (6,709,666)          -                        -                        


Change in net position 9,863,155          6,980,325        (3,041,316)          (1,175,817)          6,821,839        5,804,508        


Net Position, beginning, restated (2,194,412)         (4,685,046)      5,484,318            6,847,204            3,289,906        2,162,158        


Net Position, ending 7,668,743$        2,295,279$     2,443,002$         5,671,387$         10,111,745$   7,966,666$     


Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total


 


The largest revenue source is the State of Florida (83 percent).  Revenues from State sources for current 
operations are primarily received through the Florida Education Finance Program (FEFP) funding formula.  
Included in the FEFP funds is revenue the School receives for both part-time and full-time programs.  The 
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F E F P  f o r m u l a  u t i l i z e s  s t u d e n t  e n r o l l m e n t  d a t a ,  a n d  i s  d e s i g n e d  t o  m a i n t a i n  e q u i t y  i n  f u n d i n g  a c r o s s  a l l  
F l o r i d a  s c h o o l  d i s t r i c t s .   T h e  F l o r i d a  V i r t u a l  S c h o o l  i s  a  u n i q u e  m e m b e r  o f  t h e  F E F P  i n  t h a t  r e v e n u e s  a r e  
o n l y  e a r n e d  f o r  s t u d e n t s  t h a t  s u c c e s s f u l l y  c o m p l e t e  a  c o u r s e .  
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL’S FUNDS 


Governmental Funds 


The focus of the School’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, 
and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the School’s financing 
requirements.  Specifically, unassigned fund balances may serve as a useful measure of the government’s 
net resources available for discretionary use as it represents the portion of fund balance that has not been 
limited to a particular purpose by an external party, the School, or a group or individual delegated 
authority by the Board to assign resources for particular purposes. 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the School.  At the end of the current fiscal year, 
unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $49,011,555. The total unassigned fund balance 
represents 25 percent of total General Fund revenues, which increased over last year’s unassigned fund 
balance of $40,098,528 or 22 percent of total General Fund revenues. It is necessary for the School to 
maintain a fund balance which is higher than what is normally expected of many other Governmental 
agencies in order to (1) have funds available to periodically improve its products and services through 
capital investment, since the School is not authorized to borrow funds; (2) have adequate reserves 
available to cover the effects of potential State funding cuts, potential unanticipated enrollment or course 
completion reductions (Florida Virtual School is a choice school funded through successful student course 
completions), and  unanticipated effects of the Florida 1.0 FTE sharing formula (funding per student varies 
based upon the proportionate share of courses taken with the School compared to other public schools 
in the State). 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 


The actual General Fund revenues were higher than the adjusted budgeted revenues by $1,324,775 due 
to the increase in state sources and other local revenues.   The actual General Fund expenditures were 
less than the adjusted budgeted appropriations by $19,325,461 due to several unfilled job opportunities 
as well as various other budgetary accounts that were not fully expended.  Included in the unexpended 
balance are outstanding purchasing commitments of $1,621,822, restricted categorical programs of 
$3,392,514, and re-budgeted programs of $1,709,488. 


CAPITAL ASSET ADMINISTRATION 


Capital Assets 


The School’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activities as of June 30, 2018, amounts to 
$21,687,671 (net of accumulated depreciation).  The School’s investment in capital assets includes 
furniture, fixtures and equipment; computer software and courses; and a learning management system.  
Development in progress for elementary courses amounts to $11,287,038.  The newly developed 
elementary content will be offered beginning July 1, 2018.   The total increase in the School’s investment 
in capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) for the current fiscal year was $9,746,249.  
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OTHER MATTERS 


For fiscal year 2019, the Board of Trustees adopted a budget for the General Fund appropriations of 
approximately $197,047,142, including certain non-recurring costs.  Revenues for fiscal year 2019 is 
expected to be approximately $194,403,322.  To ensure adequate fund balance is available for financial 
emergencies, the School has reserved approximately 8% of state and virtual learning lab revenues. 


REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 


This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the School’s finances for all those with 
an interest in the government's finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this 
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to Kimberly Poling 
(kpoling@flvs.net), Executive Director, Financial & Treasury Services or John Pavelchak, 
(jpavelchak@flvs.net), Senior Executive Director of Finance, The Florida Virtual School, 2145 MetroCenter 
Blvd, Suite 100, Orlando, Florida, 32835. 
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 Governmental 
Activities 


Business-type 
Activities Total


ASSETS
     Cash 38,454,583$      4,960,866$        43,415,449$      


     Investments 42,312,971        -                        42,312,971        


     Accounts Receivable, net 7,284,880          5,654,250          12,939,130        


     Due from Other Agencies 1,266,020          -                        1,266,020          


     Capital Assets:


          Depreciable, net 21,641,303        46,368              21,687,671        


               Total Assets 110,959,757      10,661,484        121,621,241      


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
    Other Postemployment Benefits 138,824             5,785                144,609             


     Pensions 46,080,434        1,928,595          48,009,029        


               Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 46,219,258        1,934,380          48,153,638        


LIABILITIES
     Wages and Benefits Payable 5,075,670          458,447             5,534,117          


     Accounts Payable 8,583,725          506,182             9,089,907          


     Due to Other Agencies 16,695              -                        16,695              


     Unearned Revenue 130,784             2,318,080          2,448,864          


     Long-Term Liabilities:


          Portion Due and Payable Within One Year:


            Liability for Compensated Absences 1,389,755          54,635              1,444,390          


            Estimated Insurance Claims Payable 1,180,295          -                        1,180,295          


          Portion Due and Payable After One Year:


            Liability for Compensated Absences 11,665,364        578,863             12,244,227        


            Liability for Other Post Employment Benefits 14,441,294        601,719             15,043,013        


            Liability for Florida Retirement Pension & Health Subsidy 97,891,063        5,254,285          103,145,348      


               Total Liabilities 140,374,645      9,772,211          150,146,856      


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
     Other Postemployment Benefits 1,817,231          75,718              1,892,949          


     Pensions 7,318,396          304,933             7,623,329          


               Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 9,135,627          380,651             9,516,278          


NET POSITION
     Investment in Capital Assets 21,641,303        46,368              21,687,671        


     Restricted for State Categoricals 3,392,514          -                        3,392,514          


     Unrestricted (17,365,074)      2,396,634          (14,968,440)      


               Total Net Position 7,668,743$        2,443,002$        10,111,745$      


The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


Primary Government


The Florida Virtual School
Statement of Net Position


June 30, 2018
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Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type


FUNCTIONS/ PROGRAMS Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Governmental Activities:
  Instruction 143,018,383$      -$                         -$                         -$                         (143,018,383)$      -$                   (143,018,383)$     
  Pupil Personnel Services 6,668,809            -                           -                           -                           (6,668,809)            -                     (6,668,809)           
  Instruction and Curriculum Development Services 423,904               -                           -                           -                           (423,904)                -                     (423,904)              
  Instructional Staff Training Services 2,767,804            -                           -                           -                           (2,767,804)            -                     (2,767,804)           
  Instructional Related Technology 9,033,546            -                           -                           -                           (9,033,546)            -                     (9,033,546)           
  Board 1,943,348            -                           -                           -                           (1,943,348)            -                     (1,943,348)           
  General Administration 1,467,346            -                           -                           -                           (1,467,346)            -                     (1,467,346)           
  School Administration 8,242,881            -                           -                           -                           (8,242,881)            -                     (8,242,881)           
  Fiscal Services 2,519,318            -                           -                           -                           (2,519,318)            -                     (2,519,318)           
  Central Services 11,230,868          -                           -                           -                           (11,230,868)          -                     (11,230,868)         
  Operation of Plant 2,243,813            -                           -                           -                           (2,243,813)            -                     (2,243,813)           
  Administrative Technology Services 8,759,733            -                           -                           -                           (8,759,733)            -                     (8,759,733)           
  Community Service 155,203               -                           -                           -                           (155,203)                (155,203)              


    Total Governmental Activities 198,474,956        -                           -                           -                           (198,474,956)        -                     (198,474,956)       
Business-type Activities:
FLVS Global & Franchises 16,928,953          24,459,366          -                           -                           -                             7,530,413      7,530,413            


Total Primary Government 215,403,909$      24,459,366$        -$                     -$                     (198,474,956)        7,530,413      (190,944,543)       


General Revenues:
     Grants and Contributions not Restricted to Specific Programs 183,932,692          -                     183,932,692        
     Virtual Learning Labs 8,409,578              -                     8,409,578            
     Miscellaneous Local 4,683,588              -                     4,683,588            
     Unrestricted Investment Earnings 737,081                 3,443             740,524               
Transfers In (Out) 10,575,172            (10,575,172)   -                           


  Total General Revenues and Transfers 208,338,111          (10,571,729)   197,766,382        


Change in Net Position 9,863,155              (3,041,316)     6,821,839            
Net Position Beginning 2,295,279              5,671,387      7,966,666            
Adjustment to Net Position (4,489,691)            (187,069)        (4,676,760)           
Net Position - Beginning, as Restated (2,194,412)            5,484,318      3,289,906            


Net Position - Ending 7,668,743$            2,443,002$    10,111,745$        


The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


Primary Government


The Florida Virtual School
Statement of Activities


For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018


Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
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Nonmajor Total
Special Governmental


General Fund Revenue Fund Funds
ASSETS
Cash 22,756,805$                  -$                                   22,756,805$                  


Investments 35,123,371                    -                                     35,123,371


Accounts Receivable, net 6,067,338                      -                                     6,067,338


Due from Other Funds 66,935                           -                                     66,935


Due from Other Agencies 965,454                         300,566                         1,266,020


  Total Assets 64,979,903$                  300,566$                       65,280,469$                  


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
Salaries, Benefits, and Payroll Taxes Payable 4,858,441$                    24,671$                         4,883,112$                    


Accounts Payable 4,238,604                      208,960                         4,447,564


Due to Other Funds -                                     66,935                           66,935


Due to Other Agencies 16,695                           -                                     16,695                           


Deferred Revenue 130,784                         -                                     130,784                         


  Total Liabilities 9,244,524                      300,566                         9,545,090                      


Fund Balances:


  Restricted for State Categoricals 3,392,514                      -                                     3,392,514


  Assigned for Encumbrances 1,621,822                      -                                     1,621,822


  Assigned for Re-budget 1,709,488                      -                                     1,709,488


  Unassigned 49,011,555                    -                                     49,011,555


Total Fund Balance 55,735,379                    -                                     55,735,379                    


Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 64,979,903$                  300,566$                       65,280,469$                  


The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


The Florida Virtual School
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds


June 30, 2018
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Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 55,735,379$               


Amounts reported for governmental activities  in the statement of net position are different because:


    Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, used in governmental activities are not
    financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as assets in the governmental funds. 21,641,303                 


    Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of its self-insurance
    program and course development.  The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund are included in 
    governmental activities in the statement of net position.


Total Assets - Internal Service Fund 40,330,982    
Less:  Total Liabilities - Internal Service Fund (5,509,014)     
Less:  Depreciable Assets Reported Above (16,226,064)   18,595,904                 


  Some liabilities, including net pension obligations, OPEB and compensated absences payable, 
  are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.
          Net pension liability (97,891,063)   
          Other Postemployment Benefits Payable (14,441,294)   
          Compensated Absences Payable (13,055,116)   (125,387,473)              


   The deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to other postemployment
   benefits are applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.
          Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 138,824         
          Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB (1,817,231)     (1,678,407)                  


   The deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
   are applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.
          Deferred outflows of resources related to Pensions 46,080,434    
          Deferred inflows of resources related to Pensions (7,318,397)     38,762,037                 


Net Position - Governmental Activities 7,668,743$                 


The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


The Florida Virtual School
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds


Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018
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Nonmajor Total
Special Governmental


General Fund Revenue Fund Funds
REVENUES
Federal Through State Sources:


  Other Federal Through State Sources -$                                   2,190,696$                    2,190,696$                    


    Total Federal Through State -                                     2,190,696                      2,190,696                      


State Sources:


  Florida Education Finance Program 176,476,664                  -                                     176,476,664                  


  Reading Programs 1,483,415                      1,483,415                      


  Other State Sources 3,781,917                      -                                     3,781,917                      


    Total State Sources 181,741,996                  -                                     181,741,996                  


Local Sources:


  Other Local Sources 13,706,778                    -                                     13,706,778                    


    Total Local Sources 13,706,778                    -                                     13,706,778                    


    Total Revenues 195,448,774                  2,190,696                      197,639,470                  


EXPENDITURES
Current:


  Instruction 134,167,775                  1,664,697                      135,832,472                  


  Pupil Personnel Services 6,323,275                      137,713                         6,460,988                      


  Instruction and Curriculum Development Services 197,110                         260,262                         457,372                         


  Instructional Staff Training Services 2,777,460                      61,588                           2,839,048                      


  Instruction Related Technology 8,622,149                      -                                     8,622,149                      


  School Board 1,894,790                      -                                     1,894,790                      


  General Administration 1,392,909                      42,269                           1,435,178                      


  School Administration 7,833,678                      -                                     7,833,678                      


  Fiscal Services 2,415,870                      -                                     2,415,870                      


  Central Services 10,750,462                    24,167                           10,774,629                    


  Operation of Plant 2,169,811                      -                                     2,169,811                      


  Administrative Technology Services 7,904,050                      -                                     7,904,050                      


  Community Services 155,619                         -                                     155,619                         


Capital Outlay:


  Other Capital Outlay 1,525,322                      -                                     1,525,322                      


    Total Expenditures 188,130,280                  2,190,696                      190,320,976                  


Excess of Revenues Over Expenditures 7,318,494                      -                                     7,318,494                      


OTHER FINANCIAL SOURCES (USES)
  Transfers In 3,000,000                      -                                     3,000,000                      


  Transfers Out (5,000,000)                     -                                     (5,000,000)                     


Total Other Financial Sources (Uses) (2,000,000)                     -                                     (2,000,000)                     


Net Change in Fund Balance 5,318,494                      -                                     5,318,494                      


Fund Balance, July 1, 2017 50,416,885                    -                                     50,416,885                    


Fund Balance, June 30, 2018 55,735,379$                  -$                                   55,735,379$                  


The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


The Florida Virtual School
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and


Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 5,318,494$               


Amounts reported for governmental activities  in the statement of activities are different because:


    Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of activities,
    the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation/amortization
    expense.  This is the amount of capital outlay, $13,144,472 less depreciation/amortization expense,
    ($2,802,274) in the current period. 10,342,198


    Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of certain activities, such as insurance
    and course development, to individual funds.  The net revenue of internal service funds is reported with
    governmental activities less depreciable assets reported above.
          Net Revenue 17,767,382            
          Less:  Depreciable Assets Reported Above (16,226,064)           1,541,318


   Governmental funds report district OPEB contributions as expenditures.  However, in the statement
   of activities, the cost of OPEB benefits earned net of employee contributions, as determined through
   an actuarial valuation, is reported as an OPEB expense.
          Decrease in OPEB Liability 601,480                 
          Increase in Deferred Outflow of Resources - OPEB 138,824
          Increase in Deferred Inflows of Resources - OPEB (1,817,231)             (1,076,927)


   Governmental funds report district pension contributions as expenditures.  However, in the statement
   of activities, the cost of pension benefits earned net of employee contributions is reported as an expense
          Increase in Pension Liability (13,557,454)           
          Increase in Deferred Outflow of Resources - Pension 12,054,879
          Increase in Deferred Inflows of Resources - Pension (3,827,992)             (5,330,567)


    In the statement of activities, the cost of compensated absences is measured by the amounts earned
    during the year, while in the governmental funds expenditures are recognized based on the amounts
    actually paid for compensated absences.  This is the net amount of compensated absences earned in 
    excess of the amount paid in the current period. (931,361)


Change in Net Position -  Governmental Activities 9,863,155$               


The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018


The Florida Virtual School
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues,


Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
to the Statement of Activities
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Business-type 
Activities


Business-type 
Activities


Business-type 
Activities


Business-type 
Activities


Governmental 
Activities


FLVS Global Services FLVS Global School Franchises Total Internal Service Fund
ASSETS
  Current Assets


     Cash 318,983$                      2,027,986$                   2,613,897$                   4,960,866$                   15,697,778$                 


     Investments -                                    -                                    7,189,599                     


     Accounts Receivable, net 1,873,504                     135,530                        3,645,216                     5,654,250                     1,217,541                     


  Noncurrent Assets


    Capital Assets:


          Depreciable (net) 46,368                          -                                    -                                    46,368                          16,226,064                   


               Total Assets 2,238,855                     2,163,516                     6,259,113                     10,661,484                   40,330,982                   


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
     Other Postemployment Benefits 2,892                            2,025                            868                               5,785                            -                                    


     Deferred Outflows - FRS and HIS 965,183                        491,374                        472,038                        1,928,595                     -                                    


               Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 968,075                        493,399                        472,906                        1,934,380                     -                                    


LIABILITIES
  Current Liabilities


     Wages and Benefits Payable 401,568                        40,755                          16,124                          458,447                        192,559                        


     Accounts Payable 377,049                        3,623                            125,510                        506,182                        4,136,160                     


     Estimated Insurance Claims Payable -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    1,180,295                     


     Unearned Revenue 901,280                        1,416,800                     -                                    2,318,080                     -                                    


  Long-term Liabilities:


     Portion Due and Payable Within One Year:


          Liability for Compensated Absences 25,230                          22,170                          7,235                            54,635                          -                                    


     Portion Due and Payable After One Year:


          Liability for Compensated Absences 317,025                        158,108                        103,730                        578,863                        -                                    


          Liability for Other Post Employment Benefits 300,860                        210,602                        90,257                          601,719                        -                                    


          Liability for Florida Retirement Pension & Health Subsidy 2,643,956                     1,586,931                     1,023,398                     5,254,285                     -                                    


               Total Liabilities 4,966,968                     3,438,989                     1,366,254                     9,772,211                     5,509,014                     


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
     Other Postemployment Benefits 37,859                          26,501                          11,358                          75,718                          -                                    


     Deferred Inflows - FRS and HIS 152,467                        76,233                          76,233                          304,933                        -                                    


               Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 190,326                        102,734                        87,591                          380,651                        -                                    


NET POSITION
  Invested in Capital Assets 46,368                          -                                    -                                    46,368                          16,226,064                   


     Unrestricted (1,996,732)                    (884,808)                       5,278,174                     2,396,634                     18,595,904                   


          Total Net Position (1,950,364)$                  (884,808)$                     5,278,174$                   2,443,002$                   34,821,968$                 


The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


The Florida Virtual School
Statement of Net Position


Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018
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Business-type 
Activities


Business-type 
Activities


Business-type 
Activities


Business-type 
Activities


Governmental 
Activities


FLVS Global Services FLVS Global School Franchises Total Internal Service Fund


OPERATING REVENUES
  Charges for Sales or Services 8,928,966$                    2,563,325$                    12,967,075$                 24,459,366$                 6,054,038$                    


  Premium Revenues -                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     22,848,657                    


     Total Operating Revenue 8,928,966                      2,563,325                      12,967,075                    24,459,366                    28,902,695                    


OPERATING EXPENSES
  Salaries 2,515,341                      1,304,671                      848,797                         4,668,809                      1,915,794                      


  Employee Benefits 1,005,276                      612,274                         302,580                         1,920,130                      1,937,037                      


  Purchased Services 2,002,076                      142,666                         4,543,417                      6,688,159                      2,427,081                      


  Materials and Supplies 180,418                         3,049                             67,353                           250,820                         1,364                             


  Capital Outlay 22,161                           -                                     -                                     22,161                           14,878                           


  Other Expenses 1,161,308                      268,718                         1,537,369                      2,967,395                      22,144,714                    


  Bad Debt Expense 2,600                             -                                     -                                     2,600                             -                                     


  Unallocated Depreciation/Amortization Expense 595,948                         -                                     -                                     595,948                         235,688                         


    Total Operating Expenses 7,485,128                      2,331,378                      7,299,516                      17,116,022                    28,676,556                    


Operating Income (Loss) 1,443,838                      231,947                         5,667,559                      7,343,344                      226,139                         


NONOPERATING REVENUES
  Interest 3,443                             -                                     -                                     3,443                             123,469                         


Income (Loss) Before Operating Transfers 1,447,281                      231,947                         5,667,559                      7,346,787                      349,608                         


  Transfers In -                                     -                                     -                                     -                                     12,575,172                    


  Transfers Out 4,075,172                      500,000                         6,000,000                      10,575,172                    -                                     


  Change in Net Position (2,627,891)                    (268,053)                       (332,441)                       (3,228,385)                    12,924,780                    


Net Position - July 1, 2017 677,527                         (616,755)                       5,610,615                      5,671,387                      21,897,188                    
Net Position - June 30, 2018 (1,950,364)$                  (884,808)$                     5,278,174$                    2,443,002$                    34,821,968$                 


The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


The Florida Virtual School
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and


Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds


For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018
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Business-type 
Activities


Business-type 
Activities


Business-type 
Activities


Business-type 
Activities


Governmental 
Activities


FLVS Global Services FLVS Global School Franchises Total Internal Service Fund
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
  Receipts from Customers and Users 10,000,942$     3,991,556$     12,335,698$     26,328,196$     29,064,114$     


  Payments to Suppliers of Goods and Services (7,252,215)   (913,266)   (12,234,743)   (20,400,224)   (8,137,483)   


  Payments to Employees (3,121,680)   (1,718,653)   (1,097,935)   (5,938,268)   (8,238,603)   


  Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (372,953)   1,359,637   (996,980)   (10,296)   12,688,028   


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Acquisition of Capital Assets -   -   -   -   (11,619,150)   


  Net Cash Used in Capital and Related Financing Activities -   -   -   -   (11,619,150)   


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
  Interest on Investments 3,443   -   -   3,443   123,469   


  Purchases of Investments -   -   -   -   (115,198)   


  Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 3,443   -   -   3,443   8,271   


Net Change in Cash (369,510)   1,359,637   (996,980)   (6,853)   1,077,149   


  Cash at Beginning of Year 688,493   668,349   3,610,877   4,967,719   14,620,629   
  Cash at End of Year 318,983$     2,027,986$     2,613,897$     4,960,866$     15,697,778$     


Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
  Operating Income 1,443,838$     231,947$     5,667,559$     7,343,344$     226,139$     


Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:


  Amortization Expense 595,947   -   -   595,947   235,688   


  Transfers In -   -   -   -   12,575,172   


  Transfers Out (4,075,172)   (500,000)   (6,000,000)   (10,575,172)   -   


  Changes in Assets and Liabilities:


  Accounts Receivable 405,031   11,432   (631,376)   (214,913)   161,419   


  Deferred Outflows of Resources - Other Postemployment Benefits (2,892)   (2,025)   (868)   (5,785)   -   


  Deferred Outflows of Resources - Pensions (256,315)   (136,942)   (117,606)   (510,863)   -   


  Accounts Payable 191,519   1,168   (86,606)   106,081   (529,896)   


  Salaries and Benefits Payable 227,182   126   (1,505)   225,803   21,951   


  Compensated Absence Payable (54,169)   16,393   8,606   (29,170)   -   


  Unearned Revenue 666,945   1,416,800   - 2,083,745  -   


  Estimated Unpaid Claims for Self Insurance Program -   -   - - (2,445)   


  Other Postemployment Benefits Liability 79,906   101,772   (19,672)   162,006   -   


  Net Pension Liability 287,619   152,591   133,256   573,466   -   


  Deferred Inflows of Resources - Other Postemployment Benefits 37,859   26,501   11,358   75,718   -   


  Deferred Inflows of Resources - Pensions 79,749   39,874   39,874   159,497   -   


Total adjustments (1,816,791)   1,127,690   (6,664,539)   (7,353,640)   12,461,889   


Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (372,953)$          1,359,637$     (996,980)$     (10,296)$     12,688,028$     


The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of this statement.


The Florida Virtual School
Statement of Cash Flows


Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018
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THE FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  


For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 


I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES


A. Description of Government-wide Financial Statements


The government-wide financial statements (i.e. the statement of net position and the statement of
activities) report information on all the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its
component units.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes, intergovernmental 
revenues, and other nonexchange transactions, are reported separately from business-type activities,
which rely on fees charged to external customers for support.  Likewise, the primary government is
reported separately from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government
is financially accountable.  The School has no component units.


The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for
each function or program of The Florida Virtual School’s (School) governmental activities.  Direct
expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department and are
thereby clearly identifiable to a particular function.  Depreciation expense is allocated to the various
functions.


B. Reporting Entity


The Florida Virtual School (the School) was established by an act of the Florida Legislature, as specified
under Title XLVIII, Chapter 1002, Section 1002.37, Florida Statutes, to develop and deliver online and
distance learning education.  The School initiated online activities in August 1997 in partnership with
the School Board of Alachua County and Orange County Public Schools with the name of Florida Online 
High School.  As a result of legislative activity in 2001, the Florida Online High School changed its name
to The Florida Virtual School and ended its partnership with the School Board of Alachua and Orange
County Public Schools.  The Florida Virtual School is a component unit of the State of Florida.


The School is governed by a board of trustees consisting of seven members appointed by the Governor. 
Members have experience working in a variety of fields such as education, business, and government. 
The board of trustees is required to meet a minimum of four times each year. The board members and 
the President who served during the 2017-18 fiscal year are shown below:


Board Member County


Robert Gidel, Sr., Chair Orange
Iris Gonzalez Pinellas
Linda Pellegrini Orange
Robert Saltsman Orange
Lady Dhyana Ziegler, Ph.D. Leon  


Dr. Robert L. Porter, Acting Managing Director
Dr. Jodi Marshall, President, Chief Executive Officer


Criteria for determining if other entities are potential component units of the School which should be 
reported with the School's financial statements are identified and described in the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board's (GASB) Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Standards, Sections 2100 and 2600.  The application of these criteria provides for 
identification of any entities for which the School is financially accountable and other organizations for 
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which the nature and significance of their relationship with the School are such that exclusion would 
cause the School's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.  Based on these criteria, no 
component units are included within the reporting entity of the School. 


C.  Basis of Presentation 


Government-wide Financial Statements - Government-wide financial statements, including the 
statement of net position and the statement of activities, present information about the School as a 
whole.  These statements include the non-fiduciary financial activity of the primary government.  The 
statements distinguish between governmental activities of the School and those that are considered 
business-type activities. 


Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement 
focus.  The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program 
revenues for each function or program of the School's governmental activities and for each segment 
of the business-type activities.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, 
program, or department and are thereby clearly identifiable to a particular function. 


Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program 
and grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of 
a particular program.  Revenues that are not classified as program revenues are presented as general 
revenues. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which 
each governmental function or business segment is self-financing or draws from the general revenues 
of the School. 


The School eliminates from the statement of net position and the statement of activities inter-fund 
transfers and most inter-fund receivables and payables between funds. 


Fund Financial Statements - Fund financial statements report detailed information about the School 
in the governmental and proprietary funds.  The focus of governmental fund financial statements is on 
major funds rather than reporting funds by type.  Because the focus of governmental fund financial 
statements differs from the focus of government-wide financial statements, a reconciliation is 
presented with the governmental fund financial statements. 


The School reports the following major governmental fund:  


• General Fund – to account for all financial resources not required to be accounted for in 
another fund, and for certain revenues from the State that are legally restricted to be 
expended for specific current operating purposes. 


The School reports the following non-major fund: 


• Special Revenue Fund – Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenues 
that are legally restricted to expenditures for particular purposes. 


Additionally, the School reports the following proprietary fund types: 


• Enterprise Fund – to account for the activities of FLVS global and Florida franchises. 
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• Internal Service Fund – to account for the self-insurance activities and course 
development. 


D.  Basis of Accounting 


Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures, or expenses, are recognized in the 
accounts and reported in the financial statements.  Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the 
measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.  


The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements.  Revenues 
are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when a liability is incurred, regardless of the 
timing of the related cash flows.  


Governmental fund financial statements are prepared using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues, except for certain grant 
revenues, are recognized when they become measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to 
be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay 
liabilities of the current period.  The School considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal year.  Revenues from the enterprise fund are recognized 
at the gross value earned.  Commissions related to the sales are recorded as an expense.  Under the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, expenditures are generally recognized when the related fund 
liability is incurred, except for claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized 
when due.  Allocations of cost, such as depreciation, are not recognized in governmental funds. 


E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Net Position/Fund          
Balance 


     1.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 


Cash deposits are held by banks qualified as public depositories under Florida law.  All deposits 
are insured by Federal depository insurance and collateralized with securities held in Florida's 
multiple financial institution collateral pool as required by Chapter 280, Florida Statutes.  The 
statement of cash flows considers cash as those accounts used as demand deposit accounts and 
investments. 


2.  Investments 


Section 218.415(17), Florida Statutes, authorizes the School to invest in the Local Government 
Surplus Funds Trust Fund, any intergovernmental investment pool, money market funds 
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, interest-bearing time deposits or 
savings accounts, and direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 


Investments consist of amounts placed with the State Board of Administration for participation in 
the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund investment pool created by Section 218.405, 
Florida Statutes.  This investment pool operates under investments guidelines established by 
Section 215.47, Florida Statutes.  The School’s investments in the Local Government Surplus Funds 
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Trust Fund, a Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 2a7-like external investment pool, are 
reported at fair value, which is amortized cost.   


3.  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 


Accounts receivable are presented on the balance sheet net of estimated uncollectible amounts.  
The School records an allowance for estimated uncollectible accounts in an amount 
approximating anticipated losses.  Individual uncollectible accounts are written off against the 
allowance when collection of the individual accounts appears doubtful.  The School recorded an 
allowance for doubtful accounts of $19,825 as of June 30, 2018. 


4.  Capital Assets 


Expenditures for capital assets acquired or constructed for general School purposes are reported 
in the governmental fund that financed the acquisition or construction.  The capital assets so 
acquired are reported at cost in the government-wide statement of net position but are not 
reported in the governmental fund financial statements.  Capital assets are defined by the School 
as those with a useful life greater than a year and costing more than $1,000.  Such assets are 
recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated 
assets are recorded at fair value at the date of donation.  


Internally generated software, such as coursework for the School, is recognized as an intangible 
asset.  Expenditures relating to the creation of intangible assets are capitalized and reported at 
cost in the government-wide statement of net position but are reported as expenditures in the 
governmental fund financial statements.  An intangible asset is recognized in the statement of net 
position only if it is considered identifiable. 


Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful 
lives:  


Description Estimated Lives


Learning Management System 10 years
Internally Generated Courses & Purchased Software   4 years
Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment   3 years  


Current-year information relative to changes in capital assets is described in a subsequent note. 


5.  Pensions 


In the government-wide statement of net position, liabilities are recognized for the School’s 
proportionate share of each plan’s net pension liability.  For purposes of measuring the net 
pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Florida 
Retirement System (FRS) defined benefit plan and the Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) defined 
benefit plan and additions to/deductions from the FRS’s and HIS’s fiduciary net position have been 
determined on the same basis as they are reported to the FRS and HIS plans.  For this purpose, 
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benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and 
payable in accordance with benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value.   


The School’s retirement plans and related amounts are described in a subsequent note. 


6.  Compensated Absences 


In the government-wide financial statements, compensated absences are accrued as liabilities to 
the extent that it is probable that the benefits will result in a payment.  A liability is reported for 
compensated absences in the governmental fund financial statements only if they have matured.  
The liability for compensated absences includes salary-related benefits, where applicable.   


7.  Long-Term Liabilities 


Long-term obligations that will be financed from resources to be received in the future are 
reported as liabilities in the government-wide statement of net position.  


In the government-wide financial statements, compensated absences (i.e., paid absences for 
employee vacation leave and sick leave) are accrued as liabilities to the extent that it is probable 
that the benefits will result in termination payments.  A liability is reported in the governmental 
fund financial statements only for the current portion of compensated absences expected to be 
paid using expendable available resources.   


Changes in long-term liabilities for the current year are reported in a subsequent note. 


8.  Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 


In addition to assets, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, 
represents a consumption of net position that applies to future periods and, as such, will not be 
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.   


The School has two items that qualify for reporting in this category.   The first is the deferred 
amount on pensions reported in the government-wide statement of net position. The second is 
the deferred amount on Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB) reported in the government-
wide statement of net position.   


The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB are discussed in a subsequent 
note. 


In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred 
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to future periods and 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The School has two 
items that qualify for reporting in this category.  The first is the deferred amount on pension which 
results from the difference in the expected and actual amounts of experience, earnings, and 
contributions.  This amount is deferred and amortized over the service life of all employees that 
are provided with pensions through the pension plan except earnings, which are amortized over 
5 years.  The second item is the deferred amounts on OPEB which results from the difference in 
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expected and actual amounts of experience and earnings.  This amount is deferred and amortized 
over the service life of all employees that are provided with healthcare through the School’s 
health insurance program. 


9.  Net Position 


The government-wide and the business-type activities fund financial statements utilize a net 
position presentation.  Net position is categorized as net investment in capital assets, restricted 
and unrestricted.  Net investment in capital assets groups all capital assets into one component 
of net position, net of accumulated depreciation.  Restricted net position includes all net position 
with external restrictions imposed by grantors or laws and regulations of other governments.  
Unrestricted net position is the residual amount of net position of the School that is not restricted 
for any particular purpose.   


10.  Fund Balance Policy 


Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any 
limitations requiring the use of resources for specific purposes.  The Board itself can establish 
limitations on the use of resources through a commitment (committed fund balance).  The Board 
does not have a policy regarding the commitment of fund balances.  As such, the School does 
not report any committed fund balances.  However, to ensure that an adequate fund balance is 
available for financial emergencies, it is a normal practice of the Board to annually budget at least 
an 8% reserve of its State (FEFP) and Virtual Learning Lab (VLL) revenue in its general fund budget.   


F.  Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses 


1.  Program Revenues 


Amounts reported as program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or 
services offered by the program, and the grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting 
the operational or capital requirements of a particular program.  Revenues that are not classified 
as program revenues are presented as general revenues.  The comparison of direct expenses with 
program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental function is self-financing or 
draws from the general revenues of the School. 


2.  State Revenue Sources 


Revenues from State sources for current operations are primarily from the Florida Education 
Finance Program administered by the Florida Department of Education (Department) under the 
provisions of Section 1011.62, Florida Statutes.  In accordance with this law, the School 
determines and reports the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) students and related data to the 
Department.  The Department performs certain edit checks on the reported number of FTE and 
related data, and calculates the allocation of funds to the School.  The School is permitted to 
amend its original reporting based on the DOE Schedule of FTE Amendments.  Such amendments 
may impact funding allocations for subsequent years.  The Department may also adjust 
subsequent fiscal period allocations based upon an audit of the School's compliance in 
determining and reporting FTE and related data.  Normally, such adjustments are treated as 
reductions or additions of revenue in the year when the adjustments are made. 
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The State provides financial assistance to administer certain categorical educational programs.  
State Board of Education rules require that revenue earmarked for certain programs be expended 
only for the program for which the money is provided, and require that the money not expended 
as of the close of the fiscal year be carried forward into the following year to be expended for the 
same categorical educational programs.  The Department generally requires that categorical 
educational program revenues be accounted for in the General Fund.  A portion of the fund 
balance of the General Fund is restricted in the governmental fund financial statements for the 
unencumbered balance of categorical educational program resources. 


A schedule of revenue from State sources for the current year is presented in a subsequent note. 


3.  Federal Revenue Sources 


The School receives Federal awards for the enhancement of various educational programs.  
Federal awards are generally received based on the applications submitted to, and approved by, 
various granting agencies.  For Federal awards in which a claim to these grant proceeds is based 
on incurring eligible expenditures, revenue is recognized to the extent that eligible expenditures 
have been incurred. 


4.  Compensated Absences 


In the government-wide financial statements, compensated absences (i.e. paid absences for 
employee vacation leave and sick leave) are accrued liabilities using the vesting method.  Under 
this method, the liability amount is estimated based on the accumulated leave at fiscal year-end 
for employees who are currently eligible, or expected to become eligible, to receive termination 
payments.  A liability for these amounts is reported in the governmental fund financial statements 
only if it has matured, such as for occurrences of employee resignations and retirements.  The 
liability for compensated absences includes salary-related benefits, where applicable.   


5.  Proprietary Funds Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses 


Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with the proprietary funds’ principal ongoing operations.  The 
principal operating revenues of the School’s proprietary funds are charges for sales and services 
associated with the enterprise funds; for premiums charged to the School and employees under 
various insurance programs; and for the use of the School’s developed courses.  Operating 
expenses for the proprietary funds include salary, benefits, cost of sales and services, health 
insurance claims and fees.  All revenues and expenses not meeting these definitions are reported 
as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 


II.  ACCOUNTING CHANGE 


Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75.  The School implemented GASB 
Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, 
which replaces GASB statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended.  This statement addresses accounting and 
financial reporting for OPEB provided to employees of state and local government employers; establishes 
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standards for recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of 
resources, and expenses; requires governments to report a liability, deferred outflows of resources, 
deferred inflows of resources, and expenses on the face of the financial statement for the OPEB that they 
provide; and requires more extensive note disclosures and supplementary information about their OPEB 
liability.  The beginning net position of the School was decreased $4,676,760 due to the implementation 
of GASB Statement No. 75.  The School’s total OPEB liability reported at June 30, 2017, increased 
$4,676,760 to $15,669,555 as of July 1, 2017, due to the transition in the valuation methods under GASB 
Statement No. 45 to GASB Statement No. 75, beginning balances for deferred outflow/inflows of 
resources were not restated. 


III.  DETAIL NOTES ON ALL ACTIVITIES AND FUNDS 


A.  Cash Deposits with Financial Institutions 


Custodial Credit Risk-Deposits.  In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, 
the School’s deposits may not be returned to the School.  The School does not have a policy for 
custodial credit risk.  All bank balances of the School are fully insured or collateralized as required by 
Chapter 280, Florida Statutes. 


B.  Investments 


Investments with a fair value of $42,312,971 at June 30, 2018, are in the State Board of Administration 
investment pool (Florida PRIME) with a weighted average maturity (WAM) of 30 days. A portfolio’s 
WAMP reflects the average maturity in days based on final maturity or reset date, in the case of floating 
rate instruments.  WAM measures the sensitivity of the portfolio to interest rate changes.  The School’s 
investment in Florida PRIME is rated AAAm by Standard and Poor’s.   


C.  Receivables 


The majority of $12,939,130 reported as receivables consists of $5,654,250 due from global services 
and franchises customers and $5,788,073 from contracted virtual labs.  The School recorded an 
allowance for doubtful accounts of $19,825 as of June 30, 2018. 


D.  Due from Other Agencies 


The $1,266,020 reported as due from other agencies consists of $965,454 due from the Florida 
Department of Education for FEFP revenue and $300,566 due from the Florida Department of 
Education for reimbursement of Federal grant expenditures.   


E.  Changes in Capital Assets 


Changes in capital assets are presented in the table below: 
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Balance Balance
7/1/2017 Additions Deletions 6/30/2018


GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Assets Not Being Depreciated:
Development in Progress - Elementary Courses 1,830,442$      9,456,596$      -$                 11,287,038$    


Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 6,125,798        1,168,396        30,423             7,263,771        
   Less:  Accumulated Depreciation 5,296,171        582,373           30,423             5,848,121        
Total Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 829,627           586,023           -                   1,415,650        


Internally Created Software 30,602,411      2,172,795        -                   32,775,206      
   Less:  Accumulated Amortization 27,844,914      1,265,237        -                   29,110,151      
Total Internally Created Software 2,757,497        907,558           -                   3,665,055        


Learning Management System 5,750,000        -                   -                   5,750,000        
   Less:  Accumulated Amortization 575,000           575,000           -                   1,150,000        
Total Learning Management System 5,175,000        (575,000)          -                   4,600,000        


Learning Content Management System 1,171,971        346,685           -                   1,518,656        
   Less:  Accumulated Amortization 465,432           379,664           -                   845,096           
Total Learning Content Management System 706,539           (32,979)            -                   673,560           
     Total Governmental Activities Capital Assets, net 11,299,105      10,342,198      -                   21,641,303      


BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES:
Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 42,000             -                   -                   42,000             
   Less:  Accumulated Depreciation 31,178             7,237               -                   38,415             
Total Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment 10,822             (7,237)              -                   3,585               


Internally Created Software 2,894,506        -                   -                   2,894,506        
   Less:  Accumulated Amortization 2,263,012        588,711           -                   2,851,723        
Total Internally Created Software 631,494           (588,711)          -                   42,783             
     Total Business-type Activities Capital Assets, net 642,316           (595,948)          -                   46,368             


Total Gov't & Bus-type Activities Capital Assets, net 11,941,421$    9,746,250$      -$                 21,687,671$    


 


Depreciation/Amortization expense for the governmental funds was charged to functions for the year 
ended June 30, 2018 as follows: 


Function Amount
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Instruction 2,219,901$        
Administrative Related Technology 535,783             
Instructional Related Technology 46,590               
Total Depreciation/Amortization-Governmental Activities 2,802,274$        
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F.  Retirement Plans 


1.  Florida Retirement System (FRS) – Defined Benefit Pension Plans 


General Information about the FRS.  The Florida Retirement System (FRS) was created in Chapter 
121, Florida Statutes, to provide a defined benefit pension plan for participating public 
employees.  The FRS was amended in 1998 to add the Deferred Retirement Option Program under 
the defined benefit plan and amended in 2000 to provide a defined contribution plan alternative 
to the defined benefit plan for FRS members effective July 1, 2002.  This integrated defined 
contribution pension plan is the FRS Investment Plan.  Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, established 
the Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program, a cost sharing multiple-employer defined 
benefit pension plan, to assist retired members of any state administered retirement system in 
paying the costs of health insurance. 


Essentially all regular employees of the School are eligible to enroll as members of the State-
administered FRS.  Provisions relating to the FRS are established by Chapters 121 and 122, Florida 
Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and FRS Rules, 
Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code; wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are 
defined and escribed in detail.  Such provisions may be amended at any time by further action 
from the Florida Legislature.  The FRS is a single retirement system administered by the Florida 
Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement, and consists of the two cost-
sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit plans and other nonintegrated programs.  A 
comprehensive annual financial report of the FRS, which includes its financial statements, 
required supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant information, is available 
from the Florida Department of Management Services’ web site www.dms.myflorida.com. 


The School’s pension expense totaled $10,891,131 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 


FRS Pension Plan 


Plan Description.  The FRS Pension Plan (Plan) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plan, with a Teacher’s Retirement System, Plan E and a Deferred Retirement Option 
Program (DROP) for eligible employees.  The general classes of membership are as follows:   


• Regular Class – Members of the FRS who do not qualify for membership in the other 
classes. 


• Elected County Officers Class – Members who hold specified elective offices in local 
government. 


• Senior Management Service Class (SMSC) – Members in senior management level 
positions. 


Vesting refers to an earned right to receive retirement benefits when the employee reaches 
normal retirement of 62 years of age or by 30 years of service for employees who began 
participation in the FRS prior to July 1, 2011. On or after July 1, 2011, vesting refers to an earned 
right to receive retirement benefits when the employee reaches normal retirement of 65 years of 
age or by 33 years of service for employees who began participation in the FRS.  


30



http://www.dms.myflorida.com/





THE FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  


For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 


• Six (6) years of contiguous service is required to become fully vested for FRS members 
whose participation in the FRS began prior to July 1, 2011.  


• Eight (8) years of contiguous service is required to become fully vested for employees who 
begin participation in the FRS on or after July 1, 2011.  


• Effective July 1, 2011 all employee contributions are immediately vested, minus any 
interest earnings for those in the Pension Plan, once the member has been off all FRS 
covered payrolls for three full calendar months. Employer contributions made on behalf of 
the member are not refundable prior to vesting. 


The Plan also includes an early retirement provision; however, there is a benefit reduction for 
each year a member retires before his or her normal retirement date.  The Plan provides 
retirement, disability, and death benefits and annual cost-of-living adjustments. 


DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for 
normal retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing 
employment with an FRS employer.  An employee may participate in DROP for a period not to 
exceed 60 months after electing to participate, except that certain instructional personnel may 
participate for up to 96 months.  During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly 
benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest. 


Benefits Provided.  Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age and/or years of 
service, average final compensation, and service credit.  Credit for each year of service is 
expressed as a percentage of the average final compensation.  For members initially enrolled 
before July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the five highest fiscal years’ 
earnings; for members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation 
is the average of the eight highest fiscal years’ earnings.  The total percentage value of the benefit 
received is determined by calculating the total value of all service, which is based on the 
retirement class to which the member belonged when the service credit was earned.  Members 
are eligible for in-line-of-duty or regular disability and survivors’ benefits.  The following chart 
shows the percentage value for each year of service credit earned: 


   Class, Initial Enrollment, and Retirement Age/Years of Service       % of Value 


    Regular Class members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011 
      Retirement up to age 62 or up to 30 years of service         1.60 


                    Retirement at age 63 or with 31 years of service        1.63 
          Retirement at age 64 or with 32 years of service        1.65 
          Retirement at age 65 or with 33 or more years of service      1.68 
 


   Regular Class members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011 
      Retirement up to age 65 or up to 33 years of service         1.60        
      Retirement at age 66 or with 34 years of service        1.63 
      Retirement at age 67 or with 35 years of service       1.65 
      Retirement at age 68 or with 36 or more years of service      1.68  


 
   Senior Management Service Class                             2.00 
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As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member is initially enrolled in the FRS 
before July 1, 2011, and all service credit was accrued before July 1, 2011, the annual cost-of-
living adjustment is 3 percent per year.  If the member is initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, and 
has service credit on or after July 1, 2011, there is an individually calculated cost-of-living 
adjustment.  The annual cost-of-living adjustment is a proportion of the 3 percent determined by 
dividing the sum of the pre-July 2011 service credit by the total service credit at retirement 
multiplied by 3 percent.  Plan members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011 will not have a 
cost-of-living adjustment after retirement. 


Contributions.   The Florida Legislature establishes, and may amend, contribution rates for each 
membership class of the FRS. Contribution rates during the 2016-17 fiscal year were as follows: 


Class or Plan
Employee Employer (A)


Florida Retirement System, Regular 3.00 7.92
Florida Retirement System, Senior Management Service 3.00 22.71
Deferred Retirement Option Program - Applicable to
     members from all of the above classes or plans 0.00 13.26


Notes:  (A)  In addition to the rates shown, employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post-employment
insurance supplement.  Also, employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include 0.06 percent for
administration costs of the Public Employee Optional Retirement Program.


Percent of Gross Salary


 


The School’s liability for participation is limited to the payment of the required contribution at the 
rates and frequencies established by law on future payrolls of the School. The School’s 
contributions for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2016, June 30, 2017 and June 30, 2018, totaled 
$7,616,012, $8,795,394 and $9,792,685 respectively, which were equal to the required 
contributions for each fiscal year.  This includes the HIS defined benefit pension plan 
contributions. 


Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to FRS Pensions.  At June 30, 2018, the School reported a liability of $65,184,388 
for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The total pension liability was determined 
by the plans’ actuary and reported in the plans’ valuations dated July 1, 2017.  The School’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on the School’s share of contributions to the 
pension plan relative to the contributions of all Division of Retirement participating employers.  
At June 30, 2017, the School’s proportion was .220371423% compared to .200875549% at June 
30, 2016. 


For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the School recognized pension expense of $10,891,131 
related to the Plan.  At June 30, 2018, the School reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
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Gov't Activities Bus-type Activities Gov't Activities Bus-type Activities


Differences between expected


    and actual experience 5,743,064$              239,294$                 (346,645)$                (14,444)$                  


Changes in assumptions or other


     inputs 21,030,294              876,263                   -                            -                            


Net difference between projected


     and actual earnings on pension


     plan investments -                            -                            (1,550,815)               (64,617)                    


Changes in proportion and 


     differences between district


     contributions and proportionate


     share of contributions 2,439,071                110,203                   (1,028,854)               (42,869)                    


Adjustment due to difference between


     estimated and actual deferred


     outflows subsequent to measurement


     date, 6/30/2015 7,315                        307                           -                            -                            


District contributions subsequent to the


     measurement date, 6/30/2017 6,281,206                261,716                   -                            -                            


Total 35,500,950$            1,487,783$              (2,926,314)$             (121,930)$                


Deferred Outlfows of Resources Deferred Inflows of Resources


 


The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, totaling $36,988,733 (35,500,950 + 
1,487,783), resulting from the School contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be 
recognized as a reduction of net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2018.  Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 


Fiscal Year Ending, June 30 Amount
2018 3,424,112$            
2019 9,023,987              
2020 6,584,688              
2021 1,735,233              
2022 4,813,984              


Thereafter 1,815,563              


Totals 27,397,567$          


 


Actuarial Methods and Assumptions.  The total pension liability in the July 1, 2017 actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement: 


  Inflation    2.60 percent 
  Salary Increases    3.25 percent, average, including inflation 
  Investment rate of return  7.10 percent, net of pension plan investment 
                   expense, including inflation 
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Mortality rates were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projection Scale BB, with 
adjustments for mortality improvements based on Scale AA. 


The actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability as of June 30, 2017, were 
based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2008, through June 30, 
2013. 


The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was not based on historical 
returns, but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic model.  The allocation 
policy’s description of each asset class was used to map the target allocation to the asset classes 
shown below.  Each asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, 
and includes an adjustment for the inflation assumption.  The target allocation and best estimates 
of arithmetic and geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the 
following table: 


Compound
Annual Annual


Target Arithmetic (Geometric) Standard
Asset Class Allocation (1) Return Return Deviation
Cash 1.0% 3.0% 3.0% 1.8%
Fixed Income 18.0% 4.5% 4.4% 4.2%
Global Equity 53.0% 7.8% 6.6% 17.0%
Real Estate (Property) 10.0% 6.6% 5.9% 12.8%
Private Equity 6.0% 11.5% 7.8% 30.0%
Strategic Investments 12.0% 6.1% 5.6% 9.7%
     Total 100.0%
Assumed Inflation - Mean 2.6% 1.9%


Note:  (1) As outlined in the Plan's investment policy  


Discount Rate.  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.10 percent.  
The Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the discount rate for calculating 
the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return. 


Sensitivity of the School’s Proportionate Share of the Net Position Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate.  The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity of the net liability to changes to 
the discount rate.  The sensitivity analysis shows the impact to the collective net pension liability 
of the participating employers if the discount rate was 1.00 percent higher or 1.00 percent lower 
than the current discount rate at June 30, 2017. 
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1% Decrease Current 1% Increase
6.10% 7.10% 8.10%


NPL per FRS, June 30, 2017 53,536,799,032$     29,579,329,032$   9,689,140,032$   
FLVS proportionate @measurement date,
     date, June 30, 2017 0.220371423% 0.220371423% 0.220371423%


FLVS proportionate share of NPL 117,979,806$          65,184,388$          21,352,096$        


FRS Net Pension Liability (Asset)


 


Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position.  Additional audited financial information supporting the 
Schedules of Employer Allocations and the Schedules of Pension Amounts by Employer, is located 
in the Florida CAFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, and in the Florida Retirement System 
Pension Plan and Other State-Administered Systems CAFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. 


Payables to the Pension Plan.  The School reported no payables for the outstanding amount of 
contributions to the Plan required for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. 


HIS Pension Plan 


Plan Description.  The HIS Pension Plan (HIS Plan) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined 
benefit pension plan established under section 112.363, Florida Statutes, and may be amended 
by the Florida Legislature at any time.  The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of State-
administered retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs and is administered by 
the Division of Retirement within the Florida Department of Management Services. 


Benefits Provided.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, eligible retirees and beneficiaries 
received a monthly HIS payment of $5 for each year of creditable service completed at the time 
of retirement, with a minimum HIS payment of $30 and a maximum HIS payment of $150 per 
month, pursuant to Section 112.363, Florida Statutes.  To be eligible to receive a HIS Plan benefit, 
a retiree under a State-administered retirement system must provide proof of health insurance 
coverage, which may include Medicare. 


Contributions.  The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS participating employers 
as set by the Florida Legislature.  Employer contributions are a percentage of gross compensation 
for all active FRS members.  For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, the contribution rate was 
1.26 percent of payroll pursuant to section 112.363, Florida Statutes.  The District contributed 100 
percent of its statutorily required contributions for the current and proceeding three years.  HIS 
Plan contributions are deposited in a separate trust fund from which payments are authorized.  
HIS Plan benefits are not guaranteed and are subject to annual legislative appropriation.  In the 
event the legislative appropriation or available funds fail to provide full subsidy benefits to all 
participants, benefits may be reduced or canceled. 


Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to HIS Pensions.  At June 30, 2018, the School reported a net pension liability 
of $37,960,960 for its proportionate share of the HIS Plan’s net pension liability.  The current 
portion of the net pension liability is the School’s proportionate share of benefit payments 
expected to be paid within one year, net of the School’s proportionate share of the pension plan’s 
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fiduciary net position available to pay that amount.  The net pension liability was measured as of 
June 30, 2017, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2017.  The School’s proportionate share of the 
net pension liability was based on the School’s 2016-17 fiscal year contributions relative to the 
total 2016-17 fiscal year contributions of all participating members.  At June 30, 2017, the School’s 
proportionate share was .355025456% for HIS, compared to .328567617% measured as of June 
30, 2016. 


For fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the School recognized pension expense of $3,174,728 related 
to the HIS Plan.  In addition, the School reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 


Gov't Activities Bus-type Activities Gov't Activities Bus-type Activities


Differences between expected


     and actual experience -$                          -$                              (75,879)$                  (3,162)$                          


Changes in assumptions or other


     inputs 5,122,565                213,440                        (3,151,223)               (131,301)                       


Net difference between projected


     and actual earnings on pension


     plan investments 20,210                     842                               -                            -                                 


Changes in proportion and 


     differences between district


     contributions and proportionate


     share of contributions 3,545,546                147,731                        (1,164,980)               (48,540)                          


Adjustment due to difference between


     estimated and actual deferred outflows


     subsequent to measurement date, 


     6/30/2015 (291)                          (12)                                -                            -                                 


District contributions subsequent


     to measurement date, 6/30/2016 1,891,454                78,811                          -                            -                                 


Total 10,579,484$           440,812$                     (4,392,082)$            (183,003)$                     


Deferred Outflows of Resources Deferred Inflows of Resources


 


The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, totaling $11,020,296 (10,579,484 + 
440,812), resulting from School contributions to the HIS Plan subsequent to the measurement 
date, will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2018.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
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Fiscal Year Ending, June 30 Amount
2018 909,140$               
2019 905,458                 
2020 903,546                 
2021 965,588                 
2022 806,246                 


Thereafter (15,032)                  
Totals 4,474,946$            


 


Actuarial Assumptions.   The total pension liability in the July 1, 2017, actuarial valuation was 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement: 


 
Inflation    2.60 percent 


  Salary Increases    3.25 percent, average, including inflation 
  Municipal Bond Rate   3.58 percent 
 


Mortality rates were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projected Scale BB. 


The HIS Plan has a valuation performed biennially that is updated for GASB reporting in the year 
a valuation is not performed.  The most recent experience study was completed in 2017 for the 
period July 1, 2008, through June 30, 2013.  Because the HIS Plan is funded on a pay-as-you-go 
basis, the depletion date is considered to be immediate, and the single equivalent discount rate 
is equal to the municipal bond rate selected by the HIS Plan sponsor.  The Bond Buyer General 
Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index was adopted as the applicable municipal bond index.   


Sensitivity of the School’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate.  The following presents the School’s proportionate share of the net pension liability 
calculated using the discount rate of 3.58 percent, as well as what the School’s proportionate 
share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 
percent lower (2.58 percent) or 1 percent higher (4.58 percent) than the current rate: 


1% Decrease Current 1% Increase
2.58% 3.58% 4.58%


NPL per HIS, June 30, 2017 12,201,514,391$       10,692,461,377$       9,435,503,574$         
FLVS proportionate @measurement date,
     date, June 30, 2017 0.355025456% 0.355025456% 0.355025456%


FLVS proportionate share of NPL 43,318,482$              37,960,960$              33,498,440$              


HIS Net Pension Liability (Asset)


 


Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position.  Detailed information about the HIS Plan’s fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State Administered 
Systems Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
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Payables to the Pension Plan.  The School reported no payables for the outstanding amount of 
contributions to the HIS Plan required for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 


2.  FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan 


The School contributes to the FRS Investment Plan (Investment Plan), a defined contribution 
pension plan, for its eligible employees electing to participate in the Investment Plan.  The 
Investment Plan is administered by the SBA, and is reported in the SBA’s annual financial 
statements and in the State of Florida Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.  Service 
retirement benefits are based upon the value of the member’s account upon retirement. 


As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate 
in the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined-benefit plan. School employees participating in 
DROP are not eligible to participate in the Investment Plan. Employer and employee 
contributions, including amounts contributed to individual member’s accounts, are defined by 
law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part on the performance of investment funds. Benefit 
terms, including contribution requirements, for the Investment Plan are established and may be 
amended by the Florida Legislature. The Investment Plan is funded with the same employer and 
employee contribution rates that are based on salary and membership class (Regular Class, 
Elected County Officers, etc.), as the FRS defined benefit plan.  Contributions are directed to 
individual member accounts, and the individual members allocate contributions and account 
balances among various approved investment choices.  Allocations to the investment members 
accounts during the 2017-18 fiscal year were as follows:   


            Percent of 
                                                                   Gross 
    Class                                 Compensation   
    FRS, Regular            6.30 
    FRS, Senior Management Service                7.67 
  


For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own contributions and are 
vested after one year of service for employer contributions and investment earnings. If an 
accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally earned under the FRS Pension Plan is 
transferred to the Investment Plan, the member must have the years of service required for FRS 
Pension Plan vesting (including the service credit represented by the transferred funds) to be 
vested for these funds and the earnings on the funds. Non-vested employer contributions are 
placed in a suspense account for up to five years. If the employee returns to FRS-covered 
employment within the five-year period, the employee will regain control over their account. If 
the employee does not return within the five-year period, the employee will forfeit the 
accumulated account balance. Costs of administering the Investment Plan, including the FRS 
Financial Guidance Program, are funded through an employer contribution of 0.046 percent of 
payroll and by forfeited benefits of Investment Plan members. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2018, the information for the amount of forfeitures was unavailable from the SBA; however, 
management believes that these amounts, if any, would be immaterial to the School. 


After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may rollover vested funds to 
another qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment Plan, receive a lump-
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sum distribution, leave the funds invested for future distribution, or any combination of these 
options. Disability coverage is provided; the member may either transfer the account balance to 
the FRS Pension Plan when approved for disability retirement to receive guaranteed lifetime 
monthly benefits under the FRS Pension Plan, or remain in the Investment Plan and rely upon that 
account balance for retirement income.  


The School’s Investment Plan pension expense totaled $2,977,809 and there were 717 School 
participates for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 


3.  Allocation of Pension-Related Amounts to Proprietary Funds 


Management believes allocation of pension-related amounts to any internal service funds to be 
inappropriate, as these funds are not trying to allocate pension expense to the user funds.  In 
addition, management believes the proportionate amounts that would be allocated based on FRS-
eligible payroll to be immaterial to the internal service funds. 


G.  Other Postemployment Benefit Obligations 


Plan Description.  The Other Postemployment Benefits Plan (OPEB Plan) is a single-employer defined 
benefit plan administered by the School. Pursuant to the provision of the Section 112.0801, Florida 
Statutes, former employees who retire from the School, and eligible dependents, may continue to 
participate in the School’s health and hospitalization plan for medical and prescription coverages.  The 
School subsidizes the premium rates paid by the retirees by allowing them to participate in the plan at 
the blended group premium rates for both active and retired employees.  These rates provide an 
implicit subsidy for retirees because, on an actuarial basis, their current and future claims are expected 
to result in higher costs to the School on average than those of active employees.  The School does not 
offer any explicit subsidies for retiree coverage.  Retirees are required to enroll in the Federal Medicare 
program for their primary coverage as soon as they are eligible.  No assets are accumulated in the trust 
that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75. 


Benefit Terms and Employees Covered.  Plan contribution requirements and benefit terms of the School 
and OPEB Plan members are established and may be amended through recommendation of the 
Insurance Committee and action from the Board.  The School has not advanced funded or established 
a funding methodology for the annual OPEB costs or the net OPEB obligation.  As of the valuation date, 
January 1, 2017, there were 2,107 active participants and 37 inactive participants (retirees plus 
surviving spouses) receiving postemployment healthcare benefits.  The School provided contributions 
estimated at $97,550 toward annual OPEB costs, comprised of benefit payments made on behalf of 
the retirees net of retiree contributions.  Required contributions are based on projected pay-as-you-
go financing. 


Total OPEB Liability.  The School’s total OPEB liability of $15,043,014 was measured as of June 30, 2017, 
and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2017.  As described in Note II, the 
beginning OPEB liability was increased by $4,676,760 due to the adoption of GASB Statement No. 75. 


Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs.  The total OPEB liability in the January 1, 2017, actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all 
periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified. 
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 Discount Rate    3.56% 
 20-Year Municipal Bond Rate  3.56% 
 Municipal Bond Rate Basis  Fidelity’s 20-Year GO AA Index 
 Salary Increases    Male – 3.7% - 7.8%  
      Female – 3.7% - 7.8% 
 General Inflation   2.50% 
 Mortality Rates – Healthy Female Female:  RP-2000 Generational, 100% Annuitant 
      White Collar, Scale BB 


Mortality Rates – Healthy Male  Male:  RP-2000 Generational, 50% Annuitant  
      White Collar, Scale BB 
 Mortality Rates – Disabled Female Female:  RP-2000, 100% Disabled female 
      set forward 2 years, no projection scale 
 Mortality Rates – Disabled Male  Male:  RP-2000, 100% Disabled male 
      set back 4 years, no projection scale 
 Healthcare Cost Trend Rates  Based on the Getzen Model, with trend starting at 7.25% 
      and gradually trending to an ultimate trend rate of 4.24%  
      plus 0.30% increase for excise tax 
 Current Retirees   All current retirees are assumed to continue coverage 
 Projected Retiree Healthcare 
   Contributions    A weighted average with weights derived from the  
      current distribution of members among plans offered: 
   Retiree Premium Contributions   $545 Non-Medicare and $545 Medicare 
   Spouse Premium Contributions   $551 Non-Medicare and $551 Medicare 
 Administrative Expenses  Per-capita administrative costs are based actual 2017  
      administrative fees 
 Actuarial Cost Method   Entry Age Normal cost method 
 Measurement Date   June 30, 2017 
 Measurement Period   June 30, 2016 to June 30, 2017 
 Valuation Date    January 1, 2017 
 Census Data    As of January 1, 2017 
 
The School selected the economic, demographic, and health care claim cost assumptions used in the 
January 1, 2017 valuation.  The current actuary provided guidance with respect to the economic 
assumptions.  The prior actuary provided guidance with respect to the demographic assumptions, the 
health care participation rate assumption, and the spouse coverage election rate assumption.  The 
demographic assumptions were based on those employed in the July 1, 2014, Pension Actuarial 
Valuation of the FRS, which were developed by the FRS from an Actuarial Experience Study.  These 
include assumed rates of future termination, mortality, disability, and retirement.  In addition, salary 
increase assumptions for development of the pattern of the normal cost increases were the same as 
those used by the FRS. 
 
Changes to the Total OPEB Liability.  Below are the details regarding the total OPEB liability for the 
measurement period from June 30, 2017 to June 30, 2018. 
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Total OPEB
Liability


Balance Recognized at 6/30/2017, as Restated 15,669,555$     


Changes for the Fiscal Year:
  Service Cost 1,022,582         
  Interest on the Total OPEB Liability 485,986            
  Difference Between Expected and 
     Actual Experience (2,037,559)        
  Benefits Payments (97,550)             


Net Changes (626,541)           


Balance at 6/30/2018 15,043,014$     


 
Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 2.92 percent as of 
the beginning of the measurement period to 3.56 percent as of June 30, 2018.   
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate.  The following presents the total 
OPEB liability of the School, as well as what the School’s total OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (2.56 percent) or 1 percentage point 
higher (4.56 percent) than the current discount rate: 
 


1% Decrease Current 1% Increase
2.56% 3.56% 4.56%


Total OPEB Liability 18,361,380$   15,043,014$      12,391,972$ 


 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend.  The following presents 
the total OPEB liability of the School, as well as what the School’s total OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1 percentage point lower and 1 percentage point 
higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates: 
 


Healthcare cost
1% Decrease Trend Rate 1% Increase


Total OPEB Liability 11,806,575$    15,043,014$    18,515,268$  


 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB.  
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the School recognized OPEB expense of $2,507,910.  At June 30, 
2018, the School reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
OPEB from the following sources: 
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Deferred Deferred
Outflows Inflows


Difference between Expected and
  Actual Experience -$                 2,037,558$      


Changes of Assumptions or
  Other Inputs 144,609           -                   


Total 144,609$         2,037,558$      


 
Amounts recognized in the deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to OPEB will be recognized in the OPEB expense as follows: 
 


Fiscal year Ending, June 30 Annual Expense
2019 (144,609)$                             
2020 (144,609)                               
2021 (144,609)                               
2022 (144,609)                               
2023 (144,609)                               


Thereafter (1,169,904)                            


Total (1,892,949)$                          


 


H.  Risk Management Programs 


The School is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The Florida Virtual School is 
a member of the North East Florida Educational Consortium (NEFEC) under which several district school 
boards have established a combined limited self-insurance program for property protection, general 
liability, automobile liability, workers’ compensation, and other coverage deemed necessary by the 
members of the Consortium.  However, workers’ compensation for employees who reside in states 
other than Florida is provided through fully insured plans that are not part of NEFEC.  Arthur Gallagher 
Risk Management Services handles the School’s multi-state worker’s compensation policy for all states 
in which we have employees that allow such a policy.  Section 1001.42(10)(k), Florida Statutes, provides 
the authority for the School to enter in such a risk management program.  The Consortium is self-
sustaining through member assessments (premiums), and purchases coverage through commercial 
companies for claims in excess of specified amounts.  Reinsurance from commercial companies 
provided excess property coverage of up to $50 million during the 2017-18 fiscal year.  The Board of 
Directors of the Consortium is composed of superintendents of all participating districts and schools.  
The Putnam County District School Board serves as fiscal agent for the Consortium.  The School has not 
reduced insurance coverage for the past two years.  Settled claims have not exceeded insurance 
coverage for the past three years.  
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The School provides group health, life and disability insurance to benefited employees.  There are three 
different health plans offered.  All are PPO (Preferred Organization) plans, with one plan offering a 
lower-premium higher-deductible option coupled with an employer-funded HRA contribution.  Under 
these plans, the Board contributes to a portion of the premiums as part of the “fringe benefits” offered 
to employees.  These plans offer four participant tiers to include employee-only, employee plus 
spouse, employee plus child(ren), and full family coverage.  The three plans are administered by Blue 
Cross Blue Shield of Florida.  The School reported an estimated unpaid claims liability of $1,180,295. 


I.  Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 


The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities: 


Description Balance Balance Due in


7/1/2017 Additions Reductions 6/30/2018 One Year


Comp Abs - Governmental Activities 12,123,758$         1,691,706$           760,345$              13,055,119$         1,389,755$           


Comp Abs - Business-type Activities 662,670                30,971                   60,143                   633,498                54,635                   


  Total Compensated Absences Payable 12,786,428           1,722,677             820,488                13,688,617           1,444,390             


OPEB - Governmental Activities 15,042,773           1,215,752             1,817,232             14,441,294           -                         


OPEB - Business-type Activities 626,782                50,656                   75,718                   601,720                -                         


  Total Other Post Employment Benefits (Note 1) 15,669,555           1,266,409             1,892,950             15,043,014           -                         


Pension - Governmental Activities 84,333,609           54,901,404           41,343,950           97,891,063           -                         


Pension - Business-type Activities 4,680,819             2,296,131             1,722,665             5,254,285             -                         


  Total Net Pension Liability 89,014,428           57,197,535           43,066,615           103,145,348         -                         


Estimated Insurance Claims Payable 1,182,740             1,180,295             1,182,740             1,180,295             1,180,295             


Total Governmental Activities - LT Liabilities 112,682,880         58,989,157           45,104,267           126,567,771         2,570,050             


Total Business-Type Activities - LT Liabilities 5,970,271             2,377,758             1,858,526             6,489,503             54,635                   


   Total Long-Term Liabilities 118,653,151$      61,366,916$         46,962,793$         133,057,274$      2,624,685$           


Note 1 - OPEB beginning balance adjusted for adoption of GASB Statement No. 75 as described in Note II.  


For the governmental activities, compensated absences, pensions, and other postemployment 
benefits are generally liquidated with resources of the General Fund.  Compensated absences, other 
postemployment benefits, and pensions for business-type activities are generally liquidated with the 
enterprise fund. 
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J.  Schedule of State Revenue Sources 


The following is a schedule of the School’s State revenue for the General Fund for 2017-2018 fiscal 
year: 


Source 2017-2018


Florida Education Finance Program 176,476,664$    


Other State Sources:
     Reading Program 1,483,415          
     Miscellaneous State 3,781,917          
Total Other State Sources 5,265,332          


Total State Revenue 181,741,996$    


 


Accounting policies relating to certain State revenue sources are described in Note I.F.2. 


K.  Encumbrances 


Appropriations in governmental funds are encumbered upon issuance of purchase orders for goods 
and services.  Even though appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year, unfilled purchase orders 
of the current year are carried forward and the next year’s appropriations are likewise encumbered. 


L.  Operating Leases 


The School is obligated under a lease agreement for office facilities beginning October 1, 2013 and 
ending July 31, 2023.  The annual lease payments increase approximately 3% beginning fiscal year 
2018.  The total amount of payments for fiscal year ending June 30, 2018 is $1,201,942. 


Annual remaining rent payments are shown in the table below: 


Fiscal Year Ending, June 30 Payment
2019 1,211,691$     
2020 1,248,056       
2021 1,285,524       
2022 1,324,338       
2023 111,178          
     Total 5,180,787$     
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M.  Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers 


The following is a summary of interfund transfers reported in the proprietary financial statements at 
June 30, 2017: 


Funds Transfer In Transfer Out
General Fund 2,000,000$      
Internal Service Fund 12,575,172$    


Enterprise Fund
     FLVS Global Services Fund 4,075,172        
     FLVS Global School Fund 500,000           
     Franchises Fund 6,000,000        


Total 12,575,172$    12,575,172$    


Interfund


 


The interfund transfers represent a transfer of profit from the FLVS global and franchise enterprise 
funds to the governmental funds.  Of the amount transferred to the governmental funds, $12,575,172 
was obligated for the development of student courses and for various technology upgrades. 


IV.  SUMMARY DISCLOSURE OF SIGNIFICANT CONTINGENCIES 


From time to time, the School may be involved in litigation.  Currently, the School is not aware of any 
pending or threatened legal actions that would have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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Variance


Actual Amounts Positive /


Original Final (Negative)
REVENUES
State Sources:


  Florida Education Finance Program 170,805,123$           175,338,093$           176,476,664$           1,138,571$  
  Reading Program 1,431,100 1,471,681 1,483,415 11,734 
  School Recognition Program - - - - 
  Other State Sources - 3,764,800 3,781,917 17,117 
    Total State Sources 172,236,223             180,574,574             181,741,996             1,167,422 


Local Sources:
  Other Local Sources 14,046,745 13,549,425 13,706,778 157,353 
    Total Local Sources 14,046,745 13,549,425 13,706,778 157,353 


Total Revenues 186,282,968             194,123,999             195,448,774             1,324,775 


EXPENDITURES
Current:
  Instruction 130,761,434             143,886,428             134,167,775             9,718,653 
  Pupil Personnel Services 6,724,465 6,931,469 6,323,275 608,194 
  Instruction and Curriculum Development Services 328,434 196,830 197,110 (280) 
  Instructional Staff Training Services 2,922,510 3,785,843 2,777,460 1,008,383 
  Instruction Related Technology 11,679,293 10,249,382 8,622,149 1,627,233 
  School Board 1,764,874 3,048,072 1,894,790 1,153,282 
  General Administration 1,455,603 1,485,138 1,392,909 92,229 
  School Administration 7,803,003 8,108,338 7,833,678 274,660 
  Fiscal Services 2,357,289 2,400,394 2,415,870 (15,476) 
  Central Services 12,798,179 13,200,655 10,750,462 2,450,193 
  Operation of Plant 2,115,341 2,232,571 2,169,811 62,760 
  Administrative Technology Services 7,161,006 10,241,051 7,904,050 2,337,001 
  Community Services 159,328 164,248 155,619 8,629 
Capital Outlay:
  Other Capital Outlay - 1,525,322 1,525,322 - 


Total Expenditures 188,030,759             207,455,741             188,130,280             19,325,461 


Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures (1,747,791) (13,331,742) 7,318,494 20,650,236 


OTHER FINANCIAL SOURCES (USES)
  Transfers In 3,000,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 
  Transfers Out (5,000,000) (5,000,000) (5,000,000) - 
Total Other Financial Sources (Uses) (2,000,000) (2,000,000) (2,000,000) - 


Net Change in Fund Balance (3,747,791) (15,331,742) 5,318,494 20,650,236 


Fund Balance, beginning 44,315,175 50,416,885 50,416,885 - 
Fund Balance, ending 40,567,384$             35,085,143$             55,735,379$             20,650,236$             


Budgeted Amounts


The Florida Virtual School
Required Supplementary Information


Budgetary Comparison Schedule
General Fund


For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018


General Fund
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2018
Total OPEB Liability
Service cost 1,022,582$                    
Interest 485,986                         
Changes in benefit terms -                                     
Difference between expected and actual experience (2,037,559)                     


Benefit payments (97,550)                          


Net change in total OPEB liability (626,541)                        


Total OPEB Liability - beginning as restated 15,669,555                    
Total OPEB Liability - ending 15,043,014$                  
Covered-employee payroll 109,364,998$                


Total OPEB Liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 13.75%


Note:  One year of data available for GASB 75 compliance which was adopted June 30, 2018.


The Florida Virtual School
Required Supplementary Information


Schedule of Changes in the School's Total
Other Postemployment Benefits Liability and Related Ratios
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2017 2016 2015 2014
Florida Virtual School's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.220371423% 0.200875549% 0.201089408% 0.203303739%
Florida Virtual School's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) 65,184,388$                  50,721,234$                  25,973,394$                  12,404,518$                  
Florida Virtual School's covered-employee payroll 109,364,998$                109,364,998$                101,434,489$                91,872,334$                  


Florida Virtual School's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of its covered-
employee payroll 59.60% 46.38% 25.61% 13.50%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 83.89% 84.88% 92.00% 96.09%


Note:  (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30.


The Florida Virtual School
Required Supplementary Information


Schedule of  Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (1)
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2018 2017 2016 2015
Contractually required contribution 6,542,923$                    5,736,811$                    4,898,671$                    4,902,731$                    
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution (6,542,923)$                   (5,736,811)$                   (4,898,671)$                   (4,902,731)$                   
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                               -$                               -$                               -$                               


Florida Virtual School's covered-employee payroll 109,364,998$                109,364,998$                101,434,489$                91,872,334$                  
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 5.98% 5.25% 4.83% 5.34%


Note:  (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30.


The Florida Virtual School


Schedule of Contributions
Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (1)
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2017 2016 2015 2014
Florida Virtual School's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.355025456% 0.328567617% 0.307188119% 0.313815997%
Florida Virtual School's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) 37,960,960$                  38,293,195$                  31,328,356$                  29,342,561$                  
Florida Virtual School's covered-employee payroll 109,364,998$                109,364,998$                101,434,489$                91,872,334$                  


Florida Virtual School's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of its covered-
employee payroll 34.71% 35.01% 30.89% 31.94%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 1.64% 0.97% 0.50% 0.99%


Note:  (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30.


The Florida Virtual School


Schedule of  Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (1)
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2018 2017 2016 2015
Contractually required contribution 1,970,265$                    1,878,897$                    1,684,118$                    1,174,264$                    
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution (1,970,265)$                   (1,878,897)$                   (1,684,118)$                   (1,174,264)$                   
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                               -$                               -$                               -$                               


Florida Virtual School's covered-employee payroll 109,364,998$                109,364,998$                101,434,489$                91,872,334$                  
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 1.80% 1.72% 1.66% 1.28%


Note:  (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30.


The Florida Virtual School


Schedule of Contributions
Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (1)
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1. Budgetary Basis of Accounting


The Board follows procedures established by State statutes and State Board of Education rules in 
establishing budget balances for governmental funds, as described below:  


• Budgets are prepared, public meetings are held, and original budgets are adopted annually for all
governmental fund types in accordance with procedures and time intervals prescribed by law and
State Board of Education rules.


• Appropriations are controlled at the object level (e.g., salaries, purchased services, and capital
outlay) within each function (e.g., instruction, pupil personnel services, and school administration) 
and may be amended by resolution at any Board of Trustees meeting prior to the due date for the
annual financial report.


• Budgets are prepared using the same modified accrual basis as is used to account for
governmental funds.


• Budgetary information is integrated into the accounting system and, to facilitate budget control,
budget balances are encumbered when purchase orders and other commitments are issued.
Appropriations lapse at fiscal year end and encumbrances outstanding are honored from the
subsequent year's appropriations.


2. Schedule of Changes in the School’s Total Other Postemployment Benefits Plan Liability
and Related Ratios


Method Changes: 
• There was a change in the Government Accounting Standards that were used to develop the


current actuarial report.  The prior actuarial report was based on GASB Statement No. 45, while
the current actuarial report is based on GASB Statement No. 75.  This change is a result of the
implementation of GASB Statement 75 by the School.


Changes in assumptions: 
• The discount rate was changed from 2.92 percent as of June 30, 2017, to 3.56 percent as of June


30, 2018.
• The healthcare trend rates were revised as of June 30, 2017, based on Getzen Model’s


lastest trend survey and based on national average information from a variety of sources,
including S&P Healthcare Economic Index, NHCE data, plan renewal data, and vendor Rx reports,
with adjustments based on the provisions of the benefits sponsored by the School.


• Data was collected from The Florida Virtual School as of January 1, 2017.
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THE FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL 
Required Supplementary Information 


Notes to Required Supplementary Information 
Year Ended June 30, 2018 


 


  


3.  Schedule of Net Pension Liability and Schedule of Contributions – FRS Pension Plan 


Changes in Assumptions.  As of June 30, 2017, the inflation rate assumption was 2.60 percent, the overall 
payroll growth rate assumption was 3.25 percent, and the long-term expected rate of return was 7.10 
percent. 


4.  Schedule of Net Pension Liability and Schedule of Contributions – HIS Pension Plan.   


Changes in Assumptions.   The municipal bond rate used to determine total pension liability was increased 
from 2.85 percent to 3.58 percent. 
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OTHER REPORTS
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2018







Contract/ Amount


Federal Pass-Through Entity CFDA Grant Contract Provided to


Federal Program      Number Number Period Expenditures Sub-Recipients


Federal Awards


U.S. Department of Education
Indirect:  


Passed through the State of Florida Department of Education


Carl D. Perkins Career & Technical Education 84.048A 48C-1618A-8CV01 07/01/17 - 06/30/18 24,099$      -$     
Title I - Part A, Education of Disadvantaged Children & Youth 84.010A 48C-2127B-7CB01 07/01/17 - 06/30/18 1,151,611    525,167  
Title II - Teacher and Principal Training and Recruiting Fund 84.367A 48C-2247B-7CT01 07/01/17 - 06/30/18 87,837   14,777  
IDEA - Part B K-12 84.027A 48C-2638B-8CB01 07/01/17 - 06/30/18 922,380   436,485  
IDEA - Part B Preschool Entitlement 84.173A 48C-2678B-8CP01 12/20/17 - 06/30/18 4,769    4,769  


Total Federal Awards 2,190,696$     981,198$     


See Accompanying Notes to Schedule


THE FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS


For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018
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THE FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL 
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 


Year Ended June 30, 2018 


NOTE 1. General 


The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all federal awards 
of the Florida Virtual School.  The School reporting entity is defined in Note 1 to the School’s Basic Financial 
Statements for the year ended June 30, 2018.  All federal awards passed through to other government 
agencies are included in the schedule. 


NOTE 2. Basis of Accounting 


The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented using the modified accrual 
basis of accounting, which is described in Note 1 to the School’s Basic Financial Statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2018. 


NOTE 3. De Minimis Cost Rate 


The School did not elect to use the 10% de minimus cost rate as covered by 2 CFR Section 200.414. 
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THE FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL


SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS


For the Year Ended June 30, 2018


Section I - Summary of Independent Auditor’s Results


Financial Statements


Type of Auditor’s Report Issued: Unmodified Opinion


Internal control over financial reporting:


Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No


Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes X None reported


Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes X No


Federal Awards


Internal control over major programs:


Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No


Significant deficiency(ies)? Yes X None reported


Type of report issued on compliance for major federal program: Unmodified Opinion


Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in
accordance with Section 200.516 of the Uniform Guidance? Yes X No


Identification of Major Program:


CFDA Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster
84.010A Title I – Part A


Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs: $750,000


Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X Yes No 
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THE FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL


SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (Continued)


For the Year Ended June 30, 2018


Section II - Findings Related to the Financial Statement Audit, as required to be reported in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards.


No matters are reported.


Section III - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs Section reported in accordance with 
the Uniform Guidance.


No matters are reported.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN 


AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 


 
 
 
Chairman and Members of 
The Florida Virtual School 
Orlando, Florida 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
The Florida Virtual School (the “School”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial statements and 
have issued our report thereon dated January 22, 2019. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the School’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow manage-
ment or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and 
correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that 
might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Chairman and Members of
The Florida Virtual School


Compliance and Other Matters


As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards.


Pursuant to provisions of Chapter 10.800, Rules of the Auditor General, we reported certain matters to 
management of the School in a separate management letter and Independent Accountant’s Report dated
January 22, 2019.


Purpose of this Report


The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.


MOORE STEPHENS LOVELACE, P.A.
Certified Public Accountants


Orlando, Florida
January 22, 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR
EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL


OVER COMPLIANCE AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES
OF FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE


Chairman and Members of
The Florida Virtual School
Orlando, Florida


Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program


We have audited the compliance of The Florida Virtual School (the “School”) with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget OMB Compliance 
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the School’s major federal program for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. The School’s major federal program is identified in the summary of
auditor’s results section of the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.


Management’s Responsibility


Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants applicable to its federal program.


Auditor’s Responsibility


Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the School’s major federal program based 
on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of 
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations, Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 
for Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance”). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal 
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the School’s compliance 
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circum-
stances.


We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for its major federal 
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the School’s compliance.


Opinion on Each Major Federal Program


In our opinion, the School complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2018.
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Chairman and Members of
The Florida Virtual School


Report on Internal Control over Compliance


Management of the School is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to in the first paragraph. In planning and 
performing our audit of compliance, we considered the School’s internal control over compliance with the 
types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on the major federal program to 
determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on compliance for the major federal program and to test and report on internal control over 
compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the School’s internal control over compliance.


A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a defi-
ciency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance 
with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance.


Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compli-
ance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.


The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.


Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance


We have audited the basic financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the School as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the School’s 
basic financial statements.  We issued our report thereon dated January 22, 2019, which contained 
unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming 
opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accom-
panying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis, as 
required by the Uniform Guidance, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from, and relates directly to, the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.
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Chairman and Members of
The Florida Virtual School


Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance (Cont.)


The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the Schedule of Expenditures of 
Federal Awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken 
as a whole.


MOORE STEPHENS LOVELACE, P.A.
Certified Public Accountants


Orlando, Florida
January 22, 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S MANAGEMENT LETTER 
 
 
 
Chairman and Members of 
The Florida Virtual School 
Orlando, Florida 
 
 
Report on Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Florida Virtual School (the “School”) as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2018, and have issued our report thereon dated January 22, 2019. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations, Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance”); and Chapter 10.850, Rules of the Auditor 
General. 
 
Other Reporting Requirements 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards, Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal 
Program and on Internal Control over Compliance and Report on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal 
Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance, and Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, and our 
Independent Accountant’s Report in accordance with Chapter 10.800, Rules of the Auditor General.  
Disclosures in those reports and schedule, which are dated January 22, 2019, should be considered in 
conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.854(1)(e)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective 
actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial 
report.  In conjunction with our audit, we determined that no findings were reported in the preceding 
annual financial report. 
 
Official Title 
 
Section 10.854(1)(e)5., Rules of the Auditor General, requires the name or official title of the entity be 
disclosed in the management letter.  The official title of the entity is The Florida Virtual School. 
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Chairman and Members of
The Florida Virtual School


Financial Condition and Management


Sections 10.854(1)(e)2. and 10.855(11), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and communicate whether or not the School has met one or more of the conditions described 
in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific condition(s) met.  In connection with 
our audit, we determined that the School did not meet any of the conditions described in Section 
218.503(1), Florida Statutes.


Pursuant to Sections 10.854(1)(e)6a. and 10.855(12), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial 
condition assessment procedures for the School. It is management’s responsibility to monitor the 
School’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based, in part, on representations 
made by management and the review of financial information provided by the same.


Section 10.854(1)(e)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management letter 
any recommendations to improve financial management.  In connection with our audit, we did not have 
any such recommendations.


Transparency


Sections 10.854(1)(e)7. and 10.855(13), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether the School maintains on its 
website the information specified in Section 1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes. In connection with our 
audit, we determined that the School maintained on its website the information specified in Section 
1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes.


Additional Matters


Section 10.854(1)(e)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance with 
provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, 
that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but which warrants the attention of 
those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, we did not have any such findings.


Purpose of this Letter


Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida Auditor 
General, federal and other granting agencies, the Board of Trustees, and applicable management and is not 
intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.


MOORE STEPHENS LOVELACE, P.A.
Certified Public Accountants


Orlando, Florida
January 22, 2019







65


INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT


Chairman and Members of
The Florida Virtual School
Orlando, Florida


We have examined The Florida Virtual School’s (the “School”) compliance with the requirements of 
Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. Management is responsible 
for the School’s compliance with those requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
School’s compliance based on our examination.


Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the exami-
nation to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the School complied with those requirements.  An 
examination involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the School’s compliance with those 
requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including an assessment of the risks of noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error.  We believe that the 
evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  Our 
examination does not provide a legal determination on the School’s compliance with specified 
requirements.


In our opinion, the School complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.


MOORE STEPHENS LOVELACE, P.A.
Certified Public Accountants


Orlando, Florida
January 22, 2019
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Executive Summary 


Florida continues to support the development of Florida Virtual School (FLVS) as a 
resource for addressing the technological and learning needs within its 
Kindergarten-12 student population.  


FLVS has an ongoing process for conducting surveys of the various stakeholders it 
serves and uses the data to monitor organizational performance and evaluate 
areas for improvement. Individual findings from the surveys FLVS administered to 
its stakeholders are summarized in four separate annual reports (Student-Parent, 
District Virtual Schools, School, and District Survey Reports for 2017–18).  


This report provides an executive summary of the major findings from these 
surveys. A detailed three-year comparison summarizing the Student-Parent survey 
results is located in the appendix. Due to significant survey changes to the School 
and District survey, a two-year comparison was not conducted. Table 1 
summarizes total responses collected for the Student-Parent surveys.1 


 
Table 1. FLVS Student-Parent Responses Collected 
 


 
 


 
 
Table 2. FLVS Annual Survey Response Rates, 2017–18 


 


 
 
 
 
 


                                         
1 Counts include responses captured for District Virtual Schools and FLVS. 


Survey Student Parent 


Survey 
Response 


Count 
Response 


Count 


Midcourse 33,332 3,754 


End of Course 21,555 3,164 


Survey 
 


Total  
Sent 


 
Number 


Returned 


 
Response 


Rate 


School 9,318 670 7.2% 


District 64 63 98.4% 
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Reactions from Students and Parents 


 


Overall Satisfaction  


In general, scores from parents and students have increased since last year (see 
appendix). Students also tend to have lower scores than parents.   
   
 
Teacher satisfaction was one of the highest rated of all survey questions asked of 
both students and parents. In fact, for parents, teacher satisfaction increased year 
over year for the second year in a row (+0.9 points since 2016-17). For students, 
teacher satisfaction increased for the first time since the 2015-16 school year 
(+0.8 points since 2016-17). Students and parents are also very satisfied with the 
course overall. There was a high likelihood to take another course from their 
respective FLVS teachers (84 points for students and 93.1 for parents) as well as 
recommend FLVS to a friend (81.5 points for students and 94.3 for parents). The 
average score for best learning experience from students was 74.2 (up 2.8 points 
year over year) and from parents was 86.4 (up 3.9 points from last year). 


Teacher Quality 


Again, parent and student scores have all increased since 2016-17. Students gave 
teacher overall communication a score of 87.2 (up 1.5 points year over year) and 
parents rating was 93.7 (up 1.1 points). Parent scores were even higher for 
willingness to help (94.5 points, up 0.8 year over year) and teacher focused on 
success (94.4 points, up 0.8). Average scores for students were still high, at 91.6 
on willingness to help (up 0.8) and 91.5 on teacher focused on success (up 0.6 
points).  


Course Quality 


Course quality scores were not as high as teacher quality, but averaged about 85 
points across all questions. Overall, parent and student scores increase by about 2 
points. Course navigation received the highest rating among the course quality 
questions, at 91.6 for parents and 86.1 for students. Parent scores are between 5 
and 10 points higher than student scores. Course materials quality and course 
materials and resources both improved compared to the 2016-17 school year for 
both parents and students. 
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Reaction from Schools (N = 670) and Districts (N = 63) 


 


Support to Schools and Districts 


In general, both school and district personnel indicated they received what was 
needed with the services FLVS provided to their students, as well as the support 
and communication provided to their school or district.  


School contacts reported positive experiences with FLVS. Respondents indicated 
communication between FLVS and schools has been sufficient. There is an 
opportunity for improvement with about 55 percent of school respondents 
unfamiliar with the Counselor Resources web page (up from 6 percent last year). 
Even with these shortcomings, 92 percent said their primary FLVS contact has been 
in touch with someone at their school (which has increased 5 percentage points 
year over year).  
 
District contacts reported positive experiences with FLVS. Although the score 
dropped to 87 percent this year (100 percent last year), we had many more 
responses (from 9 last year to 63 this year). 
 
District Relations Manager Partnership  


Both school and district personnel responded in an overwhelmingly positive 
manner to questions regarding their District Relations Manager (DRM) partnership 
for the second year in a row.  
 
School contacts reported having a strong partnership with FLVS DRMs with a 95 
percent rating, a slight dip from last year. The majority of respondents felt DRMs 
were always accessible to help resolve concerns, were responsive to inquiries, and 
provided support relating to FLVS information. Additionally, they see DRMs as 
valuable support.  
 
Similarly, District contacts reported having a strong partnership with FLVS DRMs, 
with all but one respondent answering ‘Yes’ to these questions (resulting in a score 
of 95 for a 5 point decrease). All respondents felt DRMs were always accessible to 
help resolve concerns, were always responsive to inquiries, and provided support 
relating to FLVS information. Additionally, they see DRMs as valuable support. 
 
Student Monitoring 


Schools feel that they are well equipped to monitor the progress of FLVS students.  
Most FLVS schools also reported using administrative accounts to monitor student 
progress. 
 
Compared to last year, more district respondents indicated FLVS provided the 
information needed to monitor the progress of their district’s FLVS students. One 
area of much improvement was in personnel that use administrative accounts, 65 
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percent of respondents strongly agreed to use this resource as opposed to last 
year’s 38 percent. 


 
Services 


Nearly all respondents for both School and District surveys had no problems with 
teachers or courses at FLVS. Although District respondents saw a slight decline in 
teacher concerns from 100 percent to 82 percent, School responses resulted in a 5 
percent increase with an almost perfect score of 90 percent. Another area of 
opportunity for FLVS with districts may concern courses, decreasing by 9 percent 
year over year. Responses from school level staff showed a slight increase of 1 
percent over last year’s course concerns. 


 
FLVS Value 


A majority of respondents at the school level and nearly every respondent at the 
district level indicated that FLVS is a key partner, benefits their students, and met 
their expectations regarding educational needs this year. 
 
Potential Barriers and Concerns to Schools and Districts 


The lack of technology at home was reported as a greater challenge for students 
to access FLVS compared to technology at school. Access to FLVS courses due to a 
lack of technology at schools is not perceived as an issue for 65 percent of the 
schools. Only 31 percent of schools thought the lack of technology at home was 
not an issue for their students. 


The district contacts agree that the lack of technology at home is more of a 
barrier for students than the technology in the schools, but the number of districts 
who believe that home and school technology is a barrier for students is 
decreasing year over year. 
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Appendix.  Year-To-Year Comparison 


 


Surveys and Response Rates 


Student and Parent Surveys 


Each year, Florida Virtual School conducts surveys of its students and their parents 
to learn more about the strengths and weaknesses of its virtual education 
program. This report provides results segmented by student and parent completed 
surveys.  Surveys were administered to enrolled students via email to evaluate two 
phases within a student’s FLVS course:  


● Midcourse: Upon approximately 45 percent completion of the course, 
students receive a survey addressing 10 topics.    


● End of Course: Upon 90 percent course completion, students receive a 
survey addressing the same 10 topics as the previous survey. This survey 
also asks five additional items related to overall satisfaction with the course 
and teacher (15 items total).    


 


Annual Surveys 


Florida Virtual School conducts an annual school and district survey to gather 
feedback and data from the staff with whom it partners. Contacts were invited via 
email to participate in the survey during the summer of 2018.  There were 670 
school surveys completed. There were 670 school surveys completed and 63 
district surveys completed. 
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Student and Parent Surveys 


Below are the average scores for each rating question by year, segmented by all 
student and parent responses. 
 
 
Overall Satisfaction 


  School Year  


 Parent of Student 
2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 


Year-Over-
year Change 


Teacher Satisfaction 
Parent 91.9 93.2 94.1 +0.9 


Student 89.4 89.2 90 +0.8 


Course Satisfaction 
Parent 88.1 90 91.5 +1.5 


Student 81.4 81.1 82.9 +1.8 


Recommend 
Parent 90.9 93.2 94.3 +1.1 


Student 79.2 79.6 81.5 +1.9 


Take Another Course 
Parent 89.6 91.3 93.1 +1.8 


Student 82.5 82 84 +2.0 


Best Learning Experience 
Parent 79.6 82.5 86.4 +3.9 


Student 72.3 71.4 74.2 +2.8 


 
 
 
Teacher Quality 


   School Year  


  
Parent or Student 2015-16  2016-17  2017-18  


Year-Over- 
Year Change 


Level of Care 
Parent 91.2    


Student 89.5    


Learning Needs Assistance 
Parent 90.8    


Student 88.9    


Response Time Satisfaction 
Parent 90.2    


Student 87.4    


Overall Communication 
Parent 91.4 92.6 93.7 +1.1 


Student 85.9 85.7 87.2 +1.5 


Willingness to Help 
Parent 92.9 93.7 94.5 +0.8 


Student 91.1 90.8 91.6 +0.8 


Teacher Focused on Success 
Parent 92.6 93.6 94.4 +0.8 


Student 91 90.9 91.5 +0.6 
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Course Quality 


   School Year  


  Parent or Student 
2015-16  2016-17  2017-18 


Year-Over-
year Change 


Course Navigation 
Parent 87.8 89.5 91.6 +2.1 


Student 84.9 84.9 86.1 +1.2 


Course Materials Quality 
Parent 86.8 88.9 90.7 +1.8 


Student 81.1 81.1 82.7 +1.6 


Course Materials & Resources 
Parent 83.5 85.6 88.5 +2.9 


Student 76.1 75.2 78 +2.8 


Course Set Up 
Parent 83.4 85.1 88.3 +3.2 


Student 75.5 74.7 77.6 +2.9 
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Annual Surveys 


School (N = 670 total responses) 


  


Question Answer 2016-17 2017-18 YoY 


ChangeSchool Year School Year


Number of surveys Total 


Respondents
661 670 +9


Have you or other school 


personnel been in touch with your 


primary FLVS contact this school 


year?


Yes 84% 87% +2.6%


Which position at FLVS is your 


primary contact for your school? 


FLVS District 


Relations 
49% 55% +5.8%


Do you feel the District Relations 


Manager (DRM) is accessible to 


help you resolve concerns 


regarding your FLVS needs?


Yes 99% 95% -3.6%


Are you satisfied with the level of 


service you have received from 


your primary FLVS contact?


Yes - 98% -


Do you receive FLVS information 


from the FLVS District Contact 


person in your district?


Yes 87% 92% +4.6%


The lack of school technology has 


been a barrier for some students 


to access FLVS courses.


Strongly 


Disagree - 1 and 


2


69% 71% +1.5%


Your students experience little to 


no technical problems in their 


FLVS courses.


Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
52% 59% +6.9%


The lack of home technology has 


been a barrier for some students 


to access FLVS courses.


Strongly 


Disagree - 1 and 


2


37% 35% -2.1%


FLVS provides you with the 


information needed to monitor 


the progress of your FLVS 


students.


Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
78% 81% +3.7%


Considering your overall 


experience with FLVS, how 


valuable is the support offered 


by your DRM?


Extremely or 


Very valuable
- 85% -


Are you familiar with the 


Counselor Resources page of the 


FLVS website?


Yes 65% 51% -13.7%


How valuable do you find the 


information presented in the 


School Counselor Update emails?


Extremely or 


moderately 


valuable


- 24% -
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Question Answer 2016-17 2017-18 YoY 


ChangeSchool Year School Year


Number of surveys (repeated) Total 


Respondents
661 670 +9


You consider Florida Virtual 


School to be a key partner to 


your school.


Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
71% 78% +7.4%


Have you had any concerns about 


FLVS teachers this past school 


year?


No 86% 90% +4.8%


Florida Virtual School benefits 


your students.


Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
85% 87% +2.3%


How important is it to have FLVS 


as your online education provider 


versus any other provider?


Extremely or 


very important
- 74% -


You or school personnel use FLVS 


administrative accounts to 


monitor student progress over 


the web.


Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
78% 80% +1.8%


Have you had any concerns about 


FLVS courses this past school 


year?


No 85% 86% +1.2%


What best describes whether 


FLVS met your expectations 


regarding your online educational 


needs this year?


Matched or 


exceeded 


expectations


- 96% -
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District Surveys (N = 63 total responses) 


 


FLVS policies and procedures are clearly 


communicated to your district.
Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
88% 77% -10.1%


YoY 


ChangeSchool Year School Year


Number of surveys Total 


Respondents
9 63 +54


Question Answer 2016-17 2017-18


Are you satisfied with the level of service 


you have received from your primary FLVS 


contact?


Yes - 100% -


Have you been in touch with your primary 


FLVS contact this school year? Yes 100% 87% -13.0%


Considering your overall experience with 


FLVS, how valuable is the support offered 


by your DRM?


Extremely or 


Very Valuable
- 85% -


DRM is accessible to help you resolve 


concerns regarding your FLVS needs? Yes 100% 95% -4.8%


What percentage of elementary schools in 


your district are aware of FLVS? 71% or greater - 55% -


The lack of home technology has been a 


barrier for some students to access Florida 


Virtual School courses.


Strongly 


disagree 1 or 2
38% 31% -6.9%


What percentage of high schools in your 


district are aware of FLVS?
Greater than 


90%
- 71% -


What percentage of middle schools in your 


district are aware of FLVS?
Greater than 


90%
- 55% -


The lack of school technology has been a 


barrier for some students to access Florida 


Virtual School courses.


Strongly 


disagree 1 or 2
75% 65% -10.5%


Has your district had to utilize FLVS to 


accommodate students with extraordinary 


circumstances (travel, sports, performing 


arts, hospital homebound) this past school 


year?


Yes 89% 81% -7.9%


Does your district Student Progression Plan 


specify policies regarding students' 


participation in FLVS courses?
Yes 100% 81% -19.0%
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Question Answer 2016-17 2017-18 YoY 


ChangeSchool Year School Year


Number of surveys Total 


Respondents
9 63 +54


FLVS provides you with the information 


needed to monitor the progress of your 


district’s FLVS students. 


Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
63% 82% +19.8%


Have you had any concerns about FLVS 


courses this past school year? No 88% 78% -9.2%


District personnel use FLVS administrative 


accounts to monitor student progress over 


the web.


Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
38% 65% +27.0%


You consider Florida Virtual School to be a 


key partner to your district.


Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
75% 95% +19.8%


Have you had any concerns about FLVS 


teachers this past school year? No 100% 82% -18.3%


What best describes whether FLVS met 


your expectations regarding your online 


educational needs this year?


Matched or 


Exceeded 


Expectations


- 98% -


Florida Virtual School benefits your 


students.


Strongly Agree 5 


and 4
75% 97% +21.6%
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Executive Summary  
August 9, 2019 
TO: FLVS Executive Team  
From: FLVS Evaluation and Measurement  
SUBJECT: FLVS FLEX SPRING 2019 FSA AND NGSSS ASSESSMENT RESULTS 
 
During the 2019 Spring administration, FLVS Flex students participated in the follow assessments: 


• FSA Algebra 1 
• FSA Geometry 
• Next Generation Sunshine State Standards (NGSSS) Biology 1 
• NGSSS Civics 
• NGSSS U.S. History 


 
For each assessment, students are given a Scale Score and an Achievement Level.  The range of the Scale Score (lowest 
possible up to highest possible) vary for each assessment, but Achievement Levels do not. Achievement Levels describe the 
level of success a student has achieved on the content assessed. Achievement Levels range from 1 (lowest) to 5 (highest). To 
be considered on grade level, students must achieve Level 3 or higher. Level 3 indicates satisfactory performance.  
 


FLVS Flex Highlights 
 


The following highlights include overall, first time, and retake students and their passing rates.  Overall refers to the 
combination of the first time testers plus the retakers. 
 
 
Algebra 1 


• The overall passing rate decreased 12% to 65%.  FLVS is 4% higher than the state level of 61%. 
• The first time tester passing rate decreased 11% to 66% which is 4% higher than the state rate of 62%. 
• The retaker passing rate decreased 23% to 35% which is 1% higher than the state rate of 34%. 
• The March/April retake testing window was open to both first-time testers and retakers.  


o Retakers during this window had a 4% decrease in passing percent.  There were 62 students who tested and 
15% passed.  This is 8% higher than the state rate of 7%. 


o Twelve first time testers also tested during the March/April retake window.  67% passed which is 37% higher 
than the state rate of 30%.  Conclusions or generalizations should be made cautiously due to the small size 
of this group. 


• The 9th grade passing rate decreased 11% to 49% which is 4% higher than the state passing rate of 45%. 
• The 10th grade passing rate decreased 13% to 39% which is 21% higher than the state passing rate of 18%.  The 


number of students who tested was 77. 
• In 11th grade there were 8 students and in 12th grade there were 5 students. 
• Middle School students typically perform well on the Algebra 1 assessment. 


o There were 68 7th grade testers with a passing rate of 96%.  The state passing rate was 95%. 
o There were 272 8th grade testers with a passing rate of 86%. This is an 6% decrease from 2018.  The state 


passing rate is 86%.   
• Grades 9-12 ranked 18th in the state. 
• Grades 5-8 ranked 41th in the state. To contextualize this data point, consider that the highest passing rate was 100% 


and our rate was 87%.  The districts that outrank FLVS are all tightly clustered at the top of the performance scale. 
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Geometry 


• The overall passing rate decreased 1% to 60% which is 3% higher than the state average of 57%. 
• The first time testers’ passing rate decreased 2% to 61% which is 4% higher than the state average of 57%. 
• The retaker passing rate decreased 2% to 29% which is 3% higher than the state average of 26%.  
• The largest group of testers is 10th grade.  The pass rate decreased 8% to 55%.  This is 8% higher than the state 


average of 47%. 
• The 9th grade passing rate decreased 10% to 73%.  This is 9% lower than the state average of 82%. 
• The 11th grade passing rate decreased 3% to 26% which is 7% higher than the state average of 19%. 
• The 12th grade passing rate increased 5% to 27% which is 13% higher than the state average of 14%. 
• The 8th grade passing rate is 95% which is an 1% increase and is equal to the state average of 95%.   
• Grades 9-12 ranked 42nd in the state. 


Biology 
• The overall passing rate decreased 7% to 68% which is 1% higher than the state average of 67%. 
• The first time tester rate decreased 7% to 70% which is 3% higher than the state average of 67%. 
• The retaker passing rate decreased 17% to 22% which is 11% lower than the state average of 33%. 
• Not many middle school students take Biology in the past, but in 2019 96 8th graders took the test (25 tested in 


2018) and 79% passed. The state passing rate is 91%. 
• The 9th grade passing rate decreased 5% to 75% which is 8% lower than the state average of 83%. 
• The 10th grade passing rate decreased 14% to 62% which is 9% higher than the state average of 53%.  
• The 11th grade passing rate decreased by 18% to 50% and is 11% higher than the state average of 39%. 
• The 12th grade passing rate increased by 3% to 65% and is 29% higher than the state average of 36%. 
• Grades 6-12 ranked 32nd in the state. 


 
Civics 


• The overall passing rate remained the same at 78%.  This is 7% higher than the state average of 71%. 
• There were 4 retakers so the overall data is the same as the first time test taker data. 
• The largest group of testers is 7th grade. The passing rate increased 1% to 78% which is 6% higher than the state 


average of 72%. 
• The 8th grade passing rate is 81%, which is an 3% increase and 18% higher than the state average of 63%.  There 


were only 53 testers this year and 49 last year. 
• Grades 4-12 ranked 11th in the state. 


 
US History 


• The overall passing rate decreased 5% to 74% which is 4% above the state average of 70%. 
• The first time tester passing rate decreased 4% to 75% which is 5% higher than the state average of 70%. 
• The retaker passing rate decreased 17% to 35% which is 3% lower than the state average of 38%. 
• Most test takers are in the 11th grade. The passing rate for decreased 5% to 75% which is 5% higher than the state 


average of 70%. 
• The 10th grade passing rate decreased 13% to 68% which is 2% lower than the state average of 70%. 
• The 12th grade passing rate remained the same at 77% which is 20% higher than the state average of 57%. 
• Grades 7-12 is ranked 22nd in the state which is an increase from a ranking of 7th last year. 
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FLORIDA STANDARDS ASSESSMENT END OF COURSE ASSESSMENTS 
 


ALGEBRA 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
  


1 2 3 4 5


FSA - Algebra 1 EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(497+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)


Change 
in


Level 3+


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 


Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(497+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)


Change 
in


Level 3+


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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FSA - Geometry EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(396+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)
Change in
Level 3+


 
 
 


GEOMETRY 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


  


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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FSA - Geometry EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(396+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)


Change 
in


Level 3+


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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NEXT GENERATION SUNSHINE STATE STANDARD ASSESSMENTS 
 


BIOLOGY 
 
 
 


BIOLOGY 
 


 
 


1 2 3 4 5


District
State Grade1


NGSSS - Biology EOC


Change 
in


Level 3+


Year
(Spring)


Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(395+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)
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District
State Grade1


NGSSS - Biology EOC


Change in
Level 3+


Year
(Spring)


Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(395+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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CIVICS 
 


  


1 2 3 4 5


NGSSS - Civics EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(397+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)
Change in
Level 3+
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Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-8 reflect first time testers. Totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.


1 2 3 4 5


NGSSS - Civics EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(397+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)
Change in
Level 3+
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UNITED STATES HISTORY 


 
 


  


1 2 3 4 5


NGSSS - United States History EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(397+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)
Change in
Level 3+
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Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.


1 2 3 4 5


NGSSS - United States History EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(397+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)
Change in
Level 3+
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SUMMARY OF NGSSS AND FSA ASSESSMENTS 
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Executive Summary  
August 9, 2019 
TO: FLVS Executive Team  
From: FLVS Evaluation and Measurement  
SUBJECT: FLVS FULL TIME SPRING 2019 FSA AND NGSSS ASSESSMENT RESULTS 
 
During the 2019 Spring administration, FLVS Full Time students participated in the follow assessments: 


• Florida Standards Assessment (FSA) in English Language Arts (ELA) grades 3-10 
• Florida Standards Assessment in Mathematics grades 3-8 
• FSA Algebra 1 
• FSA Geometry 
• Next Generation Sunshine State Standards (NGSSS) Biology 1 
• NGSSS Civics 
• NGSSS U.S. History 
• NGSSS FCAT 2.0 Science 


 
For each assessment, students are given a Scale Score and an Achievement Level.  The range of the Scale Score (lowest 
possible up to highest possible) vary for each assessment, but Achievement Levels do not. Achievement Levels describe the 
level of success a student has achieved on the content assessed. Achievement Levels range from 1 (lowest) to 5 (highest). To 
be considered on grade level, students must achieve Level 3 or higher. Level 3 indicates satisfactory performance.  
 


FLVS Full Time Highlights 
 


The following highlights include overall, first time, and retake students and their passing rates.  Overall refers to the 
combination of the first time testers plus the retakers. 
 
ELA 


• Every grade level has a higher percent passing than the state average. 
• In elementary, the passing rate in 3rd grade decreased 5%, but in grades 4 the passing rate increased 2% and in 


grade 5 the passing rate increased by 3%. 
• All three elementary grade levels continue to have higher passing rates than the state. 


o 3rd grade is 2% higher. 
o 4th grade is 9% higher. 
o 5th grade is 10% higher. 


• Grades 3-5 are ranked 12th out of 73 districts in the state for percent passing. 
• In middle school, the passing rate in 6th grade decreased 3% and in 7th grade remained the same.  The 8th grade 


passing rate increased 6%. 
• All three middle school grade levels are higher than the state.   


o 6th grade is 17% higher. 
o 7th grade is 21% higher. 
o 8th grade is 23% higher. 


• Middle school grades are ranked 3rd in the state for percent passing. 
• In high school, the passing rate for 9th grade decreased 4% and for 10th grade decreased 2%.  
• The 9th grade passing rate is 19% above the state. 
• The 10th grade passing rate is 17% above the state. 
• High School grades were ranked 3rd in the state for percent passing. 
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ELA Retakes 
• The 11th grade passing rate decreased by 9%.  The 11th grade passing rate (49%) is 32% higher than the state passing 


rate (17%).  There were 140 students who tested.  
• The 12th grade passing rate increased by 27%.  The 12th grade passing rate (49%) is 41% higher than the state passing 


rate (8%).  There were 67 students who tested. 


Math 
• The 3rd grade passing rate decreased 19% to 33% which is 29% below the state average. 
• The 4th grade passing rate decreased 8% to 40% which is 24% lower than the state average. 
• The 5th grade passing rate decreased 8% to 41% which is 19% lower than the state average.   
• Grades 3-5 are ranked 72 out of 73 districts in the state.  This includes any math EOCs taken by elementary students, 


such as Algebra 1 or Geometry, however the impact of that number is very small.  Statewide there were less than 10 
elementary students who took Algebra 1 or Geometry in Spring 2019.  


• The 6th grade passing rate decreased 1% to 57% which is 2% higher than the state. 
• The 7th grade passing rate increased 2% to 71% which is 17% higher than the state. 
• The 8th grade pre-Algebra passing rate increased 9% to 48% which is 2% higher than the state.   
• Rankings for FSA Mathematics only in middle school are not available. The state rankings include all Math EOCs. 


FCAT Science 
• The 5th grade passing rate increased 1% to 59% and is 6% higher than the state. 
• 5th grade science ranks 15th in the state.  This is an increase from 21st in 2018. 
• The 8th grade passing rate decreased 9% to 47% as is 1% lower than the state. 
• 8th grade science ranks 10th out of 73 in the state.  This includes any Biology EOC taken by 8th graders. 


Algebra 1 
• The overall passing rate decreased 6% to 64%.  FLVS is 3% higher than the state level of 61%. 
• The first time tester passing rate decreased 6% to 64% which is 2% higher than the state rate of 62%. 
• The retaker passing rate was 36% which is 2% higher than the state passing rate of 34%.  There is no comparative 


data from 2018 because the tested group was less than 10. 
• The March/April retake testing window was open to both first-time testers and retakers.  


o The retakers passing rate during this window increased 7%.  There were 117 students who tested and 31% 
passed.  This is 24% higher than the state rate of 7%. 


o Twenty-six first time testers also tested during the March/April retake window.  65% passed which is 35% 
higher than the state rate of 30%.  Conclusions or generalizations should be made cautiously due to the 
small size of this group. 


• The largest group of testers for the May window is 9th grade. The passing rate decreased 5% to 49% which is 4% 
higher than the state passing rate of 45%. 


• There were 10 students in 10th grade who took the Algebra 1 FSA.  20% of them passed.  There is no comparative 
data from 2018.   


• In 11th grade there was 1 student and in 12th grade there were no students who tested. 
• Middle School students typically perform well on the Algebra 1 assessment. 


o There were 25 7th grade testers with a passing rate of 100%. 
o There were 253 8th grade testers with a passing rate of 80%. This is an 8% decrease from 2018.  The state 


passing rate is 86%. 
• Grades 9-12 ranked 10th in the state. 
• Grades 4-8 ranked 51st in the state. To contextualize this data point, consider that the highest passing rate was 100% 


and our rate was 82%. The districts that outrank FLVS are all tightly clustered at the top of the performance scale. 
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Geometry 


• The overall passing rate decreased 10% to 59% which is 2% higher than the state. 
• The first time testers’ passing rate decreased 10% to 59% which is 2% higher than the state. 
• The were only 8 retake students who tested so there is no data to report. 
• The largest group of testers is 10th grade.  The pass rate decreased 26% to 45%.  This is 2% lower than the state 


average of 47%. 
• The 9th grade passing rate increased 2% to 82%.  This is the same as the state average. 
• The 8th grade passing rate decreased 2% to 92%. This is 3% lower than the state.   
• Grades 9-12 ranked 27th in the state which is an increase from the ranking of 21st last year. 


Biology 
• The overall passing rate decreased 1% to 83% which is 16% higher than the state. 
• The first time tester rate decreased 2% to 83% which is 16% higher than the state. 
• There were only 2 retake students who tested. 
• The 8th grade passing rate decreased 3% to 94% which is 3% higher than the state. 
• The 9th grade passing rate increased 3% to 88% which is 5% higher than the state. 
• The 10th grade passing rate increased remained the same at 77%.  This is 24% higher than the state.  
• The 11th grade passing rate increased by 2% to 79% and is 40% higher than the state. 
• Grades 6-12 ranked 6th in the state for Biology. 


Civics 
• The overall passing rate decreased 4% to 77%.  This is 6% higher than the state. 
• The first time tester rate decreased 3% to 78%.  This is 7% higher than the state. 
• There were only 2 retake students who tested. 
• The largest group of testers is 7th grade. The passing rate decreased 3% to 77% which is 5% higher than the state. 
• The 8th grade passing rate is 87%, which is the same as the 2018 rate and 24% higher than the state. 
• Grades 4-12 ranked 11th in the state. 


US History 
• The overall passing rate decreased 2% to 83%. This is 13% above the state passing rate. 
• There were only 3 retake students so the first time tester data is essentially the same as the overall data. 
• The largest group of testers is 11th grade. The passing rate remained the same at 84% which is 14% higher than the 


state. 
• The 10th grade passing rate decreased 9% to 79% which is 9% higher than the state. 
• The 12th grade passing rate decreased 7% to 82% which is 25% higher than the state. 
• Grades 4-12 is ranked 3rd in the state. 
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ENGLISH LANGAUGE ARTS 


 
 
 


1 2 3 4 5


3 2017 365 306 13% 19% 33% 27% 8% 68% 8%
3 2018 319 306 18% 17% 27% 24% 14% 65% -3%
3 2019 192 303 17% 23% 28% 23% 8% 60% -5%
4 2017 370 314 20% 18% 28% 25% 9% 62% 0%
4 2018 309 315 17% 18% 31% 24% 10% 65% 3%
4 2019 208 316 14% 19% 32% 29% 7% 67% 2%
5 2017 394 324 16% 24% 30% 21% 9% 60% -2%
5 2018 420 325 15% 21% 26% 30% 7% 63% 3%
5 2019 234 327 12% 22% 36% 22% 8% 66% 3%
6 2017 419 332 9% 25% 26% 31% 9% 66% -2%
6 2018 382 336 7% 18% 28% 34% 13% 74% 8%
6 2019 341 335 9% 20% 26% 33% 12% 71% -3%
7 2017 564 342 12% 18% 24% 27% 19% 71% 5%
7 2018 476 342 10% 17% 29% 26% 18% 73% 2%
7 2019 469 342 9% 18% 27% 30% 16% 73% 0%
8 2017 600 348 8% 17% 32% 27% 16% 75% 2%
8 2018 475 347 7% 20% 33% 27% 13% 73% -2%
8 2019 549 349 6% 15% 35% 26% 18% 79% 6%
9 2017 437 351 8% 22% 29% 28% 14% 71% -1%
9 2018 550 355 6% 16% 24% 36% 17% 78% 7%
9 2019 506 353 8% 18% 23% 34% 16% 74% -4%


10 2017 509 358 9% 22% 28% 28% 13% 69% 0%
10 2018 457 359 7% 21% 26% 33% 13% 72% 3%
10 2019 612 358 8% 22% 24% 32% 13% 70% -2%
3 2017 228,104 303 19% 23% 28% 21% 9% 58% 4%
3 2018 221,791 302 20% 23% 29% 20% 9% 57% -1%
3 2019 216,823 302 20% 23% 28% 22% 8% 58% 1%
4 2017 207,646 312 21% 23% 27% 20% 9% 56% 4%
4 2018 215,757 312 21% 23% 27% 21% 8% 56% 0%
4 2019 211,342 313 19% 23% 28% 21% 9% 58% 2%
5 2017 211,492 321 23% 25% 25% 19% 9% 53% 1%
5 2018 211,019 322 20% 25% 26% 20% 9% 55% 2%
5 2019 218,818 322 20% 24% 27% 21% 8% 56% 1%
6 2017 200,787 325 23% 25% 22% 22% 8% 52% 0%
6 2018 211,076 325 24% 24% 21% 21% 10% 52% 0%
6 2019 211,371 326 21% 25% 23% 22% 9% 54% 2%
7 2017 198,530 332 25% 23% 22% 19% 12% 52% 3%
7 2018 201,077 331 26% 23% 22% 18% 11% 51% -1%
7 2019 212,177 332 26% 22% 22% 19% 11% 52% 1%
8 2017 198,216 338 23% 22% 25% 18% 12% 55% -2%
8 2018 201,907 339 21% 21% 26% 19% 13% 58% 3%
8 2019 205,229 338 23% 21% 26% 19% 11% 56% -2%
9 2017 199,159 342 25% 23% 21% 20% 11% 52% 1%
9 2018 199,391 342 24% 22% 22% 21% 10% 53% 1%
9 2019 203,549 343 24% 22% 21% 22% 12% 55% 2%


10 2017 197,881 348 25% 25% 21% 19% 9% 50% 0%
10 2018 194,223 349 23% 24% 22% 22% 10% 53% 3%
10 2019 196,275 349 23% 24% 22% 21% 10% 53% 0%


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.


FLVS FT


State


FSA - English Language Assessment (ELA)


Change 
in


Level 3+


District
State


Grade
Year


(Spring)
Number of 


Students
Mean Scale 


Score


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level


Percent Passing 
(Level 3+)
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ELA Retakes  
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Mathematics 
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FLORIDA STANDARDS ASSESSMENT END OF COURSE ASSESSMENTS 
 


ALGEBRA 1 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


  


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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FSA - Algebra 1 EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(497+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)


Change 
in


Level 3+


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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GEOMETRY 


 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


  


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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FSA - Geometry EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(396+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)


Change 
in


Level 3+


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.







Back to Highlights 19 19 
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NEXT GENERATION SUNSHINE STATE STANDARD ASSESSMENTS 
 


BIOLOGY 
 


 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 


 
 


  


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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District
State Grade1


NGSSS - Biology EOC


Change 
in


Level 3+


Year
(Spring)


Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score
(395+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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CIVICS 
 


 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


  


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-8 reflect first time testers. Totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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UNITED STATES HISTORY 
 
 
 


  


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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NGSSS - United States History EOC


District
State Grade1 Year


(Spring)
Number of 
Students


Mean Scale 
Score


(397+)


Percentage of Students By
Achievement Level Percent Passing 


(Level 3+)
Change in
Level 3+


Note: Percent passing includes Achievement Level 3 or higher; percentages may not add to 100 due to rounding.
1Grades 6-12 reflect first time testers. State totals include all grade levels. 
*To protect the privacy of individual students, no data are reported if the number of students is less than 10.
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SUMMARY OF NGSSS AND FSA ASSESSMENTS 
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FCAT 2.0 SCIENCE 
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Response Mix % Count


60.7%


39.3% 3,164


3,754


Introduction


● Midcourse: Upon approximately 45 percent completion of the course, students 


receive a survey addressing 10 topics. 


● End of Course: Upon 90 percent course completion, students receive a survey 


addressing the same 10 topics as the previous survey. This survey also asks five 


additional items related to overall satisfaction with the course and teacher (15 


items total). 


Student Response Volume


All surveys were composed of fixed-choice items, with one open-ended question soliciting 


suggestions on how to improve the course. The majority of the fixed-choice items included 


a rating scale from 5 to 1, anchored by the values of Excellent to Poor, Strongly Agree to 


Strongly Disagree, Very High to Very Low, or Highly Likely to Highly Unlikely. Each survey 


was administered online and solicited in an email invitation sent to every student enrolled 


in each course. 


This report provides an executive summary of all Student-Parent response data captured 


between July 2017 - June 2018. 


Each year, Florida Virtual School (FLVS) conducts surveys of its students and their parents 


to learn more about the strengths and weaknesses of its virtual education program. This 


report provides results segmented by completed student and parent surveys.  


FLVS administers these surveys to enrolled students via email to evaluate two phases 


within each student's FLVS course:


The total number of students with access to the survey for the 2017-18 school year was 


510,027; 61,805 responded to the survey (12.1 percent). As shown in Table 1, student 


response rates were highest for the midcourse survey (60.7 percent).


6,918


Student


Count


33,332


21,555


54,887


Parent


Response Mix %


54.3%


45.7%


Midcourse


Table 1 –  Survey Counts


Survey


End of Course
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Infographic Report Key:


● The question is listed at the top - highlighted in orange


● Responses are shown by proportion in the graph and count in the table


Parent Scores are hidden when less than 30 surveys are completed.


Report Key:


Each question from the survey will now be reviewed with a proportion and score. The key 


to reading the infographic for these questions in this report is outlined below:


● Score average or percent yes is shown in the black box


Question 
Response
Summary


Scores
Average
or % Yes


Question  →


→
→







5 4 3 2 1


42,450 7,573 2,859 1,085 920


6,181 360 187 78 112


5 4 3 2 1


30,393 16,512 5,682 1,386 914


5,510 973 262 76 97


InMoment, Inc. | Florida Virtual School | FLVS Flex Student and Parent Executive Summary 2017-18 | Page 5


Overall Satisfaction


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'excellent' and 1 equals 'poor', 90.8 percent of students and 


94.9 percent of parents indicated a high overall satisfaction with the teacher of the course.


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'excellent' and 1 equals 'poor' - 83.7 percent of students and 


92.4 percent of parents indicated their overall satisfaction with the course was strong.


Rating


Student


Please rate your overall satisfaction with the course experience so far…


Chart 1 – Overall Satisfaction with FLVS Course Teacher


Chart 2 – Overall Satisfaction with Course


83.7
92.4


94.9
90.8


Teacher Satisfaction


Score


Course Satisfaction


Score


This section presents student and parent responses for midcourse and end-of-course surveys: 


FLVS teacher and course satisfaction, learning experience, likelihood of taking another course 


from the teacher, and recommending to a friend. (See charts 1-5)


Response Counts


Response Counts


Parent


Parent


Your overall satisfaction with your current teacher of this course…


Rating


Student


77%


89%


14%


5%


5%


3%


2
%


1
%


2
%


2
%


Student


Parent


Teacher Satisfaction


55%


80%


30%


14%


10%


4%


3
%


1
%


2
%


1
%


Student


Parent


Course Satisfaction







5 4 3 2 1


9,694 5,710 3,787 1,205 1,159


2,139 676 240 50 59


5 4 3 2 1


14,592 3,584 1,815 592 972


2,826 143 73 31 91
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Overall Satisfaction Continued


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'strongly agree' and 1 equals 'strongly disagree' - 75 percent 


of students and 87.8 percent of parents indicated general agreement towards the course being 


one of the best learning experiences they ever had.


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'highly likely' and 1 equals 'highly unlikely' - 85.1 percent of 


students and 94.1 percent of parents indicated a strong likelihood of taking another course from 


the same teacher.


If given the opportunity, how likely are you to take another course from this teacher?


Response Counts


This course has been one of the best learning experiences you’ve ever had…


Response Counts


Rating


Student


Parent


Student


Parent


Chart 3 – Learning Experience


Chart 4 – Likely to Take Additional Course


Rating


Learning Experience


Score


Take Another Course


Score


85.1
94.1


75.0
87.8


45%


68%


26%


21%


18%


8%


6
%


2
%


5
%


2
%


Student


Parent


Best Learning Experience


68%


89%


17%


5%


8%


2%


3
%


1
%


5
%


3
%


Student


Parent


Take Another Course







5 4 3 2 1


13,284 4,059 2,441 756 1,015


2,796 230 79 25 34


Response Counts Likely To Recommend


ScoreRating


InMoment, Inc. | Florida Virtual School | FLVS Flex Student and Parent Executive Summary 2017-18 | Page 7


Student 82.3
Parent 95.3


Overall Satisfaction Continued


Chart 5 – Likely to Recommend


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'highly likely' and 1 equals 'highly unlikely' - 82.3 percent of 


students and 95.3 percent of parents indicated a strong likelihood of recommending the FLVS 


teachers to a friend.


How likely are you to recommend FLVS teachers to a friend?


62%


88%


19%


7%


11%


2%


4
%


1
%


5
%


1
%


Student


Parent


Recommend







5 4 3 2 1


39,088 9,360 3,798 1,474 1,167


6,183 307 200 93 135
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FLVS Teacher Quality


This section presents student and parent combined responses for midcourse and end-of-course 


surveys: overall teacher communication, teacher feedback on assignments, response to student 


requests, teacher wiliness to help, and teacher focused on success.  (See charts 6-11)


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'excellent' and 1 equals 'poor' - 88.1 percent of students and 


94.5 percent of parents indicated overall communication with the FLVS teacher of the course 


was excellent.


Using a Yes or No scale - 95.4 percent of students and 97.5 percent of parents selected 'yes' - 


indicating the teacher was there to provide specific feedback on assignments was excellent.


Parent 6,746 172 97.5


Specific Feedback


% YesYes No


52,359 2,528 95.4Student


Rating


Student


Your teacher provided you with specific feedback on assignments when needed…


Parent


Overall Communication


Score


88.1
94.5


Response Counts


The overall communication with your current teacher of this course…


Response Counts


Chart 6 – Overall Communication with FLVS Teacher


Chart 7 – Provided Specific Feedback


Rating


71%


89%


17%


4%


7%


3%


3
%


1
%


2
%


2
%


Student


Parent


Overall Communication


95%


98%


5%


2%


Student


Parent


Provided Specific Feedback
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FLVS Teacher Quality Continued


Using a Yes or No scale - 94.8 percent of students and 96.5 percent of parents selected 'yes' - 


indicating the teacher was there to respond to student requests when received during the week 


was excellent.


Using a Yes or No scale - 92 percent of students and 95.6 percent of parents selected 'yes' - 


indicating the teacher was there to respond to student requests within 24 hours, Monday through 


Friday was excellent.


Yes


52,039


No


2,848


Your teacher responded to your requests within 24 hours or less, Monday thru Friday…


Chart 9 – FLVS Teacher Responded Within 24 Hours


Student


Yes


95.6


Response Counts


Response Counts


Parent 6,615 303


No


50,490 92.04,397


Chart 8 – Responded to Requests Monday - Friday


Respond in 24 Hrs


% Yes


Respond M-F


% Yes


94.8
96.56,676 242


Rating


Parent


Your teacher responded regularly to your requests when received during the FLVS week, Monday 


thru Friday…


Rating


Student


95%


97%


5%


3%


Student


Parent


Responded to Requests M-F


92%


96%


8%


4%


Student


Parent


Responded within 24 Hours







5 4 3 2 1


44,880 5,848 2,520 876 763


6,266 291 172 83 106


5 4 3 2 1


44,639 6,064 2,590 823 771


6,256 303 178 69 112
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FLVS Teacher Quality Continued


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'excellent' and 1 equals 'poor' - 92.5 percent of students and 


95.3 percent of parents indicated the teacher was willing to help with questions was strong.


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'very high' and 1 equals 'very low' - 92.3 percent of students 


and 95.3 percent of parents indicated focus on the student's success by the teacher was very 


high.


Student 92.3
Parent 95.3


Student 92.5
Parent 95.3


Chart 11 – FLVS Teacher Focused on Success


Rating


Your teacher being focused on your success during the course…


Response Counts Focused on Success


Score


Chart 10 – FLVS Teacher Willingness to Help


Your teacher’s willingness to help you with your questions during the course…


Response Counts Willingness to Help


ScoreRating


82%


91%


11%


4%


5%


2%


2
%


1
%


1
%


2
%


Student


Parent


Willingness to Help


81%


90%


11%


4%


5%


3%


1
%


1
%


1
%


2
%


Student


Parent


Teacher Focused on Success







5 4 3 2 1 Other


31,315 13,722 5,907 1,838 1,357 748


5,373 982 314 100 97 52


5 4 3 2 1


35,048 13,348 4,452 1,199 840


5,483 1,020 244 82 89
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Course Quality


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'excellent' and 1 equals 'poor' - 83.2 percent of students and 


91.6 percent of parents indicated course materials were helpful when understanding the subject 


matter. A small percentage of students and parents (1.4 percent and 0.8 percent respectively) 


indicated it was too soon to tell.


This section presents student and parent combined responses for midcourse and end-of-course 


surveys: how course materials helped to understand the subject matter, ease of finding way 


through course lessons, course set up and materials, and resources being interesting and new. 


(See charts 12-15)


Rating


Student


Rating


Student


The ease with which you are able to find your way through this course’s lessons…


Response Counts


Other = "Too Soon To Tell"


Parent


The course materials in how well they help you to understand the subject matter…


Response Counts


Chart 12 – Quality of Course Materials


Parent


Course Materials Quality


Score


83.2


91.6


Course Navigation


Score


86.7
92.4


Chart 13 – Ease of Course Navigation


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'excellent' and 1 equals 'poor' - 86.7 percent of students and 


92.4 percent of parents indicated ease of navigation through the course's lessons was easy to do.


57%


78%


25%


14%


11%


5%


3
%


1
%


2
%


1
%


1
%


1
%


Student


Parent


Course Materials Quality


64%


79%


24%


15%


8%


4%


2
%


1
%


2
%


1
%


Student


Parent


Course Navigation







5 4 3 2 1


11,092 5,215 3,152 1,163 933


2,271 599 188 60 46


5 4 3 2 1


11,170 5,300 3,129 1,074 882


2,284 601 180 52 47


Course Quality Continued


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'strongly agree' and 1 equals 'strongly disagree' - 78.3 


percent of students and 89.4 percent of parents indicated the course was set up in a way the 


student likes to learn.


Using a 5-point scale where 5 equals 'strongly agree' and 1 equals 'strongly disagree' - 78.8 


percent of students and 89.7 percent of parents indicated the course materials were interesting 


and new.
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Chart 14 – Course Set Up


Chart 15 – Course Materials and Resources are Innovative


Parent


This course is set up in the way you like to learn…


Parent


Course Set Up


Score


78.3
89.4


Innovative Resources


Score


78.8
89.7


Student


The course materials and resources are interesting and new…


Response Counts


Rating


Student


Response Counts


Rating


51%


72%


24%


19%


15%


6%


5
%


2
%


4
%


1
%


Student


Parent


Course Set Up


52%


72%


25%


19%


15%


6%


5
%


2
%


4
%


1
%


Student


Parent


Innovative Resources







Score Score


Student 90.8 Student 75.0


Parent 95.3 Parent 87.8


Top Area for Excelling and Top Area to Improve


Overall Satisfaction


Below are summary results for Overall Satisfaction, Teacher Quality, and Course Quality and 


their corresponding questions. These scores were previously shown in the question's individual 


section; however, they have been compiled below to show how scores compare to one another 


and between student/parent.


Below the graph, insights will be given for each section around the areas performing the best 


and those needing improvement from both the students' and parents' perspectives. Lastly, the 


question with the largest score gap between student and parent will be identified.


InMoment, Inc. | Florida Virtual School | FLVS Flex Student and Parent Executive Summary 2017-18 | Page 13


Areas to Improve


Recommend


Largest Gap Between Student and Parent


82.3


Student Score


13.0


Gap


Recommend


Teacher Satisfaction


Areas Excelling


Best Learning Experience


Best Learning Experience


95.3


Parent Score


9
0
.8


8
3
.7


7
5
.0


8
5
.1


8
2
.3


9
4
.9


9
2
.4


8
7
.8


9
4
.1


9
5
.3


Teacher Satisfaction Course Satisfaction Best Learning
Experience


Take Another Course Recommend


Student Parent







Score Score


Student 95.4 Student 88.1


Parent 97.5 Parent 94.5


Score Score


Student 86.7 Student 78.3


Parent 92.4 Parent 89.4


Course Quality


FLVS Teacher Quality


Largest Gap Between Student and Parent Gap Student Score Parent Score


Overall Communication 6.3 88.1 94.5


Areas Excelling Areas to Improve


Course Navigation


Top Area for Excelling and Top Area to Improve Continued


Course Set Up


Course Navigation Course Set Up


Provide Specific 


Feedback


Overall Communication


Largest Gap Between Student and Parent Gap Student Score Parent Score


Areas Excelling Areas to Improve


Provide Specific 


Feedback


Overall Communication
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Course Set Up 11.2 78.3 89.4
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Appendix


Four-Year Scoring Trends


Scores are derived using a standard average. (5-point scale: 100-75-50-25-0)


Scores below may differ from response distribution due to rounding differences.


Overall Satisfaction


Teacher Quality Satisfaction


Course Quality Satisfaction
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2014-15
 School Year


2015-16
 School Year


2016-17
 School Year


2017-18
 School Year


Teacher Satisfaction 87.5 90.2 90.2 91.2


Course Satisfaction 82.4 82.7 82.6 84.7


Recommend 81.7 80.9 81.6 84.0


Take Another Course 83.3 83.9 83.9 86.2


Best Learning Experience 75.2 73.6 73.3 76.7
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2014-15
 School Year


2015-16
 School Year


2016-17
 School Year


2017-18
 School Year


Level of Care 87.8 89.9


Learning Needs Assistance 87.2 89.4


Response Time Satisfaction 85.5 88.2


Overall Communication 84.1 87.2 87.2 88.8


Willingness to Help 91.9 91.8 92.8


Teacher Focused on Success 91.9 91.8 92.7
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2014-15
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2015-16
 School Year


2016-17
 School Year


2017-18
 School Year


Course Navigation 84.7 85.6 85.8 87.3


Course Materials Quality 80.7 82.0 82.2 84.1


Course Materials & Resources 77.9 77.3 76.9 80.2


Course Set Up 77.5 76.7 76.3 79.7
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Third Party Vendor
Management


Version 1.7







Focus of Maturity Model
This maturity model focuses on four key areas, as illustrated in the Third Party Vendor Management Lifecycle diagram below







Maturity Assessment on a Page
Our independent assessment indicates that whilst current processes and practices require enhancing to achieve target state,
vendor segmentation could be an area of immediate focus


Segmentation
Segments are not
defined and no
segmentation strategy is
in place


Ad hoc approaches are
taken to manage vendors, at
the Vendor Manager’s
discretion. There is no
standardized vendor
segmentation process


Simple segment tiers (i.e.
based on business and
market impact) have been
defined and influence  the
management of vendors


Sophisticated segment tiers
have been defined and
populated, and are effectively
used to inform vendor
management


Segment tiers have been
defined based on value
drivers aligned with
organizational and strategic
requirements, and are used
to drive vendor management


Risk
Management


No risk analysis or
practices are conducted
and there is minimal
awareness of vendor
risks


There are ad hoc vendor risk
identification and
management practices.
There is no standardized
vendor risk management
process.


Existing practices for vendor
risk management are not
sophisticated, but are
standardized across vendors.
Vendor risks are monitored
periodically


Vendor risks are monitored,
updated, and managed. Risk
processes are formalized and
communicated to the
organization


Vendor risk management
practices are sophisticated,
with different risk
identification, monitoring,
and management practices
required for each vendor
segment


Performance
Management


There is a lack of a
recognizable vendor
performance
management process


There are ad hoc
approaches to establishing
KPIs, monitoring and
managing vendor
performance. There is no
standardized vendor
performance management
process


Vendor management plans
are prepared for most
strategic vendors and are
standardized across vendors.
Vendor performance is
tracked against SLAs and
KPIs on a periodic basis


SLAs are in place which
include specific, measureable
key performance indicators
that are regularly monitored
and reported against


Vendor performance
management practices are
sophisticated, with different
monitoring processes and
management practices in
place for each vendor
segment


Phase Out


Termination clauses and
phase out clauses are
not included in vendor
contracts, and
succession planning does
not take place


There are no standardized
phase out processes or
clauses in vendor contracts.
There are ad hoc
approaches to vendor phase
out which differ for each
vendor


High level succession
planning takes place, and
basic phase out and
transition practices are
standardized for all vendors


A phase out and transition
process has been formalized
and communicated, and is
effectively used to inform
vendor contracts, phase out
plans, and manage vendor
relationships


A comprehensive phase out
plan is established for all
vendors, aligned with their
segmentation. A detailed
impact analysis, is conducted
as part of the preparation of
the phase out plan







Segmentation
What factors are used to determine vendor segments in order to drive targeted vendor management? How often are these
segmentations reviewed?


Limited Developing Established Integrated Leading
There is a lack of a
recognizable vendor
segmentation process in
place.


Segments are not defined
and no segmentation
strategy is in place.


Resources are not allocated
to vendors based on
segment.


Tools do not exist to assist
with vendor segmentation.


No segment refresh plan
exists as vendors are not
segmented.


There is no standardized
vendor segmentation
process. There are ad hoc
approaches which tend to be
applied on an individual
basis.


Segments have been
broadly defined, with
vendors assigned on an ad
hoc basis.


Resources are informally
allocated to vendors ad hoc
based on segmentation.


Tools are used to assist with
vendor segmentation on an
ad hoc basis.


No segment refresh plan
exists but vendor segments
are refreshed on an ad hoc
basis.


Existing practices for vendor
segmentation are not
sophisticated, but have been
formalized in a procedure
and communicated to the
wider organization.


Simple segment tiers (i.e.
based on business and
market impact) have been
defined and segmentation is
used to determine the
criticality and prioritize
vendors.


Resources are broadly
allocated to vendors based
on segmentation.


Basic tools are used to
assist with vendor
segmentation.


A segment refresh plan is
established and conducted
annually for all strategic
vendors.


A sophisticated vendor
segmentation process has
been formalized,
communicated, and is
effectively used to inform
vendor management.


Sophisticated segment tiers
have been defined and
populated with an in depth
understanding of vendor risk
and value to the
organization.


Resources are allocated to
vendors based on their
segmentation.


Sophisticated automation
and tools are used for
vendor segmentation,
however are used in a
limited or fragmented way.


A segment refresh plan is
established conducted
annually for all strategic
vendors and other vendors
as the need is identified.


A vendor segmentation
strategy has been
established with clear
understanding of internal
and external segmentation
drivers.


Segment tiers have been
defined based on value
drivers aligned with
organizational and strategic
requirements.


Resources with the
appropriate skills and
experience are allocated to
all vendors based their
segmentation


Sophisticated automation
and tools are used
effectively for vendor
segmentation.


A segment refresh plan is
established and conducted
annually for each vendor on
a rolling basis.







Risk Management
What processes are in place to anticipate, monitor and manage vendor risks?


Limited Developing Established Integrated Leading
There is a lack of a recognizable risk
management process.


A risk register is not used at a
contract or organizational level.


No risk analysis is conducted and
there is minimal awareness of
vendor risks.


There is no formal risk monitoring
process


Risk treatments are performed on an
ad hoc basis, when risks are
realised.


There is no formal risk reporting
process.


No tools are used to assist with
vendor risk management.


There is no standardized vendor risk
management process. There are ad
hoc approaches which tend to be
applied on an individual basis.


There is a risk register at a contract
level. It is not regularly updated and
may not be exhaustive.


Minimal vendor risk analysis is
completed during the procurement
stage.


Short term risks are monitored (e.g.
vendor performance and operations)
on an ad hoc basis.


Risk treatments focus on tactical
events (e.g. short term availability
dips, service availability, unexpected
price inflation etc.).


Risks are reported on in an ad hoc
manner.


Tools are used to assist with vendor
risk management on an ad hoc basis
.


Existing practices for vendor risk
management are not sophisticated,
but have been formalized in a
procedure and communicated to the
wider organization.


There is a risk register at a contract
level which contains key risks.


Vendor risk analysis is completed
during the procurement stage and
again at contract formation but not
on an ongoing basis throughout the
life of the contract.


Medium term operational risks are
monitored (e.g. dependence on a
single supplier, stability of business
requirements etc.) during periodic
governance meetings.


Risk treatments are documented,
with no official governance around
completion of actions and
remediation strategies.


New risks are reported on a regular
basis


Basic tools are used to assist with
vendor risk management
.


A sophisticated vendor risk
management process has been
formalized, communicated, and is
effectively used to inform
vendor risk management practices.


Risk registers exist at the contract
level, and informs an organization
wide risk register.


Vendor risk analysis is completed
during the procurement stage, at
contract formation and on an
ongoing basis throughout the life of
the contract.


Long-term strategic risks are
monitored (e.g. supplier insolvency,
legislative changes etc.) during
periodic governance meetings.


Risk treatments are documented
with an evaluation of the level of risk
reduction each action contributed.


Risks are reported on and updates
made to previously identified risks on
a regular basis.


Sophisticated automation and tools
are used for vendor risk
management, however are used in a
limited or fragmented way.


Vendor risk management practices
are sophisticated, with differing risk
management practices for each
vendor segment.


The risk register has an exhaustive
list that includes medium and low
risks. There is a clear logic to how
risks are identified and managed.


Vendor risk analysis is completed
during the procurement stage, at
contract formation and on an
ongoing basis throughout the life of
the contract. Risk analysis uses
sophisticated supplier risk scores to
evaluate risks across various areas
(e.g. financial, environmental,
continuity, information security and
operational).


Risks are monitored using periodic
supplier surveys conducted and
external market intelligence gathered
on supplier stability on an ongoing
basis.


Risk treatments and actions are
clear and a formal remediation
tracking process has been
developed and implemented.


Risks reporting is automated and
risks are constantly being flagged,
formally reviewed and updated.


Sophisticated automation and tools
are used effectively for vendor risk
management.







Performance Management
What practices are in place to establish expectations of, monitor and manage vendor performance? Are practices aligned to the
vendor’s segmentation?


Limited Developing Established Integrated Leading
There is a lack of recognisable
vendor performance management
process.


No tools are used to assist with
performance management.


There are no resources assigned to
manage vendors.


Vendor management plans are not
prepared.


Service Level Agreements are not in
place and key performance
indicators are not established.


Vendors are left to manage
themselves in a completely
uncontrolled environment.


There is no standardized vendor
performance management process.
There are ad hoc approaches which
tend to be applied on an individual
basis.


Tools are used to assist with
performance management on an ad
hoc basis.


Some resources are assigned to
manage vendors on an ad hoc basis


Vendor management plans are
prepared for some strategic vendors.


Service Level Agreements are not in
place. General performance
indicators have been established.


The overall approach to performance
monitoring is disorganised and
inconsistent.


Existing practices for performance
management are not sophisticated,
but have been formalized in a
procedure and communicated to the
wider organization.


Basic tools are used to assist with
performance management.


Dedicated resources with
appropriate skill sets are assigned to
manage categories of vendors.


Vendor management plans are
prepared for most strategic vendors.


Service Level Agreements are in
place which include clear key
performance indicators.


It is mandated that the monitoring
process is followed, however it is
unlikely that deviations will be
detected as there are no assurance
processes in place. Performance
monitoring regularly tracks
performance against Service Level
Agreements.


Sophisticated vendor performance
management practices have been
formalized, and communicated, and
are widely used throughout the
organization.


Sophisticated automation and tools
are used for performance
management, however are used in a
limited or fragmented way.


Dedicated resources with
appropriate skill sets are assigned to
manage each vendor contract.


Vendor management plans are
prepared for all strategic vendors.


Service Level Agreements are in
place which include specific,
measureable key performance
indicators that can be clearly
monitored and reported against


Vendor performance monitoring
requirements are driven by vendor
segmentation. Ongoing performance
monitoring tracks performance and
quality against Service Level
Agreements and focuses on
efficiency and effectiveness of
interactions between suppliers and
the business.


Vendor performance management
practices are sophisticated, with
differing performance management
practices for each vendor segment.


Sophisticated automation and tools
are used effectively for vendor
segmentation


A dedicated resource with an
appropriate skill set is assigned to
manage the vendor relationship
across the entire vendor lifecycle for
all vendor contracts.


Sophisticated vendor management
plans are created for all strategic
vendors. Vendor management plans
are reviewed and revised on a
periodic basis.


Service Level Agreements are in
place which include clear, which
include clear, measureable key
performance indicators. Established
performance metrics support
measurement of compliance /
alignment with strategy


Sophisticated performance
management processes and
governance are established based
on vendor segmentation. There is
continuous vendor performance
monitoring which includes the use of
scorecards, reporting and defined
remediation plans embedded to
ensure compliance with Service
Level Agreements. There is an
established link between vendor
performance and future sourcing /
business opportunities.







Phase Out
What elements are in place to enable a smooth phase out of vendors, with little to no service disruption? How does SNSW know it
has received value for money?


Limited Developing Established Integrated Leading
There is a lack of recognizable
phase out process.


Succession planning does not
take place.


Termination clauses and phase
out clauses are not included in
vendor contracts.


There is no process or checklist
in place for contractual close or
handover of information. No
review on the impact of vendor
phase out is conducted.


There are no standardized
phase out processes. There are
ad hoc approaches which tend
to be applied on an individual
basis.


High level succession planning
takes place for some vendors
close to the end of the contact.


Termination clauses are
included in most contracts.
Phase out clauses are not
included in original vendor
contracts.


A generic vendor phase out
checklist is in place.


Existing practices for phase out
and transition have been
formalized in a procedure and
communicated to the wider
organization.


High level succession planning
takes place for all vendors close
to the end of the contact.


Termination clauses are
included in all contracts.
Phase out clauses outlining
generic tasks to be completed
by vendors as part of phase out
are included in vendor
contracts.


A basic phase out plan,
including a schedule of
activities, is established for all
strategic vendors.


A sophisticated phase out and
transition process has been
formalized and communicated,
and is effectively used to inform
phase out and transition.


Succession planning takes
place at the time of contract
formation.


Termination and phase out
clauses outlining service
specific tasks to be completed
by vendor as part of phase out
are included in all contracts.


A comprehensive phase out
plan, including a detailed
schedule of activities and
clearly defined roles and
responsibilities, is established
for all strategic vendors to
manage exposure, risk,
timeframes and continuity of
operations. Actions are tracked
and timelines revised where
necessary.


Vendor phase out practices are
sophisticated, with differing
phase out practices for each
vendor segment.
This includes an established
process to validate vendor
performance, legal
requirements and potential
lower ranked impacts.


Succession planning takes
place at the time of contract
formation and includes
consideration of a number of
options.


Termination and phase out
clauses outlining vendor
specific tasks to be completed
by the vendor as part of phase
out are included in all contracts.
Phase out clauses are
determined based on vendor
segmentation and identified
vendor risks.


A comprehensive phase out
plan is established for all
strategic vendors, using vendor
data collected throughout the
contract period. A detailed
impact analysis, is conducted
as part of the preparation of the
phase out plan.
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Introduction


Online learning, in many forms, is growing rapidly across the United States. Some students are taking 
a single online course while attending a physical school. Other students attend schools that split 
time between online and face-to-face content and instruction throughout the school day. They may 
rotate between learning labs with laptops and classrooms that look and feel much like a traditional 
school. Still other students attend schools that blend online and face-to-face instruction in all classes 
throughout the day; although these students attend a physical school it looks nothing like a traditional 
school building. Finally, some students are attending schools that don’t have a physical building at 
all. These full-time online schools still have highly qualified teachers and curriculum, and still foster 
interaction between students and teachers, but students typically access courses from home.


The stories of individual students demonstrate why online schools are the best option for some 
students who require a different learning environment, schedule flexibility, or some other element 
different than what is provided by traditional schools. Kelly, for example, was a pregnant teen who 
had dropped out of her traditional school. She enrolled in an online school that she could attend 
to more easily balance school and parenting responsibilities, and is now on track to graduate. Carl 
was not performing well because he was not challenged in school, even though he had been in 
gifted classes. In the personalized learning environment of his online school, his teachers have been 
able to differentiate instruction for him and challenge him to do well. He has responded and is now 
proficient in math and reading. Justin has recently developed serious asthma and additional health 
problems, and his parents worry about sending him to a traditional school until he learns to better 
manage these health issues. Until that happens, he is attending an online school so he can maintain 
his education without attending his traditional school. 


Each of these examples of online or blended learning environments is an important component 
of the overall field of expanding learning opportunities in the 21st century. One of the reasons 
that online learning is expanding so rapidly is that teachers can personalize learning, using more 
engaging content and technology tools to better address the needs of each student in a way that 
is very difficult for a traditional environment (a single teacher lecturing 30 students with a single 
textbook) to match. In the same manner that different elements of an online course are best 
suited to different students, varied types of online learning are best suited to individual students as 
well. All of the models of education—traditional, full-time online, full-time onsite, or a blend—are 
appropriate for some students. Students are making these choices in growing numbers: in the 
United States there are nearly 2 million students taking single online courses, and 275,000 students 
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in full-time online schools. Twenty-eight states offer online courses through a statewide virtual 
school providing students with supplemental online courses; 31 states have full-time online schools 
for students in K-12 education.


Technology-based models allow for rapid capture of student performance data and personalized 
instruction tailored to the specific needs of individual students. Teachers, who adapt instruction by 
accessing data on student mastery and work with students to target their needs, can individualize 
learning to reflect the skills and knowledge students have mastered. These online and blended 
models have the potential to keep students engaged and supported as they learn, to allow students 
to access the best teachers from any location, and to help students to progress at their own pace, 
leading to dramatically higher levels of learning and attainment. The ultimate power of online and 
blended learning, however, lies in its ability to transform the education system and enable higher 
levels of learning through competency-based instruction.


There is much to be done to achieve this promise. While enrollment in online and blended models 
is growing rapidly, the field is still nascent and there is great diversity in the quality and overall 
effectiveness of courses and content available today. Increasing access alone will not lead to better 
outcomes for students. In order for online and blended learning to transform the education system, 
it is essential that the models available are high quality and successfully increase achievement. 
Fulfilling the potential of a student-centric, competency-based system will require that the field of 
online and blended learning and the policy environment in which it operates evolve to demand 
models that are not only different, but more effective, than traditional schooling. 


Online learning is becoming more common—but is it a better way for students to learn than 
traditional schools? In some ways the answer is clearly yes. Some students are, for example, taking 
Advanced Placement courses that they would otherwise not have access to if it was not for an online 
course. They are better prepared for college or career having had the option to take the online 
course. Students who attend an online school as a last resort because they have not succeeded 
in traditional schools, or students who are physically unable to attend traditional schools, are also 
clearly better off because of the online option.


But what of the many other students who are choosing online schools when they might instead 
remain in the traditional classroom—is the online school a better option for them? 


The simplest answer to that question is we do not know, because most state accountability and data 
systems can’t easily provide the information about individual student growth on mastery outcomes 
that is necessary to produce the answer. 


Background on quality assurance and related 
accountability outcomes
For decades, K-12 education has addressed quality issues mostly via inputs. Inputs provide helpful 
criteria and indicate critical success factors in instructional design and managing programs—but 
they don’t tell us what works and is effective based on outcomes. Examples of inputs-based 
quality assurance include policymakers requiring courses meet state content standards, textbooks 
going through extensive reviews, and requiring teachers to have licenses and receive professional 
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development. However, the problem is that in many cases these inputs have not been correlated 
with improved student outcomes. While it might make sense to expect that a teacher who has 
received more professional development would be a better teacher for students, there are limited 
data available to determine if this is true or not. 


With the passage of No Child Left Behind (NCLB) in 2001, the federal government for the first time 
mandated each state create its own assessment tools to measure grade-level proficiency and its 
own accountability frameworks based on testing students to reach 100% proficiency (on its own 
standards in reading and math) by 2014. Only 11 states had previously set academic standards for 
reading and math and had them in place. With a large road to forge ahead in accountability, NCLB 
set a requirement that each state would create its own plan and that students would be tested for 
proficiency in math and language arts across several grade levels, with at least a single assessment 
at the end of the year, to make an annual determination of student achievement based on the 
state’s own standards. 


The resulting accountability framework and the once-a-year, end-of-year assessment regime, is 
flawed in many ways. The resulting state assessments provide an annual snapshot of school 
accountability at one point during the year, but that snapshot is often not enough to tell us 
about student performance and individual growth in the context of college and career readiness. 
Availability of data is still weak. Partly, this is because the tests are limited in grade levels, there 
are many non-tested subject areas and grade levels, and the current tests lack the ability to assess 
critical thinking and higher order skills. Most importantly, these tests rarely tell us about how 
much the student has learned in the past year—how much they have grown during the duration 
of a school, program or learning environment. Two national consortia are developing assessments 
based on the Common Core State Standards; they are likely to provide better measures for English/
Language Arts and Math in certain grades but will not assess proficiency across all the K-12 grades 
and subject areas. End-of-year, annual summative assessments are snapshots of a single moment, 
and provide little to no data on the learning trajectory that the student is experiencing.


“Systems of assessments” are needed to understand quality assurance based on outcomes. These 
would provide data upon entry through adaptive assessments showing gaps or mastery of 
proficiency across the K-12 continuum, ongoing performance-based assessments where students 
demonstrate mastery exhibited in their work products, formative assessments reflecting student 
proficiency and skills, and summative “end of unit” or “end of course” validating assessments to 
provide a much more comprehensive set of data and information to understand student learning 
outcomes and growth trajectories. Rolling students’ individual proficiency and standards-based 
outcomes data up to the school level could provide a better way to assess how well students are 
served by a school or program.


Recognizing the limitation of the current accountability model based on a single assessment and 
using age-based cohorts, an increasing number of states are considering and moving towards new 
models of accountability that are focused on measuring student growth—how much a student 
has learned over a period of time. Still, usually the time period is the year between annual state 
assessments. Ideally, these growth models would measure real learning by individual students in a 
way that is easy to explain and analyze. The limitations of today’s state systems mean that this ideal 
is rarely achieved. The result is that the information we have to evaluate schools does not paint a 
complete picture in most states. This applies to all schools, but has specific implications for online 
schools. 
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Online schools are also challenged by a single measure end-of-year test, which does not include 
substantive data on individual student growth. School accountability that judges students by age-
based cohort groups, or by meeting percentiles of proficiency rather than demonstrating proficiency 
at a standards-based level, makes it very difficult to understand the success of schools that are 
moving students toward proficiency and mastery at accelerated levels of individual student growth, 
especially for students who have been behind or ahead of grade level historically. The importance of 


“systems of assessments,” understanding proficiency levels upon entry, identifying gaps, measuring 
real progress over smaller increments of time, and collecting standards-based data on proficiency 
toward college and career-readiness through performance-based assessments, along with validating 
data, are all essential pieces of information to know how well a student is doing in a more holistic 
way—and to provide robust accountability based on student outcomes.


Many people interpret the current dialog on “growth models” to mean states are measuring an 
individual student’s academic growth along a trajectory—measuring proficiency of standards at 
program or intervention entry and exit (often simply a “year’s worth” of schooling). Ideally, growth 
models would measure real learning by individual students in a way that is easy to explain and 
provides solid data. However, not all growth models are created equally. There are wide variances in 
how growth models are used for school accountability and whether they lump students into cohorts 
or not. There are value-add measures and models that may take into consideration individual 
student growth and extensive data on a student’s background and academic history. The notion of 
what a growth model is or should be often differs greatly; there is a wide range of “growth models” 
being deployed for annual state accountability systems, just as with NCLB there were 50 state 
accountability models. So, in viewing quality assurance through growth models, we must recognize 
that not all growth models for accountability will measure individual student growth. Although 
different measurement systems are labeled “growth models,” these systems must be much more 
transparent about whether they measure individual student growth along a trajectory. The  
bigger issue is the need for better transparency of student data: demographic, proficiency, and 
assessment data developed based on standards-based trajectories used to analyze individual student 
growth outcomes.


The challenge for policymakers
How can we approach quality assurance based on individual student outcomes along with 
inputs? Assessing a school is difficult without clear data on individual student growth—online 
or otherwise—to determine whether a program is actually supporting students to meet their 
educational goals. This report is not intended to be a treatise on comparing growth models. It is 
clear, however, that we need measures that show actual student learning outcomes—and we must 
realize that most states and schools are using a flawed assessment system that doesn’t necessarily 
measure entry and exit knowledge across the entire K-12 curriculum. This situation makes quality 
assurance a major challenge in the United States.


The fact that we don’t have outcomes-based quality assurance means we don’t know how well 
online schools and courses are educating students. This leads to two types of risk: first is the 
possibility that online learning will become ubiquitous, but not transformative. In districts and states 
that are moving rapidly to expand online and blended learning, if we don’t know how well the 
new methods are serving students we must ask: How are decisions being made regarding program 
implementation?
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The risk on the opposite side of the spectrum is that some states are not allowing students to enroll 
in online schools and courses, and in some cases, are threatening to restrict existing online schools 
and limit student and family choice. Without better data about student performance, we run the 
risk that we will restrict options that would improve student outcomes, because our systems are not 
comprehensive enough to measure the improvements.


How can educators and policymakers address quality assurance by understanding these issues and 
mitigating risks? To address these quality assurance questions requires collecting and reporting 
more transparent data, implementing multiple measures of student performance, rethinking school 
evaluation, and clarifying which performance metrics are most important to create a more robust 
benchmarking picture of performance. These can and should apply to all schools, but the need is 
especially pressing for online schools.


The road ahead
Many thought leaders and policymakers across the country are addressing these issues and 
attempting to improve their states’ quality and accountability systems. This paper looks at these 
issues through the lens of online schools, courses, and students. It suggests principles for reform 
that will help provide outcomes-based quality assurance to better identify successful schools, 
address needs of the student populations they serve, and may apply broadly to the ongoing debates 
about how best to evaluate physical schools as well. This report suggests multiple outcomes-based 
performance indicators and supporting metrics for quality assurance and effectiveness of online 
programs and courses.1 


1 Although many of the recommendations presented in this report can apply to blended learning, the variations in blended formats and 
instruction do not specifically fall under the scope of this report.
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A vision for the future; an immediate need to focus  
on outcomes-based effectiveness and individual  
student growth 


There are national efforts making significant progress in pursuing an outcomes-
based accountability, assessment, and content and skills quality agenda for American 
education. New assessments supporting the Common Core State Standards for 
college and career-readiness are the focus of the Smarter Balanced Assessment 
Consortium (SBAC) and the Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College 
and Careers (PARCC). States are beginning to connect K-12 data systems with post-
secondary data, workforce systems, and social services. Within several years, new 
assessments in English Language Arts and Math via the assessment consortia will 
be in use in most states across the country. Further progress will have been made in 
defining the best approaches to measuring student growth to better ensure  
that accountability systems are improved. These improvements vary by state, 
however, and synergies between these different systems of data and assessment  
will be necessary. 


Educators and policymakers cannot stand by in the meantime. State education 
agencies are deciding how to evaluate existing online schools. Charter school 
commissions and education boards in Maine, North Carolina, New Jersey, and other 
states are considering whether to allow the implementation or expansion of online 
schools. Florida, Utah, Idaho, Indiana, Georgia, and other states are expanding 
student choice to individual online courses, and determining how to ensure quality 
and hold course providers accountable. 


We honor the work of the experts in accountability models, value add, student 
growth, assessment consortia, data systems, and other parts of the education 
system and urge quality work to continue. The challenge for our field—online 
and blended practitioners, policymakers, and educational leaders—is to bridge 
the gap between existing systems and the time, years from now, when data and 
accountability systems will be much improved. For this reason, we present this 
paper as a framework for thinking about outcomes-based quality assurance and 
performance metrics.
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Exploring key performance metrics  
for student learning outcomes 


How are policy makers and education leaders thinking about evaluating education based on outcomes?


This section explores the building blocks of outcomes-based performance metrics. In writing this report, 
our research has unearthed five core performance metrics that are the foundation for the discussion of 
measuring student learning based on outcomes. These five performance metrics are proficiency, individual 
student growth, graduation rates, college and career readiness, and closing the achievement gap.


Proficiency measures provide the most commonly reported data. In some states, other performance 
indicators have been suggested for quality assurance rather than collected systematically from schools. 


In order to consider quality assurance in the context of online learning, we first describe these measures 
of student learning outcomes as each has advantages and shortcomings, but together they paint a 
more accurate picture of student outcomes. It is important to note that definitions of these measures 
vary from state to state. 


The subsequent sections of this report provide recommendations for how multiple measures of student 
outcomes should be implemented for full-time online schools and individual online courses. Outcomes 
measures are discussed in more detail below, and in some cases additional information is provided in 
the appendices.


It is important to understand each of these metrics in the context of developing a more holistic 
framework of quality assurance in future sections of the report. 


Education leaders in numerous states are considering better approaches to evaluating student 
performance outcomes. A key starting point for evaluating online schools’ effectiveness are 
measures of proficiency. Beyond proficiency, or how much a student knows at a distinct point of 
time, there are other measures of student learning that examine a student’s growth of knowledge, 
skills, and deeper learning to prepare them for college and careers over time. Many states are 
moving toward formally using multiple measures of student learning in assessing outcomes and 
performance.


We present in this section a set of measures that may be used to evaluate student outcomes more 
robustly than is often being done currently with proficiency alone. We have identified multiple 
outcomes-based measures that should be explored more closely when moving toward quality 
assurance and evaluations of schools: 
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•• Proficiency


•• Individual student growth


•• Graduation rate


•• College and career readiness


•• Closing the achievement gap


Proficiency
Proficiency is the most basic of the measures. It evaluates what students know at a point in time 
in a given subject, and is usually associated with grade level. It is a necessary performance metric 
but insufficient, especially if proficiency data are solely based on age or grade cohorts, rather than 
an individual student’s overall proficiency map. Understanding student proficiency is an important 
starting point for a robust set of indicators. 


In thinking about online students progressing at their own pace based on demonstration of mastery, 
the role of a state in ensuring quality and proficiency requires student proficiency to be measured 
and validated. Ways to measure include state assessments, end-of-course exams, and national and 
international tests such as the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), Programme for 
International Student Assessment (PISA), and Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study 
(TIMSS). None of these tests covers a comprehensive range of grades and subject areas across K-12 
education. State assessments typically cover grades 3-8 plus one year of high school. 


Many educators realize that proficiency measures often “show more about who attended each 
school than how well they were being taught.”2 Online schools and other alternative schools, which 
serve students who are at-risk or over-age and under-credited, often do not demonstrate strong 
proficiency scores at grade level.


Although proficiency measures are widely used, they clearly do not cover a wide range of students 
and courses. How does a state deal with students advancing ahead of a traditional calendar 
schedule? How do we measure outcomes in untested subjects or grades? 


Growth
Measuring individual student learning based on proficiency, skills, and knowledge gained in a given 
period of time is a foundational concept behind growth. Examining individual student learning 
growth is necessary because proficiency measures alone will tend to reward schools whose students 
arrive above grade level, and penalize schools whose students arrive below grade level. This is of 
particular concern to online schools because they are often chosen by students who have been 
unsuccessful in traditional environments, are not achieving at grade level, are at-risk, over-age and 
under-credited, or otherwise not successful in a physical school. 


2  Richard Lee Colvin, Education Sector, Measures that Matter: Why California Should Scrap the Academic Performance Index,  
http://www.educationsector.org/sites/default/files/publications/MeasuresThatMatter-RELEASED.pdf 
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“Growth, in its simplest form, is a comparison of the test results of a student or group of 
students between two points in time where a positive difference would imply growth. If you 
analyze how a group of students performed at a school, in a program, or with a teacher, 
relative to a standard (e.g., compared to a baseline in a prior year or relative to other schools 
or educators), then you begin to produce information that differentiates growth and implies 
varying levels of effectiveness—areas of strength and opportunities for improvement. While 
seemingly simple, there are several policy, technical, and adaptive issues to address.


Growth measures come in various forms that differ in approach and design. You don’t 
necessarily need to understand the specific mathematical or statistical techniques 
economists and statisticians use in the models, but it is important to be comfortable 
discussing the educational assumptions within models, some terminology used to describe 
various models, and the importance of certain decision points to ensure alignment with your 
state or district’s goals.


There are a spectrum of models that measure student growth and estimate educator 
effectiveness, ranging from simple comparisons of student achievement, to descriptive 
analyses, to complex statistical models that estimate or make inferences about educator 
effectiveness. Often, you hear the terms “growth model” and “value-added” used 
interchangeably. This guide makes some distinctions between the two.


These models vary greatly in several areas:


•• The purpose for which they were developed; 


•• The assumptions made by model providers about the educational environments for 
which they were developed; and 


•• The mathematical/statistical approaches and techniques used to estimate student 
growth or value-added. 


Simple growth models describe the academic growth of a group of students between 
two points in time without directly making assumptions about the influence of schools or 
educators on that growth. This is accomplished by comparing students’ achievement, in a 
given subject, to their achievement the prior year. These models typically use limited student 
test data in the analysis and do not attempt to control for other factors (e.g., measurement 
error, student demographics, or other attributes). Simple growth models are fairly easy for 
educators to understand and often can be run internally by state or local experts. 


Value-added models attempt to estimate the influence of schools or classrooms on the 
academic growth rates of a group of students with statistical confidence. For example, if 
the school estimate is positive, it is interpreted that the performance of the school is greater 
than average or typical and therefore “value is added.” By nature, these models are more 
complex than simple growth models and rarely can be run internally without a statistician 
or economist on staff. Not all value-added models are the same because they often are 
designed to analyze a specific part of the educational system, such as pre-service programs, 
school or district factors, or teacher or classroom factors. These models employ various 
statistical approaches and use differing amounts or types of data in the analysis.”3


3 Battelle for Kids, Selecting Growth Measures: A Guide for Education Leaders 2011, http://www.edgrowthmeasures.org/
documents/Selecting_Growth_Measures_Guide.pdf 
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Growth models are clearly complex,4 but a few key points emerge from among them. Among these 
key points: “The most significant factor in selecting a growth model is how the information will be 
used to inform education decisions.”5 


For quality assurance, growth models should be based on individual students, and they should track 
multiple data points to show a student’s learning trajectory. They should not be based on cohorts, 
as some are. 


With data on proficiency levels, and individual student growth available, it is possible to analyze 
quality assurance along a continuum of outcomes. Students can be measured who were not 
proficient, but achieve high levels of growth, or alternatively, students who come in proficient, but 
grow slowly. Placing students in a matrix that combines growth and proficiency provides a snapshot 
of how well students (or a school) are performing. Proficiency or growth alone is insufficient to 
describe a student’s academic achievement and standing, but the snapshot of both, taken together, 
is powerful. 


This growth chart from Minnesota, for example, uses this approach in describing schools. Students 
who are proficient and have achieved high or medium growth are clearly successful. Students who 
are not proficient and are achieving low or medium growth clearly need further assistance. It is the 
students at the corners of the matrix—proficient/low growth and not proficient/high growth—for 
whom questions remain, because it is unclear whether those combinations should be considered 
acceptable for determining effectiveness.


Growth over the Current Academic Year


Prior Year Status Low Medium High


Proficient Students were 
proficient but made 
low growth.


Students continued to 
grow.


Students made 
exceptional growth.


Not Proficient Students were not 
proficient and made 
low growth.


Students were not 
proficient but made 
some growth.


Students were not 
proficient but made 
exceptional growth 
toward proficiency.


Graduation rate
Obtaining a high school diploma or equivalent (such as a GED) represents an important milestone 
for students, and is an indicator of future economic and social success. Graduation rate, however, 
has some drawbacks that need to be addressed if it is to be used effectively as a performance 
indicator. Although many states are moving toward reporting that provides consistent comparisons 


4 For additional information on growth models see State Growth Models for Accountability: Progress on Development and Reporting 
Measures of Student Growth from the Council of Chief State School Officers at http://www.ccsso.org/Documents/2010/State_
Growth_Models_2010.pdf 
5 Battelle for Kids, Selecting Growth Measures: A Guide for Education Leaders 2011, http://www.edgrowthmeasures.org/documents/
Selecting_Growth_Measures_Guide.pdf
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across states, such as the Graduation Counts Compact of the National Governors Association,6 often 
measures do not consider student mobility and credit deficiencies when students move into a new 
school. In many cases, graduation rate does not include an accommodation for extended time, and 
in some cases schools’ graduation rates are based on cohorts instead of individual students. 


Using graduation rate as a key performance indicator may create a disincentive for enrolling students 
who are behind in proficiency, dropouts, or older, because of the negative impact on graduation 
rate if the graduation rate calculation does not allow for extra time. Alternatively, the potential 
exists to create an incentive for schools to work with under-credited students if graduation rate 
calculations account for students taking extra time, or students who achieve success through 
earning a GED. 


College and career readiness
Definitions of college readiness vary. The U. S. Department of Education defines college ready 
as having “the knowledge and skills to succeed in credit-bearing courses from day one, without 
remediation,” and career ready as “demonstrating the academic skills to be able to engage in 
postsecondary education and training without the need for remediation.” Regardless of the specific 
definition, there is a growing gap between students having a high school diploma or GED and being 
fully prepared with knowledge, skills, and dispositions for postsecondary education or to enter the 
workforce. Thirty-four percent of all students entering postsecondary institutions require at least 
one remedial course.7 Only 24 percent of students who took the ACT met the test’s readiness 
benchmarks in all four subjects (English, reading, math and science).8 All schools—both online and 
traditional—are facing challenges in preparing students for life past a high school diploma.


“College readiness and career readiness have become important policy goals for education over 
the past few years. The Common Core State Standards point toward college and career readiness. 
However, many people contend that it is unclear what is meant by these terms. What do they 
mean? What are some definitions? How can college and career readiness be measured? What are 
the implications of various measurement approaches?” A definition (Conley 2007, 2010) of college 
and career-readiness: “the level of preparation a student needs in order to enroll and succeed—
without remediation—in a credit-bearing course at a postsecondary institution that offers a 
baccalaureate degree or transfer to a baccalaureate program, or in a high-quality certificate program 
that enables students to enter a career pathway with potential future advancement. Success is 
defined as completing the entry-level courses or core certificate courses at a level of understanding 
and proficiency that makes it possible for the student to consider taking the next course in the 
sequence or the next level of course in the subject area or of completing the certificate.”9


6 National Governors Association, Implementing Graduation Counts, http://www.nga.org/cms/home/nga-center-for-best-practices/
center-publications/page-edu-publications/col2-content/main-content-list/implementing-graduation-2010.html
7  Bruce Vandal, Getting Past Go: Rebuilding the Remedial Education Bridge to College Success, Denver: Education Commission of the 
States, 2010, http://www.gettingpastgo.org/docs/GPGpaper.pdf 
8 The Condition of College & Career Readiness 2010 (Iowa City: ACT Inc., 2010)
9 David T Conley, Educational Policy Improvement Center, University of Oregon, Defining and Measuring College and Career Readiness, 
programs.ccsso.orgprojectsMembership_MeetingsdocumentsDefining_College_Career_Readiness.pdf
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Closing the achievement gap 
The student achievement gap pertains to disparities in academic performance between groups of 
students, largely based on standardized tests. It is defined by the U.S. Department of Education 
as “the difference in the performance between each ESEA subgroup…within a participating LEA or 
school and the statewide average performance of the LEA’s or State’s highest achieving subgroups 
in reading/language arts and mathematics as measured by the assessments required under the 
ESEA.”10 The subgroups include students who are economically disadvantaged, from major racial 
and ethnic groups, those with disabilities, and with limited English proficiency.11


Closing the achievement gap between subgroups of students has become a focus of federal and 
state education policy since the passage of NCLB. State assessment scores, dropout rates, course 
and class grades, and preparedness for and enrollment in post-secondary education are all areas 
where the achievement gap is apparent.


States address closing the achievement gap in school evaluations by aiming for greater levels of 
advancement from lower-performing subgroups. In Minnesota, for example, the ability of schools to 
gain higher levels of growth from lower-performing subgroups than the statewide growth average 
for high-performing subgroups is measured and taken into account as an indicator of success. 
Closing the achievement gap must include quality assurance provisions to ensure all students are 
held to high standards of college and career readiness and provide equity and excellence for all 
students.


To summarize, understanding these five performance metrics is important in developing a model for 
measuring quality based on student learning outcomes. The next chapters will explore these metrics 
as a cornerstone of building quality assurance for online learning programs. 


10 U.S. Department of Education, Definitions, http://www.ed.gov/race-top/district-competition/definitions
11 U.S. Department of Education, http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/pg2.html
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Recommendations for full-time 
online schools: school-level 
outcomes-based quality assurance


It is essential that online and blended learning practitioners and policy makers differentiate between 
high- and low-quality options for students. High-quality, effective programs must be recognized as 
such, become more available to students, and receive the funding they need to thrive. Similarly, lower-
quality, less effective programs must be identified, and made less available to students and less able 
to receive the funding necessary to continue. Only then will the field of online and blended learning 
achieve its full potential.


The goal of this section of the report is to recommend outcomes-based quality assurance standards and 
performance metrics for full-time online schools.


New innovations rarely fit into old models of measuring success. We believe there is a small window 
of opportunity to pilot within the field of online and blended learning a set of new outcomes-based 
performance metrics for quality that—once adopted and disseminated—would ultimately forge a 
path for outcomes-based quality assurance in K-12 education at large. 


Time is of the essence. Piloting performance metrics and collecting data based on outcomes are 
critical steps needed in the evolution of K-12 education quality assurance. There is a strong need to 
collect the data and require transparency for outcomes-based quality assurance. In developing these 
metrics, we recognize the need to not only collect and analyze performance data in aggregate, but 
also to disaggregate data by subgroups and by prior performance.


Outcomes-based quality assurance frameworks should include transparent data collection of 
multiple measures including:


•• Proficiency


•• Individual student growth along a trajectory


•• Graduation rates


•• College and career readiness


•• Closing the achievement gap


•• Fidelity to a student’s academic goals


These recommendations present a holistic set of metrics creating and implementing outcomes-based 
performance measures for online schools. It builds on the ideas presented in the previous section 
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discussing multiple measures of student outcomes, and suggests ways in which these measures 
should be implemented. 


Individual states are at different points in terms of creating measures in addition to proficiency. 
Some states are already using growth measures, and a smaller number of states are determining 
how to track college and career readiness. These recommendations, therefore, will be implemented 
in different ways by different states. Later in this report we suggest additional ideas for 
implementation and suggest two scenarios that suggest how the measures may be applied.


In considering the recommendations for outcomes-based quality assurance, there are critical success 
factors that must be taken into context.


Multiple measures of student outcomes should be in place.
High-quality measures of student outcomes should include performance metrics for proficiency and 
individual student growth. We believe that in addition to proficiency and growth, states should 
look at a combination of high school graduation rates, college and career-readiness, and closing the 
student achievement gap. Taken together, these five measures provide a picture of how well schools 
are achieving their educational goals.


Individual student performance should be measured and reported 
transparently based on standards.
Measures including growth and high school graduation rates are often based on cohorts of 
students, and not on actual, individual student’s skills and aptitudes. For example, the Average 
Freshman Graduation Rate used by the National Center for Education Statistics is based on dividing 
the number of students who graduate from a high school by an average of the number of students 
who were in 8th, 9th, and 10th grades in previous years.12 Instead of a cohort approach in which 
groups of students (who may or may not be the same individual students) are compared, actual 
individual students, with unique identifiers, should be measured, using standards-based assessments 
of proficiency over multiple points in time. 


Growth models should be based on the growth of individual students 
over time, not on cohorts. 
Growth calculations should address a conceptually simple question: what is the student’s gain in 
learning over a given period of time? That growth should be based on multiple assessments taken 
over time so that the student’s learning trajectory can be understood.


Untested subjects and grade levels must be assessed with validating 
assessments that can measure both proficiency and growth. 
Gaps in assessments should be reduced over time so that a fuller picture of student learning 
emerges. This might occur in part through expanded use of end-of-course exams (discussed in  


12 National Center for Education Statistics, Freshman Graduation Rate, nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/pdf/coe_scr.pdf
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the next section) in high school in particular, where the number of proficiency tests is lower than in 
the earlier grades. 


Online school data should be disaggregated separately from other 
schools or districts to assure accurate data.
In too many cases, results from online schools are not disaggregated from other data, such that the 
overall performance of online schools in a state is not reported. This extends even to some of the 
state audits that have been done; for example the state audit of online schools in Minnesota13 did 
not include all the online schools and students. Online schools should be required to have a separate 
school code so that their data can be analyzed. 


Online schools must be provided student performance data and prior 
student records on academic history from the school the student 
previously attended, in a timely manner.
A key benchmarking indicator is prior academic performance. Among the challenges that online 
schools face is receiving students’ prior information. Often the student’s prior district may feel 
that it is “losing” the student to the online school, and may be very slow in passing along student 
performance data. The state should play a role in either requiring that the data be forthcoming, or 
as a repository of student information so that it can pass the information to new programs and to 
the online school quickly and efficiently.


Data systems must be upgraded and better aligned to meet the 
challenge of collecting, reporting, and passing data between schools 
and the state.
Many of these recommendations require that student information systems be upgraded to report on 
student-level, standards-based proficiency levels. Many state data systems are not yet able to report 
on individual student performance. This limitation hampers school performance when students switch 
schools and the new school is unable to receive the student’s prior academic information quickly. 


This need extends throughout K-12 schools and into post-secondary systems in order to fully  
capture student trajectories. Numerous initiatives are in place to do this,14 but they remain largely 
early-stage and sporadic. In addition, issues exist beyond the technical challenges of capturing and 
reporting data.15


13 Office of the Legislative Auditor, State of Minnesota. Evaluation Report: K-12 Online Learning; http://www.auditor.leg.state.mn.us/
ped/2011/k12oll.htm
14 Annenberg Institute for School Reform at Brown University, College Readiness: Examples of Initiatives and Programs,  
http://annenberginstitute.org/publication/college-readiness-guide-field
15 Annenberg Institute for School Reform at Brown University, Linking High School and Postsecondary Data: Not Just a Technical 
Challenge, http://annenberginstitute.org/commentary/2012/06/linking-high-school-and-postsecondary-data-not-just-technical-
challenge
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Student fidelity toward academic goals, and reasons for mobility, must 
be addressed in data systems and accountability ratings.
Online schools are sometimes questioned because of the high rates at which students move into 
and leave the schools, without acknowledging that the moves could reflect students in need of 
a school that they will attend temporarily by design. Some students will attend an online school 
during a period of illness or injury; when these students leave the online school to go back to 
the physical school, having maintained their course or grade progression, this is a success toward 
reaching long-term academic goals through the flexibility they needed in an online school. Student 
mobility data in most cases do not capture whether the school changes have been good or bad for 
the student’s academic achievement. Assessing students’ proficiency levels, academic progress, and 
fidelity to overall goals on entry into and exit from a school would help address this issue.


The measures of student performance are complicated enough when the student attends a single 
school over time. When a student attends more than one school, the issue of how to divide 
responsibility for growth and high school graduation rates adds a new and complicating dimension 
to accountability across schools. 


This issue is particularly relevant for online schools because many online schools serve high numbers 
of mobile students. Students wanting an alternative can easily enroll in anytime, anyplace online 
schools—and leave just as easily. 


Physical schools as well as online schools are penalized similarly when students enter who are 
extremely credit deficient, especially in 11th and 12th grade. The difference, however, is that online 
schools often have higher mobility rates than physical schools, so they are disproportionately 
penalized. Absolute transparency of student data is needed to understand how online schools are 
serving and helping all students.


The measures discussed above are complex and require appropriate systems of assessments to 
provide adequate data for outcomes-based quality assurance. How quality assurance performance 
metrics are implemented matters as much as how they are conceived. These are recommendations 
that we believe state education leaders should consider for outcomes-based quality assurance and 
to improve accountability for full-time online schools. Recommendations for supplemental online 
courses are made in the next section. 
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Recommendations for online  
courses: course-level outcomes-based 
quality assurance


The need exists for outcomes-based performance indicators at the course level as well as at the full-
time online school level. Student choice of online courses from multiple providers is becoming more 
common. Increasing access for student learning opportunities through online courses is important. 
Just as with online programs, high-quality, effective courses and content must be recognized, become 
more available to students, and receive the funding needed to thrive. Thus, the need for online courses 
to be evaluated based on student learning outcomes is important. Utah and Florida have passed laws 
allowing course choice from multiple online providers, and other states including Kentucky, Louisiana, 
and Idaho are implementing or considering similar measures. 


This section presents a set of recommendations for how to implement outcomes-based performance 
measures for individual online courses. In some ways, evaluating individual online courses is more 
challenging than evaluating online schools, because traditionally the school has been the main focus 
of accountability from the state perspective, not the individual course. A few states have created 
and are implementing end-of-course exams or other course-specific evaluation measures, but in 
most cases the accountability rests with the district that accepts the course grade and credit.


Determining outcomes-based performance metrics for supplemental, online courses requires 
understanding proficiency, growth, and attainment of college- and career-ready knowledge 
and skills. Outcomes-based quality assurance for online courses should include transparent data 
collection of multiple measures including:


•• Proficiency


•• Individual student growth along a trajectory


The challenges for quality assurance for individual online courses are that many subjects for 
individual online courses do not have readily available pre-tests and post-tests for measuring 
proficiency or individual student growth. The same challenges for assessing course quality based on 
college and career readiness exist for full-time online schools as for individual online courses. The 
most common supplemental online course providers, including universities, state virtual schools, 
and vendors in partnerships with school districts, do not often have access to student data or a 
student’s prior academic performance. These challenges need to be addressed systemically in order 
to implement outcomes-based quality assurance. The recommendations involve a deeper exploration 
of several issues below.
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Need for common assessments across most  
course subjects 
With less focus on inputs, and a stronger focus on measuring outcomes for quality, there is a greater 
need for reliable end-of-course assessments in all subjects. Today, student success in most individual 
online courses is based on a measure that is intrinsic to the provider or school: the course grade. In 
the large majority of cases, the school or course provider submits a grade to the student’s home 
district, and the district accepts the grade and awards or accepts credit. The district may review 
the course materials to assess the quality of the course, an input-based indicator, but there is no 
assessment that is external to the provider that is based on outcomes.


Few cases exist where the results of individual courses are tied to or validated with an external 
assessment. Some states or programs are identifying the students or course codes when taking 
online courses so that their results on state assessments in reading, writing, and math can be 
correlated with the online course provider, but this is rare. A few states have end-of-course exams 
(EOCs) in at least some subject areas, allowing for all students in the state who have taken a course 
with an EOC to be compared with one another. Aside from these few examples, however, a gap 
clearly exists in evaluating student learning outcomes from individual online courses.


Given that state assessments cover relatively few subjects and gaps exist in subjects and grade levels 
covered—especially in high school when most individual online courses are taken—the most likely 
approach to evaluating individual online courses is by creating EOCs that cover the major middle and 
high school courses, especially those that are not covered by state assessments. 


Implementing end-of-course exams (EOCs)  
for individual online courses
Determining proctoring protocols for these EOCs would be necessary, but not especially difficult, 
because most students are accessing individual online courses from within their schools. Students 
should be able to take the exams online, in a proctored setting, when they finish the course—
whenever in the school year that is.


An EOC measures proficiency but not growth on its own; therefore EOCs alone would not be as 
robust as the multiple measures we are advocating for school accountability. At least two paths are 
available to course providers and districts to account for student’s knowledge prior to beginning the 
course. One option is that pre-tests could be created for these courses, either individually (by the 
providers) or as part of the effort to create EOCs. Alternatively, providers may require that for some 
courses students demonstrate that they have taken and passed prerequisite courses to demonstrate 
that they are ready to move into the online course. If adaptive assessments for that subject area are 
available, pre- and post- testing would help reveal student growth outcomes.


These options have implications that data systems must be up to the task of sharing student 
information, and states or schools are willing (or required) to provide student information to course 
providers, including prior academic performance and history. In most cases currently, supplemental 
course providers do not know how well students who have taken their online courses have 
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performed in state assessments, Advanced Placement exams, or any other measures external to the 
course provider. Improving data exchange is a necessary step for online schools and course providers 
to analyze data for student supports and continuous improvement. 


The creation and implementation of course-level pre- and post-exams would be a promising 
development to credential student outcomes as a validating assessment of learning anywhere, 
anytime as well as in extended learning opportunities to bridge informal and formal learning—
which takes place either inside or outside of a school or formal educational program. Although a 
larger discussion on the subject of informal learning is outside the scope of this report, one can 
envision how the existence of validating assessments for many courses could eventually allow 
students to place out of these courses if they can demonstrate that they have mastered the subjects 
via alternative means of demonstrating competence. 


These outcomes-based quality assurance performance metrics are meant to provide transparent 
proficiency and growth outcomes data on effectiveness for student learning for individual online 
courses. Since iNACOL first released the National Standards for Quality Online Courses, we have 
strived to provide states, districts, online learning programs, and other organizations with a set of 
quality guidelines for all aspects of online course quality. These standards provide an overall method 
and framework for ensuring quality across online courses, and encourage continuous improvement. 
First published in 2007 and updated in 2011, the iNACOL National Standards for Quality Online 
Courses were published to address the issues of online course content, instructional design, 
technology, student assessment, and course management.


Creating and formalizing quality assurance using both inputs and outcomes-based data can help 
programs identify what changes need to be made and measure the effectiveness of programs. 
Quality assurance frameworks rely on collecting significant feedback from quality review processes, 
instructors, students, surveys, data-driven decision-making, and analysis. The iNACOL National 
Standards for Quality Online Courses safeguards quality in the areas of academic content standards, 
embedded course assessments, instructor resources, lesson design, instructional strategies, 
technology, student resources, and supports, as well as provide rubrics for evaluation. This data-
driven decision-making process uses well-developed tools to support continuous improvement. 


We believe that quality assurance frameworks that are most valuable include both identifying a 
robust set of course quality standards and ultimately reviewing outcomes as a holistic approach—
building on key interdependencies of course content, design, instruction, resources, supports and 
identifying the related outcomes for student learning success. 
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Implementing the recommendations


Each state has its own unique accountability system in place with a different combination of 
academic standards and summative assessments. This has implications for the recommendations in 
the previous sections of this report. First, the recommendations will never be applied to a clean slate 
where no existing systems exist. Second, each state is different enough that the way in which the 
recommendations would be applied will vary. 


The report also encourages online schools and providers to build the capacity to monitor and promote 
quality by establishing quality assurance standards, transparency of data, and reporting practices that 
use student outcomes as the measure of effectiveness. While the policy evolution will ultimately create 
the incentives necessary to ensure that only effective models are available to students, it is essential 
that the field build its ability to meet this expectation and collect data on its own.


A starting point for state leaders is to evaluate the current school performance measures that 
currently exist in their state, perhaps using a rubric similar to the one below:


Measures  
and Issues Key Issues to Consider and Address
Proficiency What 


assessments 
currently exist?


Will the PARCC/
SBAC assessments be 
implemented, and if so 
when?


What are the current gaps in 
subject areas and grades covered, 
and the gaps that will exist when 
the PARCC/SBAC assessments are 
implemented?


Growth Does a growth 
measure exist 
now?


If not, is a growth 
measure being 
developed?


Does the growth measure evaluate 
individual student learning gains 
on a longitudinal trajectory?


Graduation rate How is 
graduation rate 
calculated?


Does it collect data on 
individual students?


Does it take into account student 
mobility? 


College and career 
readiness


Does a college and career 
readiness (CCR) measure exist?


Does it collect student data after they leave 
the K-12 system?


Student achievement 
gap


How is the student achievement 
gap measured?


Do measures of growth, proficiency, 
graduation rate, and CCR address 
differences in student subgroups?


Student mobility Are schools given enough time to work with students who may arrive over-age 
and under-credited and get them to grade completion or graduation?


Online course 
providers


Are students able to choose 
individual online courses from a 
provider of their choice?


Do any mechanisms exist to assess results 
of student performance on individual 
courses using an external, validating 
(moderating) end-of-course assessment?
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We present below two scenarios for how the recommendations might be employed.


Scenario 1: Implementing the measures for online schools 
in a state without online schools 
Twenty-nine states do not have full-time online schools as of October 2012. Although these states 
are the closest to the clean slate condition, they are still evaluating physical schools using inputs or 
current accountability models. Proficiency measures are based on existing state assessments (at a 
minimum). They may have a growth model in place or being developed, they are likely to calculate 
graduation rates, and they may even have a measure of college and career readiness.


When these states allow full-time online schools for the first time, they have the opportunity to 
create a method of authorizing these schools, including requiring the transparency of data that will 
be captured for online students. Although this system should not be an entirely new accountability 
system that operates in parallel with the existing state system, if the state has not yet moved to 
multiple measures, the online schools may present an opportunity to test new outcomes-based 
measures with a small population of students. 


In this scenario, the state could take the following steps to meet the goals outlined in this report:


1.	 Create a multi-year Quality Assurance research pilot that collects data using outcomes-based 
performance metrics, conduct an analysis on the effectiveness of measures and efficacy of 
approach, and evaluate the extent to which the goal of outcomes-based quality assurance is 
implemented in the pilot.


2.	 Create or use an existing state-level authorizing body that collects data on student 
performance from online schools annually, and reports the data to the legislature and public.


3.	 If a growth model is not in place, or if it does not use individual students’ results, require 
that all online students take an adaptive assessment, or entry and exit assessments at the 
start of each program in math and English at a minimum for elementary and middle school 
grades, and add additional subjects (e.g. science, history) for high school students.


4.	 Track student mobility and progress toward goals by a) requiring each online school to 
ask students why they chose the online school, and b) to clarify their academic goals for 
attending. When leaving, schools can track where students are going next, and the fidelity 
to their goals.


5.	 Require school districts to disclose student information and proficiency data to online 
schools in a reasonable amount of time. This requires having a unique student identifier, and 
investing in the state education agency to work with schools to better collect and transfer 
students’ performance data.


6.	 Implement a graduation rate calculation for students in online schools that takes into 
account students who arrive over-age and under-credited, consistent with best practices 
in the field for serving these youth. For example, calculate graduation rates on a six-year 
calculation instead of four-year.
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Scenario 2: States offering individual, supplemental 
online courses statewide and implementing quality 
assurance
Several states currently provide a course choice option in which students can choose to take an 
individual online course from multiple providers of online courses, and other states are moving in this 
direction. In some cases, the states providing course choice options require that the online courses 
meet certain criteria as designed by a state authorizing body. In addition, many states still allow local 
districts to determine what options are available for individual online courses for their students.


In this scenario with “course choice” states and districts, the implementation of quality assurance 
using the outcomes-based performance indicators of proficiency and growth measures would better 
inform authorizing entities, educators, and parents about which courses are producing the best 
outcomes through transparency of data. States could develop a more comprehensive data system that 
integrates assessment data from courses outside the current EOC performance measures into state 
and federal reporting requirements and make that information available to students and families.


For quality assurance using outcomes for individual online courses, here is an example of how a 
state would take the following steps to effectively implement the measures outlined in this report:


1.	 State would set up an online course clearinghouse.


2.	 State would require districts, vendors, and other course providers to apply to have their 
courses reviewed and accepted based upon current online course quality standards in a 
rolling review process. 


3.	 State would list online courses in the online course clearinghouse.


4.	 Students would register for approved online courses through the clearinghouse or their local 
school district.


5.	 The online course clearinghouse would require outcomes data to link back to the student 
data profile through the student information system and provide achievement data based on 
a unique course identifier. Schools within the state would need to delineate course codes to 
assure that reporting indicates that student took an online course.


6.	 Data would be collected on the individual online course and provider.


7.	 State would develop pre-and post-assessments for subject areas offered in the online course 
clearinghouse, including subjects outside the traditionally tested courses. The pre- and post-
test data would help determine student performance in individual courses. The pre/post 
assessment data would also be used to determine growth in the subject. Growth measures 
must be reported at the individual student level for the individual course.


8.	 State would partner with a university or external research entity to develop research 
pilots, review performance data across all subjects, examine the efficacy of the measures, 
understand outcomes based on student performance, and evaluate online course quality 
tied to data.


9.	 The state would adapt current assessment and reporting processes to allow for data from 
courses outside the traditionally-tested subject areas to be included in the data reporting.
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Investigating policy issues affecting quality: 
Recognizing unintended consequences and 
perverse incentives driving today’s system


In the course of the research of the quality assurance project, a number of policies surfaced that are 
counter to incentivizing rapid gains for student outcomes in learning, thus providing what we will term 


“perverse incentives” for school systems. 


Policy always runs the risk of creating unintended consequences and perverse incentives. It is 
important to recognize factors that drive practice away from the student-centered, competency-
based transformational models we seek in K-12 education that are to be measured based on 
outcomes. Perverse incentives in policy exist today which drive educators away from “doing the right 
thing” for student learning.


We identified several issues related to perverse incentives including:


•• If a student in a full-time online school is able to move at their own pace, advance based 
upon demonstrated mastery, and accelerates rapidly, the current end-of-year testing on 
grade level would not recognize gains of a student who is not tested at the correct time in 
their pathway for proficiency. For example, a student in a mastery-based environment (at the 
age of 5th grade, who has advanced through 5th and 6th grade math) who is taking advanced 
courses, would be tested in the current accountability system at the end of the year on 5th 
grade math levels. Systems of assessments need to be put into place to provide validating 
testing at multiple times throughout the year, based on a student’s own trajectory. There 
is not an incentive for the school to advance the student beyond the age-based grade level, 
because the school would risk missing school accountability targets. What if accountability 
also rewarded significant growth?


•• One state policy provides significant additional funding for students who are below basic 
proficiency levels in English; in this example, the English Language Learner (ELL) designation 
provides a significant funding supplement to the state’s per pupil funding allotment for the 
school. Doing the right thing, the online school provides high-quality teachers and extensive 
tutoring support, dynamic content, and personalized instruction with a strong response-
to-intervention (RTI) program. The student accelerates at an advanced pace throughout 
the calendar year, using teacher-led, digital learning to engage with dynamic content and 
help them learn in multiple ways, understanding the progress they are making as they go 
along. The results are excellent: the student’s proficiency levels rise by more than two grade 
level equivalents in a single calendar year, and the student is testing at advanced proficient 
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levels on an adaptive assessment. The perverse incentive? The school loses the supplemental 
funding for bringing the ELL student up to proficiency. The question is: How could policy 
support or incentivize rewarding a school or school district with doing the most with the 
most challenged students, rather than cutting its funding? What if schools were rewarded 
for significant proficiency growth?


•• Funding models can lead to perverse incentives when funding is not tied in any way to 
student outcomes. In the most extreme examples, some states base funding largely on 


“single count days”—schools are funded for students being in the school on one or two 
days each year, usually one in fall and one in spring. This provides perverse incentives (for all 
schools: traditional, alternative, and online) to have students enroll prior to the “count days” 
in order to receive per pupil funding. Having multiple count dates for partial year funding is 
an important policy consideration, especially for mobile students.


•• Schools (and teachers, to the extent that teachers are evaluated in part based on growth) 
have an incentive to show that students are behind when entering a new school, grade level, 
or course. 


•• Well-publicized measures based on a threshold of proficiency, such as California’s Academic 
Performance Index (API), create a perverse incentive for schools that meet the minimum 
threshold in that they no longer have to be concerned about the subset of students who are 
not yet proficient once the school has met the threshold. 


•• When individual programs are considered a unique school, if that school serves 
underperforming students, the district may have an incentive to move students to that 
alternative school so that scores in other schools remain higher.


•• There are perverse incentives for schools to encourage severely under-credited and low 
performing students to transfer to another school before the graduation or assessment 
period due to school accountability measures. Because a student does not have to move 
(geographically), it becomes quite convenient for students who have not been successful in a 
traditional environment to transfer to a full-time online school.


Schools can be penalized under graduation rate calculations or proficiency assessments if over-age 
and under-credited students, or students behind grade level, arrive at the school just prior to the 
graduation date or the assessment. For example, many full-time online schools have very high new 
enrollments after the start of the 12th grade for students that are extremely credit deficient. 


Currently there is a disincentive to enroll students who are under-credited or overage, students 
who are behind in grade level, or students who have persistent challenges with math or other core 
subjects. Implementing a more robust outcomes-based approach that accounts for these issues will 
help alleviate these concerns and allow schools to focus on educating all students, including those 
with the greatest need. 


Education is a civil right. We must provide high-quality, rigorous educational opportunities for all 
students and hold schools and programs accountable. Incentives should support serving students 
who have greater resource needs. While performance-based funding is emerging in online learning, 
it is important that adequate outcomes-based quality assurance is in place to ensure we are holding 
all students to high levels of rigor and indeed rewarding success based on student achievement.
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Appendix A: Definitions
Terminology surrounding the measurement of educational quality has different meanings to 
different people. For example, the terms “measures,” “metrics,” and “indicators” are often used 
interchangeably, and stakeholders are often confused by the differences between inputs, outputs, and 
outcomes. Defining these terms is a necessary step to creating clarity around these complex issues. 


Inputs are the essential elements that comprise the development and delivery of a course or school, 
such as textbooks, instructional materials, teaching, and technology. Quality assurance based on 
inputs often takes the form of standards or qualifications that apply to the inputs. Examples in K-12 
education include state content standards, textbook adoption processes, and teacher certifications. 


Outputs are defined by the Innosight Institute as the end result of a process, such as course 
completions.16 In an online course they may also include data showing student interaction with 
the course content or teacher. Outputs are sometimes used as proxies for outcomes, but are not 
outcomes themselves. 


Outcomes measure the knowledge, skills, and abilities that students have attained as a result of 
their involvement in a particular set of educational experiences.17 They measure the effectiveness 
of the learning process, are more longitudinal in nature than outputs, and measure more than just 
academic achievement at a point in time. Ideally they are based on a common assessment, not one 
that is specific to the school or course.


Indicators are data points that are predictive. This is contrasted with evidence of accomplishment, 
which demonstrates success. For example, Advanced Placement exam scores are an indicator of 
college readiness, but evidence of college readiness is based on actual student performance in 
college.18


A metric is a type of measurement used to gauge some quantifiable component of performance. 
The metrics may take the form of assessment scores, growth rates, graduation or college acceptance 
rates, etc. For each of the performance indicators, there are a number of metrics that can be used to 
help determine levels of performance and thus quality. 


Persistence is defined as continued enrollment during the next school year, even if it occurs at a 
different school. 


16  Michael B. Horn and Katherine Mackey, Innosight Institute, Moving from Inputs to Outputs to Outcomes,  
http://www.innosightinstitute.org/innosight/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/Moving-from-Inputs-to-Outputs-to-Outcomes.pdf
17 Linkoping University, Student Learning Outcomes, http://www.imt.liu.se/edu/Bologna/LO/slo.pdf
18  Hyslop, A. & Tucker, B. (2012). Ready By Design: A College and Career Agenda for California. Retrieved September 7, 2012,  
from http://www.educationsector.org/publications/ready-design-college-and-career-agenda-california
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About this report
Snapshot 2019 is the first annual report of the Digital Learning Collaborative.


From 2004 to 2016, the Evergreen Education Group (Evergreen) published a series of annual Keeping Pace 
reports. The reports, which were sponsored by a range of organizations, including school districts, state 
agencies, non-profit organizations, and companies, provided reviews of practice and policy for the field of 
K–12 online, blended, and digital learning. Some of the reports included planning guides designed to help 
educators in the field with the establishment and growth of their digital programs. 


In 2017 and 2018, Evergreen did not publish the annual report, as Evergreen and key partner organizations 
considered how to maintain the overall goal of Keeping Pace—to provide the foundational information that 
the field requires—while shifting to a new digital-first, financially sustainable model. 


Now in 2019, Keeping Pace has returned within the umbrella of a new membership group and a 
new annual conference. 


The membership group is the Digital Learning Collaborative (DLC). The DLC membership is made up of the 
same types of organizations as the earlier Keeping Pace sponsors: school districts, state agencies, non-profit 
organizations, companies, and a small number of foundations. The DLC website is growing and provides 
reports, blog posts from DLC members and guests, news items, and similar information.


The conference is the new Digital Learning Annual Conference (DLAC), which is holding its inaugural event 
in 2019 and is in planning for subsequent years.


The digital-first aspect of our current reporting is still evolving. Our intent is that this annual report will provide 
a snapshot that will be shorter than previous Keeping Pace annual reports, and the DLC website will contain 
updated information throughout the year. This report should be seen as the annual snapshot version of the 
information on the DLC site, informed by and supporting the conversations that take place at DLAC. 


Suggested citation: Digital Learning Collaborative. (2019). Snapshot 2019: A review of K-12 online, blended, and digital learning. 
Retrieved from https://www.digitallearningcollab.com.



http://www.evergreenedgroup.com/

https://www.evergreenedgroup.com/keeping-pace-reports

https://www.evergreenedgroup.com/keeping-pace-reports

http://www.digitallearningcollab.com/

http://www.deelac.com/
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About the Digital Learning Collaborative
The Digital Learning Collaborative (DLC) is a membership group dedicated to exploring, producing, and 
disseminating data, information, news, and best practices in digital learning.


Our current members include school districts, intermediate units, public agencies, non-profit organizations, 
companies, and a small number of foundations.


The Collaborative activities are supported financially by annual membership fees paid by providers. 
School districts, most public agencies, and some non-profit organizations may join free of charge. 
We accept foundations as members but do not seek nor accept foundation funding at levels 
higher than other members.


DLC members determine the topics that we explore, via monthly web meetings and individual discussions. 
Topics include but are not limited to the following:


•	 Best practices and strategies for success in a variety of online and blended learning settings (e.g., 
mainstream classrooms, alternative education, online schools, credit recovery programs)


•	 Honest explorations and analysis of difficulties and pitfalls that have challenged digital learning


•	 Implementation case studies exploring the varied settings discussed above


•	 Discussion of successful online content and technology platforms supporting digital learning


•	 Identification of professional development needs for teachers and strategies for success


•	 Policy issues including state funding and accountability systems, which benefit or hinder best practices 
in supporting students


•	 Annual reports documenting key issues in digital learning, including growth and trends
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DLC core principles
Members of the Digital Learning Collaborative believe the following:


•	 Online, blended, and digital learning encompass a wide range of schools, instructional strategies, 
and practices that may be implemented across a district, network of schools, single school, or 
individual classroom.


•	 Existing schools and programs demonstrate that many of these instructional strategies and practices 
are helping K–12 schools and students improve educational opportunities and outcomes.


•	 Online, blended, and digital learning encompass practices that may be implemented well or poorly. 
Therefore, the theoretical question “does online/blended/digital learning work” is nonsensical in the 
same way as asking “do traditional schools work?”


•	 The technology used in online, blended, and digital learning always supports teachers and other 
professional adults who work with students in a variety of ways. There are no examples of successful, 
scalable educational programs in the United States that operate without teachers.


•	 Although K–12 digital learning has a track record that extends over more than two decades, significant 
myths and misunderstandings are common. The DLC exists in part to counter these myths and replace 
them with data and accurate information.


•	 Many different types of organizations have a valuable role to play in improving education. Digital tools, 
resources, and instruction are created and implemented by a wide variety of organizations that include 
individual schools, districts, regional public agencies, state agencies, private non-profit organizations, 
and for-profit companies.


•	 Individual DLC members support these principles. DLC documents and resources, including this annual 
report, build on these principles, but may not always reflect the views of individual DLC members.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY


Executive summary
Online, blended, and digital learning in K–12 schools in the United States includes an assortment of schools, 
programs, tools, and resources. These range from the fully online schools in which students receive 
their entire education, to the digital platforms and content that mainstream teachers are using to bolster 
instruction in their physical classrooms.


That opening paragraph is an accurate portrayal of digital learning in 2019. It applied equally well to 2009. 
So what has changed in ten years?


Quite a bit, actually. Some areas of digital learning are growing, while others are stabilizing. For example:


•	 Enrollments in online schools that serve students across entire states are growing slowly but steadily, 
at a rate of about 6% per year. We count 32 states that allow statewide online schools, and estimate 
that 310,000 students are enrolled in these schools nationwide. This sector has largely stabilized, with 
relatively few states allowing online schools for the first time in each of the past few years.


•	 State virtual schools (generally, supplemental online course programs that are state-supported) operate 
in 23 states, and serve about 420,000 students with almost a million online course enrollments. 
This sector has also largely stabilized in recent years, with fluctuations in some states but few major 
additions or losses. 


•	 Digital learning in districts is the area that appears to be growing the most, and yet we have far less 
data available than in other sectors. With the spread of Internet access to the large majority of schools, 
the growth of district one-to-one device programs, and the widespread adoption of a dizzying array 
of online content, software, and platforms, very few (if any) districts have no formal digital learning 
activity. This report includes 11 district-level digital learning use cases, exploring a specific goal that 
a district seeks to meet. These include raising graduation rates, lowering dropout rates, addressing 
equity issues, offering career and technical education, offering world language courses, and providing 
continuity of learning during snow days and extended emergencies. We recognize that other use cases 
exist. One in particular, the use of content and software to increase student achievement in math, ELA, 
and other courses, deserves its own report and will be detailed in future studies.


We believe that some of the most interesting work in K–12 digital education is taking place in hybrid 
schools, and we devote a section of this report to short profiles of six such schools. These schools have a 
physical location at which students are regularly present for instructional purposes, however, students are 
not required to attend the physical campus on a schedule that approaches a regular school schedule. The 
school might require students to be on campus a couple of days per week, but never five days per week. 
These schools are transcending barriers of time and space, while providing a physical place to learn that 
the majority of students (and parents) desire. The best of these schools are shifting the role of teachers to 
having a closer, more personal relationship with students. They are also redefining teacher professional 
learning, because teachers take on new responsibilities and are engaging with new instructional strategies, 
and have more time to explore and implement them. Arguably, these schools are redefining what it 
means to be a teacher.


As with any snapshot, this report captures only a portion of activity, at one point in time. We have consistently 
updated information about the field in general, new and longer school and program profiles, additional 
educational topics, extensive policy discussions, blog posts, and news items on the Digital Learning 
Collaborative website. We hope you’ll join us online throughout the coming year and beyond.
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KEY TERMS


Key terms
This page describes several key terms used by the Digital Learning Collaborative in presentations, on the 
DLC website, and within documents and reports like this one. We purposely call these key terms descriptions 
and characterizations instead of definitions, because the focus should be on the value and effectiveness of 
instructional practices, not on whether a certain practice fits a specific definition.


Online learning encompasses a wide range of educational activities, tools, and resources that are delivered 
via the Internet. These can be schools in which the large majority of curriculum is delivered online, and 
interaction between students and teachers, and between students, is mostly or entirely at a distance. Online 
learning can be the online component of specific activities in mainstream classrooms, such as students using 
instructional math software for an hour per week in a class that otherwise uses face-to-face teaching, group 
activities, and a range of similar approaches that are common in traditional schools.


Blended learning describes any combination of online learning and site-based, face-to-face education. 
Although the DLC believes that student agency and the use of student data in instruction are valuable, we 
do not include these elements in our characterization of blended learning. Blended learning that substitutes 
for a traditional instructional activity may be unlikely to impact outcomes, while a use of blended learning that 
innovates instruction and student activity is more likely to have a positive impact. Both of these, however, 
may be characterized as blended learning.


Digital learning encompasses online learning and blended learning and refers to any use of either of these.


Educational technology includes digital learning as well as additional technologies that apply to activities 
other than instruction, such as student information systems and other technologies, that support teachers 
and administrators without involving students directly.


A hybrid school combines online and face-to-face instruction and meets the following characteristics:


•	 The school enrolls students, receives FTE funding (ADA/ADM/PPOR etc), and is listed 
as a school by NCES.


•	 The school has a physical location which students regularly attend for instructional purposes.


•	 The large majority of students must take part in learning activities at the physical location 
at least occasionally.


•	 Students are not required to attend the physical campus on a schedule that approaches a regular 
school schedule. The school might require students to be on campus a couple of days per week, but 
never five days per week.


The Virtual Learning Leadership Alliance published a longer set of definitions available on the DLC website.



https://www.digitallearningcollab.com/key-terms
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STATEWIDE AND REGIONAL ONLINE SCHOOLS


Statewide and regional online schools
We characterize statewide and regional online schools as entities that are listed as a school in the National 
Center for Education Statistics Common Core of Data, enroll students from across a region that crosses 
district geographic boundaries, have few or no requirements for students to attend a physical location, and 
are responsible for student progression through grade levels and/or graduation.


Most statewide and regional online schools share the following attributes.


•	 Organization type: The majority of these schools are charter schools. Some are run by school districts 
or intermediate agencies such as BOCES, and are not charter schools, but in practice these district-
run schools look very much like charter schools, although with governance being provided via district 
mechanisms instead of by a charter school authorizer under state charter school laws. In some cases, 
the district contracts with an Education Service Provider to operate the school.


•	 Affiliation: The schools that serve about 60% of all online students in this category are affiliated 
with Education Service Providers (ESPs); the two largest ESPs are K12 Inc. and Pearson via the 
Connections Academy brand. ESPs typically contract to provide courses, software, teacher professional 
development, and other key management and logistical support. Other schools operate independently 
or are affiliated with a school district, BOCES, or similar agency.


•	 Geographic reach: Most of these schools attract students from across the entire state in order to 
achieve scale; therefore, most of these schools are located in states that allow students to enroll across 
district lines and have funding that follows the student. California is an exception in that it allows online 
schools to enroll students from within a region made up of contiguous counties. In California, K12 Inc. 
and Connections provide products and services to a network of affiliated schools that reach most 
students in the state.


•	 Grade levels: All grade levels are offered in online schools collectively, although individual schools may 
be limited to older or younger students.


•	 Instructional strategies: Younger students in these schools work with adult mentors (often, but not 
always, parents) who work with the students at home. The schools often send physical materials to 
students, including paper workbooks and science materials, to complement online offerings. Online 
teachers communicate with both students and parents via text, chat, email, discussion boards, online 
video and audio, and phone calls. Face-to-face interactions at school field trips help build relationships 
and support key concepts. Older students tend to work more directly with online teachers and have 
less direct involvement from parents. They also tend to spend more time online as fewer of their 
resources are offline.


•	 Funding: Most funding is provided via state public education funds that follow the student.


•	 Size: Most statewide online schools have enrollments of a few hundred to several thousand students 
(FTE), and most of these schools enroll primarily full-time students. Some enroll students part-time as 
well, particularly in states that support part-time enrollment.


•	 Accountability for student achievement: Schools in this category are accountable for the same 
metrics as all other public schools and/or charter schools in the states in which they operate. They are 
responsible for facilitating state assessments for all students, regardless of geographic location.


As of school year 2017–18, 32 states allow online schools to operate and draw students from across districts, 
and a total of about 312,000 students attend these schools
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STATEWIDE AND REGIONAL ONLINE SCHOOLS


Online school enrollment trends


Our numbers suggest that enrollment in these online schools is growing by about 6% per year. Although 
some reports and observers characterize online schools as growing “rapidly” or even “explosively,” the 
growth rate is in fact slow to moderate, especially considering the small size and percentage of online 
enrollment compared to the total statewide enrollment. In all states, the percentage of students in online 
schools is 2% or less; in most states with online schools, the percentage is 1% or less.


A note about enrollment numbers


We pulled student enrollment numbers from a variety of sources. Some states track online school 
enrollments very closely; in these cases, we provide an exact number that we received from data requests, 
phone interviews, or existing reports. Other states do not track online school enrollments closely. In these 
cases, we gathered data from the best sources that we could find, including the online schools we are aware 
of in those states, studies from organizations such as the National Education Policy Center, and the National 
Center for Education Statistics.


Even in the cases in which a state tracks a precise enrollment number for each online school, the numbers 
are open to some interpretation. For example, states most often count for funding purposes, so may report 
a number based on ADM, ADA, or count days. Because online schools have high rates of student mobility, 
a discrepancy may exist between the number the state reports and the number of unique students that the 
school served across the school year.


These numbers, therefore, should be considered fairly accurate but not exact.


Comparisons with previous Keeping Pace numbers


Some readers may note that we are reporting a smaller total number of students in online schools than 
Keeping Pace reported several years ago, while reporting a growth rate (6%) that is about the same. 


Two reasons exist for this apparent discrepancy. First, in at least one state (Arizona), we were reporting a 
number that was too high because it was including students taking a single course from an online school. 
Second, a single very large school in Ohio closed during the 2017–18 school year. It is not clear where those 
students went, and it may be that we are slightly under-counting in this report.


Although there is still a range of quality in the numbers reported by state agencies and other sources, we 
believe the numbers are generally more accurate now than a few years ago, and we have higher confidence 
in our current numbers than in the previously published numbers.
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States with Statewide Fully Online Schools 
FIGURE 1: NUMBER OF STUDENT ENROLLMENTS BY STATE AND PERCENTAGE OF STATE'S K–12 POPULATION 
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HYBRID SCHOOLS


Hybrid schools
The Digital Learning Collaborative characterizes hybrid schools as combining online and face-to-face 
instruction and meeting the following characteristics:


•	 The school enrolls students, receives FTE funding (ADA/ADM/PPOR etc), and is listed as a school by the 
National Center for Education Statistics (NCES).


•	 The school has a physical location at which students are regularly present for instructional purposes.


•	 The large majority of students must take part in learning activities at the physical location 
at least occasionally.


•	 Students are not required to attend the physical campus on a schedule that approaches a regular 
school schedule. The school might require students to be on campus a couple of days per week, but 
never five days per week.


Most hybrid schools are operated by districts for their own students, but some are run by regional service 
agencies such as BOCES or County Offices of Education.


6


1
23


4
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1 Hoosier Academy
Indianapolis, Indiana


2 Nevada Learning Academy
Las Vegas, Nevada


3 Oasis High School
Aptos, California


4 Poudre Global Academy
Fort Collins, Colorado


5 Taos Academy
Taos, New Mexico


6 Trio Wolf Creek
Chisago City, Minnesota


FIGURE 2 : Location of hybrid schools profiled
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HYBRID SCHOOLS


Situated in the urban setting of East Indianapolis, Hoosier Academy provides a safe learning environment for 
a diverse group of students with unique needs, including students with anxiety, students who are medically 
fragile, and students who are on the Asperger’s/Autism spectrum. Most of their student population perform 
either above or below grade level, and the program provides the students an opportunity to catch up or 
move ahead with a combination of onsite learning support and virtual learning options. Hoosier Academy 
has a diverse population of students with over 80% qualifying for free or reduced-price lunch. 


Hoosier Academy’s hybrid model is organized around students attending school onsite for two days 
per week and learning with virtual curriculum and digital support tools for three days per week. While 
onsite, students attend each of their courses and meet with their teachers as well as participate in project 
based learning and hands-on activities, including robotics and hydroponics in science. Additionally, 
Hoosier Academy is incorporating a Career and Technical Education (CTE) program in conjunction with 
their Graduation Pathways program for high school students, including adding graduation coaches and a 
CTE coordinator. Courses are offered in the following areas of specialization: Certified Nursing Assistant, 
Business, Culinary Arts and Hospitality, and Early Childhood Development. High school students can also 
participate in service learning and work-based learning opportunities. Student Council, National Honor 
Society, field trips, and service projects help provide students with a well-rounded K–12 learning experience.


Elizabeth Lamey, Head of Schools for Hoosier Academy, shares that socio-emotional resources are also built 
in to the students’ program to build the social and emotional skills that will help students throughout their 
lives. With tools such as 7 Mindsets virtual learning program, they are working with their students and families 
to change the mindset around life’s challenges such that, despite experiencing personal health or trauma 
in their lives, they can come to a safe school, create a stable environment, and learn. Positive Behavioral 
Interventions and Supports (PBIS) are built into the program as well, along with rewards for progress and 
accomplishments. Students and families can download the school app on their phone and other devices, 
and the app provides access to their courses and other programs used by the school.  


The teachers and school staff focus on “strong starts” and continuous monitoring of student progress that 
helps set expectations for student learning and success. A multi-tiered support system includes additional 
math and reading support onsite and virtually, small group, and 1:1 tutoring to help get students back on track 
with their learning when they fall behind. Hoosier Academy also adds wrap-around services, including home 
visits, as needed to provide additional support. Lamey reports that Hoosier Academy went from an “F” to a 
“C” rated school on their state report card in 2017–18, and their goals include reaching their one-year growth 
goals in reading and math.  


This profile was developed through correspondence with Elizabeth Lamey of Hoosier Academy.


GRADE LEVELS SERVED: K–12


NUMBER OF STUDENTS SERVED: 250


HYBRID MODEL: Students are on campus for two days per week and learn 
from home virtually using digital curriculum and tools the rest of the week.


Hoosier 
Academy 
Indianapolis, Indiana
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HYBRID SCHOOLS


Located in Las Vegas, Nevada, the Nevada Learning Academy (NVLA) is an online secondary public school, 
providing online courses in grades 6–12 that helps expand students’ choices for courses they can take on 
their learning path. NVLA is a “minority majority” district with a student body that is representative of the 
county with 3% Native American, 27% Hispanic, 21% African American, 38% White, and 11% students reporting 
two or more races; and students are evenly divided as male/female. NVLA Middle School (MS) specifically is 
serving approximately 40 full-time students in the 2018–19 school year, with many more students enrolling in 
part-time concurrent courses.


NVLA’s hybrid model for MS requires that students are on campus two days per week for a full-day of direct 
instruction, where students attend classes and meet with their teachers. MS students attend school on 
Tuesdays and Thursday from 7:15am to 1:45pm, with a short lunch break. Principal Andrea Connolly says 
students live all over the Las Vegas valley, and transportation is provided by the Clark County School District 
or parents can select to bring them to school for the on-campus days. The rest of the students’ learning 
is done online. Originally the online courses were designed by the district, but recently, the courses were 
adapted by the teachers based on student feedback and learning data.


Lin Soriano, Assistant Principal for the MS, shares that in addition to coursework, teachers work with 
students on time management, using digital calendars, study skills, goal setting, and effective work habits. 
Soriano is proud of the school’s “5-Star” rating and says that students and families like the school’s high 
achievement focus and small class sizes. Students also get a full middle school experience with National 
Junior Honor Society and Student Council, as well as electives. Students are also able to play sports at 
their local residential zoned school, though many students attending the MS are involved in sports with 
travel teams and are drawn to the part-time onsite attendance option to create flexibility in their schedule to 
accommodate sports or other activities.


Teachers and staff are onsite at the school on Mondays and Fridays for ongoing training and professional 
development (PD), meetings, and to provide additional tutoring, learning support, remediation, tech support, 
and academic counseling to students. As part of their PD, teachers and staff have completed Quality Matters 
(QM) training and use the QM rubric to monitor program success. Webinars are also used for ongoing 
training specific to topics that are pressing for teachers. On Wednesdays, teachers work remotely to provide 
learning support. In addition to school leaders and teachers, the school has a counselor, a learning facilitator, 
and a special education teacher. Learning support involves parents and can take the form of a structured 
improvement plan if needed to guide success.


This profile was developed through correspondence with Andrea Connolly and Lin Soriano of Nevada 
Learning Academy Middle School and through the program’s website.  


GRADE LEVELS SERVED: 6–8


NUMBER OF STUDENTS SERVED: about 40 full-time students (plus part-time  
concurrent enrolled students)


HYBRID MODEL: Students attend school two days per week for a full-day of direct  
instruction and meetings with teachers; the rest of their learning for the week is done online.


Nevada Learning 
Academy 
Las Vegas, Nevada  



http://nvlearningacademy.net/
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HYBRID SCHOOLS


Oasis High School (Oasis) is an alternative education (Alt Ed) program run by the Santa Cruz County Office of 
Education (SCCOE) located on the campus of Cabrillo College overlooking Monterey Bay. The 180 students 
mirror the county-wide demographics, with approximately 57% White or Caucasian, 33% Hispanic or Latino, 
4% Asian, 1% African-American, 4% multi-race, and 1% other. According to the Santa Cruz County Economy 
Snapshot (CAP Report), 14% are living below the poverty line. Oasis students reported choosing the program 
because of health issues, falling behind in their previous school, feeling academically unchallenged in their 
previous school, and feeling that they did not fit in well for non-academic reasons. Typically, students are 
affected by one or more significant life challenges. In addition to previously mentioned issues, this could 
include drug and alcohol abuse, homelessness, criminal activity, truancy, expulsion, poverty, lack of fluency in 
English, and various other traumas. Oasis serves transitional students who move between schools, districts, 
and programs due to fluctuating housing and employment needs.


To serve this high-needs, at-risk student population, Oasis offers a hybrid approach to learning, 
providing students with flexibility in scheduling so that they can focus on experiential internships, work 
apprenticeships, and community service. Online courses require students to complete licensed coursework 
and get help from their teacher during weekly appointments. In addition to their weekly appointment, 
students may work on their courses at the Oasis campus for as much or as little time as they choose, 
although teachers may encourage students who need extra help to spend more time on campus and utilize 
tutoring support by subject-specific teachers. All students come to the campus for state- and district-required 
assessments. There is also an opportunity for dual enrollment credit through Cabrillo College. 


Oasis employs five full-time teachers, three part-time teachers, four instructional aides, and one office 
manager. Each teacher serves a roster of students in whichever courses they need and reviews, corrects, 
proctors, and instructs students in person or online. Aides tutor students to provide additional support. 
Rotating staff include special education, college and career counseling, and a socio-emotional counselor. 
Oasis students work with their parent or guardian, teacher, and counselor to design an educational plan. 
In addition to ensuring that all students have access to courses required for graduation, Alt Ed provides a 
variety of programs to meet student needs including counseling, special education services, reduced adult-
student ratio, work-based learning, and employment counseling. 


On campus, Oasis students meet with their instructor in one of five open office rooms, which includes a 
small kitchen/meeting space. Each room houses two to three teachers, an instructional aide, and central 
workspaces that students can utilize during tutoring or for working independently. Students flow between 
rooms through interior doors, which remain open unless a meeting is scheduled. Students report that 
among the key elements of Oasis that they find most valuable, along with the connection they feel with their 
teachers, are the school’s physical location, amenities, and feel of being on a college campus.


This profile was developed through correspondence with Kelly Schwirzke of Oasis High School.


GRADE LEVELS SERVED: 9–12


NUMBER OF STUDENTS SERVED: 180


HYBRID MODEL: Students choose how much on-campus time they have and 
combine online and face-to-face instruction to allow flexibility for engagement 
in internships, apprenticeships, and community service.


Oasis High 
School
Aptos, California 
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HYBRID SCHOOLS


Poudre School District Global Academy (PGA) is one of 59 schools in the Poudre School District, which has a 
total enrollment of almost 30,000 students. PGA occupies a traditional school building in a residential community 
of Fort Collins, Colorado, and serves students in grades K–12. The student population includes 85.2% Caucasian, 
12.4% Hispanic, 1.8% mixed race, and 0.6% Asian, and 38.9% qualify for free/reduced-price lunch. PGA began as 
an all-virtual K–12 school in 2009, focusing on students who were struggling in a traditional school. From 2010 
through 2013, PGA evolved into a school for any student who needed or wanted a non-traditional educational 
experience, attracting advanced and accelerated students as well. In 2014, PGA moved away from the all-virtual 
instructional model. Their purpose now is to offer personalized and blended learning as a flexible alternative to 
traditional school schedules. Learning occurs both at home and in the school building, i.e., on campus. Students 
are on campus two days per week and study online from home the other three days. 


The on-campus experience provides students and teachers opportunities to meet and interact in dynamic and 
flexible individual and group settings based on needs and progress. Students also engage in individual online 
learning on campus, where they are face-to-face with teachers and other students for mentoring and collaboration. 
On-campus schedules vary by grade level. The following table illustrates a more detailed view of the schedule. 


Day of the 
week On campus At home 


Office hourse &  
other activities


Monday All students studying online


Tuesday All K–12 students on campus
WIN sessions


Fine arts day for grades K–8


Wednesday Grades 9–12 on campus
STEM enrichment activities and 
Yearbook
SST meetings for K–5 students


K–8 students studying oniine Optional teacher office hours for 
grades 6–8


Thursday K–8 students on campus
WIN sessions


Grades 9–12 students studying 
online


Optional teacher office hours for 
grades 9–12
Physical education day for grades K–8


Friday Teacher professional development, 
collaboration, and SST meetings


All students studying online


PGA’s on-campus teachers enhance and customize the online curriculum, develop offline curriculum, use 
actionable data to guide student paths and personalize the learning experience for each PGA student, 
and provide suggestions, encouragement, and learning strategies. On campus, students and teachers 
re-organize the furniture to accommodate students on the move with laptops in backpacks participating in 
dynamic study groups. 


Approximately 60% of all instruction for K–8 students is online, and 80% is online for 9th–12th grade students. 
During the three days when students are working at home, learning coaches are required to mentor their 
students as they are working on their assignments. Learning coaches access assignments online, communicate 
with teachers, and sign off on work students complete at home. PGA developed a training program to teach 
learning coaches how to be effective. Often, a parent is the student’s learning coach. PGA is a learning 
community in which relationships are central to student success.


This profile was developed using a profile developed by Evergreen Education Group for Fuel Ed.


GRADE LEVELS SERVED: K–12


NUMBER OF STUDENTS SERVED: 225


HYBRID MODEL: Students study online at home three days per week and on 
campus two days per week.


Poudre Global 
Academy
Fort Collins, Colorado
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HYBRID SCHOOLS


Taos Academy’s (TA) is a state-chartered hybrid learning school combining online and face-to-face instruction 
to offer a flexible schedule that can vary greatly depending on student and family needs. Serving 225 students 
in grades 5–12 in rural northern New Mexico, TA’s student population is 68% economically disadvantaged 
and made up of a majority of historically underserved populations: 51% Hispanic, 41% Caucasian, 3.5% Native 
American, 3% African-American, 2.5% Asian. Nearly one in five students participate in the school’s Special 
Education program. The surrounding community is a high-poverty, at-risk area; recent reports show 16% of 
Taos County teens ages 16-19 as neither attending school nor participating in the workforce, which is twice the 
national average and 6% higher than the NM state average. 


TA’s hybrid model requires students to be on campus two days a week at a minimum; middle schoolers attend 
on Monday and Wednesday, while high school days are Tuesdays and Thursdays. During their on-campus 
days, students attend Academic Advisory and 21st Century Learning classes, including SmartLab, Global 
Studies, Leadership, Career Pathways, and Service Learning, all designed to offer opportunities for connection, 
collaboration, and authentic problem-solving. The majority of students choose to attend school on their off-days 
as well, taking advantage of the open Student Success Lab (fully staffed for student support), MidSchool Plus 
Enrichment program, and STEAM Institute classes taught by community experts partnering with TA teachers. 
These dynamic elective classes range from Radio Broadcasting and Journalism to Robo-Band, Kinetic Sculpture, 
Green Architecture, and Culinary Arts. 


The school recommends that students spend approximately 20 hours each week in their digital curriculum, 
which may be accessed from home or the school. Core academic classes in Math, English, Social Studies, and 
Science contain elements of online learning as well as direct, face-to-face instruction. While the core curriculum 
allows teachers to quickly and easily see where students are struggling, the adaptive tools allow students to 
continue to work on grade-level content while addressing learning gaps and building towards mastery in their 
own unique areas of challenge. Digital coursework is overseen by an academic adviser who assists with goal-
setting, progress tracking, and developing individualized learning pathways that reflect students’ passions and 
interests. Every Monday morning, a schoolwide report pulled from the digital curriculum helps teachers flag 
students whose grades drop below 70 percent. 


Students at Taos Academy can also earn unexcused “Academic Absences” for being behind in their coursework 
or for allowing their grades to drop below the 70% actual grade threshold. In cases like this, the student, family, 
and teacher meet to create a 30-day “Student Success Contract” to help students get back on track. During 
the 30-day period, the student is required to be on campus five days a week. In addition to academics, the staff 
works closely with the student during this period to support them in goal-setting, building strong work habits, 
and developing time management skills. At the end of the contract time, the student is often back on target and 
has learned some of the skills needed to stay there independently. “We strive to individualize student options 
across the curriculum,” says Traci Filiss, Founder and Director of the school.


This profile was developed through correspondence with Traci Filiss of Taos Academy and with the help of a 
pre-existing profile of Taos Academy available on the DLC website.


GRADE LEVELS SERVED: 5–12


NUMBER OF STUDENTS SERVED: 225


HYBRID MODEL: Students are on campus for two days per week, and adaptive 
digital curriculum online provides learning analytics to team of educators.


Taos Academy
Taos, New Mexico 



https://taosacademy.org/

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5a98496696d4556b01f86662/t/5b85b474aa4a9905ff8e17d5/1535489140692/DLC-SchoolProfile-TaosAcademy090118.pdf
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HYBRID SCHOOLS


Established in 1996, as part of a local school district, in 2002 Trio Wolf Creek became a public charter school 
located in Chisago City, Minnesota, that serves students across the state. In March 2019, Trio Wolf Creek 
served 192 full-time students and 41 supplemental students, the majority of whom are White (98.4%). About 
19% of students qualified for Free and Reduced Lunch, 15% had IEPs, and 85% were at-risk. Generally, about 
80-85% of the students are full-time, and those who are part-time are enrolled in a traditional school and take 
one or two courses with Trio Wolf Creek. Most students who attend Trio Wolf Creek full-time are significantly 
behind on credits, and the staff works to close the gaps for those students.


The hybrid model consists of students working 100% online or combining online with up to two days of on 
campus work. This flexible model allows students to create a self-paced individualized learning program that 
best suits their needs. During online days—Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays—students access online 
curriculum and correspond with their teachers over email and through Google Hangouts. Trio Wolf Creek 
tries to make courses as asynchronous as possible because the families come to Trio Wolf Creek for the 
school’s flexibility. The school requires students to be online at specific times only for special education 
services, if needed.


On Tuesdays and Thursdays from 7:30 a.m. to 2:00 p.m., students can go to the physical building located in 
Chisago City. During that time, teachers are available to tutor students with their course work. While students 
are not required to be on campus, there are some instances where teachers will encourage students who 
are falling behind to attend to get additional support. Some students choose to come because of the up-to-
date computers and good Internet access as well as social aspects. At times, some parents require their 
child to attend for accountability purposes, especially if a student has been truant. According to school data, 
about 60-70% of students attend at least one of the on campus days every week. 


Teachers serve as academic advisors also known as Learning Managers who manage students’ learning 
to make sure students are getting the support they need to move forward in their courses, help create and 
monitor the students Individual Graduation Plan, and keep track of the student’s log, which is where all 
student information is located. On Fridays, Learning Managers send out personal notes to let students and 
their parents know where the student is and where the most work is needed. Trio Wolf Creek also offers 
vocation and transition assistance, including internships and externships, and a robust mental health care 
support team, including a mental health specialist, part-time guidance counselor, student resource officer, 
and police officer, for their social emotional and behavioral well-being. Some students live too far away or 
have other obligations, such as children, work, or health issues, so these students tend to not come to the 
physical building at all. For these students, Trio Wolf Creek is working to figure out a way to offer an online 
version of the services they provide during their onsite days. 


This profile was developed through correspondence with Tracy Quanstrom of Trio Wolf Creek.


GRADE LEVELS SERVED: 9–12


NUMBER OF STUDENTS SERVED: 192 FT and 41 PT, as of March 2019


HYBRID MODEL: Students have the option to work 100% online or part-time 
online combined with up to two days a week in a physical location.


Trio Wolf 
Creek
Chisago City, Minnesota
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STATE VIRTUAL SCHOOLS


State virtual schools
State virtual schools are an important part of the online learning landscape, collectively serving over 420,000 
students and approaching one million supplemental online course enrollments in 23 states during the 
2016–17 fiscal year. (See Figure 3 and Table 1.) They are among the largest and most recognized providers 
of online courses, instruction, technology infrastructure, professional development, and other online learning 
related services to schools and districts across the states in which they operate. 


State virtual schools are entities created by legislation or by state-level agencies, usually funded partially 
or entirely by a state appropriation, course fees, and/or grants. Most state virtual schools are not “schools” 
as defined by the National Center for Education Statistics, as they do not grant diplomas and are not 
responsible for many of the functions performed by schools (such as administration of state assessments, 
state and federal reporting, counseling, etc.). Instead, they supply online courses and related services to 
schools. Students are usually enrolled with district approval, with the exception of states with course access 
policies. Even then the school or district plays an integral role in counseling, mentoring, and enrolling 
students in the state virtual school. 


State virtual schools may be administered by a state education agency, or may be separate nonprofit 
organizations, charter schools, higher education institutions, or regional service agencies contracted by the 
state education agency. For example:


•	 Georgia Virtual School, Oregon Academy of Online Learning, Virtual Virginia, and other state virtual 
schools are part of their state departments of education. 


•	 Idaho Digital Learning is a governmental entity separate from the state education agency, and was 
created by legislation with a Board of Directors responsible for oversight. 


•	 Montana Digital Academy is administered by the state university system. 


•	 Michigan Virtual receives legislative funding, but is a 501(c)3 nonprofit organization with a Board of 
Directors providing oversight. 


•	 Illinois Virtual School is administered through the Peoria County Regional Office of Education, 
which was awarded the Illinois State Board of Education contract to manage and operate the 
state virtual school. 


•	 New Hampshire’s state virtual school, Virtual Learning Academy Charter School, was created through 
charter school rules. 


Although state virtual schools have different organizational and governance structures, most share similar 
characteristics. They provide teacher-led online courses, have administrative staff, enroll students, hire and 
train teachers, and maintain technology infrastructure to deliver and support online courses. They may create 
their own online course content, license content from vendors, use open educational resources, or combine 
content from various sources.


State virtual school courses and services are generally funded totally or in part by legislative line items. 
Districts may be required to pay all or part of the cost of the courses in which their students enroll. In some 
cases courses are provided at no cost to schools and districts (Montana, South Carolina), or for nominal 
fees to help cover costs (Idaho). State virtual schools may receive federal or private foundation grants, 
but the bulk of state virtual school funding comes from the state allocation and/or course fees based 
on course enrollments.
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FIGURE 3: States with state virtual schools. Alaska, Texas, Utah, and South Dakota previously  
were states recognized as having state virtual schools in Keeping Pace reports.
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TABLE 1: State virtual schools†


STATE STATE VIRTUAL SCHOOL
YEAR 
OPENED


NON-
INSTRUCTIONAL
STAFF
FTE


OPERATING  
BUDGET


GRADES 
SERVED


Alabama Alabama ACCESS 2004 8 $20,865,768 7-12


Arkansas Virtual Arkansas 2013 17 $5,040,000 K-12


Colorado Colorado Digital Learning Solutions 2015 3 $631,775 6-12


Florida Florida 1997 402 $209,716,264 K-12


Georgia Georgia Virtual School 2005 45 $10,675,543 5-12


Hawaii Hawaii Virtual Learning Network 2007 NR NR 7-12


Idaho Idaho Digital Learning Academy 2001 45 $8,900,000 5-12


Illinois Illinois Virtual School 2001 7 $2,276,435 5-12


Iowa Iowa Learning Online 2004 4 $1,200,000 7-12


Michigan Michigan Virtual 2001 65.5 $9,550,000 6-12


Mississippi Mississippi 2006 NR $600,000 11-12


Missouri Missouri Virtual Instructional Program 2007 5 $589,778 K-12


Montana Montana Digital Academy 2010 5.2 $2,000,500 6-12


New Hampshire Virtual Learning Academy Charter School 2007 7 $7,566,800 6-12


New Mexico New Mexico Blended Learning Bureau 2008 6 $890,000* 6-12


North Carolina North Carolina Virtual Public School 2007 24 $21,000,000 6-12


North Dakota North Dakota Center for Distance Learning 1996 14 $4,200,000 PK-12


Oregon Oregon Academy of Online Learning 2005 0.9* $800,000 9-12


South Carolina VirtualSC 2006 33 $8,397,315 K-12


Vermont Vermont Virtual Learning Cooperative 2010 3.8 $649,867 6-12


Virginia Virtual Virginia 2002 6 $4,200,000 6-12


West Virginia West Virginia Virtual School 2001 2 NR K-12


Wisconsin Wisconsin Virtual School 2000 5.7 $1,339,000 6-12


† Data are from FY 2016–17


NR = Not reported


* 2015–16 data
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State virtual school enrollment numbers 


We count a course enrollment as one student taking one, semester-long, online course. Florida Virtual 
School is by far the largest state virtual school, with 485,000 course enrollments in FY 2016–17. North 
Carolina’s school is the only other with more than 100,000 course enrollments. Other large schools, in 
absolute terms or in relation to their state’s student populations, include Alabama, Arkansas, Georgia, Idaho, 
New Hampshire, and South Carolina.


Most state virtual schools are growing, but at a slightly slower rate than in the past few years. Course 
enrollments collectively grew at a year over year rate of just under 4% during FY 2016–17. Florida 
Virtual School had 3% growth, while North Carolina Virtual Public School (NCVPS) reported flat course 
enrollment numbers. 


TABLE 2: State virtual schools course enrollments over the last five years


STATE STATE VIRTUAL SCHOOL
2012–
2013


2013–
2014


2014–
2015


2015–
2016


2016–
2017


Alabama Alabama ACCESS  51,910  51,809  41,578  57,485  58,466 


Arkansas Virtual Arkansas  2,000  3,734  29,728  29,213  43,689 


Colorado Colorado Digital Learning Solutions  1,007  914  708  433  1,327 


Florida Florida  410,962  377,508  394,712  471,576  485,382 


Georgia Georgia Virtual School  25,877  33,041  52,290  66,460  69,907 


Hawaii Hawaii Virtual Learning Network  1,834  1,514  1,358  1,502  1,502*


Idaho Idaho Digital Learning Academy  19,036  20,820  22,954  25,488  27,280 


Illinois Illinois Virtual School  2,994  3,097  4,681  6,493  5,848 


Iowa Iowa Learning Online  1,240  1,201  1,294  2,975  1,287 


Michigan Michigan Virtual  20,812  21,944  23,716  24,397  25,565 


Mississippi Mississippi  3,121  2,360  2,262  4,319  4,392 


Missouri Missouri Virtual Instructional Program  1,623  1,992  623  1,639  1,872 


Montana Montana Digital Academy  7,993  6,785  7,111  6,946  7,711 


New Hampshire Virtual Learning Academy Charter School  17,626  22,731  24,724  27,717  26,021 


New Mexico New Mexico Blended Learning Bureau  2,697  2,823  2,199  2,442  2,442*


North Carolina North Carolina Virtual Public School  94,716  104,799  111,634  116,006  116,538 


North Dakota North Dakota Center for Distance Learning  3,200  6,100  5,414  5,264  6,542 


Oregon Oregon Academy of Online Learning  983  1,040 


South Carolina VirtualSC  16,818  24,491  40,363  41,666  41,638 


Vermont Vermont Virtual Learning Cooperative  940  2,707  1,693  2,229  1,893 


Virgina Virtual Virginia  13,026  19,433  24,611  25,600  19,554 


West Virginia West Virginia Virtual School  6,039  11,270  10,428  NR  6,963 


Wisconsin Wisconsin Virtual School  5,036  5,357  5,511  6,150  6,189 


TOTAL semester equivalent course enrollments served  710,507  726,430 809,592 926,983 963,048 


NR = Not reported


* 2015–16 data
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Table 3 shows the number of unique students taking online courses in state virtual schools, ranging from 
206,038 students in Florida Virtual School during FY 2016–17 to 1,000 or fewer students in some of the 
smaller programs. Based on 18 of the state virtual schools providing data, students took an average of 2.3 
online courses in FY 2016–17, up from an average of 1.8 in FY 2015–16. Student online course loads vary from 
program to program. NCVPS had one of the highest course loads at 3.2 courses per student, largely due to a 
focus on year-long course enrollments. Virtual Virginia also emphasizes year-long courses, plus it is running 
a full-time online pilot contributing to an above-average 3.2 courses per student. Several of the smaller 
programs—Colorado (1.2), Illinois (1.1)—run well below the national average. 


TABLE 3: Number of students taking online courses from state virtual schools(1)


STATE STATE VIRTUAL SCHOOL


NUMBER  
OF STUDENTS 
WHO 
TOOK CLASSES


TOTAL COURSE 
ENROLLMENTS


AVERAGE 
COURSES 
PER STUDENT


Alabama Alabama ACCESS  26,235  58,466 2.2


Arkansas Virtual Arkansas  21,242  43,689 1.3


Colorado Colorado Digital Learning Solutions  1,069  1,327 1.2


Florida Florida  206,038  43,689 2.4


Georgia Georgia Virtual School  31,006  69,907 2.3


Hawaii Hawaii Virtual Learning Network  NR  NR  NR 


Idaho Idaho Digital Learning Academy  16,804  27,280 1.4


Illinois Illinois Virtual School  3,999  5,848 1.1


Iowa Iowa Learning Online  810  1,287 1.6


Michigan Michigan Virtual  15,152  25,565 1.7


Mississippi Mississippi  NR  NR  NR 


Missouri Missouri Virtual Instructional Program  764  1,872 3.4


Montana Montana Digital Academy  4,610  7,711 1.7


New Hampshire Virtual Learning Academy Charter School  12,390  26,021 2.1


New Mexico New Mexico  NR  NR  NR 


North Carolina North Carolina Virtual Public School  36,454  116,538 3.2


North Dakota North Dakota Center for Distance Learning  4,579  6,542 1.5


Oregon Oregon Academy of Online Learning  NR  NR  NR 


South Carolina VirtualSC  23,434  41,638 1.5


Vermont Vermont Virtual Learning Cooperative  1,113  1,893 1.9


Virgina Virtual Virginia  6,036  19,554 3.2


West Virginia West Virginia Virtual School  NR  NR  NR 


Wisconsin Wisconsin Virtual School  4,000  6,189 1.5


TOTALS  415,735  505,016 1.2


NR = Not reported


(1) Number of students who took one or more online courses from a state virtual school (students are not double counted if they took more than 
one course)
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Enrollments by subject area 


Collectively the core subjects of math, science, language arts, and social studies combined for about 49% of 
course enrollments in FY 2016–17, down from 53% in FY 2015–16. Enrollments in World Languages increased 
to 13% in FY 2016–17 after tallying just 6% of course enrollments in FY 2014–15. The cost and difficulty of 
finding qualified World Language teachers for campus-based courses appears to be driving many districts to 
rely on online courses. State virtual schools and other suppliers are being asked to create full class sections 
of online World Language courses to meet the shortfall of qualified local teachers.


FIGURE 4: Course enrollments by subject categories 
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Among core subjects, social studies had the greatest decrease in enrollments in FY 2016–17, representing 
11% of core subject enrollments down from 16% in FY 2015–16.


FIGURE 5: Course enrollments by subject area
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Electives and World Languages combined to total 51% of all state virtual school course enrollments in FY 
2016-17, compared to just under 47% in FY 2015–16. Among electives, Health and Fitness represented 8% 
of all course enrollments in FY 2016–17 compared to only 3.5% in 2014–15. Driver’s Education comprised 
5% of course enrollments in FY 2016–17. Nineteen of the twenty-three state virtual schools reported 
detailed data on course enrollments by subject area, accounting for 97% of total state virtual school 
enrollments in FY 2016–17.


Enrollments by grade level


State virtual schools began providing supplemental courses primarily at the high school level, and about 80% 
of all state virtual school course enrollments remain in grades 9–12. However, that percentage has dropped 
from 84% in FY 2015–16.


FIGURE 6: State virtual school course enrollments by grade level
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Serving middle school grades has been a more recent development, and as such the rate of growth in these 
lower grades is faster than the traditional high school segment. All but two of the 23 state virtual schools now 
serve students between grades 5–12 with several programs now offering courses for K–12. 


Completion rates


State virtual schools typically define course completion based on a passing grade, most commonly defined 
as grades C, D, or 60% or higher. Florida Virtual School, which is funded on course completions, defines a 
completion as a student successfully finishing a virtual school course with a D or higher. Several state virtual 
schools require a grade of 70% or above to be considered a completion. A few define course completion 
as any final grade issued, including an F and even Withdrawal. A small percentage of state virtual schools 
accept a student completing 90–100% of a course as a completion and do not require a grade to be issued. 
Another counts an online course as completed if the student was still in the course when the course was 
marked closed on the closing date.
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Teacher type and compensation


Most state virtual schools rely heavily on part-time teachers to staff online courses. Fifteen of the 18 state 
virtual schools reporting data on teacher type rely more on part-time teachers than full-time instructors. Six 
programs employ no full-time teachers, exclusively using part-time instructors. Florida Virtual School is the 
notable exception, with 1,471 full-time teachers and about 78 part-time. 


Because almost all online courses delivered by state virtual schools are teacher-led, the primary factor in 
determining annual budgets is teacher compensation. Part-time or adjunct teachers are typically paid on a 
per enrollment basis, generally ranging from about $130 to over $200 per enrollment, based on factors such 
as experience and type of course. Full-time teachers are typically paid in a similar way and on similar scales 
as teachers in traditional schools in their state. 


Sources of online courses


State virtual schools get their online courses from a wide range of sources. Some state virtual schools, like 
the Missouri Virtual Instructional Program and West Virginia Virtual, rely largely on vendor-supplied courses 
and services, often including vendor-provided online teachers. Others, such as Florida Virtual School, 
Alabama ACCESS, Idaho Digital Learning, Georgia Virtual School, and others, largely develop their own 
course content. Illinois Virtual School, Montana Digital Academy, and others combine original development 
with vendor courses to provide a complete course catalog.


The evolution of state virtual school services 


Since around 1997, state virtual schools have been among the early pioneers providing online learning 
options to supplement a student’s learning in the traditional school setting. Over the past decade plus, state 
virtual schools have significantly expanded the types of services and range of products they offer, while 
maintaining the traditional role of supplemental online course supplier. Innovative state virtual schools are 
now introducing and managing change in the delivery of online learning services. 


Supplemental online courses are still at the heart of the state virtual school mission, but most state virtual 
schools provide a variety of other value-added services to meet the changing needs of schools and 
students. They work with districts to provide access to online curriculum, technology infrastructure, and 
teacher training to expand digital learning opportunities in mainstream classrooms. Many have expanded 
offerings in college and career readiness courses and tools, addressing state and local concerns over 
preparing students for life after high school. Some examples of the expanding services provided by state 
virtual schools include the following: 


•	 VirtualSC offered online keyboarding for South Carolina students in grades K–6 across 43 school 
districts in FY 2017–18, serving 81,598 elementary students. It also works with nine high schools to 
provide Virtual Learning Labs across the state for 469 students to receive support from certified 
teachers, mentors, and robots. VirtualSC started using five robots in 2014, further expanding the 
instructional reach of the Virtual Learning Lab program. 


•	 Idaho Digital Learning, in collaboration with the Idaho Career & Technical Education, has developed 
Skillstack, a badging/micro-certification platform that enables Idaho’s educators to validate the skills of 
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their students who demonstrate proficiency towards workforce-relevant badges. Institutions of higher 
education are able to award badges as evidence of proficiency within specific programs of study 
where the mission aligns with competency based mastery. The goals of Skillstack are to document, 
assess, and validate student skills utilizing industry and disciplinary defined standards to create a wider 
talent pool for Idaho employers, and to assist with the articulation of credit from secondary career and 
technical education programs into Idaho’s colleges and universities. 


•	 Virtual Arkansas is offering art courses to students in grades 10–12 through a partnership with Crystal 
Bridges Museum of American Art, making the arts more accessible to students in all parts of the state. 


•	 NCVPS addressed a pressing need in North Carolina by launching an English I course specifically 
designed for English Learners built with WIDA and Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol (SIOP) 
supports. The course includes enhanced instruction to help English Learners with vocabulary and 
language development and includes a live class feature to help students build verbal communication 
skills with their instructor and peers. After a successful pilot semester, the course launched statewide in 
Fall 2016 and includes students identified as English Learners as well as traditional students. English II, 
with English Learner supports, launched statewide in January 2017. 


•	 The Montana Digital Academy (MTDA) redeveloped its credit recovery program in 2015 to focus on 
creating a personalized learning path for students based on content mastery. All courses embed an 
advanced notification system that fosters communication between the MTDA teacher, local school 
support and administrative staff, parents and the students, so all stakeholders are informed of the 
progress or areas of focus needed for each student. Using adaptive release, students are presented 
with one task to be completed before the next task appears in their learning path. This redesign has 
resulted in enhanced communication to all stakeholders and a clear pathway to meaningful recovery 
of credit for students. During FY 2016–17, Montana high school students successfully completed 
2,044 credit recovery courses, representing 27% of the overall MTDA course enrollments.


State virtual schools fill other value-added roles in their states. They build and maintain expertise in 
online learning within a state that becomes an asset to policymakers, state agencies, districts and other 
stakeholders. They may help reduce costs by providing online services, such as statewide online and 
professional development to replace face-to-face meetings and reduce travel expenses. Two state virtual 
schools—New Hampshire’s Virtual Learning Academy Charter School and Florida Virtual School—enroll full-
time online students, grant diplomas, and perform the other duties similar to traditional schools. 


Providing the services needed for districts to implement a variety of online learning approaches is one of 
the fastest growing components of state virtual schools. State virtual schools are supporting districts across 
their states by offering access to online courses, learning management system (LMS) access, professional 
development for blended learning instruction, technology support, and planning services. Approaches vary 
by state virtual school and range from a district blended learning consortium to real-time, two-way video 
instruction. Some examples are listed below: 


•	 The Alabama Connecting Classrooms, Educators, and Students Statewide (ACCESS) Franchise Model is 
an agreement between school districts and the Alabama State Department of Education to use select 
ACCESS online courses in a hosted LMS at no cost. Support includes access to teacher professional 
development and LMS training, a distance learning specialist, help desk support, and two campus visits 
during the first year for consultation and recommendations. 


STATE VIRTUAL SCHOOLS
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•	 Georgia Virtual makes more than 100 courses available to the public as open educational resources 
(OER). Districts can access these courses, plus assessments, at no cost. The public OER courses are 
available without assessments. 


•	 Michigan Virtual offers districts a combination of blended learning services, including hosted 
online courses, teacher training for blended learning instruction, and coaching and consulting for 
administrators on the implementation of blended learning. 


•	 Virtual Arkansas makes its online courses available for schools to use in the classroom in a hosted 
LMS at no cost. It also has an eight-person “Team Digital” field staff that consults with districts to plan 
and implement blended learning. Team Digital members also conduct face-to-face teacher training and 
other campus functions for Virtual Arkansas. 


College and career readiness has a renewed focus in many states. College and career readiness programs 
have been in place in traditional schools for many years, but now state virtual schools are taking a role in 
providing online courses for college-bound students and those interested in Career and Technical Education 
(CTE). Online college readiness tools include math remediation, ACT test preparation, and college planning 
tools that better prepare college bound students. Some examples are listed below:


•	 The Virtual Learning Academy Charter School in New Hampshire has a college and career readiness 
focus that includes annual assessment of college readiness skills. Its Learning Through College 
program gives students the option of completing one or more college courses, completing the 
first year of an associate’s degree program, or completing an entire associate’s degree program 
while in high school. 


•	 Virtual Arkansas offers a significant number of online Career Technical Education (CTE) courses, which 
make up about 4% of course enrollments in state virtual schools. CTE requires a campus-based lab 
with a mentor/facilitator for these classes because of the hands-on requirements, and all courses 
must be approved by the state Department of Workforce Development. The program offers dual or 
concurrent enrollment in partnership with two Arkansas state universities with about 3,844 course 
enrollments in FY 2017–18. 


•	 In 2014 Montana Digital Academy (MTDA) launched EdReady Montana, an online college and 
career readiness program that assesses student skills in mathematics and provides a mastery-
based personalized learning path for students. EdReady Montana was initially used by incoming 
college freshmen to help them prepare for the math portion of commonly used placement exams, 
such as AccuPlacer, Compass, SAT, and ACT. Since its launch, MTDA has made the EdReady online 
program available, at no charge, for any learner in Montana, including adults. This allows middle, high 
school, and higher education students the opportunity to hone the critical math skills they need to 
master in preparation for their desired educational and career goals, from algebra to pre-calculus 
to the HiSet high school equivalency exam. Under the management of the MTDA, with financial 
support from the Dennis and Phyllis Washington Foundation, EdReady Montana has served 94,807 
learners as of June 2018.


STATE VIRTUAL SCHOOLS
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District activity
The following pages provide a set of use cases for online, blended, and digital learning in a 
mainstream district context.


Each use case is characterized based on:


•	 An educational goal
–– Examples of goals include increasing graduation rates, increasing course opportunities for students, 


improving math achievement, and closing equity gaps.


•	 A strategy for reaching the goal
–– Examples of strategies include offering new instructional tools and methods, and adding online 


courses to fill gaps in courses available.


•	 An operational description that briefly describes the tasks implemented to achieve the 
strategy. This may include the people/positions involved, as well as online tools, resources, and 
instructional methods.


•	 A summary of the district’s status relative to the educational goal. 


Note that a district online or blended program does not in itself define a use case. Many use cases, however, 
may describe an online or blended program that was created to solve an educational goal. 


In addition, although online and blended programs may be addressing multiple use cases, for the purposes 
of this document we focus on a single use case.
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1 Offering career and  
technical education
Amarillo Independent School District


2 Educating during 
extended emergencies
Bay County, Gulf County, and Tindall 
Air Force Military Base Schools


3 Addressing equity issues
Bellevue School District


4 Providing World Languages  
in a small district
Charlo School District


5 Increasing graduation rates
City School District of Albany


6 Powering personalized learning
Horry County Schools


7 Reducing drop-out rates
Keller Independent School District


8 Addressing community needs
Piedmont City School District


9 Serving at-risk students
Placentia-Yorba Linda 
Unified School District


10 Increasing dual 
enrollment opportunities
Putnam County School District


11 Continuing learning 
during snow days
Tri-City United Independent  
School District


DISTRICT ACTIVITY


FIGURE 7 : Location of district use cases profiled
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


Texas has 5.3 million K–12 students enrolled in 993 districts, the second largest K–12 student population in the 
country, second to only California. Fifty-one percent of the state’s public school students are educated in only 
four percent of its school districts predominantly in the major metropolitan areas of Houston, Dallas, San Antonio, 
and Austin. The other 49% of students are in a mix of suburban and rural areas, and 459 districts are classified 
as rural. Texas defines a rural district by default as not fitting into urban and suburban categories, and with a 
small student population demonstrating slow or no growth.


Amarillo Independent School District (AISD) is supporting these rural districts through their Gateway to Health 
Careers Project. Designed to increase the healthcare workforce, this innovative healthcare program is 
administered through AISD’s Amarillo Area Center for Advanced Learning (AACAL). AACAL provides students 
from eleven rural districts in the Texas panhandle unique opportunities to learn about careers in the health 
sciences through blended learning combining online learning and clinical experience. Online curriculum and 
instruction is provided by AACAL through hands-on simulations and through patient interactions provided 
by their community hospitals, long term care facilities, or emergency medical services. In addition to the 
simulations, Amarillo Gateway teachers and administrators travel to the districts to train students in the basic 
skills that healthcare workers need, creating a deeper connection between the students and instructors. 
Students can graduate high school with an endorsement in Public Service through the Texas Foundation 
High School Program. 


As of Fall 2019, AACAL is serving a little over 600 students in 24 schools in their rural partner districts. The 
partner schools provide a classroom, Internet connection, computer teaching station connected to a projector 
to display the online and/or live lessons, student computers, a classroom facilitator to monitor students, and a 
partnership with a clinical site. Classes are streamed or recorded in Amarillo and viewed live or asynchronously 
by students in a classroom in their local districts. A local facilitator provided by the rural school is in the 
classroom to help students during class and to monitor their work and progress throughout the year. Senior 
students from the rural districts travel to Amarillo for face-to-face instruction that provides them an opportunity to 
create a cohort across all 11 partner districts. Heather Sawyer, the Canadian ISD online facilitator says, “Students 
love it. The four that did Certified Medical Assistant are all going into nursing school, and hopefully, they will be 
able to work in the health profession as they go through school.”  


The Gateway program started, as many similar schools do, as a result of an innovative project design to help 
students. “The program was literally hatched over lunch and sketched out on the back of a napkin,” notes Jay 
Barrett, Principal of AACAL. “The goal from the beginning has been to get more workers in the healthcare field 
not only in Amarillo but in rural areas.” 


This profile was developed through correspondence with Jay Barrett and Jean Whitehead of Amarillo 
Independent School District and from a case study published in the Digital Learning Strategies for 
Rural America report.


Offering career and technical education
Amarillo Independent School District
Amarillo, Texas



https://www.blendedandonlinelearning.org/research-reports/rural-report

https://www.blendedandonlinelearning.org/research-reports/rural-report
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


In October 2018, Hurricane Michael made landfall onto the panhandle of Florida with sustained wind speeds of 
155 mph, leaving extensive damage in its wake. Because of the devastation to schools in local areas, including 
Bay County, Gulf County, and an elementary school on the Tindall Air Force Base, students were unable to return 
to classes for weeks or months in some cases. For military families, the situation was even more challenging, as 
families were required per guidelines related to family safety to relocate at least 50 miles from the targeted area. 
The response scattered families to states as far away as Texas, California, Wisconsin, and Oklahoma, separating 
them from their home school. Loss of learning time was a major concern and made the need to find a learning 
solution for all affected students more urgent.


Parents had a choice of enrolling their children in another school, but because the situation was already 
overwhelming, most parents did not want to have to go through the process of transferring records. Additionally, 
the school records themselves were lost, damaged, or unavailable while hurricane-affected schools were in the 
process of recovering for student re-entry. Rian Meadows, District Relations Manager for Florida Virtual School 
(FLVS) who oversees 20 counties and their respective school districts in Northern Florida, which included the 
hardest hit areas, reached out to her contacts to see how FLVS could help. 


To start, Meadows fielded communications from families and schools to understand the situations. As she 
built a needs-assessment of the general area, the FLVS team worked out a multi-step solution, featured in the 
numbered list below, for students who needed virtual course enrollments or full-time virtual enrollment for the 
remainder of the fall semester until their local school re-opened, or for the remainder of the school year:


1.	 A “help ticket” system was used for each registering student, allowing all teams that needed to provide 
support or follow-up to keep the registration process running smoothly.


2.	 Students were registered into courses by school counselors, the enrollment team, school leaders, and 
even Meadows herself as needed, using the K–12 Courses and Graduation guide and whatever student 
data was available to guide FLVS course assignments.


3.	 FLVS teachers reached out to students by phone and used digital “live lesson” rooms in Blackboard to 
assess student learning progress already made in the course, so that they could “skip” students over 
lessons and concepts where students could demonstrate mastery.


4.	 For students who elected to return to their local school district, students’ courses and grades were 
transferred back to their local schools at the end of Fall or Spring semester.


An estimated 1,000 students from the affected communities were enrolled in FLVS courses following the 
hurricane and were able to continue their education on-pace. Of special note were the handful of high school 
seniors who would have lost their early entry into small private colleges had FLVS not offered them a full-time 
enrollment option that continued their path towards graduation. 


This profile was developed through correspondence with Rian Meadows of FLVS and through information from 
Weather.gov, the Ed Week blog, and FLVS website.. 


Educating during extended emergencies
Bay County, Gulf County, & Tindall Air Force Military Base Schools
Panhandle of Florida
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


Serving 20,400 students, Bellevue School District is located 10 miles east of Seattle. According to Bellevue’s 
Superintendent, Ivan Duran, the student population represents 125 countries and 94 languages. Thirteen 
percent of the districts’ students are Latino, and three percent are African-American. The majority of students 
are either Asian (41%) or white (34%). Nine percent are multi-ethnic. Despite its status as an affluent suburb with 
median income over $121,000, 17% of the students are low-income and approximately 300 are homeless. After 
disaggregating district data based on race, socioeconomic status, attendance, attained credits, and graduation 
rates, according to an article in Education Week, the district found that 


Eighty-two percent of black and Latino students graduated on time in 2018—that’s 10% lower than the 
district’s white students and 12% lower than its Asian students. The gaps in college enrollment among 
graduates is much starker: 56% of black students and 53% of Latino students who graduated in 2017 
enrolled in college compared to 76% of white students and 89% of Asian students. Equally large 
disparities crop up in the state’s English and math test scores as early as 3rd grade.


More and more districts like Bellevue are beginning to acknowledge the inequities and are working to close the 
achievement gaps. For Shomari Jones, Director of Equity and Graduation Success at Bellevue School District, 
his mission is to ensure that “low-income, nonwhite students have the same opportunities to success as their 
more privileged peers.” 


One of the many efforts Jones is implementing to combat equity issues in the district is the use of graduation 
success coaches, or grad success coaches for short. There are five grad success coaches total, one housed 
in each of the four traditional high schools in the district, and an additional coach housed in one of the district’s 
middle schools as part of a pilot program to help students transitioning from middle to high school. The grad 
success coaches use digital learning to personalize academic and social-emotional support systems to help 
students succeed. Students use a digital learning platform to recover credits and are asked to sign a contract 
when they begin to work with their coach. Each grad success coach is trained in racial equity, inclusion, social 
emotional learning, guidance counseling, and data analytics, and supports about 50 students. Grad success 
coaches have office space within their respective school and communicate regularly with their students and 
their students’ families. Coaches will either have students come to see them or they’ll go to the students’ 
classrooms and check in with them to see how they’re doing and what supports they need to stay on track. 


In addition to the grad success coaches, the district uses digital learning for a program known as RISE to ensure 
students who are on long-term suspension (longer than 10 days) continue to progress in their learning. As Jones 
explains, “systemic barriers [are] in the way for lots of people, and my job is to remove them.”


This profile was developed through correspondence with Shomari Jones of Bellevue School District and with 
the help of a 2019 Education Leaders to Learn From article from Education Week.


Addressing equity issues
Bellevue School District
Bellevue, Washington



https://leaders.edweek.org/profile/shomari-jones-director-equity-graduation-success-closing-opportunity-gaps/
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


Charlo is a town of approximately 400 in Lake County, located within the boundaries of the Flathead Indian 
Reservation. Agriculture and ranching drive the local economy, and a significant number of residents commute 
to work in other towns, some as far away as Missoula, 50 miles to the south. The Charlo School District has 
about 264 students across three schools, including Charlo Elementary, Charlo Middle School, and Charlo 
High School. Although located on the Reservation, Charlo has only a few Native American students and is 
predominantly white. 


The bulk of online activity in the district occurs in Charlo High School, where roughly a quarter of the 94 
secondary students are taking an online course. Bonnie Perry, the K–12 Principal, employs online learning 
specifically to address teacher availability issues in foreign language courses. “We offer all of our Foreign 
Language courses to any high school student seeking a foreign language credit online through the Montana 
Digital Academy [the state virtual school]. We do not have the means to hire full-time language teachers, so this 
fills a very critical need for our students,” said Perry. “We have had students complete German, French, Spanish, 
and Latin all online.” 


Students work in either a computer lab or in a dedicated classroom on Chromebooks with a teacher in the 
classroom who provides supervision. Learners make a recording of language readings and pronunciation once 
per week. Using the technology poses one of the more significant challenges, as students continue to develop 
necessary technical skills to take full advantage of digital learning opportunities.


In Fall 2017, Charlo made an online Middle School Language Sampler course available to sixth graders. “We 
learned a lot from this first year. It gave the students a chance to get to know the basics of French, how to 
navigate the Montana Digital Academy online environment, and how to communicate with their teachers online,” 
reports Shane Bartshi, Counselor. “Our sixth graders have previously taken tests online, but learning to use 
online curriculum is very different. It was great for the students to learn new skills.” Both students and teachers 
felt comfortable and successful by the end of the 10-week course. “Our teachers thought this was beneficial on 
many levels: academic rigor, organization, persistence, academic stamina,” notes Perry.


Online learning addresses several equity and instructional challenges faced by small districts like Charlo, but 
it is not without its challenges outside of school. Many Charlo students have limited access to computers and 
Internet at home. Consequently, Charlo provides online students with a flexible schedule, computer access, 
and supervision to complete their online coursework during the school day on campus. “We have to have a 
place for students to access their courses—sometimes in a computer lab or on Chromebooks in a standard 
classroom—and since this is on campus, the students must be supervised,” noted Perry. “I am thankful for flexible 
teachers willing to go the extra mile and take on [online] students…Without online learning available to our 
students we would have a tough time meeting accreditation standards, and course offerings would be limited for 
our rural students.”


This profile was developed from a case study published in the Digital Learning Strategies for 
Rural America report.


Providing World Languages in a small district 
Charlo School District
Charlo, Montana



http://https://www.blendedandonlinelearning.org/research-reports/rural-report

http://https://www.blendedandonlinelearning.org/research-reports/rural-report





33SNAPSHOT 2019: A review of K–12 online, blended, and digital learning


DISTRICT ACTIVITY


City School District of Albany in New York is a high-needs district serving 10,000 students, and nearly 85% of 
them qualify for free or reduced lunch. Albany High School enrolls approximately 2,800 students. Thanks to 
the implementation of the Online Success Program, Albany High School has gone from a 50% graduation rate 
to 72% over a nine-year period. Founded in 2010, the Online Success Program first focused solely on seniors 
who were not motivated to graduate; by May of 2011, all 20 students who had taken part in the pilot program 
graduated, offering students flexibility to complete their work when and how they wanted to.  


The school realized that the Online Success Program could provide flexibility for all students, so the district put 
together a task force to plan for roll out to the entire high school. As of 2011, Albany High School was offering 
80% of their course titles as part of the Online Success Program. As Thomas Vacanti, Albany High School’s 
Online Learning Coordinator, explains, “The program is no longer just for struggling students. It also offers 
mastery-based options to help higher-achieving students earn the additional points they need to raise their 
grades.” The program now serves over 500 students a year. Students can either self-refer into the program or 
be referred by teachers, their counselor, or a parent. Upon entry into the program, students sign a contract and 
review their prospectus with Vacanti and the teacher’s assistant to decide what the best path is for success. 
Students enroll in online courses for credit recovery as well as for original credit for electives.


A typical day for a student in the program includes one to three study halls mixed into a regular schedule of 
face-to-face classes. Upperclassmen get more study halls if they need to recover more credit or need more 
flexibility for electives. During the study halls, students work in the program’s dedicated lab, which offers 25 
computers. The teacher’s assistant checks in and helps motivate students to work through their coursework and 
keep them on task. Vacanti is also able to see every student’s computer screen on his monitor, so he can keep 
students accountable. The courses themselves offer a minimum amount of instructional support, so Vacanti 
as well as a teacher’s assistant are available to students all day in the lab; other content-specific teachers also 
provide help as needed after school and during Saturday sessions. 


In the 2018–19 academic year, the program is working on offering students support specific to soft skills, such 
as reflection, self-regulation, study skills, and time management. Some students have emotional and mental 
support needs or are second- or third-year freshmen; they may come to school for a shortened day and only 
work in the lab on online courses and not have traditional courses. Based on students’ needs, the program 
continues to make adjustments as needed. The most important component for the students’ success is the 
relationship that Vacanti and the other supporting educators have with the students. Because of the Online 
Success Program’s increase in graduation rates, Albany High School has been removed from the Receivership 
list as of the 2018–19 academic year. 


This profile was developed through correspondence with Thomas Vacanti of City School District of Albany.


Increasing graduation rates
City School District of Albany
Albany, New York
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


Horry County serves a growing and diverse community; on the east end of the county is Myrtle Beach, a hub of 
the state’s tourism industry, and on the west end of the county is a more rural community. The county’s school 
district—Horry County Schools—serves over 42,000 students, and central to their mission is personalizing 
learning to engage students in their education. Edi Cox, Executive Director of Online Learning, shares that the 
school district’s vision came from collaboration “with the business community, the South Carolina Chamber of 
Commerce, and what employers were telling the South Carolina Department of Education they were looking for 
in new employees.” The profile included not only academic skills but the ability to think critically, work well with 
others, and bring an intrinsic motivation to a career.


Armed with that knowledge, the district began with a pilot of personalized learning in a middle school in 2014. 
Following that, they worked with digital learning leaders to build an infrastructure that would scale across the 
district. The approach included a rotation model featuring whole group, small group, and individual support with 
the teacher as key learning facilitator, and a 1:1 device initiative. In 2015, the effort spread to the district’s high 
schools, and in 2016 and 2017, they expanded to elementary grades (beginning in grade five). They used an 
organic approach by layering in digital learning opportunities where it made the most sense, and they continue 
to explore new ways of integrating technology. Teachers are supported in developing skills and resources to 
use with students so much so that now it is a fluid daily process of incorporating digital learning and monitoring 
learning metrics, such as grades and progress.  


Funding for the personalized learning program stems from a penny sales tax. Digital support resources include 
a teacher laptop initiative, 1:1 student device initiative for all students grades 3–12, interactive white boards, a 
district technology fair, a competitive robotics program, a district virtual school, and extensive teacher training 
in using technology tools. The use of digital learning has helped the district accelerate student achievement, 
increase student engagement with peers, build students’ and educators’ skills with a variety of digital learning 
tools, and individualize the learning experience for all students and educators. 


Since implementing personalized learning in 2013–14, district educators are seeing positive shifts in the culture 
and climate of the schools, including an increase in attendance rates and student engagement, and a decline 
in discipline issues. As Brandice Gore, a former Instructional Coach at Conway Middle School says, “They 
[students] are thinking past high school, which is what you want as an educator.”


This profile was developed through correspondence with Edi Cox of Horry County Schools and with the help of 
resources and information on the Horry County Schools’ website. 


Powering personalized learning
Horry County Schools
Conway, South Carolina



https://www.horrycountyschools.net/
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


Keller Independent School District (Keller) has 42 schools serving more than 35,000 students in a growing 
suburban community situated north of Fort Worth, Texas. One of the schools—New Direction—is a small 
alternative high school that serves students who need an alternative style of learning in order to graduate. The 
school offers students a reduced schedule of two online courses at a time. Since its inception, the school has 
seen positive results, says Elaine Plybon, Keller’s Virtual and Blended Learning Coordinator because “students 
are doing high school the way they need to do high school.” Because of the positive results, Plybon and other 
educators and administrators in Keller saw a need to expand the program, but the district didn’t have the space 
onsite at New Direction. Consequently, other high schools in the district started creating their own programs 
that were modeled after the one started at New Direction so that they could better serve students who were at 
risk of dropping out.


Over the last three years, three Keller high schools have adopted a similar program, each with their own 
unique spin. To participate, students move from enrollment in their home high school and are enrolled into the 
new hybrid program. Students are able to access digital courses that are imported into the district’s learning 
management system. Students are supported by a paraprofessional in a separate learning area with additional 
teacher support throughout their scheduled time at school. Students are also able to take a traditional class (for 
example, a unique elective) if the course is not available digitally. 


Fossil Ridge High School started Panther Academy three years ago. Students are onsite all day, and teachers 
rotate through the learning space to provide direct instruction and hands-on learning with a focus on credit 
recovery. Timber Creek High School began its program, known as Flight School, two years ago. Students in 
Flight School spend four hours a day on campus with a learning coach and teachers in a dedicated lab space. 
In order to be admitted to Flight School, students have to apply for admission and sign a contract to pledge 
their accountability to their learning progress. The students in the program have grown supportive like a family 
and cheer each other on and hold each other accountable. In fall 2018, the school started with 20 students and 
by mid-year, 18 had graduated, so the program admitted 18 more students in spring of 2019. Because of the 
program’s success, Timber Creek is piloting the Launch program that identifies freshmen who are failing and 
need additional support to stay on track for graduation. Similar to Timber Creek’s Flight School, Central High 
School’s Ignite program takes a hybrid approach focused on supporting meaningful learning processes. 


All three programs have visuals on the wall that track student success, and each student has their own unique 
reasons for needing the hybrid program. When credits are completed, students get to walk the stage at a 
graduation ceremony with family and friends, or they can choose to attend the end of year graduation at their 
school along with their peers. In the 2018–2019 academic year, some schools expanded their program to 
include students who want to take original credit courses with a goal of graduating early and starting college 
or career. Plybon shares that what they have learned is that this program is less about drop-out prevention 
and more about realizing that some students need a different way “to do school,” and this hybrid program 
gives them that option.


This profile was developed through correspondence with Elaine Plybon of Keller Independent School District.


Reducing drop-out rates
Keller Independent School District
Keller, Texas
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


Alabama ranks as one of the poorest states in the nation, with poverty ranging from 20% to 35% in the state’s 
most rural areas. A Montgomery Adviser article helps paint a picture of rural education where Piedmont City 
School District is located: “98% of students are eligible for free or reduced lunch. Test scores are low, there’s 
little diversity, teachers struggle to get parents involved, and there are few after-school programs because it’s 
difficult for students to get transportation.” The state ranks lowest in the nation for both 4th and 8th grade math 
on the NAEP. The Piedmont City School District has one elementary school, a middle school, and a high school, 
enrolling a total of approximately 1,240. In an effort to improve student outcomes, the district adopted a formal 
digital learning program in 2009; it soon found that the program could help transform the entire community.


Piedmont was once a thriving rural town, as it served as a crossing for two stagecoach routes and as a 
hub of the cotton textile industry for many years, according to the Montgomery Adviser article. However, 
in recent years, the town took economic hits when two major employers moved or shut down. Many local 
businesses suffered as well. The impact on families was severe, forcing regional struggles in employment and 
future opportunities.


The mPower Piedmont movement (mPower) started with a pilot program at Piedmont High which provided 150 
laptops to students; in 2010, this plan expanded to include grades 4–12. In 2012, a check-out program for laptop 
computers was implemented for grades K–3. Today, Piedmont City School District is fully 1:1 with a device for 
every student in district. Early elementary students use a variety of mobile devices appropriate to their grade 
level, while students from grades 4–12 are issued a laptop for their own designated use. 


mPower, while initially focused on students’ access, expanded beyond just the school. From the start former 
superintendent Matt Akin saw mPower as nothing short of a community transformation initiative—to boost the 
self-esteem and self-efficacy of the entire community. While devices for schools was a starting point, the school 
district’s leadership realized quickly that they needed to address Internet access and connectivity disparities 
within the community as a whole. Many students in the district live in rural areas where Internet connection is 
unavailable; for other students, a broadband connection may be available but the expense puts it out of their 
family’s reach. Initially, the school district partnered with a virtual service company to expand broadband access 
across Piedmont and later was funded to build a citywide wireless network, providing every student and their 
family 24/7 access. When the grant supporting this infrastructure ran out, the district had to figure out different 
ways to get access. Today, the schools use MiFi boxes or cards to support at-home access for students and 
families. The district also partnered with local entities to create a support network; some local businesses, 
restaurants, and churches offer free wifi for students and their families to work online. Rachel Smith, Piedmont’s 
Curriculum Coordinator and Administrator for Federal Programs says, “This initiative—both the connectivity and 
the devices—is a game-changer, not just for our students, but their families. We hear stories of parents who 
completed a GED or college classes on the school-issued devices after the kids were in bed.”


This profile was developed from a case study published in the Digital Learning Strategies for 
Rural America report.


Addressing community needs
Piedmont City School District
Piedmont, Alabama



https://www.montgomeryadvertiser.com/story/news/education/2014/05/25/alabamas-rural-schools-education-reach/9562449/

https://www.blendedandonlinelearning.org/research-reports/rural-report

https://www.blendedandonlinelearning.org/research-reports/rural-report
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


The Placentia-Yorba Linda Unified School District (PYLUSD) serves approximately 24,000 students in Orange 
County, California. An independent study program at one of PYLUSD’s high schools—La Entrada—originally 
provided digital curriculum for college prep, offering minimum instructional support because the students who 
were partaking in the program were all self-regulated and motivated. Carrie Bisgard, PYLUSD’s Director of 
Instructional Support, says over time, the district started to recognize that this model was not going to serve a 
wide variety of students, so they added in another path known as the hybrid pathway. While La Entrada serves 
100 students grades 9–12, the hybrid pathway specifically serves 30 of those students. Students are typically 
referred to the hybrid pathway by their home high school’s academic counselor because of underlying mental 
health needs. The students may have a hard time making it through a full day on a full-time comprehensive high 
school campus and they may also have a hard time in an online, independent study program; so this flexible 
approach provides a hybrid alternative and an individualized way to learn. Without the hybrid approach, these 
students would be at-risk for dropping out of school.


The hybrid pathway allows students to come into a lab every day for two hours to work on online curriculum 
alongside a teacher. The teacher has an independent study credential as well as a single content area and 
special education credential. When the student starts the hybrid pathway, the teacher works with the student to 
help set a realistic pace and expectation; each week, the teacher and student talk through the pacing guide for 
that week’s coursework. Students are typically working on one academic course and a social emotional course 
at the same time. In addition to the courses, La Entrada offers a face-to-face workshop once a week on a variety 
of topics like mindfulness, college essay writing, and career matching. 


In the lab setting, the teacher does whole group meetings once a week along with one-on-one meetings with 
each student, and sometimes pulls together a small group lecture or discussion. In addition to the teacher 
who is always available in the lab, three teachers serve as teachers of record for the online courses. These 
teachers are also available onsite as students need the support. The line between the fully online independent 
study program and the hybrid pathway is fluid, so students have the flexibility to move from one to the other as 
needed. For instance, students who begin to fall behind in the fully online independent pathway are counseled 
to enter the hybrid pathway for additional support. As Bisgard emphasizes, this flexible approach between the 
two paths allows students to build the skills they need to possess to do independent study or integrate partially 
again on their home campus for a concurrent class, team sports, or band. 


This profile was developed through correspondence with Carrie Bisgard of Placentia-Yorba Linda 
Unified School District.


Serving at-risk students
Placentia-Yorba Linda Unified School District
Placentia, California
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


During the 2009–10 school year, Upperman High School in rural Putnam County, Tennessee, transformed their 
online credit recovery program into the VITAL Program: Virtual Instruction To Accentuate Learning, with a goal of 
developing “Future Ready” students. The program began with four high school students. The school’s decision 
to start small was intentional; they wanted to learn as they grew in an organic way, taking the time to reflect 
and giving them the space to continually assess opportunities to build a solid foundation to support meaningful 
program growth. They purposefully selected teachers who were comfortable using technology for learning 
and known for building strong relationships with students. They borrowed ideas from partner digital learning 
providers to organize and structure the program. Originally launched as a program for high school juniors and 
seniors, the program expanded to high school sophomores by offering high school credit courses to middle 
school students who were ready for next-level hybrid math and science courses. 


“Enrollment in the VITAL program grew quickly, largely from word-of-mouth from students and families that 
experienced learning success,” says Sam Brooks, Personalized Learning Supervisor. By spring 2010, enrollment 
grew to 74 enrollments. Putnam County added more schools and expanded programs in the 2010–11 academic 
year, resulting in 150 enrollments. By 2012, VITAL expanded district-wide, and two more high schools were 
added, which grew the enrollment by an average of 100 students per year. Fast forward to 2018–19, an 
estimated 800 students are enrolled in VITAL. The outcome of VITAL has been the opportunity to create truly 
individualized learning paths for K–12 students who need it.


Over time, the opportunities for students to finish high school courses earlier enabled them to take dual 
enrollment courses starting in their sophomore year of high school. To expand this dual enrollment part of the 
program, Putnam County Labs are facilitated by a learning coach, and some of the dual enrollment courses 
are taught by high school teachers while others are taught by professors from local community and technical 
colleges, including Volunteer State Community College, Tennessee College of Applied Technologies, and 
Tennessee Tech. Courses are offered online, face-to-face, or blended depending on the school. Thanks to 
these partnerships, students can now graduate from high school with their Associates Degree (AA) and industry 
certifications in a variety of areas, including Health Sciences, Information Technology, and Engineering.


Funding through a state higher education grant covers costs for two dual credit courses if a student meets 
academic qualifications. If a student is interested in a third course, the grant pays $200 of the total $498 cost 
of the course. As the program continued to gain steam, Volunteer State Community College (VSCC) offered to 
pick up the remaining cost of the third course as well as cover the bill of the fourth course if the student chose 
to enroll in VSCC. Some schools offered less expensive tuition per course, and access to the Hope Scholarship 
is another option for some students. Families pay the cost of additional dual enrollment courses not covered by 
the various financial assistance programs. These collaborative partnerships have built a clear and supportive 
path for students who want to be Future Ready. 


This profile was developed through correspondence with Sam Brooks of Putnam County School District.


Increasing dual enrollment opportunities
Putnam County School District 
Cookeville, Tennessee
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DISTRICT ACTIVITY


With an average of 36 to 70 inches of snowfall annually, Minnesota students have seen their fair share of snow 
days. While a joy to many, snow days can lead to end-of-year make-up days required to meet the state-specified 
days for learning, which subsequently eat into not only the students’ time off over the summer but also into the 
district resource budget. To combat this, Tri-City United Independent School District (Tri-City United), which as 
of mid-March has already experienced six snow days during the winter of 2018–19, developed a district-wide 
blended learning plan to provide opportunities for students to continue their learning during snow days. 


Tri-City United is a 1-to-1 district located in South Central Minnesota with approximately 1,925 students, a K-8 
school located in each of their three communities, and one shared high school. Matt Flugum, the Teaching  
and Learning Facilitator, shares, “Four years ago Tri-City United began focusing on empowering learners through 
purposeful digital learning tools and techniques including teacher professional development and summer 
personalized professional development projects. This has enabled flexibility as students and teachers are  
able to transition to learning with technology during snow days.” 


During winter of 2017–18, Tri-City United held discussions with district personnel and the Teachers Union about 
the blended learning plan, and out of that discussion, a shared vision of what e-learning would look like was 
born. Superintendent Dr. Teri Preisler says the district began communicating with students and parents in spring 
2018 about the blended learning plan that would be used for snow days. In summer and fall 2018, newsletters 
were sent out and shared during parent-teacher conferences as a reminder. The blended learning plan included 
a “practice blended learning day” at school in November. 


The blended learning day starts with an automated phone call announcing the snow day. The day itself is set 
up mostly asynchronously with the exception of when a student wants to reach out to a teacher and/or fellow 
students to get help. For middle and high school students, the teachers post lessons by 10 a.m. on the learning 
platform. Students log in and navigate through the resources. Elementary school students are provided learning 
resources digitally in addition to physical packets, which are sent home in advance of the snow season to be 
used for snow days. Work assigned on a snow day follows the same requirements as any lesson assigned 
(due dates, quality of work completed, etc.). To address equity and access, families without Internet or reliable 
Internet communicated with school personnel and were supported through a collaboration with T-Mobile for 
community area “hot spots.” 


Preisler reflected on lessons learned from the feedback they received from teachers, parents, and students so 
far. Their first experience with a real snow day included four snow days in a row, so they are working on having 
more resources in place for next year. They also discovered that the communication plan was overwhelming to 
parents, so they consolidated their messages together with clear subject lines. The program has already saved 
days from being added to the end of the school year. 


This profile was developed through correspondence with Teri Preisler and Matt Flugum of Tri-City United 
Independent School District and with the help of resources and information from a news article published in the 
Lonsdale News Review.


Continuing learning during snow days
Tri-City United Independent School District
Montgomery, Minnesota



http://www.southernminn.com/lonsdale_area_news_review/opinion/article_59c50765-fa6f-52ce-b760-fff5a365fe8c.html
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Appendix 2: Websites and research reviewed

Website Description

https://training.flvs.net/complianceTraining/policiesProcedures/01_01.html Employee Compliance Training

https://flvs1-
my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/cconidis_flvs_net/ETH1wDdRa15GqwK_2Aa9tDsB4ZnK
Vy6yC9MNPQeTtQTZ7g?e=IGA28T

Employee Evaluation Training
and Recordings

https://www.flvs.net/ Florida Virtual School Website

https://www.digitallearningcollab.com/ Digital Learning Collaborative

https://go.boarddocs.com/fla/flvs/Board.nsf/files/BF2PTF6627EB/$file/FLVS%20Board%20
of%20Trustees%20Overview.pdf

FLVS Overview for Board of
Trustees

https://www.inacol.org/
The International Association

for K–12 Online Learning
(iNACOL)

https://www.advanc-ed.org/source/challenges-measuring-online-school-performance Challenges in Measuring Online
School Performance

http://www.fldoe.org/accountability/accountability-reporting/school-grades/index.stml/
Florida Department of

Education School
Accountability Reports
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Governance
Review and creation of governing

teams that allow the organization to enable effective
mechanisms for critical decision-making

Infrastructure
The underlying framework or foundation for the

organization, such as systems or location

Performance
Measures to drive behaviors that are aligned to the

business strategy and vision

Culture
Ensuring the characteristics of an

organization are consistent and
aligned to the core values

Talent
Anticipation of the required human

capital the organization needs and setting
a plan to meet those needs

Processes
Definition of the operational processes, linkages and

communications between functions

Capability
The abilities of an organization and its resources to
execute on their assigned roles and responsibilities to
meet customer needs; where capability development is
required, a learning and development program may be
required; this comprises capability assessment,
capability sourcing and distribution, and capability
enablement through use of innovative technologies

Resources
Headcount, workload drivers and associated FTE
requirements; an effective organization design will
optimize the use of every employee in the most
effective and efficient manner

Roles
The roles and responsibilities within an organization;
there should always be clear roles, responsibilities
and accountabilities

Organizational structures
Organizational charts with the appropriate spans of
control and management layers

Business structure
Critical elements that ascribe authority and drive
accountability, e.g., headquarters location or P&L
structure

Strategy

Appendix 3: Organizational structure leading practices



Florida Virtual SchoolPage 32

Appendix 3: Other organizational structure factors to
consider

CEO

COO and/or CDO

CFO

► Is your strategy fully supported by the organizational capabilities and design you have in place?
► In what ways could your organizational design better support your purpose and drive better business performance?
► What disruption and competitor activity have you seen in the market, and are you confident that your organization is set up to respond?

► Do you have the capabilities and supporting structures in place to drive best business performance (e.g., customer service, cost efficiency)
► Have capabilities that have been acquired been fully aligned so they can drive best business performance — including synergies?
► What strategic capabilities do you need to enhance, and which do you need to scale back or retire?

► Where in the business are you looking to increase efficiency and productivity and reduce operational cost, and how could Organizational
Design play a role?

► What confidence do you have in achieving the HR synergies that you expect from recent transactions?
► What opportunities do you see to improve clarity of accountability and speed of decision-making, particularly through formal governance?

Chief People Officer or Chief Human Resource Officer

► How well is your organizational structure aligned to support your purpose, culture and longer-term workforce capability development?
► Does the organizational structure allow your people to develop the capabilities you need to respond to disruption?
► Does HR have the right capabilities and capacity to drive through the synergies and wider integration of acquisitions?
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Appendix 4: Internal audit function framework
considerations

An internal audit function in place can provide independent confirmation that an organization’s risk
management, governance and internal control processes are operating effectively.
The internal audit function should provide an unbiased and objective view. IA must be independent from the
operations evaluated and report to the highest level in an organization. Typically, this is the board of
directors, the board of trustees or the audit committee.
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Appendix 5: ERM and the three lines of defense

The three lines of defense model enhances understanding of enterprise risk management (ERM) and controls by clarifying roles and duties. Its
underlying premise is that, under the oversight and direction of senior management and the board of trustees, three separate groups (or lines
of defense) within the organization are necessary for effective management of risk and control. The groups and their responsibilities are:

First line of defense — operational management: This group owns and manages risk by executing front-end controls to enhance the likelihood
that the organization’s objectives are met.

Second line of defense — oversight functions: This is a management oversight function that monitors risk in the organization. Second-line
functions may develop, implement or modify internal control and risk processes of the organization.

Third line of defense — internal audit: Provides independent assurance to senior management and the board that the first and second lines’
efforts are consistent with expectations. Internal audit brings a systematic approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness of risk
management, control and governance processes.

The three lines of defense model is illustrated below:
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Risk
governance

Risk strategy

Risk
assessment

and
monitoring

Technology
enablement

Coordinated
assurance

Appendix 5: ERM program considerations

Desired characteristics:

• Roles and responsibilities for providing
assurance are clearly defined.

• Assurance activities are aligned and
coordinated.

• Consistent methodologies and tools are used,
and information is shared.

• The outcomes of assurance activities are
monitored and reported to governance
committees.

Desired characteristics:

• The reporting system notifies all stakeholders
affected by a risk, not just those in the function
area where the risk was identified.

• Appropriate, accurate and timely information is
available to support effective decision-making.

• The organization leverages technology and
information resources to conduct analytics on
trends and emerging risk issues.

• Technology enables the organization to manage
risk and eliminates/prevents redundancy and
lack of coverage.

Desired characteristics:

• Adequate oversight and accountability.
• Responsibilities and accountabilities for

managing risks are clearly documented.
• The right people and skills exist to enable

effective risk management and control
operation.

Desired characteristics:

• A risk strategy that aligns to the
organizational strategy.

• The risk tone is set from the
Commissioner, including risk appetite
and risk tolerance.

• The organization’s risk appetite levels
are cascaded down to business units
to guide operations and decision-
making.

Desired characteristics:

• Risks are assessed, and treatment plans are set
in a consistent manner across the organization.

• Strong links between strategy and risk at the
executive level are effectively cascaded down to
business units.
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Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)
Risk governance
A risk governance structure is in place that clearly defines and articulates roles, responsibilities and accountabilities and
maintains a risk culture that supports accountability in risk-based decision-making. Risks are identified in the context of
organizational objectives, highlighting potential impediments to achieving those objectives. A documented ERM policy exists,
detailing risk identification criteria, risk definitions, risk assessment protocol, risk monitoring, risk response and risk reporting.

Risk identification
Risk identification and assessments are performed regularly, as defined within the ERM policy. In addition to regular (i.e.,
annual) risk assessments, triggering events (such as new legislation) are defined that would require an update to the risk
register. There is a consistent approach used to identify and assess enterprise and business-level risks. During risk
identification, risks should detail when, who, where and how an event may affect the achievement of business objectives. The
risk universe includes internal factors, external factors, upside risk and downside risk. Example risk universes published should
be leveraged to determine if applicable risks are missed from an existing risk assessment.

Risk definition
A common definition of risk is understood and leveraged across the organization. Risks should be articulated in a way that
describes the cause(s) leading to a risk event and the resulting consequences. In order to properly assess a risk, the risk’s root
cause and consequence should be well understood.

Appendix 5: ERM leading practices
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Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) (cont.)
Risk evaluation/rating
A well-defined risk rating criteria is used for risk assessments. The assessment criteria should employ a combination of
quantitative and qualitative measures to obtain an overall evaluation of the level of risk. Dimensions beyond likelihood and
impact, such as risk velocity and management preparedness, are considered.

Risk response
Risk responses are determined by risk owners and approved by those charged with oversight. Risk response actions are
prioritized based on the level of exposure to key objectives. Risk response decisions and residual risk are made within the
context of understanding key mitigating controls in place and the effectiveness of those controls. Risk response effectiveness is
routinely monitored. Control evaluations are supported by management testing.

Risk ownership/accountability
Accountability for risk response activities is clear and aligned with performance management responsibility. Risk owners are
responsible for developing mitigating actions and assigning responsibility for execution. Responsibilities and accountabilities for
managing risks are clearly documented. The right people and skills exist to enable effective risk management and control
operation. Risk coverage is formally documented to detail those who are accountable for risk mitigation, those charged with
monitoring risks and those charged with oversight of risk activities.

Risk monitoring/reporting
Information about the organization’s risk profile is communicated throughout the organization. Risk monitoring exists in a
formal manner.

Metrics are used to monitor risk controls in place. Risk response effectiveness is routinely monitored. Monitoring activities are
supported by tools, techniques and technology for near-time reporting on controls and risk processes.

Appendix 5: ERM leading practices (cont.)
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Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) (cont.)
Technology enablement
Risk functions rely on a common technology platform to support risk management activities. Technology enables the
organization to manage risk and eliminates/prevents redundancy and lack of coverage. Risk functions utilize technology to
support the effective and efficient identification, analysis and monitoring of risks. The organization leverages technology and
information resources to conduct analytics on trends and emerging risk issues. Risk reporting leverages basic dashboard
functionalities in governance, risk and compliance (GRC) software or other technology solutions, and provides continual
updates on key risk indicators, key control indicators and other important risk information.

Internal control framework
Key automated and manual controls are executed to prevent risks from occurring. Monitoring controls are performed but are
focused on the highest impact and most likely risks. A precision level is established and documented for monitoring controls in
order to appropriately focus efforts.

Appendix 5: ERM leading practices (cont.)
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Appendix 6: FLVS 2019–20 projected revenue by program

Source: Florida Virtual School
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Appendix 7: FLVS 2019–20 completion counts by
school type

Source: Florida Virtual School

The graph only includes enrollments that made it to complete status since this is how FLVS is funded.
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Appendix 8: FLVS historical funding data for FTEs and
credit completions
FLVS Flex and FLVS Full Time schools are funded through the FEFP (Florida Education Finance Program), just like the other brick-and-mortar
public schools.
However, unlike the other public schools that are funded based on student enrollment, FLVS Flex and FLVS Full Time schools are funded only
for courses that are successfully completed (not per enrollment or seat time).

The FEFP formula was modified during the 2013 Legislative Session that limited the amount a student is funded when the student is served
both by a district and FLVS.

Source: Florida Virtual School
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Appendix 9: State of Florida and FLVS enrollment growth

Data was obtained from the Florida Department of Education to gain insight into the market that FLVS operates in. The year-on-year growth
rate of student enrollment in the state of Florida appears to be steady. The FLVS year-on-year enrollment growth rate appears to be increasing
for Full Time and Flex students only.

For the percent change line, 2014–15 was used as the baseline value and therefore has no “change.” The percent change line represents
change across all levels (elementary, middle and high school).

Source: Florida Virtual Schools and “Strategic Plan 2019-2023” report by FLVS, November 2018.
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Appendix 10: FLVS Flex historical course completions

The graph below shows completions over the past five years for the in-state lines of business:

Flex — Allows students to enroll on a per-course basis to supplement current studies. Credits are applied to the transcript of a student’s local
school.

Source: Florida Virtual School
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Appendix 11: FLVS Full Time historical course completions

Full Time — Serves as a primary school of record, operating on a traditional 180-day school-year calendar. School districts and virtual charter
schools may also contract with FLVS to provide the FLVS FT program to district public school students.

Fiscal year 2019 was a transition year for FLVS elementary as the Full Time team operated the elementary program independently for the first
time. Completions are a measure of the number of students who complete all the material in a course with a passing grade. Fiscal year 2019
was a transition year for FLVS Elementary as the Full Time team operated the elementary program independently for the first time. Prior to
this year, another online education provider provided instructional and curriculum support to our K-5 school. When analyzing the number of
completions, FLVS did experience a decline during this first year of implementation. The decline in completions may be due to several factors:
• FLVS K-5 may have been experiencing an implementation dip due to changes in curriculum, instructional strategies, and organizational

structures.
• Families may have a comfort level and familiarity with another online education provider and not interested in making a change.
• Students may have chosen to enroll in FLVS Flex rather than FLVS Full Time.
• Expectations and curriculum demands may have changed due to the shift from another online education provider to FLVS curriculum.

Source: Florida Virtual School
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Appendix 12: FLVS franchise historical course completions

Franchise — Provides content licensing for schools to use the curriculum, virtual instruction and digital labs of FLVS.

Source: Florida Virtual School
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Appendix 13: FLVS Full Time school grades

Historically, FLVS had partnered with another online education provider to administer courses and instruction for elementary and middle
schools. 2019 was the first year that FLVS independently operated the elementary, middle and high schools. School grades are determined by
the State of Florida Department of Education.

Source: Florida Virtual School

FLVS Full Time school grades
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